The Ethics of Community Effectiveness Research in Developing Countries

Sapfo Lignou

A PhD Thesis Presented to UCL

London 2015

University College London

Declaration

I, Sapfo Lignou confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. When information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis

Abstract

The aim of the thesis is to explore and discuss the distinct ethical issues raised by the conduct of health-related cluster randomised trials in developing countries, in particular those related to informed consent and representation.

The thesis has four objectives: First, it seeks to identify ethical issues and their importance arising in CRTs and present how they are currently being addressed in published trial reports and papers on the ethics of CRTs. Second, it aims to discuss the limitations of addressing such ethical issues within the existing research ethics framework. Third, by relying on a human right to health, it aims to suggest a broader research ethics framework, beyond the existing clinical ethics paradigm, that takes into account the variety of health studies conducted in developing settings, as well as the broader socio-political context where collaborative health research takes place. Fourth, by examining the common moral features between cluster health studies and public health interventions, it aims to inform current research ethics guidelines and discussions on the ethics of cluster research by suggesting solutions to the problem of informed consent and cluster representation in developing countries, as well as to demonstrate the strength of the suggested research ethics framework in dealing with such complex issues.

I argue that under specific conditions a cluster trial is morally legitimate to proceed despite the absence of informed consent and that a decision regarding the conduct of research should be within the responsibilities of the legitimate political authorities of the host country. I conclude that collaborative health research, which aims to improve the health status of a developing population, should be part of a country's policy, similarly to decisions concerning the implementation of public health measures, and that human subjects should be protected at individual, social and institutional level.

For Iris, my closest companion and biggest distraction in this adventure...

Acknowledgements

The writer acknowledges with gratitude the contributions of all those who made this study possible. SNEHA and in particular Dr David Osrin, Glyn Alcock and Jigna Mistry for their warm hospitality and the amazing experience of cluster research unfiltered. My supervisors, Dr Sarah Edwards for her support and guidance in all stages of the empirical work for this thesis and Professor Jonathan Wolff for his insight, invaluable comments and engaging discussions on the normative aspects of the subject. I am particularly grateful to Vassilis Zachariadis for his unwavering encouragement and patience over the last three years and to Eleni Lignou for being willing to travel thousands of miles to babysit.

This PhD thesis was fully funded by Crucible Centre for Lifelong Health and Wellbeing in collaboration with BBSRC, EPSRC, ESRC and MRC.

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	5
INTRODUCTION	9
I.1 THESIS LAYOUT	11
I.2 METHODOLOGY	15
I.2.1 LITERATURE REVIEW	15
I.2.2 EMPIRICAL WORK	15
I.2.3 CONCEPTUAL WORK (CHAPTERS 4 TO 8)	19
CHAPTER 1	
IMPORTANT STRUCTURAL FEATURES OF CRTS	20
1.1 IMPORTANT STRUCTURAL FEATURES OF CRTS	20
1.2 WHY RANDOMIZE BY CLUSTER/ REASONS FOR USING CRTS	22
1.2.1 [A] METHODOLOGICAL REASONS FOR DOING A CLUSTER RANDOMISED TRIAL	22
1.2.2 [B] PRACTICAL REASONS FOR CONDUCTING A CLUSTER RANDOMISED TRIAL	24
1.3 ETHICAL ISSUES IN CRTS	25
1.3.1 IMPORTANCE OF THE PROBLEM	25
1.3.2 A STANDARD VIEW OF RESEARCH ETHICS	27
1.4 CONCLUSION	28
CHAPTER 2	
CONSENT AND CLUSTER TRIALS	29
2.1 Informed consent in research ethics guidelines and regulations	29
2.2 A MORAL FOUNDATION OF INFORMED CONSENT	31
2.3 NEW ISSUES REGARDING INFORMED CONSENT IN CRTS	33
2.3.1 LEVELS AT WHICH CONSENT MIGHT BE SOUGHT	34
2.3.2 CONSENT TO WHAT?	34
2.3.3 Information	34
2.3.4 TIMING OF INFORMED CONSENT	34
2.3.5 NECESSITY AND FEASIBILITY OF INFORMED CONSENT	35
2.4 FEASIBILITY OF GETTING INFORMED CONSENT AND THE NATURE OF CLUSTERS	36
2.4.1 CASES WHERE IT IS POSSIBLE TO GET INDIVIDUAL INFORMED CONSENT	36
2.4.2 CASES WHERE IT IS IMPOSSIBLE TO GET INDIVIDUAL INFORMED CONSENT	38
2.5 Discussion	41
2.6 CONCLUSION	48

CHAPTER 3	
THE ROLE AND AUTHORITY OF GATEKEEPERS IN CRTS	49
3.1 REPRESENTATIVES IN CRTS: WHO ARE GATEKEEPERS AND WHAT ARE THEIR	
RESPONSIBILITIES?	49
3.2 Roles of gatekeepers	52
3.2.1 Gatekeeper roles relevant to the protection of individual interests	52
3.2.2 GATEKEEPER ROLES RELEVANT TO THE PROTECTION OF CLUSTER INTERESTS	53
3.3 GATEKEEPER AUTHORITY TO UNDERTAKE THESE ROLES	5 4
3.3.1 GATEKEEPER AUTHORITY TO PROTECT INDIVIDUAL INTERESTS	55
3.3.2 GATEKEEPER'S AUTHORITY TO PROTECT CLUSTER INTERESTS	59
3.4 CONCLUSION	64
CHAPTER 4	
JUSTIFYING HEALTH RESEARCH: THE ETHICS OF EXPOSING INDIVIDUALS	
TO RESEARCH RISKS WITHOUT THEIR CONSENT	65
4.1 THE PRECAUTIONARY APPROACH	66
4.1.1 IS HEALTH RESEARCH NORMATIVELY OPTIONAL?	68
4.1.2 How can we ensure that participant interests are sufficiently protected	D? 70
4.2 THE CONSEQUENTIALIST APPROACH	7 4
4.2.1 THE STRENGTHS OF THE CONSEQUENTIALIST APPROACH	75
4.2.2 PROBLEMS WITH THE CONSEQUENTIALIST APPROACH	76
4.3 THE LIBERTARIAN APPROACH	80
4.3.1 THE IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTING A LIBERTARIAN APPROACH IN CRTS	83
4.4 THE COMMUNITARIAN APPROACH	86
4.5 CONTRACT THEORY: PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH AS MORAL OBLIGATION	90
4.5.1 A DUTY TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH ADDRESSES HEALTH DISPARITIES	92
4.5.2 A DUTY TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH SUPPORTS AN ADEQUATE AND ACCESSIBLE	
HEALTH CARE SYSTEM	94
4.5.3 THE ARGUMENT OF BENEFICENCE	96
4.5.4 THE ARGUMENT OF JUSTICE	103
4.5.5 PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH AS IMPERFECT MORAL OBLIGATION	105
4.6 THE ARGUMENT AGAINST 'RESEARCH EXCEPTIONALISM'	107
4.7 CONCLUSION	110
CHAPTER 5	
THE ETHICS OF HEALTH RESEARCH IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES:	
ARGUING FOR AN ALTERNATIVE APPROACH IN RESEARCH ETHICS BASED	
ON THE HUMAN RIGHT TO HEALTH	112
5.1 SOCIAL VALUE OF RESEARCH AND THE DUTY OF JUSTICE	113
5.2 THE HUMAN RIGHT TO HEALTH AND THE DUTY OF JUSTICE	118
5.2.1 THE SOCIAL VALUE OF NON-CLINICAL HEALTH RESEARCH	121
5.2.2 THE ADVANTAGES OF ARGUING FOR A MORAL FRAMEWORK BASED ON THE HUMAN	
RIGHT TO HEALTH	123
5.3 REVISING THE PRINCIPLES IN RESEARCH ETHICS	125
5.3.1 THE PRINCIPLE OF RESPECT FOR PERSONS	126
5.3.2 THE PRINCIPLE OF BENEFICENCE	129
5.3.3 THE PRINCIPLE OF NON-MALEFICENCE	131
5.3.4 THE PRINCIPLE OF JUSTICE	133
5.4 JUSTICE AND FAIRNESS IN HEALTH RESEARCH: MORAL CRITERIA FOR THE	136
SELECTION OF POTENTIAL PARTICIPANTS 5. THE DDINGIDLE OF DENESIGENCE AND THE SOCIAL VALUE OF HEALTH DESEABLE	130

5.5.1 THE RELEVANCE OF STUDY TO THE HOST COUNTRY'S NEEDS: DIRECT AND INDIRECT	1.40
BENEFITS FOR PARTICIPANTS AND THEIR COMMUNITIES	140 141
5.5.2 Ancillary benefits	141 143
5.6 Post trial access in collaborative health research in poor settings 5.6.1 Post trial access for participants	145
5.6.2 Post trial access for the wider community	143
5.7 Conclusion	152
·	132
CHAPTER 6 THE ETHICS OF POPULATION-BASED RESEARCH	<u> 155</u>
6.1 DEFINITION AND DISTINCT FEATURES OF POPULATION-BASED RESEARCH	156
6.1.1 Aim of population-based research	158
6.1.2 POPULATION-BASED RESEARCH MAY AFFECT ALL MEMBERS OF A	
GROUP/COMMUNITY REGARDLESS OF THEIR INDIVIDUAL PREFERENCES	158
6.1.3 POPULATION-BASED RESEARCH INVOLVES COMMUNITY RISKS AND BENEFITS	159
6.1.4 COMMITMENT TO SOCIAL JUSTICE	160
6.2 Considering population based research within a broader research	
ETHICS FRAMEWORK	161
6.3 New ethical challenges in the cluster design	165
6.4 Conclusion	166
CHAPTER 7	
THE ROLE OF INFORMED CONSENT IN CLINICAL ETHICS AND PUBLIC	
HEALTH ETHICS	168
7.1 THE ROLE OF INFORMED CONSENT IN THE CLINICAL CONTEXT	170
7.1.1 JUSTIFICATIONS FOR THE INFORMED CONSENT REQUIREMENT IN CLINICAL	
RESEARCH AND PRACTICE	170
7.1.2 EXCEPTIONS TO THE INFORMED CONSENT REQUIREMENT: CASES WHERE INFORMED	
CONSENT IS NOT NECESSARY IN CLINICAL RESEARCH	178
7.1.3 INFORMED CONSENT AS A NON SUFFICIENT MORAL REQUIREMENT IN CLINICAL	
RESEARCH	181
7.1.4 Cases where informed consent is a necessary requirement in clinical	
RESEARCH	182
7.1.5 ADJUSTING THE CONSENT REQUIREMENT ON THE LEVEL OF RISK IN CLINICAL	
RESEARCH	182
7.2 THE ROLE OF INFORMED CONSENT IN PUBLIC HEALTH PRACTICE	188
7.2.1 Public health interventions	189
7.2.2 PROCEDURAL JUSTICE APPROACH	200
7.2.3 ADJUSTING THE CONSENT REQUIREMENT ON THE LEVEL OF RISK AND DEGREE OF	201
INTRUSION IN PUBLIC HEALTH PRACTICE	201
7.3 SOME COMMON POINTS REGARDING THE INFORMED CONSENT REQUIREMENT BETWEEN CLINICAL RESEARCH AND PUBLIC HEALTH INTERVENTIONS	204
7.4 CONCLUSION	207
7.4 CONCLUSION	207
CHAPTER 8	
REVISITING THE PROBLEM OF INFORMED CONSENT IN CLUSTER TRIALS:	
HOW SHOULD A CLUSTER STUDY PROCEED IF INFORMED CONSENT IS	
NOT POSSIBLE?	208
8.1 New moral challenges associated with the informed consent	
REQUIREMENT IN CLUSTER RESEARCH	209
8.1.1 NEW MORAL CHALLENGES RELATED TO THE NATURE OR LEVEL OF INTERVENTION	209

TABLE OF CONTENTS

8.1.2 New moral challenges related to the level of randomisation	219
8.2 COMMON MORAL PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONSENT REQUIREMENT IN	
CLUSTER RESEARCH	221
8.2.1 METHODOLOGICAL PROBLEMS WITH OBTAINING INFORMED CONSENT IN CLUSTER	
TRIALS	222
8.2.2 CULTURAL REASONS FOR NOT SEEKING CONSENT IN CLUSTER RESEARCH	225
8.3 ALTERNATIVES TO THE TRADITIONAL MODEL OF INFORMED CONSENT IN CRTS	231
8.3.1 Cluster consent	233
8.4 How should we proceed and what mechanisms should we use to ensure	
THAT CLUSTER STUDIES ARE ETHICALLY ACCEPTABLE WHEN INFORMED CONSENT	
IS NOT POSSIBLE?	241
8.4.1 The role of research ethics committees	242
8.4.2 COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT IN CLUSTER RESEARCH	244
8.4.3 THE ROLE OF INFORMATION IN CLUSTER RESEARCH	246
8.4.4 ACHIEVING PARTICIPANT PROTECTION IN CLUSTER RESEARCH AT INSTITUTIONAL	
AND SOCIETAL LEVEL	247
8.5 Conclusion	248
CONCLUSION	249
APPENDIX	
CONFLICTING INTERESTS: POSSIBLE TENSION BETWEEN COMMUNITY	
AND SCIENCE	256
A.1 Introduction	257
A.2 RESULTS	259
A.2.1 COMMUNITY AS PEOPLE LIVING IN A LOCALITY	260
A.2.2 COMMUNITY IN TERMS OF SOCIAL COHESION	262
A.2.3 COMMUNITY IN TERMS OF SHARED PROBLEMS OR PROJECTS	264
A.2.4 COMMUNITY IN TERMS OF MORAL STATUS OF GROUPS	267
A.3 Discussion	268
A.3.1 Potential social disharmony and mistrust	271
A.3.2 POTENTIAL HARMS TO INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS	271
A.3.3 Uncertainty of the role of the cluster representative	272
A.3.4 A COMBINATION OF THE SCIENTIFIC AND LAY APPROACH	273
A.4 Conclusion	273
DECEDENCES	275
REFERENCES	275

Introduction

Cluster randomised trials (where intact social units or groups of individuals – rather than individuals themselves –are randomly allocated to intervention or control conditions) have become an increasingly important methodological tool in health research (Taljaard et al. 2009). However, the substantial methodological differences between cluster randomized trials and conventional randomized trials have ethical implications, which have not been thoroughly explored in the literature and addressed in current guidelines.

Ethical issues raised by these kind of studies are related to questions concerning informed consent and representation: for instance, from whom, how, and when must informed consent be obtained? Who are cluster representatives and what are their responsibilities? On methodology: Does clinical equipoise apply to CRTs? How do we determine if the benefits outweigh the risks of CRTs? And there are key justice issues, such as: How should the benefits and burdens of research participation be distributed between individual subjects and between clusters?

The aim of this thesis is to explore and discuss the distinct ethical issues arising in the conduct of health-related cluster randomised trials with a particular emphasis on their use in developing countries. The main issues that will be examined are related to questions on informed consent and representation. These include: whether consent is required from the clusters involved additionally to individual informed consent, if so how do we identify individuals – or groups – who can represent those clusters and how far can we say their guardianship extends to such a decision; whether a trial is legitimate to carry out when individual informed

consent is not possible; whether lack of individual informed consent violates the rights of the participants; the role and authority of cluster representatives; how to justify cluster research in which individual consent is not feasible in communities with no political structures, and others. For some of these questions, I will discuss the views of the participants of a cluster study in a complex society in Mumbai, where communities are usually amalgams of smaller communities and do not necessarily represent pre-existing political or sociocultural spaces (Osrin et al. 2009).

There are two main reasons for which the research topic has been selected. First, because informed consent and representation are particularly important in the ethics of cluster trials. Cluster trials present distinctive challenges relating to when consent is necessary and to alternative means of ensuring high ethical standards where consent from research participants is not an option (for instance for methodological reasons). Second, because of the significance of such issues in low-income settings; Not only consent can be a challenge in such settings (for instance for cultural reasons) but moral concerns about the 'representativeness' of community gatekeepers also arise. Taking into account that there is a pressing need for cluster studies in low income settings, guidance on whether and how a cluster study should proceed in developing countries seems particularly important.

To successfully tackle the research topic, the thesis has four objectives: First, it seeks to identify ethical issues in the conduct of health research related to informed consent and representation, and their importance arising in CRTs and present how they are currently being addressed in published trial reports and papers on the ethics of CRTs (chapters 1, 2 and 3). Second, it aims to discuss the limitations of addressing such ethical issues within the existing research ethics framework (chapter 4). Third, by relying on a human right to health, a principle grounded in existing widely respected law and conventions, it aims to suggest a broader research ethics framework, beyond the existing clinical ethics paradigm, that takes into account the variety of health studies conducted in developing settings, as well as the broader socio-political context where collaborative health research takes place (chapter 5). Fourth, by examining the common moral features between cluster health studies and public health interventions (chapters 6

and 7), it aims to inform current research ethics guidelines and discussions on the ethics of cluster research by suggesting solutions to the problem of informed consent and cluster representation in developing countries (chapter 8) as well as to demonstrate the strength of the suggested research ethics framework in dealing with such complex issues.

I.1 | Thesis Layout

Chapters 1, 2 and 3 constitute a section of the thesis, which sets out and critiques the 'standard view' of research ethics. In these three chapters cluster randomised trials in developing countries are identified as a particularly interesting case in which the 'standard view' of research ethics is proved inadequate to provide ethical guidance.

The aim of the *first chapter* is to provide an introduction to cluster randomised controlled trials. First, important structural features, which distinguish cluster randomised controlled trials from ordinary RCTs, are presented. Then, I list the reasons for using CRTs in health research and finally, I briefly discuss the new ethical challenges that CRTs raise for researchers, research ethics committees and regulators.

In *chapter two* I discuss challenges that cluster design presents on the nature and practice of informed consent. Problems related to the inability of getting informed consent from all affected individuals are discussed in detail as well as solutions suggested in the literature on how a study may proceed if informed consent is not possible. I conclude that none of these solutions are sufficient and that a different perspective needs to be adopted from the one commonly taken in respect of conventional randomised trials.

In *chapter three* questions related to the role and authority of cluster representatives, known as 'gatekeepers', in CRTs are addressed. I first describe how the use of gatekeepers has been developed in the research ethics literature. I then explore the different roles that gatekeepers undertake in different CRT settings and discuss questions related to their authority to legitimately fulfil these roles. I conclude that the use of gatekeepers does not provide a solution to

challenges posed by informed consent especially when CRTs involve clusters, which lack organised structures.

Difficulties with obtaining informed consent from research participants in CRTs bring us to the question of whether and when it is acceptable to conduct a cluster research study when informed consent is infeasible to obtain. For this reason the aim of *chapter four* is to provide an ethical analysis of what is arguably the most challenging ethical issue health research in general: under what conditions we can morally accept the exposure of some individuals to research risks without their consent for social benefit. I present and discuss the main arguments for the justification of health research based on the moral approach normally taken in the research ethics literature. I then examine the implications for cluster research where individual consent is absent. I conclude that an alternative approach could better inform our understanding of cluster research and offer a new analytic insight in when it is legitimate to use a cluster design in health research.

In *chapter five*, I argue for an alternative approach to the moral justification of health research, which suggests that health studies, and in particular collaborative studies carried out in developing countries, should be considered within the broader social context in which they take place. I discuss the human right to health, an existing element of the widely respected practice and conventions, and argue that it should provide the moral basis according to which principles in research ethics should be interpreted and moral challenges related to health research (such as inability to obtain consent from the participants) should be addressed. I conclude that the proposed framework could provide better safeguards for the protection of participants in health research and at the same time it could support and encourage socially valuable research by taking into account a variety of health related studies that have not attracted much attention by existing guidelines and debates on research ethics.

The aim of *chapter six* is to explore and discuss the ethics of research interventions that involve populations or communities instead of individuals, and which often constitute the most effective ways of improving health in developing settings. By relying on Taylor and Johnson's (2007) definition of population-

based interventions, I present the ways in which such studies differ from conventional clinical studies and discuss the distinctive moral issues they present. I conclude that population based research is a distinct type of health research involving human subjects, because of its focus on populations rather than individuals, and that for this reason should not be considered within the current (clinical-based) research ethics framework. I then discuss the advantages of adopting a moral framework based on the human right to health when practical and moral challenges in the conduct of population-based research are presented. I conclude that a distinction between 'population-based research' and 'disease-based research', can help us better understand and address the ethical challenges raised in the cluster design and in particular the problem of informed consent (which I discuss in more detail in chapter 8).

Having argued in chapter six that new challenges concerning our inability to obtain consent in cluster trials are related to the distinct features of populationbased interventions, one of the objectives in *chapter seven* is to examine the role of informed consent in public health settings. By reviewing the conditions under which it is morally legitimate to restrict personal freedom/autonomy for social benefit in different public health measures, I aim to explore whether the same justifications could defend similar interventions for research purposes. However, since cluster trials, due to their experimental nature, also inherit most of the 'generic' problems of health research (which have been widely discussed in the existing research ethics literature), as well as some of the specific problems investigators face in medical research when cluster trials involve clinical procedures, to successfully deal with the problem of informed consent in CRTs I also examine the role of informed consent in clinical ethics. Comparing different standards for seeking informed consent in clinical research and public health settings, I conclude that informed consent requirements in cluster trials should be adjusted to the level of risk involved.

The aim of *chapter eight* is to provide answers to the question: how should we proceed when informed consent in a cluster study is not possible? I first review examples of CRTs where informed consent is problematic because of the distinct features of population-based interventions. I discuss the conditions under which

seeking individual consent in such cases is not necessary and argue that a decision regarding the conduct of research should be within the responsibilities of legitimate political authorities of the host country. I then discuss cases where informed consent in CRTs may be problematic for reasons that investigators may encounter in other research designs. Based on the moral framework I presented in chapter 5, I discuss when seeking informed consent is necessary and when the consent requirement could be overridden by other competing moral values (such as respect for local culture). Finally, I review the role of research ethics committees and the importance of community involvement in ensuring that a research proposal is consistent with both the principles of research ethics and the local needs and interests of researched communities.

In the conclusion, I summarise the main arguments of the thesis and to discuss whether the main research questions raised in Chapters 1, 2 and 3 have been successfully addressed by the proposed research ethics framework.

The Appendix discusses the potential of an important moral issue that has not been included in current debates on the ethics of cluster research. By focusing on a cluster randomised trial in Mumbai, India, where clusters do not map on to collective units, I aim to examine whether defining communities for research purposes in collaborative health research may lead to a conflict between sponsor and host counties. The discussion in this chapter is based on collaborative empirical work with SNEHA (Society for Nutrition, Education and Health Action) in Mumbai, India. By presenting the views of research participants, we investigated whether residents' sense of community matches with the scientific notion of the cluster, defined by the investigator as a geographic area, and explored the extent to which the cluster trial answers their needs. We then examined whether the possibility of a conceptual mismatch is likely to have methodological implications for a study or to lead to potential social disharmony because of the research interventions. Following this analysis, I argue that it is important to take social factors into account as well as statistical efficiency when choosing the size and type of clusters and designing a trial. I conclude that one method of informing such design would be to use existing forums for community engagement to explore individuals' primary sense of community or social group

and, where possible, to fit clusters around them.

I.2 | Methodology

A mixed-methods approach will be used incorporating both empirical and conceptual work.

I.2.1 | Literature review

In the literature review, chapters: 1, 2 and 3 a series of ethical issues posed by cluster trials are defined and their importance is explained. Moreover contemporary principles of research ethics are reviewed as well as their limitations for successfully dealing with moral challenges in CRTs. Each of these issues will be addressed in detail in a subsequent chapter in the thesis. This necessary preliminary work, the literature review, is carried out to generate an initial framework of ethical issues arising in health research and cluster-randomized trials in particular.

I.2.2 | Empirical work

Empirical work (chapters 8 and Appendix) includes in-depth interviews and focus group discussions with trial participants and gatekeepers (cluster level decision-makers) in a cluster randomised trial in Mumbai slums. The empirical work is aimed to inform the concurrent ethical analysis (i.e. the specific ethical issues to be addressed during the interviews and focus group discussions will be identified in the ethical analysis). The results of the empirical work are not presented wholesale in one chapter of the thesis but intersperse themes and quotes within the normative analysis for illustration and evidential support for claims.

Setting

Half of Mumbai's 12.5 million inhabitants live in slums (Officer of the Registrar General and Census Commissioner, Director of Census Operations Maharashtra: Census of India 2011; New Delhi: Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India, 2011). Slum-dwellers are worse off with respect to most health, nutrition and population indicators. About one-fifth of slum homes have a private toilet, 31% of residents have completed 10 years of education, and the total fertility rate is below the replacement threshold at 1.9 (Government of India Ministry of

Health and Family Welfare: National Family Health Survey, India (NFHS-3 2005-06); Mumbai: International Institute for Population Sciences 2007). The city is divided into 24 municipal wards for administrative convenience. Of these, M East ward has the lowest literacy rate (66%), the highest infant mortality rate (66 per 1000), the poorest human development ranking (0.05), and a high proportion of slum settlements. L ward is ranked second lowest, with a human development index of 0.29, and both of these vulnerable wards have large migrant populations, low and insecure levels of livelihood activity, large-scale unauthorized housing, and poor education and health facilities (Lignou et al. 2016).

For these reasons, M East and L wards were selected for a cluster randomized controlled trial of an intervention to improve the health and nutrition of women and children in Mumbai's slums through Community Resource Centres. The trial involved 40 informal settlements, each having approximately 600 households. 20 areas were allocated to have community resource centres and 20 acted as controls. Allocation was done in three blocks of 12, 12 and 16 communities. Resource centres were set up in three phases, of 6, 6 and 8 centres, respectively, with sixmonth intervals between the start of each phase. The centres were set up to act as bases for collection and dissemination of health information, provision of services, and referral of individuals and families to appropriate services. The effects of the intervention were evaluated against indicators of maternal health and infant feeding, women's reproductive health, violence against women and children, and childhood nutrition (Lignou et al. 2016). Outcomes were compared with those in the 20 control settlements (More et al. 2013).

Data collection

As part of the empirical study, we collected qualitative data to understand participants' perception of community and the factors that shaped their views. Participants were also asked about preferred methods of consultation, representation and their satisfaction with methods actually employed in the study. Participants were recruited from across several intervention and control clusters in order to involve residents with different socio-economic and demographic backgrounds. Data collection took place between August and October 2012. Separate semi-structured questionnaires were designed to guide the focus group

discussions and individual interviews. They were developed iteratively through conceptual discussions between S. Lignou, S. Edwards, D. Osrin, S. Das and G. Alcock, a multidisciplinary team with backgrounds in medicine, research ethics, social sciences and both quantitative and qualitative research methods. Discussions focused on the general content, topics of interest and the structure of individual questions. With the help of J. Mistry (a local translator/research assistant conversant with the study objectives and underlying concepts) the team piloted and refined the questionnaires to familiarise themselves with the meaning and flow of questions, and to ensure that translations were comprehensible. The researcher-translator felt more comfortable verbally translating from questionnaires in English to local languages during data collection.

The questionnaires were divided into broad sections on respondent background, understanding of community, community health, perceptions of risk (associated with participation in a cluster trial), representation (by decision-makers), and understanding and acceptance of community-based research. Background information included age, gender, occupation, length of residence in the area, and the nature of local family and social networks. The section on community was designed to explore how respondents understood and described the concept and meaning of 'community', based on their experiential knowledge of living in a Mumbai slum area. Given their complexity, discussions about uncertainty and risk associated with participating in community-based research trials were developed more in interviews with decision-makers and group discussions with residents than in individual interviews with residents.

The aim of the focus group discussions was to obtain a broad sense of residents' understandings and views on community, health and community-based research, and the individual interviews to explore themes in more detail, drawing upon individuals' experiences of inclusion in the cluster trial. Potential respondents were identified by community organizers, word of mouth, or casually during fieldwork in their communities. S. Lignou and J. Mistry conducted all group discussions and individual interviews. The focus groups were held in SNEHA community centres, the in-depth interviews with residents in their homes, and the interviews with decision-makers in their homes or offices.

Two focus group discussions took place with local residents and 20 semi-structured interviews with different respondent groups. On average, ten participants took part in each focus group, most of them women aged 18-55. Semi-structured interviews with ten residents (nine women and one man) and seven individuals (five men and two women) identified by residents as local leaders or decision-makers were conducted. The interviews lasted approximately an hour each. In addition, two Municipal Corporators (locally-elected government officials involved in urban planning and development) were interviewed and one representative of a political party located in a slum community. Before giving verbal consent to participate, the purpose of the study was explained to the participants, who were also given a participant information sheet and assured of confidentiality. Data collection ceased once it was felt that no new themes were emerging or that concepts and categories appeared to be sufficiently explored.

Each interview was audio-recorded and subsequently translated and transcribed in English. Care was taken to minimise misinterpretation from changes in meaning or bias during the translation process (Easton et al. 2000). Interview transcripts included a paragraph describing the background, setting and process of the data collection activity.

Data analysis

Individual interview transcripts were reviewed by S. Lignou in order that key emergent themes could be identified. These were used to inform subsequent data collection and in the development of early analysis. Thematic data were entered into a spreadsheet in Microsoft Office Excel, and organized into columns of cases and rows of transcribed data excerpts. Given the relatively small number of participants, data were manually analysed using a thematic analysis approach (Lacey A, Luff D. Qualitative Data Analysis. 2007. The NIHR RDS for the East Midlands/Yorkshire & the Humber). Several drafts of the analysis were written up, providing the opportunity to further refine the themes and provide a fairly rigorous interpretative framework with which to conceptualize and present the findings (Lignou et al. 2016).

Ethical approval

The study was approved by the Multi-institutional Ethics Committee of the Anusandhan Trust, in March 2010 (Lignou et al. 2016).

I.2.3 | Conceptual Work (chapters 4 to 8)

Ethical analysis begins with the articulation of important questions (e.g. Under what conditions can we morally accept the exposure of some individuals to research risks without their consent, for the social benefit of such research? What is the role of informed consent in clinical ethics? When is it morally permissible to restrict personal autonomy in public health settings? (and others). For each ethical issue identified, an ethical analysis is presented based on political and moral philosophy. An extensive review of the scholarly literature documents and critical analysis of arguments is offered for and against ethical positions. The ethical analysis seeks to synthesize arguments in the literature into a coherent position and propose solutions to the moral questions identified in the literature review.

Chapter 1

Important structural features of CRTs

The aim of this chapter is to provide an introduction to cluster randomized controlled trials. First, important structural features, which distinguish cluster randomised controlled trials (CRTs) from ordinary randomised controlled trials (RCTs) will be presented. Then, I list the reasons for using CRTs in health research and finally I briefly discuss the new ethical challenges that CRTs raise for researchers, research ethics committees and regulators.

1.1 | Important structural features of CRTs

The cluster-randomized design is an increasingly important methodological tool in health research (Taljaard et al. 2009). It is used in a number of cases: in knowledge translation research, quality improvement research, community based intervention studies, public health research, and research in developing countries (Weijer et al. 2011). In cluster randomized trials (also known as group randomized or place randomized trials), intact¹ social units or groups of individuals, rather than individuals themselves, are randomly allocated to differing intervention arms (intervention or control conditions) (Taljaard et al. 2009). Clusters can be primary care practices, hospital wards, households,

¹ In certain studies clusters may be created mainly for research purposes (see APPENDIX for a more detailed discussion) and thus the term 'intact' may not be appropriate to describe those groups. The reason, however, the term 'intact' is used here is to highlight the moral significance of considering group interests in the ethics of cluster research (an issue which will be discussed in Chapters 3 and 8).

neighbourhoods, schools, or entire communities or villages (Weijer et al. 2011)

There is a wide variety of CRTs, and many different levels and ways in which people are involved in them. The choice of the trial design depends on the question and hypothesis addressed by the trial. Research interventions in cluster trials may be delivered to an entire randomized group as a unit or to individuals within each group (to individual cluster members). All members of the group/cluster receive the same intervention (Weijer et al. 2011). Outcomes are then observed on individual cluster members (or subsamples of members) to evaluate the effect of the experimental intervention. Although outcomes are observed on individuals, they may be aggregated at the cluster-level, for example, percentage of X-ray requests by physicians (Taljaard et al. 2009).

In CRTs experimental units (the direct recipients of the intervention) may be different to the randomization and observation units; for instance the group that receives the experimental intervention may not be the same as the group from which data are collected. Moreover, the measurements chosen to evaluate the interventions might be available from routine records and the people might not need to be contacted directly. In such cases, we need to distinguish between consent to intervention and consent to data collection (this is not often explicit in RCTs) (Hutton 2001). The outcomes of interest might be measured on those directly receiving the intervention, or on those intended to benefit indirectly; for instance, a trial may assess practitioners' knowledge or the changes in their patients' health (Hutton 2001).

Compared with an individually randomized trial with the same number of individuals, cluster trials have lower statistical power (Donner and Klar 2000). This is a result of the fact that clusters tend to have various characteristics in common, and therefore show some intra-cluster correlation (the responses of individuals within a cluster tend to be more similar than the responses of individuals in differing clusters); "Since participants within any one cluster are more likely to have similar outcomes, the outcomes are not completely independent. Thus, the statistical power of a cluster randomised trial may be substantially less than that of a similar-sized individually randomised trial" (MRC)

2002, p. 7). Even a small intra-cluster correlation can have important implications for statistical power if the clusters are large. However, some improvement in efficiency can be gained by using matched or stratified designs² (Hutton 2001). Therefore, the use of a cluster-randomised design must be carefully justified (Weijer et al. 2011). As a rule of thumb, it is more important to have an adequate number of clusters than a large number of participants in each cluster to enhance the potential of detecting true differences between study arms (Killip et al. 2004).

1.2 | Why randomize by cluster/ Reasons for using CRTs

There are several reasons, scientific (methodological) and practical (due to logistical and political constraints), for the use of CRTs in health research (Hutton 2001). Some of the types of cases in which cluster randomized design is used are listed below:

1.2.1 | [A] Methodological reasons for doing a cluster randomised trial

Cluster level intervention

In recent years, there has been a growing interest in generating dependable evidence about the effectiveness of health policies, programs and practices, which cannot be rigorously tested through individual randomization. In health services implementation research for example, the intervention may be administered to the health professional or teams of health professionals or may involve changes to the health care organization (Taljaard et al. 2009). Cluster randomized trials in which entire medical practices or health care units are randomized, are ideal for this purpose.

_

² Stratification of clinical trials is the partitioning of subjects and results by a factor other than the treatment given. Stratification can be used to ensure equal allocation of subgroups of participants to each experimental condition. This may be done by gender, age, or other demographic factors. Stratification can be used to control for confounding variables (variables other than those the researcher is studying), thereby making it easier for the research to detect and interpret relationships between variables. For example, if doing a study of fitness where age or gender was expected to influence the outcomes, participants could be stratified into groups by the confounding variable. A limitation of this method is that it requires knowledge of what variables need to be controlled (Paggio et al. 2001).

Interventions may also involve training or education of health professionals with the aim of improving patient care. The nature of the intervention in those cases may require it being administered at the cluster level. For instance, Lewin and colleagues studied the impact on patient outcomes of a cluster-level training programme for health workers caring for tuberculosis patients in South Africa. The study targeted primary care clinics in Cape Town that had tuberculosis treatment completion rates of less than 70%. In the intervention arm of the trial, nurse clinicians underwent an 18hour in-service training program that focused on patient centred care and quality improvement. Study outcomes compared patient treatment completion and patient cure rates before and after the study intervention (Lewin et al. 2005).

Likewise, in public health there is a growing concern to improve policies and programs. Cluster randomization is often the only feasible approach to evaluate alternative policies and models of care (Taljaard et al. 2009). An example of that case is the Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT). This cluster level intervention used mass education to target entire communities in an attempt to reduce smoking rates. Through a wide range of influences including public education, health care workers promoted smoking cessation. With such broad interventions, a conventional trial design would have been impossible (The Commit group, 1995).

Cluster action of an intervention

Cluster design is also used when investigators want to study both individual and group effects of an intervention. Trials of the impact of vaccines and some drug treatments (that act at individual and community level) cannot be evaluated in isolated individuals since their effectiveness is dependent on how many other people also have the intervention (Hutton 2001). Researchers by using a cluster design can measure the effectiveness of a vaccine for an infectious disease administered at the individual level but observed among those in the wider community (as a consequence of herd immunity) by detecting the likelihood of individuals becoming infected, the severity of the infection and the transmission of the disease (Hutton 2001).

Treatment cluster contamination

Another methodological reason for which randomization at the individual level may be undesirable is the need to avoid contamination. For instance, researchers studying the change of social behaviour or the transmission of knowledge may choose to randomise participants at the level of a GP practice or town to avoid social interaction between the participants in close proximity, which will contaminate the study (Taljaard et al. 2009). The study of Kennedy and collegues is an example of such cases. They conducted an individual level intervention in which they studied the effect of patient-centered educational materials on patient knowledge, anxiety, and quality of life. Patients in the study were on long term follow-up for ulcerative colitis. Because patients interaction with each other was frequent, since they were attanding the same clinic, the researchers randomised clusters of patients attending the same clinic to receive either the educational material or no intervention (Kennedy et al. 2003).

Cluster design may also be used to enhance subject compliance. Studies conducted in workplaces, schools or general practices could be enhanced by interaction between subjects; e.g. formal or informal discussions (Hutton 2001).

1.2.2 | [B] Practical reasons for conducting a cluster randomised trial

Administrative convenience

Administrative convenience is another reason for using cluster-randomized design. As noted in the MRC guidelines: "If the intervention involves supplying equipment or staff to an administrative unit, then, by randomising these units rather than individuals, only a subset of the units would receive the equipment or staff. This may be administratively cheaper or more convenient." (MRC 2002, p. 4) In cases where access to patients is only possible through professionals, a conventional design would require large numbers of individual professionals to be contacted and requested to pass on trial information. When researchers need to have access to routine data, cluster design is ideal as they only need to approach relevant administrative or archiving authorities, such as general practices or hospital trusts, and not a large number of individuals to pass on trial information (Hutton 2001). Moreover, using clusters makes the personnel more likely to

cooperate since professionals could concentrate in a few locations and do not need to change practice for each patient. Finally, a conventional design in developing nation settings where special equipment or personnel are required would make the trial organization and implementation very complicated (Taljaard et al. 2009).

Political reasons

A second pragmatic reason for doing cluster trials exists in cases where it is necessary to obtain permission from national and local governments or community leaders to conduct the trial. In developing countries, in particular, where there is no local tradition of individual informed consent, consent has been sought from the head of a village to use the village as a cluster before proceeding to contact individuals (Taljaard et al. 2009).

1.3 | Ethical issues in CRTs

1.3.1 | Importance of the problem

Although the basic principles reflected in international ethics codes underpinning the ethical conduct of research involving human subjects have become enshrined in the ethics review of biomedical research, their application in cluster randomized trials does not have a clear-cut interpretation. The fact that the cluster design involves groups of participants or patients has implications for both the science and the ethics of CTRs. Those ethical challenges have not been thoroughly explored in the research ethics and bioethics literature. Relevant international and national guidelines were designed to protect the welfare and liberty interests of individual participants. The only guidelines addressing cluster randomised trials are the UK Medical Research Council document (Cluster Randomized Trials: Methodological and Ethical Considerations 2002) and the Ottawa Statement on the Ethical Design and Conduct of Cluster Randomised Trials (2013). However, neither the broad scope of the ethical issues in CRTs is addressed in the MRC documents (Taljaard et al 2011) nor the applicability of the Ottawa Statement guidelines in collaborative research in developing countries is clear. As a result, there is lack of authoritative guidance to help researchers design and conduct their trials according to the highest ethical standards.

Moreover, because of the absence of formal guidelines for CRTs, research ethics committees and regulators do not have an international standard to follow, which results in uncertainty and variety of interpretations to ethical standards and permissible practices that should be adopted (Weijer et al. 2011). Since research ethics boards (REBs) may be unfamiliar with this increasingly important study methodology, they may fail to consider all of the relevant ethical issues generated by a study protocol, resulting in inadequate subject protection and unequal treatment of subjects in different jurisdictions (Taljaard et al. 2009).

To illustrate the serious challenges that CRTs pose to the current conceptual framework for research ethics, let us consider the following example. As I will later explain principles for the protection of the liberty and welfare interests of individual research participants, as laid out in the Belmont Report, cannot answer most of the ethical questions raised in this case:

A study randomized villages in Nepal to provide nutritional supplements to women of childbearing age. Villages were randomized to one of four study arms: vitamin A supplements, -carotene supplements, both supplements, or placebo. The outcome of interest was mortality associated with pregnancy and childbirth. Community leaders agreed to randomization of communities, while individual women gave verbal consent to receive the supplements and provide data. A sample of women who became pregnant underwent further investigations, including blood sampling. Mortality and other variables were collected prospectively by study workers. Further information regarding fatalities was obtained from interviews with the families of any subjects who died (West et al. 1999).

Some of the ethical issues raised by this kind of studies are the following: is consent required from the communities involved additionally to individual informed consent? If so, then who has the authority to speak on behalf of the community and based on what criteria? Do the researchers have special obligations towards the subjects of the study, for instance a duty to provide ancillary benefits to all study arms (despite the size of the cluster and the cost involved) because of the developing nation setting? How do we determine

whether the benefits outweigh the risks in this type of studies?

Before discussing in detail the ethical challenges presented in cluster randomized controlled trials, let us briefly consider the essential ethical principles of health research on humans to explain why the distinctive features of CRTs challenge our current understanding of research ethics.

1.3.2 | A standard view of research ethics

International codes governing research on people are largely based on individually randomized trials. In those trials individual subjects are randomised to receive one of the differing treatment regimens and they are typically simultaneously the unit of randomization, the unit of experimentation, and the unit of observation (Weijer et al. 2011). Contemporary research ethics is viewed as governed by three principles laid out in the Belmont Report, a widely accepted governance code in research ethics. These three principles are the principle of respect for persons, the principle of beneficence (and its complimentary principle of non-maleficence), and the principle of justice.

The ethical principle of *respect for persons* means that choices of autonomous individuals (people who can responsibly make their own decisions) ought to be taken seriously. People lacking autonomy, such as young children or adults with advanced dementia, are entitled to protection. This principle is the source of the moral rules requiring informed consent from research subjects (researchers should obtain agreement from a research subject or their surrogate decision-maker to participate) and protection of confidential health information (Taljaard et al. 2009). Informed consent is valid when the research subject (or their surrogate decision maker) has adequate information about the study, understand what is at stake in the decision and freely decide to participate (Weijer et al. 2011).

The ethical principle of *beneficence* means that researchers have an obligation to protect subjects from avoidable harm and, where possible, to promote the good of research subjects. This principle is the source of a variety of moral rules that guide the analysis of benefits and harms of the study (Taljaard et al. 2009). The principle of beneficence is considered as complimentary to the principle of non-

maleficence, which requires that health research should not add to the burdens those participating in research already face. This principle rules out any research proposal that would make research participants worse off because of their involvement in research.

The ethical principle of *justice* means that researchers have an obligation to treat study subjects fairly and to ensure that the procedures for their selection are equitable. The researchers must also ensure that vulnerable groups (such as children, incapable adults, prisoners, or pregnant women) are not exploited (included as a population of mere convenience) or excluded without clear justification (Taljaard et al). This principle also requires that research subjects who are harmed as a result of research participation should be compensated (Childress 1976).

It is obvious that some of the questions raised in our example cannot be answered by relying on the ethical principles of our current system of research ethics (the Belmont Report Principles are assumed to form the basis of the standard position, which will be discussed in Chapters 2 and 3, and critiqued in later chapters). For instance, the principle of respect for persons does not provide any guidance on how we should answer the question "who has the authority to speak on behalf of the community and based on what criteria?" In Chapter 5 I suggest an alternative moral framework for research ethics where these questions can be better understood and addressed.

1.4 | Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to provide an introduction to cluster randomized controlled trials. I presented the important structural features, which distinguish CRTs from RCTs, the reasons for using cluster design in health research and the new ethical challenges CRTs present, which will be discussed in the following chapters.

Chapter 2

Consent and Cluster Trials

Informed consent is an important subject of discussion in the literature concerning the ethics of health research. The aim of this chapter is to set out and critique the 'standard view' of research ethics by discussing challenges that cluster design presents on the nature and practice of informed consent, and in particular: from whom, when, and how must informed consent be obtained in CRTs in health research, what kind of information should be provided, and the necessity and feasibility of obtaining individual consent. In the discussion section problems related to the inability of getting individual informed consent are presented as well as solutions suggested in the literature on how a study can proceed if informed consent is not possible. I conclude that none of these solutions are sufficient and that a different perspective needs to be adopted to that commonly taken in respect of conventional randomised trials.

2.1 | Informed consent in research ethics guidelines and regulations

Individual informed consent is widely considered an essential ethical requirement for study participation in health research³. As stated in the Nuremberg code: "The voluntary consent of the human subject is absolutely essential... The duty and responsibility for ascertaining the quality of the consent rests upon each individual

³ A detailed discussion on why the informed consent requirement has a central role in clinical ethics is presented in Chapter 7.

who initiates, directs, or engages in the experiment. It is a personal duty and responsibility which may not be delegated to another with impunity" (Article 1). As a general rule, informed consent for study participation must be obtained from research subjects or their surrogate decision makers.

Criteria for informed consent for research participation are laid out in national and international research ethics guidelines (Department of Health and Human Services: Protection of Human Subjects Washington USA; 2005, Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council: Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans Ottawa Canada; World Medical Association: Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Ferney-Voltaire France; 2008 Council of International Organizations of Medical Science: International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects Geneva Switzerland; 2002). Those include disclosure requirements: an explanation of the purpose of the study; a description of the study interventions; a description of the risks and potential benefits to subjects from research participation; a description of alternatives available to potential subjects should they choose not to participate; a description of confidentiality protections; a statement assuring potential subjects that participation is voluntary, that they may withdraw at any time, and that their quality of care will not be affected should they choose not to participate or to withdraw; and, information on whom they may contact with questions (McRae et al. 2011).

A number of these guidelines allow for a waiver of consent under certain conditions. For instance, in the Helsinki Code, although similar principles to those in the Nuremberg code are stated, informed consent is not given the prime position, and the possibility of situations in which a "physician considers it essential not to obtain informed consent" is presumed (Hutton 2001)⁴.

Cases where individual informed consent may not be feasible are also considered

⁴ Exceptions to the informed consent requirement in clinical context are discussed in Chapter 7.

in the case of 'Community-based research'. WHO/CIOMS guidelines state: "Where research is undertaken on a community basis - for example by experimental treatment of water supplies, by health services research or by large-scale trials of new insecticides, of new prophylactic or immunizing agents, and of nutritional adjuvants or substitutes - individual consent on a person-to-person basis may not be feasible and the ultimate decision to undertake the research will rest with the responsible public health authority. Nevertheless, all possible means should be used to inform the community concerned of the aims of the research, the advantages expected from it and any possible hazards or inconveniences. If feasible, dissenting individuals should have the option of withholding their participation. Whatever the circumstances, the ethical considerations and safeguards applied to research on individuals must be translated, in every possible respect, in the community context." (Howard-Jones 1981, p. 1447).

2.2 | A moral foundation of informed consent

In the introduction I referred to the ethical principles of research ethics: respect for persons, beneficence and justice.

The requirement for informed consent for research participation is often argued to stem from the principle of respect for persons. According to this principle, the wishes of autonomous individuals should be respected. Autonomous individuals are those who are capable of self-government and who can make responsible choices for themselves. Autonomous individuals should be free from coercive influences and decide about their participation after being adequately informed about the study. The principle of respect for persons also requires that individuals with diminished autonomy should be protected.

The ethical principle of respect for persons may be viewed as deriving from deontological moral theory, which suggests that people have intrinsic moral worth by virtue of their capacity for rational decision making about their ends (McRae et al 2011). It also suggests that each of us has a duty to recognize and respect the capacities for personhood in others (Freedman 1975). As Freedman explains informed consent arises "from the right which each of us possesses to be treated as a person, and in the duty which all of us have, to have respect for persons, to

treat a person as such, and not as an object. For this entails that our capacities for personhood ought to be recognized by all – these capacities including the capacity for rational decision and for action consequent upon rational decision" (Levine 1988, p. 145). Respecting the worth of others suggests that people can only legitimately be involved in other people's projects or activities if they can adopt other people's ends as their own. By providing informed consent a competent person demonstrates that they freely give agreement to participation, based on an adequate understanding of information related to that decision (Sim and Dawson 2012).

The purpose of human research is to generate knowledge for social benefit and in order for this to be possible human subjects will be put at risk primarily (or merely) for the benefit of others⁵. According to the principle of respect for others, this practice can only be morally legitimate if research subjects can adopt the ends of the study as their own. Informed consent constitutes the giving of permission to researchers to act in this way; i.e. it (partially) justifies research subjects to be exposed to risk for social benefit. By obtaining informed consent researchers (partially)⁶ fulfill their duties to respect research subjects' autonomy and treat them as ends in themselves (McRae et al 2011).

Although empirical data suggests that informed consent is often difficult to achieve, because of difficulties related to understanding and recollection of research information (de Melo-Martin and Ho 2008; Faden and Beauchamp 1986; Lignou and Edwards 2012), and thus it could be argued that research does not and need not aim to respect autonomy (see discussion in Chapter 4 where the view that the purpose of informed consent is to protect personal autonomy is critiqued as inadequate) to facilitate the discussion, I will assume in this part that informed consent is a necessary requirement in human research.

Although ir

⁵ Although in certain cases participants might get direct benefits from the study (beneficial research).

⁶ As I explain in Chapter 4, a researcher's moral duty to respect the autonomy of their research subjects is not exhausted in obtaining informed consent.

2.3 | New issues regarding informed consent in CRTs

Informed consent is the main subject of discussion in the literature concerning CRTs. As already mentioned, the ethical principle of respect for persons suggests that researchers are generally obligated to obtain informed consent from the individuals that participate in their research. However, because of their design i.e. cluster randomization, cluster level interventions, and cluster size, CRTs present challenges in obtaining individual informed consent.

In conventional clinical trials (RCTs) the process of obtaining informed consent is straightforward. "In the RCT, consent is generally viewed in terms of a dyadic relationship and is construed in terms of the agreement, or otherwise, of the individual patient or participant" (Sim and Dawson 2012). In most cases the research subject is simultaneously the unity of randomization, the unit of experimentation and the unit of observation. Therefore, researchers can obtain individual informed consent from prospective research subjects before randomization, the intervention they will receive and data collection (McRae et al. 2011).

In CRTs clusters may be randomized before researchers identify or approach cluster members. As a result, it is often not possible to get individual informed consent for random assignment (McRae et al. 2011). Moreover, the different levels of randomisation and intervention mean CRTs raise important ethical issues on the levels at which consent can be sought and the reasons for which it can be sought. In CRTs there are many cases in which it is either impossible, or extremely difficult to get informed consent from the individuals to whom the intervention will be applied, while there are also cases where, even though it is possible to get individual informed consent, some researchers argue that it is not necessary to do so⁷. In short, CRTs raise new issues on the nature and practice of informed consent in health research (Hutton 2001). Some of these challenges are listed below:

⁷ These cases are discussed in detail in Chapter 8.

2.3.1 | Levels at which consent might be sought

In RCTs consent operates at the level of the individual person (participant). In CRTs there are further levels to consider. In CRTs we randomize at the level of the intact social group (cluster) and not at the level of the individual, as a result, there is another layer of consent that, it could be argued, should be obtained for the entry of the cluster into the trial. Thus, additionally to individual informed consent, it is claimed that consent should also be sought by a cluster representative for the trial to go ahead (I explain this further in the section: feasibility of consent).

2.3.2 | Consent to what?

In CRTs consent might be sought for the use of routinely held data, additional data collection (with or without the use of invasive procedures) or administration of an intervention (Hutton 2001). It is generally argued that consent should be considered and obtained at several levels and at no level responsibility can be delegated with impunity (Hutton 2001).

2.3.3 | Information

The information provided, when consent is sought in CRTs, might be more complicated than that required for RCTs. For instance, a practical difficulty that researchers face in CRTs is to explain the trial to those allocated to a control arm, since consent is often sought after randomisation (Hutton 2001). In CRTs if a cluster member refuses the allocated intervention (i.e. routine care) they usually cannot get their preferred alternative. However, this is not a new issue in CRTs. In RCTs individuals who decline participation cannot necessarily get their treatment of choice (Hutton 2001). According to Hutton, trial information should be provided even in the cases where a member of a cluster cannot opt out of the intervention (for instance, when an insecticide is sprayed throughout their village). Although providing information in those cases could either increase goodwill or subjects' concern, a failure to inform a research subject might result in a sense of violation (Ashcroft 1998; Snowdon et al. 1999).

2.3.4 | Timing of informed consent

Another issue in CRTs is the timing of informed consent. Klar and Donner raise

this issue by comparing two studies examining the impact of administration of vitamin A on early childhood morality. The first study used households as units of randomization and sought informed consent before randomization. The second study used the community as unit of randomization and researchers obtained consent after randomization. Klar and Donner expressed their concern by noting that: "the relative absence of ethical guidelines for cluster randomized trials appears to have created a research environment in which the choice of randomization unit may determine whether informed consent is deemed necessary before random assignment... It seems questionable, on both an ethical level and a methodological level, whether the unit of randomization should play such a critical role in deciding whether informed consent is required [before randomization]" (Weijer et al. 2011).

2.3.5 | Necessity and Feasibility of informed consent

The necessity and feasibility of obtaining individual informed consent from research subjects depends on the nature of the study and the intervention (Hutton 2001).

Considering the necessity for seeking individual informed consent, it is often argued that we should distinguish between experimental and epidemiological research (Hutton 2001). In epidemiological research data is collected from patient records. According to MRC guidelines, when the intervention is at the level of a practice and it does not affect patient care, then explicit consent from individuals is not necessary (Hutton 2001)⁸. Different standards for seeking consent also apply in RCTs where the difference between routine and experimental care is discussed. However, even if we consider consent necessary for all epidemiological studies, in the context of health services research this distinction is more difficult; in areas where there is continuous innovation it is not easy to determine where research begins and thus in which stage researchers should seek consent (Hutton 2001).

Another problem related to the feasibility of obtaining informed consent relies on

⁸ Some advocates of the informed consent requirement object to this view– I discuss this further in Chapter 7.

methodological reasons. As stated in Helsinki Code II, some studies would be vitiated if participants were asked to consent. When a cluster trial studies a behavioural intervention, the informed consent process may lead to treatment contamination (Eldridge et al. 2005, Glanz et al. 1996). As explained by Edwards and colleagues: "Informing the controls fully about the experimental arm(s) is likely to produce the very effect that randomizing by cluster was designed to avoid – that is, prompting controls to adopt the treatment(s) under investigation. One option is to withhold information about the novel treatment from controls, on the grounds that they are getting conventional care and are therefore in the same position as people outside the experiment" (Edwards et al. 1999). In those cases, an independent committee would assess the validity of the reasons for not seeking consent and whether a waiver of consent could be justified for the trial to go ahead (Hutton 2001). However, it is important to consider whether withholding information about the study from participants in the control group can be consistent with the principle of respect for persons and the moral duty of the researchers to respect participants' autonomy (I discuss this issue in detail in chapter 8).

The major discussion on feasibility of obtaining informed consent in cluster randomized trials, though, relates to the suggested classification of CRTs into 'individual-cluster' and 'cluster-cluster' trials (Edwards et al. 1999) and is discussed in the following section.

2.4 | Feasibility of getting informed consent and the nature of clusters

2.4.1 | Cases where it is possible to get individual informed consent

The potential to obtain individual informed consent is often linked to the 'level' of the intervention. Generally, in individual-cluster trials it is feasible to get individual informed consent. In individual-cluster trials we randomize at the level of the cluster but the intervention is directed at the individuals within the cluster. Examples of individual-cluster trials are vaccination studies, patient-centered educational brochure studies and training and educational programmes for health workers. Within each cluster it is (in theory) perfectly feasible to obtain consent

from the cluster members who will receive the intervention and given that individual informed consent is possible, it is generally argued that there is a moral duty to obtain it. ⁹ To this extent CRTs are very similar to RCTs.

However, there is one additional complication; although research subjects can consent to the intervention, since it occurs at the level of the particular patient, they cannot consent to the trial-taking place (because the unit of randomization is the cluster). For this reason, there will typically be another layer of consent required. There will be a 'gatekeeper', a 'guardian' or 'cluster representative' whom we must approach before we are allowed to enter a given cluster into the trial, for instance a school director, a village leader and others (Edwards et al, 1999). As summarised by Sabin et al (2008) "the consensus position is that some form of representative mechanism can be allowed to consent for entry of the cluster into a study, but the process requires careful safeguards and should be conducted in a transparent manner. Insofar as the [Cluster Trial] is studying an experimental agent like a new vaccine, if informed consent at the level of the individual cluster member is feasible, then it should be asked for." (Sabin et al. 2008, p. 42).

Although individual informed consent is in theory possible in individual cluster trials, the use of a representative mechanism for the entry of a cluster into the trial may present moral challenges. As it will be discussed later, in many cases it will be unclear who, if anyone, has the right to speak for a given cluster. Moreover, although, in the case of individual-cluster trials the individuals in the cluster have the opportunity to decline participation, their refusal does not necessarily mean that alternative interventions or treatments will be offered to those who wish to opt out (because of the nature of the trial) (Sim and Dawson 2012). In addition, when a gatekeeper refuses to give consent for cluster randomization, cluster members are denied access in the trial, despite their willingness to participate.

-

⁹ Although individual consent is possible in individual-cluster trials, in certain cases it should be avoided for methodological reasons, e.g. to avoid contamination (see 2.3. Necessity and Feasibility of informed consent). Suggested solutions to the problems with obtaining individual informed consent in individual-cluster trials are discussed in Chapter 8).

Issues related to the rights of individuals to make their own decisions about research participation and the obligations of researchers to ensure that the procedures for their selection are equitable need also to be taken seriously into account.

2.4.2 | Cases where it is impossible to get individual informed consent

There are cases where it is not feasible or meaningful to obtain individual informed consent. In cluster-cluster trials the intervention is delivered at a cluster rather than an individual level and thus it may be very difficult for cluster members to avoid the intervention if they do not wish to participate in the trial (although individual consent may feasibly be given or withheld for outcome assessment or access to health records). In environmental interventions for instance, such as water fluoridation or when an insecticide is sprayed throughout a village, it might be impossible for the experimental subjects to withdraw, even if adverse events associated with the intervention were reported (Hutton 2001). The fact that individual refusal of informed consent may be, in effect, rendered meaningless undermines the very purpose of consent (UK Medical Research Council 2011).

The practical difficulties in obtaining individual informed consent are illustrated in a CRT reported by Rowland and colleagues:

Falciparum and vivax malaria are important health problems in Pakistan and indoor spraying of insecticide is the major preventive method used. The CRT sought to test the effectiveness of a new insecticide — alphacypermethrin — in controlling malaria rates in rural Pakistan. The primary outcome measures were the annual incidence rates of falciparum and vivax malaria. The 180 km2 study area in Punjab province was divided into nine sectors and each was randomized to spraying with one of two preparations of the insecticide or a no spraying control. In the two intervention arms of the study, all living quarters, storage rooms, and animal quarters were sprayed once with the insecticide. Survey teams visited 400 houses in each district every two weeks to identify new cases of malaria by symptom report and, when indicated, a blood smear to look

microscopically for the parasite. Additionally, a cross-sectional survey collected blood smears from 200 to 300 school children in each sector before and after the intervention period. Village elders were informed of the study and gave their permission for the study to be conducted. The study concluded that the new insecticide reduced the annual incidence of falciparum malaria by 95% and vivax malaria by 80%. (Rawland et al. 2000).

In this CRT, all residents within the study area were deliberately intervened upon via manipulation of their environment and, hence, are human research subjects. However, it would have been impossible to obtain the informed consent of all research subjects in this study. As the study involved spraying all living quarters, storage rooms, and animal quarters within a geographic area, it would have been difficult for cluster members to avoid the intervention. Even if one refused to allow one's own home to be sprayed, one could not practically avoid all the treated buildings in the community (the insecticide proved to have an effective half-life of about six months). As a result, the refusal of informed consent in this study would have been meaningless. Second, requiring investigators to obtain the informed consent of research subjects would have rendered the study infeasible. Each of the nine study sectors contained approximately 2000 people living in 400 homes. The practical impossibility of obtaining informed consent in such cases presents a serious ethical challenge to CRTs (McRae et al. 2011).

According to Edwards and colleagues, in such studies, "the autonomy principle is lost except insofar as the individual has any democratic choice of who the guardian is and some right to consultation by the guardian" (Edwards et al. 1999). They suggest that when informed consent is not feasible, the decision to undertake the research is to be made by a 'guardian', a 'gatekeeper' or 'cluster representation mechanism' (a person or body charged with making decisions on behalf of the entire cluster) (Edwards et al. 1999). This authority must take the responsibility for the consequences of research and also inform the community/cluster on the research, although the people charged with this responsibility might not themselves be directly exposed to the interventions

(Hutton 2001)¹⁰. In other words, it is considered that "the role of the guardian is key to the ethical conduct of cluster trials" (Edwards et al. 1999).

This view is adopted by the MRC guidelines: "Individual level interventions generally do allow individual choice" while cluster level interventions "do not allow individual choice" (UK Medical Research Council 2002). It is suggested that in individual randomized trials, cluster consent should be obtained for the individuals to be approached, while in cluster-cluster trials cluster consent would be consent on behalf of the individuals (UK Medical Research Council 2002). In this document it is also recognized that both individual and cluster interventions may be included in a single trial. In this case informed consent should be obtained where it is possible: "The fact that individual choice does not exist for a [cluster level] intervention (or for cluster randomisation) does not, for instance, prevent individual consent being sought for giving a complementary [individual level] intervention which is part of the intervention package, or for taking samples, recording information, or extracting data from records" (UK Medical Research Council 2002).

Based on the above suggestions, in cluster-cluster trials and CRTs that involve large clusters, it is essential to consider whom researchers should approach to provide consent on behalf of the cluster; who ought to have the power to deliver the cluster? The selection of a cluster representative is more important and complicated in cluster-cluster trials than in individual-cluster trials, because individual autonomy seems to be lost while a gatekeeper's decision could substantially affect cluster members' interests.

When communities are chosen as clusters, things are more straightforward. In CIOMS guidelines it is stated that in community-based research, researchers should seek consent from their community leaders. When communities are randomized as clusters, their gatekeepers/community leaders are likely to be

¹⁰ The authority of gatekeepers in fulfilling this role will be discussed in the following chapter.

affected by the decisions they make.¹¹ However, even in that case cluster consent may be problematic; as a Nigerian study indicates, community leaders' consent is cheaper and easier to obtain and their views should not be assumed to be identical with the views of their community as a whole (Onwujekwe et al. 1999)¹². There are also further ethical issues related to community consent that should be considered, i.e. how a community is defined, how its representatives are chosen, how we should proceed if a community leader is not willing to accept the role of advocate, to whom should responsibility for the decision to enter the cluster be passed, and others.

Although cluster consent has been proposed as a solution to overcome difficulties in obtaining individual consent in cluster-cluster trials, it is important to consider further ethical problems associated with this solution and decide whether and when the moral conduct of a CRT is justified when individual consent is not possible.

2.5 | Discussion

The ethical principle of respect for persons generally requires that researchers obtain informed consent from research subjects. As mentioned above, informed consent plays a key role in the ethical justification of human participation in research. By providing informed consent research subjects state they adopt the ends of the study as their own and also permit researchers to expose them to risks for other people's benefit. However, in some CRTs seeking individual informed consent is either impossible or would undermine the scientific validity of the trial (e.g. when there is high risk of contamination). If informed consent cannot be obtained, then it seems reasonable to argue that a study cannot proceed. This, however, would lead to undesirable consequences, from the point of view of scientific research, since it would significantly restrict the conduct of CRTs (especially of cluster-cluster trials and trials involving large clusters).

¹¹ However, it is not clear in these statements how communities are defined and whether all communities have leaders who are recognised as such.

¹² Further problems with this approach are discussed in Chapter 8.

It is important therefore to decide whether we should consider consent from research subjects as an absolute ethical requirement, and thus judge such CRTs unethical, or whether we believe that CRTs can still be morally justified in the absence of individual consent because of their importance for health or other research (e.g. poverty solutions).

One way to deal with this problem is to argue for a waiver of consent (individual and cluster consent). Weijer et al. (2011) argue that there are cases where informed consent is not necessary in cluster trials. In particular, one of those cases is when patients or community members are only indirectly affected by the intervention; in other words when they are not considered research subjects (regulatory and ethical requirements for informed consent only apply to research subjects).

Another case in which Weijer et al (2011) argue that informed consent should not be required is when a research involves no more than minimal risk and when the rights and welfare of the subjects are not adversely affected. Along these lines McRae et al (2011) claim that a partial solution to the problem of obtaining informed consent in cluster trials can be found in international regulatory provisions, where conditions for a waiver of consent are described. For instance, as stated in in International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects "when the research design involves no more than minimal risk and a requirement of individual informed consent would make the conduct of the research impracticable (for example, where the research involves only excerpting data from subjects' records), the ethical review committee may waive some or all of the elements of informed consent" (Eckstein 2003, p. 472). According to this statement exposing research subjects to risks for the benefit of others without their consent can only be justified if those risks are insignificant. In contrast, when informed consent is not feasible and the study involves more than minimal risk, the research subjects are treated as means only and thus the study cannot be considered ethical.

Following McRae at al., we can easily argue that if a study is considered to have major social benefit and involves only minimal risk for the participants, individual consent can be waived. In contrast, if a study involves risky procedures for the participants then overriding consent should not be allowed. In other words, it can be argued that although the moral requirement for informed consent is very important in medical research, it can be overridden without violating the principle of respect for persons, if specific moral safeguards are established.

Although McRae and colleagues seem to resolve the problem of justifying cluster trials when informed consent cannot be obtained, there are still several critical questions that need to be answered. In particular, how do we determine the social value of a study? How should we define minimal risk in collaborative health research? Is the moral duty to respect the subject's autonomy still fulfilled when the risk involved is minimal but the subjects do not adopt the ends of the study as their own or when they are not given the option to opt out of the trial? Should individual consent be overridden when a study involves more than minimal risk but informed consent processes are not compatible with the values and customs of the host country?¹³ In certain studies, such as community-based research, researchers may be familiar with the needs and values of the researched populations by consulting a cluster representative or a community leader about the community and community members' values and interests¹⁴. However, when clusters include less cohesive social groups, it is more difficult for the researchers to know in advance whether potential participants would agree with the aims of the study.

Another case in which individual informed consent is not considered necessary in cluster-cluster trials is when the research cannot be practically carried out otherwise and when appropriate, the research subjects are informed (45 Code of Federal Regulations). However, this suggestion is not helpful, since we will still need to clarify how the requirement that a trial could not practicably be conducted otherwise should be considered and also provide practical guidance to researchers and research committees (Weijer et al. 2011). In addition, another point that still

¹³ I discuss these questions further in the following chapters.

¹⁴ However, as mentioned earlier, community leaders should not always be assumed to represent community values.

needs to be clarified is why researchers should inform subjects about their participation in a study, in which they have been deprived the right to opt out; and in the case there are reasons to provide this information, how this should be done.

As previously discussed, Edwards and colleagues (1999) suggest that the decision to participation in cluster-cluster trials should be decided on a higher level, when individual consent is not possible and this view is adopted in the MRC guidelines. According to this suggestion, a person or representation mechanism should serve as guardian and provide proxy consent on behalf of cluster members.

However, there seem to be many reasons for which such decision cannot be decided on a higher level (by a cluster representation mechanism). In cluster-cluster trials in particular, things may be very complicated as a high level of confidence is needed and it is also important to consider issues such as conflicts of interests (between cluster representatives and cluster members). For some of these problems, it may be easy to find solutions; for instance overcoming certain practical difficulties, such as making sure that the decision for a cluster to participate in research is done in a transparent way and that there will be cluster representatives who will responsibly fulfil their role. Edwards et al. (1999), for instance, suggest that gatekeepers should sign a consent form in which they clearly state their duties towards their cluster, before they undertake the role of volunteering their cluster into trial.

Yet, other problems are more difficult to deal with. In particular, the selection of the person or body to represent cluster members' interests is not straightforward and there is no guidance on how a cluster representative should be identified. Especially in developing settings, in which trial access may be people's only chance to get medical benefit, the selection of gatekeeper is critical, since their refusal to involve their cluster into the trial would substantially affect cluster members' interests and rights.

Moreover, the solution of using gatekeepers as proxy decision makers to justify the conduct of cluster-cluster trials is problematic. As I will explain in the next chapter, a gatekeeper's consent cannot serve as a substitute of individual consent, because the standard reasons for justifying proxy consent do not apply in CRTs.

Some proposals have been made to overcome this difficulty. Hutton (2001) for instance has proposed the use of multiple guardians/gatekeepers. Edwards et al. have suggested opinion polls, focus groups, citizens' juries, and referenda (Edwards 1999). I discuss those in more detail in chapter 8, but for now, I will claim that none of these suggestions really constitute a form of consent parallel to the individual informed consent in RCTs.

Apart from the use of gatekeepers, some alternatives to the traditional model of informed consent have been suggested by the advocates of informed consent (those that believe that the requirement of informed consent is essential in health research) so that the conduct of cluster-cluster trials can be ethically justified. However, these strategies raise further concerns, as they seem to be inadequate for different moral reasons.¹⁵

One proposal is to presume individual consent by invoking some sort of social contract, in which individuals as citizens are presumed to have a duty to contribute to public benefit by taking part in research (John 2009). However, this is a controversial proposal and there are also some main differences between presumed and actual consent that should also be considered as well as the criteria that a study should fulfil to fall under this category (given the risk of exploitation, the interests of pharmaceutical companies, and others).

An alternative suggestion is to rely on hypothetical consent: to consider what a person would consent to if she were able to do so. However, this suggestion is also problematic in the case of CRTs since it would be extremely difficult to gather sufficient evidence from all cluster members to ensure that their participation is according to their wishes (Sim and Dawson 2012). Hypothetical consent would also be problematic in CRTs in which there is no option to opt out of the trial.

Sim and Dawson (2012), however, have suggested a different way of considering

¹⁵ I revisit these views in Chapters 4 and 8.

hypothetical consent. According to them, what we should consider is whether a rational person could adopt the ends of the study in question. They believe that this question could be answered by relevant experts, institutional review boards, that could act as guarantors, as the key decision-making body in evaluating the ethical conduct of a study. By providing overall ethical scrutiny of a study, IRBs can evaluate arguments related to both the ethical and the scientific aspects of a research protocol. IRBs can consider the welfare of the participant, the privacy or confidentiality of his or her medical data and other ethical related considerations that consent is designed to protect and then weight them against the scientific value of the study, in order to judge whether a particular study can ethically proceed.

They also note that their solution is different to the solutions suggested by the advocates of informed consent, since the role of IRBs is not to provide consent on behalf of cluster members (which in most cases is problematic) (Sim and Dawson 2012). They also argue that their solution does not present the same difficulties with comprehension and disclosure requirements that traditional informed consent strategies and their varieties present. The advantage of IRBs (over gatekeepers or other cluster representation mechanisms) is that they do not purport to give a form of consent as a permission on behalf of a community. Rather, they provide overall ethical scrutiny of a study from perspectives that include but extend beyond those of the participants in the study. In more moral terms, according to this suggestion, IRBs can focus on those ethical concerns that consent is designed to protect. Therefore, although individual consent is not feasible, the values/goals it is supposed to protect are still protected by this mechanism (Sim and Dawson 2012).

Although we can recognise Sim and Dawson's solution as preferable to any reliance on proxy consent, we should note that only objective values can be protected by IRBs, since individual participants' personal values and goals cannot be taken into account. Evidence has shown that people have different ways of weighting the moral values and personal interests that may be at stake by their participation in a research study (Bolvin et al. 2009). This means that in contrast to what Sim and Dawson argue, not all goals that individual informed consent was supposed to protect can be respected by IRBs calculations.

Despite the fact that the distinction between individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials reflects what it is followed in practice (meaning that researchers usually obtain consent from participants in individual cluster trials and not in clustercluster trials (Eldridge et al. 2005, McRae 2011)), important ethical questions still haven't been answered, (i.e. there is no conclusive resolution in the literature). Considering the moral foundation of informed consent, I will later argue that a different perspective needs to be adopted on this issue from the one commonly taken in respect of the conventional randomised trials. When individual informed consent is not possible, we should make sure that sufficient justification is given for its omission and not seek solutions that take us away from the essential purpose and notion of informed consent (for instance by relying on hypothetical consent to resolve all difficulties with obtaining explicit consent in cluster trials¹⁶). Moreover, as I later explain (chapter 7) informed consent does not constitute an absolute requirement. Inability to obtain individual consent is not only present in CRTs; in emergency medicine, for instance, requirements for individual informed consent cannot be fulfilled (Largent et al. 2010). Considering the lack of individual consent as acceptable in such cases and thinking of CRTs as a valuable research tool in health research, we can argue that research ethics guidelines and regulations should allow sufficient flexibility to permit the use of CRTs when appropriate. This of course leads us to the question of when it is appropriate to use the cluster design, which will be discussed in the following chapters.

Difficulties in obtaining individual informed consent and inability to opt out of the trial are not the only problems associated with informed consent in CRTs. Questions such as: "Do health professionals have a moral obligation to participate as subjects in CRTs designed to improve professional practice?" are also important, however they will not be the focus of this thesis.

-

¹⁶ As I explain in Chapter 8, although hypothetical consent may (partially) justify a cluster study where individual consent is not possible, it does not provide a straightforward solution for all cluster trial interventions.

2.6 | Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to critique the 'standard view' of research ethics because of its limitation in addressing moral challenges related to the conduct of cluster trials in developing countries. After briefly discussing the moral purpose of informed consent and its place in international regulatory provisions, I explored the new issues that the CRT design raises regarding consent information, timing, levels at which consent should be obtained, necessity and feasibility of obtaining informed consent. I concluded that suggestions found in the literature do not meet those challenges and that a different perspective needs to be adopted on this issue from the one commonly taken in respect to the conventional randomised trials.

Chapter 3

The role and authority of gatekeepers in CRTs

In the previous chapter, I discussed the new issues that the CRT design raises on the nature and practice of informed consent and argued that suggestions found in the literature do not meet those challenges and that a different perspective needs to be adopted on this issue from the one commonly taken in respect to the conventional randomised trials. In this chapter, I also critique the 'standard view' of research ethics by addressing questions related to informed consent and representation. First, I describe how the use of 'gatekeepers' (cluster representatives) has been developed in the research ethics literature. I then explore the different roles that gatekeepers undertake in different CRT settings and discuss questions related to their authority to legitimately fulfill these roles. I conclude that the use of gatekeepers does not provide a solution to challenges posed by informed consent, especially when CRTs involve clusters that lack organised structures.

3.1 | Representatives in CRTs: Who are gatekeepers and what are their responsibilities?

Difficulties in obtaining individual informed consent in CRTs (because of cluster randomization, cluster-level interventions, and cluster size) have led to the practice of using gatekeepers (also referred as guardians or cluster representation mechanisms). As Edwards et al. (1999) suggest: "the decision about whether a particular cluster participates in the trial is taken by an agent who has the power to

'deliver' that 'cluster' and who acts as an advocate on behalf of cluster interests. Guardians may be democratically elected or appointed, though not necessarily with this specific role in mind" (Edwards 1999, p. 1408).

Gatekeepers are considered to play a prominent role in CRTs in protecting group and individual interests; this role however differs depending on the features of the study. In cluster-cluster trials (as previously discussed) the role of the gatekeeper is more expansive to the role gatekeepers usually take in individual cluster trials, as they "must consent to or decline both trial entry and the intervention as a single package" (Edwards et al. 1999). According to Edwards et al. (1999) the gatekeeper will provide proxy consent for the members of the cluster for both cluster randomization and the intervention they will receive. In individual-cluster trials, in which it is feasible to obtain consent from research subjects for the intervention they will receive and data collection procedures, gatekeepers only provide permission to enter the cluster into the trial.

Donner and Klan also consider the role of gatekeeper as cluster advocate, who can decide about research participation or cluster randomization on behalf of cluster members: "it may be permissible in some studies that the decision regarding random assignment and implementation of an intervention comes from community leaders or decision-makers" (Donner and Klan 2000, p. 49). Hutton expresses a similar view, as she describes gatekeepers as "people in either political or administrative positions who are able to give consent for those within a cluster to be randomised" and whose consent may occur on 'multiple levels'. (Hutton 2001, p.476).

According to Edwards and colleagues (1999), a gatekeeper should advance the interests of the cluster and preserve its trust¹⁷. They argue that the decision to enroll their cluster in a trial will depend on whether the study in question is in the interests of the cluster. Hutton (2001) adds that a gatekeeper would agree to a set of duties towards their cluster before serving as a representative. She also argues

¹⁷ As however I later explain this does not prevent a gatekeeper rejecting to undertake the role of an advocate and refuse to consent to the entry of their cluster into an otherwise beneficial research (Hutton 2001).

that a gatekeeper may inform cluster members about research and also provide information to researchers about special considerations in the cluster. In contrast, Gallo and colleagues (2012) claim for a more restrictive understanding of the role and authority of gatekeepers (which will be discuss in section 3.2.).

The view that gatekeepers should act as cluster advocates and decide on behalf of cluster members considering the interests of the cluster, is also reflected in the MRC Guidelines: "the ethical principle here is that the [gatekeeper] must act in good faith, and in this regard only in the interests of the cluster represented" (MRC 2002). It is also stated that the gatekeepers should be informed advocates throughout the trial and avoid any conflicts of interests, as well as disclose any unavoidable conflicts (MRC 2002). Although in MRC guidelines it is acknowledged that gatekeeper's consent is not truly equivalent to individual consent, it is stated that it may be the best strategy to protect the interests of research subjects. To ensure then that gatekeeper's agreement is analogous to individual informed consent, several safeguards are proposed, such as documentation as evidence that the gatekeeper understands the interests and values of the cluster. By this way a gatekeeper's consent could reflect what research subjects would endorse if they had the opportunity to decide by themselves (MRC 2002).

Finally, the view that gatekeepers should act as proxy-decision makers for research participants has recently discussed in CIOMS (Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences). As it is stated, interactions between researchers and representatives should be "aimed at obtaining the views of people who are in effect proxies for the potential subjects" (CIOMS 2009).

Despite these descriptions, however, it is unclear how a gatekeeper should be identified, especially when a trial includes clusters with no administrative or political structures or where more than one authority may be in charge. Because of the diversity of groups participating in CRTs (athletic organizations, communities, health centres, nursing homes, schools, workplaces and others) there is no guidance on how a gatekeeper should be chosen and how group characteristics may influence who should take the role of the representative in each case (Weijer

et al. 2011).

3.2 | Roles of gatekeepers

Gatekeepers have undertaken a variety of roles in CRTs (Gallo et al. 2012). Moreover, because of the diversity of groups participating in CRTs, people in different positions have served as gatekeepers. For instance, in trials in which communities are involved, medical leaders, community leaders, government authorities, and community advisory boards have undertaken the role of gatekeeper. In trials in which schools are involved as clusters, local governments, school districts and principals have filled this role (Gallo et al. 2012).

3.2.1 | Gatekeeper roles relevant to the protection of individual interests

Many of the roles that gatekeepers undertake aim to primarily protect the interests of cluster members. In health research, both autonomy interests (i.e. the right of the potential subject to freely decide to participate in a trial after being adequately informed) and welfare interests (i.e. the right of the potential subject to be protected from undue research risks) may be at stake. Gatekeepers have undertaken different roles to protect those interests. In particular, they may provide proxy consent for research subjects, when individual informed consent is not possible (usually in cluster-cluster trials or trials that involve large clusters). They may give permission for cluster randomization before cluster members are identified by the researchers or when individual consent to randomization is not possible. They may give permission to approach cluster members, determining in this way, which individuals researchers may contact. Finally they may help researchers to identify potential research subjects in studies that involve clusters whose members are not easily identifiable (Gallo et al. 2012).

The role that a gatekeeper will fulfill depends on the type of the study; for instance, providing proxy consent for the intervention that cluster members will receive is usually a role that gatekeepers in cluster-cluster trials or trials that involve large clusters undertake. Moreover, the role that a gatekeeper will undertake also depends on the type of cluster (i.e. on whether the cluster is a community, a sports team, a school etc.) and the position/profession of the person

who is called to represent it. For instance, in a health-centre study, researchers may ask a gatekeeper to give permission to approach cluster members. This role can only be undertaken by a physician, who can also be responsible for the welfare of the patients – members of the cluster (i.e. someone who can ensure that research will not be against their best interests and that their privacy would be respected). Similarly, in a study aiming to evaluate different strategies for smoking cessation, researchers may need a gatekeeper to identify potential research subjects. This role can be fulfilled by a member of the cluster (a smoker visiting the clinic) and not necessarily a professional, since the gatekeeper in this case is not responsible in regard to cluster members, only helps researchers to identify other members of the same group (Gallo et al. 2012).

3.2.2 | Gatekeeper roles relevant to the protection of cluster interests

Gatekeepers may undertake roles related to the protection of the interests of the cluster. Because of the heterogeneity of the social groups participating in CRTs (ranging from very cohesive communities to sports teams), cluster interests are not as well understood as the individual interests and thus lack definitive characterization (Gallo et al. 2012); for instance, in certain cases it would be difficult to determine how cluster interests differ from individual interests especially when clusters do not reflect predefined groups. Moreover, cluster interests are more complex and thus the morally relative interests at stake in research may potentially conflict. In general terms, in health research by cluster interests we mean the identity interests of the group (i.e. the values and beliefs of the group, its group reputation, social practices and traditions) and the social structures of the group (i.e. shared economy, the provision of social services, communication, mechanisms for decision-making). Based on this definition it could be argued that when clusters are created solely for research purposes and thus non-coherent groups are involved in cluster research, such clusters do not have interests qua clusters. Gatekeepers protect cluster interests when they consent on behalf of the cluster, when they provide protocol approval or when they are involved in cluster consultation (Gallo et al. 2012).

According to MRC guidelines, gatekeepers are asked to provide consent for

cluster randomization in both individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials. Cluster permission should be based on cluster interests and is commonly provided by an authority in the cluster, for instance a community leader, a mayor, etc. Although the gatekeeper's decision to permit cluster randomization in individual-cluster trials is independent of individual informed consent (cluster members can still refuse to receive research intervention), it is a precondition for individuals in the cluster to be approached and asked to participate in a study. In other words, a gatekeepers' refusal will preclude cluster members' access to a trial (Gallo et al. 2012). In cluster-cluster trials, the gatekeepers' role is more expansive, as they are called to provide cluster consent for randomization and intervention.

Gatekeepers may also provide feedback and advice to researchers on the design and conduct of a study, for instance providing insights as to the cultural appropriateness of different intervention activities. Cluster consultation may be given in all stages of the research process and may involve cluster representatives or community advisory boards (members from communities). In cluster consultation gatekeepers do not consent on behalf of the cluster (Gallo et al. 2012). Moreover, cluster representatives may provide protocol approval, after it has been approved by a research ethics committee, to ensure that the study is in line with the values and needs of the cluster (Bolton et al. 2003).

Finally, gatekeepers may undertake the role to protect organizational interests, when a CRT involves organisations such as hospitals, nursery homes and others. When organisations are identified as clusters, cluster interests and organizational interests may overlap. However, there are cases where organizational interests may conflict with the interests of the cluster (for instance when the trial has implications on the hospital staff or when financial costs should be considered) (Gallo et al. 2012). Similarly, gatekeepers may offer permission on behalf of an organization to participate in a study (for instance a school). In those cases again, the gatekeeper should consider the interests of the organization, for instance availability of staff and others (Gallo et al. 2012).

3.3 | Gatekeeper authority to undertake these roles

Gatekeepers have undertaken a number of roles in CRTs to protect individual,

cluster and organisational interests. These roles are very important because of the consequences they have for other people. Consider for instance proxy consent in cluster-cluster trials. A gatekeeper has the power to expose other individuals to research risks without their informed consent or exclude them from potential benefits by declining cluster participation. It is therefore, very important to consider whether gatekeepers have the authority to fulfill the roles they usually undertake in CRTs.

3.3.1 | Gatekeeper authority to protect individual interests

Edwards et al. (1999) argue that the role of guardian is key to the ethical conduct of CRTs. Although individuals in the clusters do not have the opportunity to freely decide whether they want to be enrolled in a study, their autonomy is not lost: "In the longer run, individual autonomy could be strengthened by considering the rights of individuals vis à vis the selection and behaviour of cluster guardians" (Edwards 1999, p. 1408). However, as Hutton (2001) notes, a gatekeeper's role to protect individuals under their care from research risks does not necessarily suggest them acting as advocates. For instance, a hospital chief executive may protect patients under their care from harm, but that does not necessarily mean that they also should seek to offer them alternative treatments.

Edwards et al. (1999) in contrast argue that a gatekeeper's role to provide permission for the entry of their cluster into a trial entails a moral duty to act as an advocate on behalf of cluster members. To ensure that gatekeepers will fulfil their roles as advocates, they suggest before they volunteer a trial to sign a consent form in which they clearly state their duties towards their cluster. However, a problem still remains if a gatekeeper refuses to take the role of an advocate, since it is often unclear to whom this role should pass so that individuals in the cluster are not denied access to a potentially beneficial trial.

Although difficulties in obtaining individual informed consent in CRTs have led to the practice of using gatekeepers (Edwards et al. (1999), Hutton (2001), Donner and Klar 2000), their authority in providing proxy consent on behalf of cluster members (as suggested in MRC 2002 and CIOMS 2009 guidelines) can be questioned. This is because the circumstances in which proxy consent is required

and justified in RCTs and medical practice in general do not apply in CRTs. First of all, in most cases cluster members are competent adults (and not incompetent participants) who can freely decide whether research participation is according to their interests. Moreover, in CRTs gatekeepers are usually asked to provide proxy consent for individuals with whom they do not have a close personal relationship and thus do not know their personal values and interests. It is therefore reasonable to argue that the gatekeepers' role to protect individual interests by providing proxy consent can only be morally justified when those individuals have autonomously authorized them to act in this way. However, as Gallo et al. (2012) note this is rarely the case.

Since, conditions that confer legitimacy on a proxy decision maker do not apply in CRTs, gatekeepers who provide permission to randomization and cluster intervention without being authorized by cluster members violate cluster members' autonomy (Gallo et al. 2012)¹⁸. As gatekeepers are rarely authorized by cluster members to consent on their behalf (Gallo et al. 2012), Weijer and colleagues (2001) have argued for a restricted authority of gatekeepers in protecting individual interests. Criticizing the moral legitimacy of using proxy decision makers in CRTs, they claim that to respond to the challenges posed by the difficulty of obtaining individual consent, we do not necessarily need to invoke gatekeepers.

First of all, they argue for a restricted role in providing permission to randomise cluster members. According to Edwards et al (1999) and Hutton (2001) in individual-cluster trials the role of gatekeeper is to provide consent for the entry of the cluster into the trial. As we mentioned above, although gatekeepers' permission for randomization does not exclude individual consent (cluster members can still agree to or decline participation), it can however exclude an individual from potential benefits if a gatekeeper refuses to permit cluster randomization. A gatekeeper, who undertakes this role, without being authorized

¹⁸ However, it should be noted at this point that although gatekeepers do not normally meet the standards for proxy consent in CRTs, there are cases outside the research context where one individual is empowered to make decisions on behalf of others, for instance in representative democracy.

by cluster members, violates the interests of the individuals that he is supposed to protect.

According to the principle of justice (one of the ethical principles in medical research ethics discussed in Chapter 1) risks and benefits of research should be fairly distributed. In the Nuremberg code, it is clearly stated that "unjustifiable exclusions, and unjust and irrational uses of resources" should not be accepted (Ashcroft 2000). Past practices in which certain groups i.e. children or pregnant women were denied the opportunity to participate in a trial that could provide them benefits for their own protection have strongly been condemned (Ashcroft 1998). Although in CRTs exclusion is not related to discrimination, a gatekeeper's power to exclude cluster members from access to research benefits should be seriously taken into account. According to Edwards et al. (1998) there is evidence that research participants on average fare better than those who do not participate because of improvements generated by the trial (although it is unclear whether this is due to additional care provided during the study or the selection of participants). In developing countries research access may be even more important, since trial participation may be the only opportunity for some individuals to receive medical care.

A gatekeeper's power to involve or exclude individuals from research participation is not new to CRTs; in conventional randomized trials doctors often decide to offer their patients a chance to participate in research (Taylor et al. 1984; Ashcroft et al. 1997). However, in CRTs this issue may be more complex. First of all, the people who serve as gatekeepers in CRTs are not always appropriate for the role they undertake (Gallo et al. 2012) and therefore their decision to deny cluster randomisation may be based on wrong criteria, for instance lack of understanding of the aims of the study (note that Edwards et al (1999) argue that gatekeepers should not necessarily be elected to undertake this specific role). Moreover, even if we accept that doctors sometimes have conflicts of interests and are potentially capable of using the role of a gatekeeper against their patients' best interests, the fact that in CRTs often doctors rather than patients are the focus of the study, may suggest that this is likely to happen more

often. 19

However, these problems do not suggest that the conduct of CRTs should generally be prohibited. As Weijer et al (2012) and Gallo et al. (2012) argue, there are cases in both individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials, where consent from a gatekeeper is not necessary.

First of all, they argue that a gatekeeper's role in individual-cluster trials to offer consent to randomization is unnecessary, when researchers seek individual consent from cluster members at the earliest opportunity and before the start of intervention or start data-collection procedures (Weijer 2012). By this way, cluster members can still adopt the ends of the study as their own (agree or deny to be exposed to risk for other people's benefit) and thus the moral purpose of informed consent is fulfilled.

Moreover, they argue that proxy consent on behalf of cluster members is not required in cases where a waiver of consent is appropriate. These are the cases when a CRT involves no more than minimal risk to individuals in the cluster. Under these conditions (and similarly to RCTs) a research ethics committee may approve a waiver of consent. Since, informed consent is not required (research subjects are only exposed to negligible risk for the benefit of others) there is no need for a gatekeeper to consent on behalf of cluster members.

Gallo et al (2012) argue that although gatekeepers do not generally have the authority to provide proxy consent for the members of the cluster, there are certain circumstances under which they can legitimately protect individual interests in CRTs. When the relationship between gatekeeper and cluster members is fiduciary in nature, for instance when there is a physician–patient or teacher-student relationship, the gatekeeper has a moral obligation to protect the interests of cluster members by providing or refusing to provide permission to researchers to approach those individuals. A gatekeeper's authority thus to refuse researchers

_

¹⁹ There are of course other morally relevant questions that should be answered in this case, such as whether a doctor has a moral obligation to enroll their patients when a CRT aims at improving patient care (Hutton 2001), however I will not focus on such issues in this chapter.

to approach individuals in their cluster is morally legitimate, because of their obligation to protect those individuals (Gallo et al. 2012). However, even in a fiduciary relationship between a gatekeeper and cluster members, it is still important to ensure that gatekeepers have no conflicts of interests and that they use their authority considering cluster members' best interests. An important question, however, that still needs to be answered is how a gatekeeper's role in permitting researchers to approach individuals in their cluster may differ from the role of permitting their cluster to be randomized in individual-cluster trials. A possible explanation (which is however not given by Gallo and colleagues) is that by giving permission to approach individuals in their cluster, gatekeepers can consider the best interests of each individual in the cluster separately.

Although Gallo and Weijer's suggestions on a restricted role of gatekeepers for the protections of individual interests in CRTs seem to resolve some of the problems presented in CRTs, there are still some moral challenges that haven't be met. In particular, we still need to consider how a CRT may proceed when informed consent is not possible and a waiver of consent is not appropriate, i.e. when cluster members cannot be approached before interventions or data collection begin and the study involves more than minimal risk.

3.3.2 | Gatekeeper's authority to protect cluster interests

In certain cases, participation in cluster- randomized trials may substantially affect the interests of the cluster. According to Edwards et al. (1999) a gatekeeper's decision to permit or refuse cluster participation in a trial may be paternalistic, i.e. depend on whether research participation is in the cluster's best interests. A gatekeeper's decision to consent should rely on the belief that the cluster is expected to benefit more by the trial intervention than by a non-trial option. Although this criterion is widely acceptable in conventional trials (for instance when parents have to decide whether research is in their children best interests) in CRTs this calculation is more_complicated. Questions on how to quantify the best interests of a group remain, not only because more than one person's interests should be taken into account, but also because other criteria should also be considered e.g. whether the trial is culturally controversial, whether it can answer the needs of the cluster, and others.

Cluster interests may include the preservation of the identity of the group and the maintenance of the integrity of social structures (Gallo et al. 2012). The role of the gatekeeper has been considered essential in protecting those interests (Edwards et al. 1999; Klar and Donner 2007; Hutton 2001). However, although a variety of functions are ascribed to gatekeepers for the protection of cluster interests, it is important to consider when the gatekeeper has the authority to protect those interests and what are the sources of their authority.

As already mentioned, issues related to the protection of cluster interests are more complicated. One reason for this is because the moral status of the groups that participate in research is not well characterized (Weijer et al. 2011). CRTs may involve a variety of groups (primary care practices, villages, communities, classrooms, sports teams and others) with varying degrees of cohesiveness and a variety of interests that may be at stake (which are not defined or addressed in current guidelines). In addition, the degree to which the interests of different groups will be affected by research participation will vary. For instance, the interests of a cohesive community studied in a genomic research may substantially be affected despite the anonymity of its members (the study may lead to perceptions that a particular community is more susceptible to a particular disease) (Weijer and Emanuel 2000). In contrast, in knowledge translational studies²⁰, few group-based interests may be affected, especially when clusters are a number of individuals that do not have other things in common, except from the fact that they use the same services.

Protecting cluster interests in CRTs may also be difficult, because it is often not easy to determine who has the legitimate authority to protect and represent group-based interests. Often CRTs involve clusters that lack organized structures or legitimate authorities that could represent them²¹. In other cases, although clusters have organized structures, these structures haven't been established for making

²⁰ Knowledge translation studies aim to inform and assist clinicians to deliver best practice to improve the outcomes of their patients.

²¹ For instance see the example of a cluster randomised study in Mumbai slums discussed in the Appendix.

decisions about research (Edwards 1999). There may also be cases where a cluster representative refuses to serve as a gatekeeper (Hutton 1999) and researchers need to decide to whom the responsibility on cluster representation should be passed. Finally, gatekeepers may have potential conflicts of interests, for instance they may receive financial incentives or be interested in both the scientific result and the welfare of their cluster (Edwards 1999).

In community-based research most of these issues have been addressed. First of all, in the research ethics literature, community interests are generally recognized as very important (because of community's moral worth), and it is also recognised that researchers have a moral obligation to protect and promote those interests (Weijer et al. 2011). Moreover, the principle of respect for communities, which has recently been proposed by Weijer and Emanuel (2000) as an additional moral principle to the principles of justice, benevolence and respect for persons, is generally well accepted. According to this principle, the relationship between community and researcher is described as a partnership in which community consultation and negotiated agreement are key features (Ross et al. 2010). Moreover, according to this principle, when a community has legitimate authority to represent its members (a mayor, a legislative assembly or tribal council), researchers have a duty to obtain community consent additionally to individual consent (Weijer and Emanuel 2000).

Gallo and colleagues (2012) believe that to meet the challenges raised by the protection of cluster interests and the authority of gatekeepers in fulfilling their role, we should consider the ethical principle of respect for communities and the mechanisms of community consultation and permission. In particular, they argue that in cluster clinical trials, similarly to community-based research, a gatekeeper can protect and promote the cluster's interests by giving permission for a cluster to participate in a trial, only if they have legitimate authority to represent the individuals involved and only if this authority extends to the decision at hand.

To decide whether a gatekeeper has a legitimate authority to make such decisions, they argue that it is important to consider whether the individuals who are affected by these decisions are satisfied with the gatekeeper's ability to make such

decisions (Gallo et al. 2012). Researchers can understand the social dynamics of the group by consulting with the members of the cluster and their leaders and by asking them questions about the gatekeeper's role. Researchers should ensure that group members understand and acknowledge the gatekeepers' role to make such decisions and acknowledge their authority to do so. Moreover, they should consider whether there is largely individual satisfaction with the institutions involved that are used to select those representatives (since the legitimacy of the institutions involved depends on whether the individuals who they supposed to represent are satisfied with them). To assess group members' satisfaction with the institutions researchers must consider not only past decisions but also the decisions at hand (Gallo et al. 2012).

These questions to assess whether a gatekeeper has a legitimate authority to protect cluster interests, however, may not be as easy to answer as Gallo et al. (2012) claim. In many cases there will be more than one authority that can take responsibility for the enrolment of the cluster into the trial. In particular, there may be cases in which both political and public health authorities have to be consulted but the boundaries of their jurisdiction are not the same. There are also may be cases in which more than one authority should be consulted and agreement between them cannot be achieved. In those cases, it will not be clear which authority should take priority. Examples of these cases are large-scale trials involving villages to test new insecticides. In those trials researchers have to get permission not only from a representative of the village-cluster but also from national and regional government (Helsinki II).

As it is obvious from the above, although some protections concerning the interests of a community may straightforwardly apply to CRTs, in which clusters are well-defined communities, in other cases these suggestions may not be helpful. When CRTs involve communities, in order to protect the interests of the clusters, researchers are usually required to seek community consent before approaching the cluster members. In CRTs, however, in which diverse groups (hospital wards, households, neighborhoods) or non well-defined communities are randomized, the applicability of community-based protections may not be appropriate. When gatekeepers are not legitimate representatives of the cluster,

the conduct of a trial should not be morally justified on the grounds that consent on behalf of the cluster has been obtained (Gallo et al. 2012).

Gallo et al. argue that when cluster permission is not appropriate, gatekeepers may usefully and legitimately protect cluster interests in other ways. Cluster consultation_has been considered an important mechanism for the protection of group interests. It_is considered as a partnership between researchers and cluster members. By cluster consultation researchers can understand whether their research addresses local health needs and respects the values of customs of the groups involved. Cluster consultation can be provided from research design to publication (i.e. consultation over protocol development, involvement in the conduct of research, dissemination of information, and publication of results) (Weijer and Emanuel 2000, Ross et al. 2010). However, as Weijer and Emanuel (2000) note, the degree of this participation will depend on the characteristics and the cohesiveness of the group (whether it has a common history and common culture that should be protected).

Although it is difficult to provide a general definition of what effective cluster consultation is, Dickert and Sugarman (2005) have given a description of what the goals of consultation should be. These include enhanced protection, enhanced benefits, legitimacy, and shared responsibility (Dickert and Sugarman 2005). Although group-based interests may be usefully protected by cluster consultation, when cluster consent is not legitimate, the aim of cluster consultation is not to give permission to researchers on whether their study should be conducted but on how it should be conducted. Possible means that can be used for that are meetings with opinion leaders, presentations at religious or civic organizations, the use of media and others (Gallo et al. 2012). However, it should be noted that although recommendations from cluster consultation are not binding, in cases in which there is strong negative reactions on the study proposed or the consultants believe that certain modifications should be made, those recommendations should be carefully taken into consideration. As Dickert and Sugarman comment: "it would be disingenuous to enter into a consulting arrangement where the consulting party does not intend, ex ante, to take the consultants advice. If relevant consultants have strong negative reactions or endorse particular modifications, those reactions

or modifications have significant moral force and warrant respect and careful consideration" (Dickert and Sugarman 2005, p. 1124).

However, for cluster consultation to take place (meetings with opinion leaders, presentations at religious or civic organizations and others) clusters would also need to have organized structures. When CRTs involve non well-defined groups, not only cluster consent but also cluster consultation may be difficult to achieve. In such cases, we still need to consider how the decision for trial participation should be taken and how those groups can be protected in health research.

Finally, we should note that in CRTs the role of gatekeepers in protecting various interests could be particularly challenging. Gatekeepers are called to protect various sets of interests, community interests, individual interests and, often, institutional interests as well (when gatekeepers hold administrative positions such as hospital chief executive officers and others). Since group interests and individual interests are separable and may even conflict in certain cases (Weijer and Emanuel 2000; Marshall and Rotimi 2001), it is important to consider how a balance can be achieved.

3.4 | Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to set out and challenge the 'standard view' of research ethics because of its limitation in addressing issues arising in the conduct of cluster research in developing countries, and in particular, those related to lack of informed consent and cluster representation. I discussed the role of gatekeepers in protecting individual, cluster and institutional interests in CRTs. I concluded that although their use has primarily emerged in response to the difficulties in obtaining informed consent in CRTs, challenges related to the identification of people to fulfil these roles and their authority to do so are not met especially when CRTs involve clusters that lack politically organised structures.

Chapter 4

Justifying health research: The ethics of exposing individuals to research risks without their consent

Difficulties with obtaining informed consent from research participants in CRTs brings us to the question of whether it is acceptable to conduct a cluster study when informed consent is infeasible to obtain. The aim of this chapter is to provide an ethical analysis of what is arguably the most challenging ethical issue in health research in general: under what conditions we can morally accept the exposure of some individuals to research risks without their consent for the social benefit.

The norms governing the scientific method of health research mandate that the interests of some individuals will be compromised or at least risked for the benefit of others (Miller and Weijer 2006; Rothman 2000). Health research, thus, because of its nature, introduces the possibility of exploiting research subjects for the social benefit. This is more obvious especially in medical research where research subjects, even very sick ones, are systematically exposed to potentially new medicines, so that new and more effective therapies can be widely available. It seems then that the main ethical concern raised in health research, generally, is how to justify the practice of exposing a group of people to risks for the benefit of others or society in general. In the case of cluster research, this problem becomes even more complex because the individuals, whose interests may be

compromised²² for the general benefit, are mandated to serve as research subjects, since their enrolment is not based on their personal choice and they usually have no option to opt out of the trial. In the following paragraphs I present and discuss the main arguments presented in research ethics debates for the justification of health research²³ based on the moral approach in which they rely on. I then examine their implications for cluster research where individual consent is absent. I conclude that an alternative approach could better inform our understanding of cluster research and offer a new analytic insight on when it is legitimate to use cluster design for health studies.

4.1 | The Precautionary approach

The main aim of medical research (and health research in general) is to gain knowledge that will benefit people/society in the future: "The primary purpose of medical research involving human subjects is to understand the causes, development and effects of diseases and improve preventive, diagnostic and therapeutic interventions (methods, procedures and treatments)" (WMA Declaration of Helsinki, paragraph 6). In other words, health research has social value because of its ability to collect information that might be useful to identifying advanced methods to treat conditions and improve human health and well being.

Despite its value there is a general presumption in research ethics guidelines that health research is potentially harmful, or at least burdensome, for the participants. "In medical practice and in medical research, most interventions involve risks and burdens" (WMA Declaration of Helsinki, paragraph 16). Since research participation can lead to negative consequences for the individual (there is the

²² Some ethicists have disputed this view. What is considered to be in the interests of a research subject and under what conditions those interests may be compromised is debatable, as I discuss in this chapter.

²³ Although the discussion is mainly focused on 'medical research', I use the term 'health research', when appropriate, to refer to all types of research that may be employed by cluster design.

potential to result in their being harmed)²⁴ research guidelines and regulations state that it is permissible to expose research subjects to risks only when doing so can be justified by the value of the study²⁵ in question, restricting in this way the types of research in which research subjects, even competent adults, can participate.

The main focus, however, of current guidelines regulating health research is the protection of the interests of research participants; this is known as the 'precautionary approach'. A widespread recognition of research abuses and scandals in the past led to the view that there is need for extensive regulations ruling research activity. For this reason, the importance of limiting the risks in which researchers can pose to their subjects are articulated in all current research regulations and guidelines (The Declaration of Helsinki and CIOMS guidelines, for instance, aim primarily at protecting participants from the risks²⁶ of research and ensure that their consent is respected). Moreover, central part of almost all current regulations and guidelines is that the interests of research participants should be given much greater weight than the interests of people who might benefit from the research in the future; for instance WMA Declaration of Helsinki states: "While the primary purpose of medical research is to generate new knowledge, this goal can never take precedence over the rights and interests of individual research subjects" (WMA Declaration of Helsinki 2013, paragraph $8)^{27}$.

²⁴ To decide whether it is m

²⁴ To decide whether it is morally legitimate to expose others to risks we need to define what we mean by harm (i.e. whether we refer to physical harm, psychological harm, the time one spends when participate in research and so on). Since most guidelines require that all different risks to which subjects are exposed should be taken into account (Wendler 2012) this issue will not be discussed further in this chapter.

²⁵ Different views on how this value should be defined are discussed later in this chapter

²⁶ Although central part of the precautionary approach is that research risks should be restricted, there is generally no agreement on how to determine which risks are acceptable.

²⁷ Though research participants may be harmed from their participation, the potential of benefit should not be ignored; the standard of care for instance may be better within a funded research project.

In sum, the exposure of research subjects to risks of research according to current research ethics regulations is acceptable only when the study has the potential of being socially beneficial and when the interests of the individuals are sufficiently protected. Satisfaction of these conditions suggests that the interests of research subjects are not undermined in the pursuit of obtaining scientific information and therefore the main ethical concern raised by health research (the potential of them being exploited) is being addressed.

The importance of protecting research subjects from harms is also highlighted in Hans Jonas' essay "Philosophical Reflections on Experimenting with Human Subjects", one of the most widely reproduced philosophical essays in the filed of medical ethics. Jonas claims that the interests of participants should always take priority over the interests of people who will benefit from the outcomes of research in the future. According to Jonas, although the progress offered by health research is normatively optional, the need to protect those exposed in research risks is mandatory: "Our descendants have a right to be left an unplundered planet; they do not have a right to new miracle cures. We have sinned against them if by our doing, we have destroyed their inheritance not if by the time they come around arthritis has not yet been conquered (unless by sheer neglect)"(Jonas 1969, p. 230–231).

This view raises several questions: First, should the interests of research subjects always take priority, as requested in the precautionary approach? How can we ensure that the interests of research subjects are sufficiently protected? Is Jonas right to argue that the conduct of health research is normatively optional? What does he mean by 'sheer neglect'?

4.1.1 | Is health research normatively optional?

Let us first consider the view that health research is normatively optional. The main difficulty with accepting this view is that it considers the status quo as satisfactory. In particular, in order to agree with Jonas's position, we must admit that today, compared to the past, we have sufficiently advanced medicine that permits individuals to lead adequately flourishing lives. As Wendler (2012) notes, the example of arthritis, cited by Jonas, reflects the view that the benefits of

health research are the ones that make an acceptable state in life even better. One could then argue that conditions, such as minor pains or aging, are not profound problems in our life. Indeed, exposing individuals to considerable risks with the danger of exploiting them seems difficult to be defended for such goals.

However, the health problems that Jonas identifies are not the only problems in our society. While significant medical improvements have been made compared to the past, there are many diseases that kill over a million people every year against which there is no adequate treatment. Moreover, there are no effective treatments for many chronic diseases, such as stroke, that significantly affect people's wellbeing. The suffering from life threatening diseases or painful conditions provides a good reason to argue that health research has a more important role than Jonas believes. Moreover, people who might be benefited by future research (as well as those who care about them or are likely to suffer from the same conditions or diseases in the future) would most likely not accept Jonas' view (whether however these people have a right to health research being conducted and thus that their lives being improved is a different issue that will be discussed later).

Another reason for which health research (and medical research in particular) is important is that it offers the benefit of discovering medical therapies and medicines, which cause less harm to the patients than current ones. A recent study (Lazarou et al. 1998) found out that the approved and properly prescribed use of medications is probably the 5th leading cause of death in the US. According to Wendler (2012) this suggests that, in contrast to what is commonly believed, in reality investigators are not harming some individuals in order to make others (more people) better off, beyond some already acceptable status quo. Rather, the real dilemma is to decide which is the less harmful practice; either allow physicians to expose patients to increased risks of harm, while treating them, or allow investigators to expose their subjects to risk of harm, while trying to find improved methods to cure other patients. To argue that there is a normative difference between these two cases, we need first to explain why harming individuals in the context of research (for this kind of studies) potentially involves

a significant moral wrong that harming patients in the context of care does not (Wendler 2012).

Rhodes (2008) gives another reason for which health research should not be considered as normatively optional (which will be discussed in more detail in the contractarian approach). She states that the conduct of health research is a way to correct social injustices. By focusing on the status quo being intolerable by many Americans who have no equal access to health care, she argues that the conduct of health research contributes to the fair distribution of health care in the near future. Rhodes notes that the aim of health research (e.g. preventive medicine research, health policy research, quality assurance research) is to help everyone with similar health needs, without excluding anyone.

The aim of all previous arguments has been to prove the importance of health research. It could be argued, however, that not all of them are equally convincing²⁸. What seems easier to accept is that society should at least support and promote research aiming to reduce painful or fatal conditions that significantly affect people's wellbeing; therefore, that (at least) certain types of health research should not be considered normatively optional. As the norms governing the scientific method of health research mandate the compromise of the interests of some individuals for the benefit of others (Miller & Weijer 2006), it is consistent to argue that (at least in certain circumstances) the exposure of some individuals to research risks for the social benefit can be justified by the moral duty²⁹ of our society to promote health research.

4.1.2 | How can we ensure that participant interests are sufficiently protected?

An important reason, however, for which one may question the acceptability of a research study despite its potential social value is the absence of informed consent. It could be argued that the suffering (or even death) of some people from unfortunate conditions does not provide a sufficient reason to justify exposing

²⁸ For instance, as I discuss later, Rhodes' argument is considered very controversial.

²⁹ Whether this should be considered as a perfect or imperfect duty will be discussed later.

some individuals to research risks (no matter how serious they are), if those individuals are deprived the right to decide whether they want to participate or not, as in the case of many cluster randomised trials. Moreover, a further argument can be made that permitting the exposure of research subjects to risks without their consent for the benefit of others might lead us to a slippery slope with serious abuses throughout society.

Several questions related to the absence of consent could be raised: Does the inability to obtain consent from research participants suggest that they are not treated fairly and thus that their interests have been compromised (irrespectively of the kind and level of risk involved)? Should health research in which informed consent is not feasible always be prohibited despite its value (for the protection of research subjects)? Why the absence of consent is more problematic in the case of health research compared to other domains of life e.g. tax policy? The answers to all questions above will depend on the ethical approach we adopt. In chapter 7, I discuss the moral significance of informed consent in health research and political life and examine different approaches to the consent requirement; for now let us return to the discussion on how and when the exposure of some individuals to research risks can be justified based on the precautionary approach.

I have discussed so far that in contrast to Jonas' view, at least in certain circumstances (i.e. when alleviating the society from painful and fatal diseases) the conduct of health research should not be considered optional. Let us now return to the question of whether giving priority to the protection of the interests of research subjects is a necessary and sufficient condition for a health research to be justified.

The main concern in exposing some individuals to risks of research for others' potential benefit (even when the expected social benefit is significant) in the first place is the risk of their potential exploitation; the risk that investigators may treat their subjects as means to their (scientific) goals. The precautionary approach suggests that individuals' interests should always take priority over the interests of society. A necessary condition to ensure that subjects' interests are well protected is to confirm that research participants share the aims of the study. As Jonas notes,

when subjects adopt the aims of the study as their own they are acting in their own interests³⁰ despite the fact that they may be exposed to risks involved in procedures aiming to collect information to benefit others (Jonas 1969, p. 236). How to assess, however, whether a research subject has shared the aims of a study is controversial.

Some argue that there are objective conditions under which individuals can share the goals of a given research study. This objective view of what may be in someone's interest is considered very restrictive, as it generally rejects non-beneficial studies, non-therapeutic procedures involved in many beneficial studies and regards as problematic the involvement of healthy volunteers in phase 1 trials³¹. Despite these restrictions, however, the objective view provides a persuasive justification for the exposure of research subjects to risks of harm for the benefits of other people; as Wendler notes, the fact that individuals' participation is objectively in their interests suggests that there are less concerns for their exploitation (Wendler 2010) and leaves little room to potential participants to consent to studies that may be against their interests.

Does the fact, however, that a study is objectively in someone's interests constitute a sufficient condition to justify enrolling a competent adult in a study when individual consent is not feasible (provided that protective measures are taken as the precautionary approach demands, i.e. the risks are minimised and their interests are given priority over the potential social benefits)? In particular, in the case of a cluster trial, in which informed consent is not feasible, could we argue that when the aims of the study are objectively compatible with cluster members' interests, research subjects are sufficiently protected against exploitation and the trial is morally justified despite the lack of individual consent?

_

³⁰ Although this view seems to confuse interests with consent (e.g. one may consent to an intervention which is against their interests), in Jona's account, as I later explain, this is not morally problematic for the protection of research subjects.

³¹ In Phase one trials researchers test a new drug or treatment in a small group of people for the first time to evaluate its safety, determine a safe dosage range, and identify side effects (Norfleet and Gad 2009).

An alternative, broader interpretation contends that research subjects can share the aims of a study even when they do not have the condition it examines. For instance, individuals might decide to participate in a study and endorse its aims out of purely altruistic motives (for instance healthy volunteers in phase 1 trials) or because they have relatives or friends suffering from the condition which investigators examine or because they adopt the discovery of treatment for a specific disease as their personal goal. This view is based on standard preference satisfaction account of human interests, which states that "what is in a given individual's interests depends on what the individual happens to want or prefer, or the goals the individual happens to endorse, or the goals the individual would endorse in some idealised state scrubbed clean of the delusions, misconceptions and confusion which inform our actual preferences" (Griffin 1986). Thus, in order for subjects to endorse the aims of a study and in order research to promote participants' interests, research subjects need to be well informed and willing to participate, irrespectively of whether their condition is relevant to the aims of the proposed research³².

An implication of this interpretation for the case of cluster research is that the enrolment of cluster members may not be easily justified when consent is not obtained (even if the aims of the study are in the subjects' interests narrowly conceived). In order for a cluster study to be justified, researchers should at least find a way to ensure that participants endorse the aims of the study if their individual informed consent is not feasible to obtain³³.

study to proceed is that the interests of research participants be given much greater weight

than the interests of people who might benefit from the study in the future.

³² A main problem with this interpretation is that by identifying interests with preferences (even informed preferences) it does not take into account that potential participants may be willing to consent to studies that are not in their interests (e.g. non-beneficial studies where high risk is involved). Yet, compared to other approaches in research ethics that I discuss in this chapter, this interpretation does not necessarily entail the risk of research subjects' exploitation; based on the 'precautionary approach' an essential condition for a

³³ Defining whether a study should be in individual subjects' interests and how these interests should be defined are morally relevant issues in the justification of cluster research. As I discuss later, cluster interests may differ to the interests of individuals in the cluster and even conflict. In the chapter 8 I examine this issue in more detail and suggest a solution in the case of conflict.

It seems then that irrespectively of the reasons for which someone might have accepted the aims of a given research study (either because the study is objectively in their health interests or because one has endorsed its aims for other personal reasons), there is an important question that needs to be addressed by the precautionary approach. Assuming that the protection of the interests of a research subject is a necessary condition for the moral acceptability of a health study, is informed consent an essential requirement in order for a research subject to be adequately protected? Should for instance, a cluster study in which individual consent is not feasible be prohibited even when very strict measures and protections have been adopted to preclude any concern for subjects' exploitation?

The precautionary approach has been criticised as restrictive because its focus on the interests of research subjects often prohibits valuable research (for instance see discussion below on the libertarian approach, the consequentialist approach and the arguments against "research exceptionalism"). This approach, however, takes into account a very important factor that other moral approaches neglect: exposing some individuals to risks of research is not only problematic to the extent that there is a potential of harm for the participants. By giving priority to research subjects' interests, current research ethics guidelines implicitly state that the behaviour of the researchers should reflect that their study is conducted in a moral manner. In other words, what the precautionary approach implies is that to assess a health study as morally acceptable, investigators and by implication society who are the agents exposing participants to research risk, should never be benefited in the expense of those individuals.

4.2 | The Consequentialist approach

In contrast to the precautionary approach, which requires that dangers to research subjects should be considered more serious than social benefits, some ethical perspectives would give equal weight to the interests of all those potentially affected. The Consequentialist approach, for instance, focuses on the outcome of our actions. The fact that some of the studies that the precautionary approach prohibits would likely have important social value provides for the consequentialists a normative reason to eliminate those restrictions. To assess

whether a research study should be morally justified, according to the consequentialist approach, we must consider the benefits and harms to both research subjects and future patients/ society. Therefore individuals who will potentially be benefited from health research should equally be entitled to protection, concern and respect with those who serve as research subjects.

4.2.1 | The strengths of the consequentialist approach

In its utilitarian form this approach holds that the morally right course of action in any situation is the one that produces the greatest balance of benefits over harms for everyone affected. The consequentialist approach makes direct trade-offs between the harms and benefits of the participants and future patients or society in general. In contrast to the precautionary approach, utilitarians believe that the balance should not be by default loaded in favour of the interests of the research subjects; Harms to potential participants should be balanced against the harms of not conducting research, which in some cases may be the massive loss of life. Utilitarians notice that although presumptions for potential abuses in the future are justified, they should not always restrict the benefit a society may gain from valuable research. John Harris summarises: "we are, however, I believe, in real danger of allowing fear of repeating one set of atrocities to lead us into committing other new atrocities" (Harris 2005, p. 242).

For a research study to be socially beneficial it should be well designed, have valuable aims, and offer a reasonable hope of concrete benefits to future patients. Harris for instance defines as 'serious research' the research that aims to prevent serious harm or provide significant benefits to humankind (Harris 2005). If these conditions do not apply, research should be rejected, not only because it would be harmful for those who participate but also because it would be unlikely to benefit people in the future. Therefore, contrary to the libertarian approach (which I discuss later) the consequentialist approach would raise a high standard for the social value of a research study in order to justify the exposure of research subjects to risks irrespectively of their willingness participate. This view is

partially³⁴ compatible with research ethics guidelines, which state that it is permissible to expose research subjects to risks only when by doing so can be justified by the value of the study in question.

4.2.2 | Problems with the consequentialist approach

However, if we were simply to carry out actions 'for the greater good' as the utilitarian approach demands, the focus would shift towards overall benefits and actions would eventually overlook and outweigh the interests of research participants. What is sometimes deemed for the greater good could entirely be the opposite in regard to the individual participant (since utilitarianism focuses on the outcomes, it is not concerned with how these outcomes can be achieved). Perhaps the greatest ethical concern with utilitarianism is that it fails to take into account considerations of justice. We can imagine instances where a certain course of action would produce great benefits for society and at the same time clearly unjust for the research subjects who will bear its burdens (for instance, a potentially valuable study which involves risk of death for the participants). This could be a dangerous route to take; research participants could be merely exploited for progression of human knowledge. This is why the utilitarian approach is considered as controversial by many ethicists. The consequences of adopting a utilitarian approach is the reason that health research is often treated with suspicion; the aftermath of Nazi doctors' atrocities, examples of extreme medical arrogance and paternalism such as the Tuskegee Study of Untreated Syphilis (1932-1972) as well as more recent examples such as the UK major scandal with the unauthorized and deceitful post-mortem removal and retention of organs and tissue from children (The Royal Liverpool Children's Inquiry Report 2001) are all examples of abuses and violations of research subjects' integrity. Considerations of justice provide an apparent reason for which utilitarianism should not be the sole principle guiding our decisions.

Thoughts such as when one should be able to overrule another individual's wishes are relevant when discussing the ethics of cluster research. The argument that an

³⁴ As mentioned earlier, guidelines also insist on the consent requirement and mandate that the interests of research participants should be given priority over the interests of people who might benefit in the future.

action is for the greater good is often used when overriding autonomy. As an individuals' right to choose does not often result in positive benefit for the largest number of people, a participant's prior wishes and liberty could be ignored. The argument thus put forward for not gaining consent in regards to health research is that ultimately research studies, in which individual consent is not feasible, could be used to benefit the lives of a great number of people. Thus, cluster studies with the potential to offer significant benefit to society are morally justifiable in utilitarian ethics even if the risks involved are not minimal and participants are deprived of the right to decide whether to be involved or withdraw from the study.

Another problem with the utilitarian approach is that it demands that many different factors are considered in the assessment of whether an activity should be permitted, particularly in the realms of consent. Yet, a weakness of utilitarian thought is that it does not make it practical to weigh out different consequences with clarity and ease. As we can never be really certain about all of the consequences of our actions, especially in the context of research, utilitarianism may present a serious problem; If, adhering to a utilitarianism framework research investigators were to constantly overrule the wishes of research subjects, arguably for the greater good, a knock on effect of mass decrease in population satisfaction may occur, as a result of people fearing what could happen to their own bodies despite their desires. This would limit the number of research studies taking place, since the public might refrain from supporting research³⁵. As the aim of health research is to improve people's health and public support is essential for this aim to be realised, utilitarianism cannot be used as a default justification of denial of individual consent in health research even when the expended outcomes are important³⁶.

It seems that it may be hard to draw a line at whether something can be done for the greater good. By relying on a utilitarian approach to assess whether a cluster

³⁵ Financial support and participation are both essential for a health study to be conducted.

³⁶ Additional reasons for which public support is important in health research are discussed in Chapter 8 (see for instance discussion on how public involvement may improve the quality of a study).

trial should be morally acceptable, we are faced with a dilemma; should we allow the conduct of cluster research with significant social value, despite the absence of individual consent or should we permit only the studies in which individual consent is possible? In cluster trials in which consent is impractical to obtain, it could be argued that research subjects have to endure an additional burden/harm: they are denied the freedom to decide whether they want to participate or not (the degree of this burden of course would depend on the nature of the intervention involved – i.e. how individuals' freedom is being compromised and their ability to opt out of the trial if they do not wish to participate). A problem then with the utilitarian approach is that by focusing on the outcomes of an action irrespectively of means used to produce these outcomes, it only takes into account the potential harm involved in the research intervention. To decide however whether a cluster study in which consent is not feasible can be justified, a consequentialist approach should both consider its potential social value and the net effect of the infringement's consequences for research participants based on both the risk involved in the intervention and the degree of which participants' freedom has been compromised. Utilitarians argue that concerns for the abuse of research participants have created a barrier preventing human knowledge and progression by placing much emphasis on the protection of human subjects. Yet, the challenge they need to face is to find a way to promote valuable research and ensure public support by permitting studies, which deprive research subjects from making their own decisions regarding their participation.

Another difficulty with the utilitarian approach is that it does not take into account all the interests that may be affected by one's participation when possible harms to the participant are balanced against potential social harms. Individuals have clearly an interest to avoid physical harms posed by research. However, by contributing to a particular project their interests may be implicated and thwarted even in the absence of physical harm. For instance, let us consider the case of an individual who offers blood sample for a particular project. When the project is over the researcher uses the stored sample for future research, which aims are opposed to the subject's beliefs. Is the subject harmed if he or she never found out about the aims of the future study? According to research ethics guidelines, which

mandate that the potential participant should understand and voluntary agree with the aims of the study, this person is harmed although not personally affected by the practice. It could be then argued that to assess whether a research study is permissible or not more factors than those considered by a utilitarian approach should be taken into account

Let us now consider the social value of health research. The benefits that society enjoys as the result of some individuals' participation in research, I have been considering so far, are medical and health benefits, better therapies for disease and better methods to prevent disease. The social value of health research thus is its ability to collect information that might be useful to identifying improved methods to treat conditions and thus improve human health and well-being. Since the aim of health research is to establish whether a particular method is effective and safe for treating, even if a study is not successful, it still provides useful information for future studies.

One can argue that much of the research that has been carried out is in the private sector, in which a maximum return of the investment is expected. In industry funded research there is a potential for different types of benefits additional to the expected social value; profit to the pharmaceutical companies. For instance, industry-funded research often focuses on the development of identical to approved and already-in-use drugs that increase stock price and market share without increasing overall health and wellbeing³⁷. This may suggest that different moral concerns are raised by the conduct of industrial research.

A further question then that should be considered is whether it is appropriate to adopt the same ethical principles for cluster research (and health research in

²

³⁷ Having argued that society is morally obligatory to support studies to alleviate the suffering of serious health conditions, it could be claimed that studies aiming at the development of 'me too drugs' are normatively optional, following Jonas' argument. However, it could also be argued that studies testing identical drugs have considerable social benefit, since by this way treatments would be less expensive and thus more accessible for many people. I will not discuss this issue further here as what seems to be more important is to consider what level of research risks should be allowed for this kind of social benefit (especially when participants are not able to consent) given that treatment already exists.

general) sponsored by industry or whether it is more appropriate to argue for stricter rules in this case. For instance, it could be argued that individuals participating in a research by which industry gains a huge profit are exploited if they do not receive a fair level of benefits from the activity to which their participation is vital. On a standard definition "what constitutes a fair level of benefits depends on the risks and burdens that a party experiences as a result of a transaction and the extent to which others benefit from the participation of the party in the transaction" (Wendler 2012). Other ethicists disagree that for these types of research it is acceptable to pay research subjects for their participation (Grady 2005). Defining a fair level of benefit for participants seems a complex issue and will not be addressed here. This question also brings us back to the discussion on how research participant interests should be defined.

4.3 | The Libertarian approach

The principle of respect for individual autonomy in this approach has a central role. According to the libertarian approach, informed consent is a necessary and sufficient condition for the ethical justification of health research. Following Mill's words³⁸, in order to justify exposing some individuals to risks for research purposes, investigators should obtain "free, voluntary, and undeceived consent and participation" (On Liberty, p. 67).

Advocates of this view hold that competent and informed individuals are free to act as they wish, provided that those whom they interact with are also competent, informed and in agreement. Thus, ethical challenges raised by the conduct of health research are resolved by satisfying the requirement of obtaining informed consent. Libertarianism seems to imply that health research is not a unique human activity and that when potential research subjects are fully informed, competent and not coerced, they have a perfect right to participate in any type of research they wish. The libertarian approach then would justify even very risky studies, provided that potential research subjects are willing to participate, on the grounds that the liberty of competent adults should always be respected (Stewart et al.

³⁸ Mill is not referring to health research.

2008; Sullivan and Richard 2008). Advocates of the libertarian view often compare research activity with other risky activities in which individuals are allowed to take considerable risks, for instance dangerous sport activities: "So we happily allow professional football players to put their bodies on the line not because we think that the risks they take are necessary in any sense, but because we think that they are adequately compensated by the enormous salaries they receive" (Sachs 2009, p. 70). In its strict form the libertarian approach considers research participation as an entirely personal matter (it is up to the potential subject to decide for themselves whether they should participate in a given study) irrespectively of the features of the study, i.e. the risks involved, the aims of the study or the motives of the participants. Financial inducements are also considered acceptable as long as individuals are free to decline their offer.

These positions are not endorsed in research ethics guidelines. The general presumption in the Declaration of Helsinki and national guidelines, as already mentioned, is that research participation is potentially harmful, or at least burdensome. Although there is significant weight on informed consent, in none of the research ethics regulations and guidelines it is argued that consent is a sufficient condition for ethical research and that it is acceptable for investigators who obtain free informed consent of the participants to conduct any research they wish. In contrast, researchers are allowed to enroll human subjects only when an independent ethics committees groups, charged with ensuring that the study is ethically acceptable, has approved the study (World Medical Association 1996). Moreover, most regulations place further limitations on the types of research that should be acceptable by ethics committees, even for competent adults, by stating that research must have important social value and risks involved should be minimised (Hope et al. 2008). Provision on the management of the exposure to risk of harm for the potential research subjects implies that a (hard) paternalistic

³⁹ Although most advocates of the libertarian approach endorse the view that research is not a unique human activity, proponents of 'research exceptionalism', a view I also discuss in this chapter, do not necessarily believe that informed consent is a sufficient and necessary condition for a study to be morally permissible, as libertarians do.

position⁴⁰ is embedded in most regulations in research ethics. In non therapeutic research, for instance, most regulations demand that research, which involves more than minimal harm should not normally be carried out even if the potential subject gives fully informed consent, and even if the subject (perhaps out of altruistic motives) wishes to take part in such study.

It is argued that paternalistic limitations in research context have evolved from clinical medicine (Wendler 2012). In the context of clinical care physicians are morally charged with protecting and promoting the interests of their patients. A libertarian advocate then could argue that to justify these paternalistic limitations we need to explain first why clinical care and health care norms are relevant in the context of research, despite the fact that health research and health care are considered as normatively distinct activities. Failing to provide a sufficient justification for restricting the options that competent adults have in health research we risk prohibiting (at least sometimes) otherwise important (in particular, commercially valuable) research.

Another important feature of the libertarian approach is that it gives great weight to a potential participant's right of confidentiality and right to withhold consent to take part even when a study is expected to have great social benefit and involves no risk to subjects. Therefore, epidemiological studies, which involve the collection of anonymised data from individual patient records without the consent from the individual patients, are considered very problematic (Dorney 1990). The main issue for the advocates of the libertarian view is not that individuals do not get harmed, but that they have the right to control access to personal information and decide for issues that affect their lives.

-

⁴⁰ The advocates of the libertarian approach cannot accept hard paternalism because it involves interfering with the liberty of an individual for their own benefit, despite the fact that the action being interfered with is made by non-coerced and informed competent individuals. Restrictions justified on hard paternalism are considered as restrictions on autonomous actions of the individual.

4.3.1 | The implications of adopting a libertarian approach in CRTs

The fact that for the libertarian approach informed consent is a necessary and sufficient condition to justify exposing a group of individuals to risks of harm for the benefit of others has several implications not only for certain conventional studies (RCTs), such as epidemiological research, but also for many cluster studies (CRTs) in which informed consent from individual participants is not feasible. The majority of cluster-cluster trials and individual-cluster trials which involve large size clusters that exclude the possibility of obtaining individual informed consent, irrespectively of their particular features (e.g. intervention involved, the aim of the study, the risks involved, etc.) are all considered inappropriate infringements on the free action of competent individuals and thus cannot be justified.

The almost exclusive weight to respecting individual autonomy that the libertarian approach gives, seems to be consistent with the first principle of the Nuremberg Code: "The voluntary consent of the human subject is absolutely essential". This position however, has some far reaching implications. First of all a strict libertarian approach would consider as unethical any research with incompetent individuals, any paediatric research, research in many emergency situations, and research with the demented elderly (even research that involves only minimal risk). The result of adopting this approach, would be to reduce the number of studies that are conducted, as morally impermissible with great social costs. For instance, paediatricians would have no other option than to provide off-label treatment that could significantly harm children, a situation that can be avoided by identifying appropriate treatment through research.

However, this conclusion does not necessarily follow from the libertarian approach. The libertarians might well argue that incompetent adults and children are not right holders and that their theory provides an analysis of the conditions under which health research in competent adults can be justified and not the conditions of conducting health research in general. It does not therefore suggest that research, which involves subjects incompetent to consent, is morally unjustified, but that when competent adults participate in research, informed

consent is a necessary and sufficient condition (Wendler 2012). However, even in that case advocates of the libertarian view need to explain why research on non-competent individuals might be morally acceptable, despite their inability to exercise their right to consent.

Another difficulty with the libertarian approach is that it presupposes sufficient understanding as a necessary condition for valid consent, and valid consent as a necessary condition for the ethical conduct of research. In health research (and clinical research in particular) subjects are rarely sufficiently informed or have fully understood to make their own informed decisions about their participation. According to empirical studies most individuals (competent adults) that participate in research are not able to understand randomisation⁴¹ within the time limits feasible for clinical research (Snowden 1997; Featherstone and Donovan 2002; Appelbaum 2004). It seems to follow that health research, especially randomised trials which provide the gold standard of evidence regarding the efficacy of health interventions, may generally be impermissible.

Since the opportunity cost in banning all these types of research would be great, libertarians are willing to accept certain limitations on health research, such as minimising risks and the requirement for independent review from IRBs and RECs, on the grounds of soft paternalism (Wendler 2012). Soft paternalism is defined as involving interference with the liberty of an individual "in order to promote their interests on the grounds that the action being interfered with is the result of impaired decision-making" (Feinberg 1986). Therefore restrictions justified as interference with the liberty of competent research subjects for their own benefit and not with their autonomy are considered consistent with a libertarian account. One then could defend the libertarian approach by arguing that the fact that competent adults fail to understand research and provide valid consent does not suggest that the libertarian approach is false. The libertarian approach could be considered as the ideal, which is not realised because competent participants often fail to attain it (Wendler 2012). In order then to be

_

⁴¹ i.e. the fact that the people being studied are randomly allocated to one of the different treatments under study.

implemented in practice, certain restrictions should be applied to enable valid consent.

Although this argument seems to suggest that moral restrictions and regulations in health research can be consistent with the libertarian approach, it fails to recognise a very important fact: the conditions on what one individual may do to another are not exhausted by what the second individual consents to (as discussed earlier a strong point of the precautionary approach is that it takes into account this factor). Even if a competent individual chooses to be treated with lack of respect, for instance if they consent to be tortured, it does not follow that it is acceptable to be treated that way. Moral agents need to know that they treat each other appropriately and that suggests that they need an evaluation beyond the fact that the affected by their actions individuals have consented to them. Irrespectively of whether informed consent can be obtained or not, research subjects should be protected from harm and not be exploited by the researchers (Jonas 1969). Therefore, considering the protection of research subjects, informed consent does not exhaust the ethics of health research, rather an independent consideration of what is an appropriate behaviour on the part of investigators and society in general should also be included. This leads us to consider that certain limitations should apply to what researchers are allowed to do to their subjects. To determine the limitations of what sort of research investigators may conduct, we should consider the obligations that researchers have towards their subjects (an issue that will be discussed in Chapters 5 and 7).

We can therefore conclude that the fact that a study involves competent adults, who voluntary consent to participate after being adequately informed, does not provide a sufficient reason to deem a health study morally permissible. The ethics of health research includes standards that are not limited to the respect of individual autonomy, as the libertarian account contends. What we need in order to decide whether a research study – and in our case a cluster study in which obtaining individual informed consent is not possible - should be permitted or not, is a moral approach that not only takes into account the protection of personal autonomy but which can also ensure that society does not encourage processes or

is not benefited by actions that exploit its members, even if those members are willing to be treated in that way.

4.4 | The Communitarian approach

At the other end of the spectrum is the communitarian view. Communitarianism, as an ideology focuses more on the common good and the public interest than on individual autonomy. For the communitarians, individuals are not considered as atomistic selves; as Charles Taylor argues "man is a social animal, indeed a political animal, because he is not self-sufficient alone, and in an important sense is not self-sufficient outside a polis" (Taylor 1985, p. 190).

According to the communitarian view, lives and identities of individuals are indelibly tied to the well-being of their community; for this reason, individuals have a vital interest in leading decent communal lives. Society matters because it is a collective of individuals and exists in order to promote their well-being. This could optimally be accomplished by assuring that some societal requirements are met; social responsibility, collaboration and solidarity are fundamentals for a meaningful life, both of the individual and the society (Etzioni 2003, Raz 1986).

In contrast to the libertarian view, in the communitarian approach, every decision individuals make has to be understood, and its implication assessed, in the context of the wider society and the public good. (Lederman 2014). Opponents of the communitarian view argue that the tight connection between individuals and their communities, that the communitarian view contends, often leads communitarians to consider interventions and practices that benefit the community as a whole, good for the individuals as well. They argue that this view permits direct trade-offs between the good of the community and the good of its members; "what is good for the whole is necessarily good for its parts" (Beauchamp and Steinbock 1999, p. 57) and thus, that when an individual's interest in community conflicts with their other vital interests in leading freely chosen lives, communitarians would automatically give priority to the first.

In contrast to the libertarian view, for the acceptability of a health study communitarians would seriously consider the effect that the study would have on the community. This view will favour interventions that promote the welfare of the citizens that would be likely to lead to considerable tensions in the libertarian framework. The libertarian approach, as already discussed, generally considers competent adults as autonomous individuals, able to weigh the benefits and risks of participating in research and make a decision based on their (own) understanding, their own values and interests and their own circumstances. Although these decisions in some cases may affect family and friends, they primarily affect the person making the decision and are thus considered personal. Communitarians on the other hand, often speak of the common dimension of morality in terms of a "shared common understanding," shared hierarchy of goods," or "shared vision of the good life" (Callahan 2003). To assess whether a cluster study should be permitted or not, a communitarian approach will require that the very first questions be asked from a communitarian perspective, i.e. What will the study mean for all of us together? Is it sufficiently compatible with the common good to permit its use, and in case it is not wholly compatible, should it nonetheless be permitted on the grounds that a good society may on occasion permit potential harms to itself in the name of accommodating the special needs of some of its citizens (Callahan 2003)?

In studies where individual consent is not feasible, the communitarian view would argue that we should consider more the potential benefit and risks for the community rather than individual autonomy. A cluster research intervention considered as socially beneficial cannot be reduced to questions of individualism and choice. For the communitarians the fact that something is chosen by an individual after deliberation process does not necessarily make it more valuable than something, which is not, as this would imply that there is something fundamentally wrong with non-chosen projects or activities (e.g. we ordinarily consider ourselves as members of a family or community or nation which are often involuntary social attachments in which rational choice has played no role).

One could respond to the above argument by arguing that what is morally important is not whether a choice is desirable or not, but rather that individuals have the possibility to decide. Although non-chosen attachments are not critically endorsed and excessive deliberation could be counter-productive, all individuals

have a fundamental interest in being able to question and revise their ends (as people's ends may sometimes be problematic). In particular, liberals relying on the value of self-determination, which requires only that we are able to critically evaluate our ends if need be, hence that 'no end or goal is exempt from possible re-examination' (Kymlicka 1989, p. 52; Dworkin 1989, p. 489; Macedo 1990, p. 247) point out that no particular end or commitment should be beyond critical reflection.

The liberal argument for the value of self-determination is challenged by the communitarians. As they state, although we are able to re-examine some attachments, there are others so fundamental to our identity, that they cannot be revised and rejected. The mother-child relationship, for instance, could be considered a constitutive feature of one's identity and thus any attempt to deny it would ignore or violate women's special needs and experiences (Frazer and Lacey 1993). For this reason, communitarians argue that politics should not only be focused on securing the conditions that enable individuals to exercise their autonomous choice but also support and promote the social attachments fundamental to people's sense of wellbeing (Taylor 1985).

The communitarian approach encourages a cooperative way of thinking about research interventions, when they target a whole community, that other approaches ignore, particularly in some contexts where there is a strong sense of community solidarity. By providing a non-individualistic way to consider the benefits of participating in a research project the communitarian approach generally encourages individuals to participate in social life. In contrast with the libertarian view, potentially socially valuable studies that involve no risks for the participants would not be prohibited only on grounds that there could slightly restrict individual freedom. Moreover, this approach has an advantage of taking into consideration the social implications related to the conduct of a health study and does not simply assume that they should be left to autonomous choices of individuals.

The existing system of human subjects protections has recently been critisised by researchers for its sole focus on individual protections and lack of explicit

protection or consideration for communities. This is evident in the terminology used in the Belmont Report: e.g. 'researcher', 'subject'. For this reason, Weijer et al. suggested a communitarian approach to inform and expand on the ethics articulated in the Belmont Report. Weijer argues: "I believe a fourth ethical principle must be added to those found in the Belmont Report: the principle of respect for communities" (Childress et al. 2005, p. xiii). To move the focus from solely the individual to include the community within which the individual lives or is a member, in 2001 the National Bioethics Advisory Commission proposed that regulatory oversight for research with human subjects be extended beyond the protection of individual research participants to include the protection of social groups. According to Weijer and colleagues, in their proposed approach the rights of the individual are still protected, but ethical considerations to the community level are expanded and inform new ethical questions.

However, despite these benefits, more ethical issues than those identified by Weijer and colleagues are raised with this approach. To identify and assess research risks and benefits for communities requires conceptualizing communities as entities that may be harmed or helped by research. Since risks and benefits for communities may be different from the risks and benefits for individuals, issues such as how ethical decision making should be made, when would communities need protection, how should ethical decisions be made when individual concerns and community concerns are in conflict, what is the extent to which the interests of the community might justify state interventions that impose limits upon the freedom of individuals and what is the extent to which individuals have moral obligations to contribute to or protect the community (Hunter 1994) need to be addressed

Let us consider for instance the following example: An individual decides to enroll in a study that measures blood lead levels of residents who live in different city neighborhoods. The study is expected to offer individual benefit; in case a resident's blood lead level is high it will provide treatments to reduce it. However, when results are released, there is a risk of neighborhoods with high blood lead levels being stigmatized as unhealthy, which would affect the community interest.

Should this study be forbidden even if it offers considerable benefit for the participants to whom they would not have access otherwise?

Possible tensions between individual interest and community interest may be even more problematic. A cluster study that is expected to be very beneficial for a community may involve more than minimal risk for the participants who happen to be the most vulnerable members of the community (for instance pregnant women). To avoid the danger of leading to the exploitation of some individuals for the communal benefit, we need to consider how much we can ask of individuals for the sake of their community, what kind of sacrifices it is permissible to ask them to do and why.

4.5 | Contract Theory: Participation in research as moral obligation

The exposure of individuals to research risks for the general benefit has also been justified on the grounds of a moral obligation to participate in scientific research. Caplan (1984) Harris (2005) Heyd (1996), Rhodes (2008) and other commentators, attempted to refute the dominant view that research participation is beyond the call of duty. They state that health research is so important that there is a positive moral obligation to pursue it and to participate in it: "we should not, however, forget the powerful obligation there is to undertake, support, and participate in scientific research, particularly biomedical research, and the powerful moral imperative that underpins these obligations" (Harris 2005). According to the advocates of this view, people who refuse to participate in research when an opportunity arises are not acting ethically. Although having a moral obligation to participate in health research does not necessarily suggest that informed consent should not be obtained from research participants, it could be argued that when this duty is strong enough then a study may be justifiable even if consent is not possible (Harris 2005; Rhodes 2008). In the following paragraphs I explore whether an argument for a strong moral duty to participate in research can be defended and thus whether such a duty could be sufficient to justify the conduct of cluster research where consent is not possible. In other words, aim of the following paragraphs will be to examine whether a universal moral duty to

participate in research could outweigh the right of a research subject to decide whether to be involved in a health study, and in particular when such study is employed by the cluster design.

The argument for a moral obligation to participate in research is often presented as follows: health research has offered important benefits to all of us, e.g. access to medical care, vaccination, and better health treatment. Since people currently living have received all these benefits, due to the fact that some individuals participated in research in the past, appeal to basic fairness suggests that those currently living have a general moral obligation to support health research so that future generations can be benefited as well.

The defense however of such a putative moral duty to participate in research has raised controversy. It is argued that the above argument falls to a logical error. Our obligation to the research participants in the past, due to whom we enjoy medical benefits today, cannot discharge by a participation in current studies (Schafer 2009). Likewise, by our participation in health research today we cannot pay back those who first served as research subjects.

An alternative approach to defend an obligation to research participation can be grounded on the overall social system of which health research is a part and not on the sacrifices of previous participants. An obligation therefore to participate in research can be based on the fact that we have received many benefits in the society in which we were born.

Rhodes (2008) follows the latter interpretation and states that there are three interrelated arguments for our duty to participate in research: the argument of *justice*, the argument of *beneficence* and the argument of *self-development*. According to the first argument, we all, as human beings, are vulnerable to disease, disability and pain. Most likely at some point in our lives we, or our loved ones, will have a medical problem or condition that needs treatment. In order then to have access to remedies and to improved standards of care, the conduct of health research is necessary (so that the causes and natural development of diseases can be identified as well as the effectiveness of treatments for different conditions). Since

health research can only be carried out by sacrificing some of the basic goods that we all hold as precious (privacy, comfort, safety, time), it is only fair that to share in the benefits of heath advances, we all should do our fair share by participating in research.

Rhodes second argument, the argument of beneficence, leads us to the same conclusion. Because we all want to have access to effective medical treatment when we need to and because others' contribution is a precondition to achieve those medical advances, non-instrumental principles of universalization require that we should all offer ourselves to serve as research subjects to help others in need: "our emotional and genetic interrelatedness, the lack of as adequate alternative, and the commonality of the desire to benefit from medical knowledge create the participatory duty" (Rhodes 2008, p. 37)

Rhodes' final argument of self-development relies on Kantian grounds. She argues that the principle that we should all be good rulers over ourselves leads us to accept a duty to participate in research. Since health research is our only chance to protect ourselves from disease and disabilities in the future and, thus, retain our autonomy, we should take all the necessary steps to ensure that we achieve that (Rhodes 2008). By our contribution in health research then our own interests are also promoted.

4.5.1 | A duty to participate in research addresses health disparities

Rhodes argues that health research in general does not threaten the interests of the participants. With the exception of phase 1 trials, a good deal of research does not involve significant risks. In the case of riskier studies, Rhodes states that regulations and proper oversight could assure that risks have been minimised and that participants are exposed to only reasonable degree of risk (Rhodes 2008). In contrast then to the common view that participation in research may jeopardise individuals' interests, Rhodes adds the 'prudential argument' to the principle-based argument for a duty to participate in research. Members from already disadvantaged groups that refuse to participate in research are less likely to benefit from medical advances in the future, since their condition/ disease will not be

studied and corrective measures that address health disparities will not be taken. As she notes: "The poor, those in the lower middle-class, part-time workers, those who have lost their jobs, those with chronic illness, undocumented immigrants and their children all lack good access to health care...however, I want to point out that existing injustices can only be exacerbated by members of those groups refusing to participate in research. If your group is not studied, it is less likely that advances to benefit people with your disease or with your genetic susceptibilities will be developed" (Rhodes 2008, p. 38). Furthermore, according to Rhodes, a duty to participate in research would ensure broad public participation (thus more studies) and that the results will not only affect and concern a small portion of the population. As she points out: "if you do not play, you have little say; in sum broad participation would best promote our goals and repair the existing problems" (Rhodes 2008, p. 38). A duty to participate in research will ensure everyone's contribution and entitle everyone to share the benefits of research and set the research agenda.

Rhodes attempts to find a way to protect vulnerable groups, which participate in research and at the same time encourage scientific progress. Arguing for a moral duty to participate in research, according to Rhodes, will ensure that vulnerable groups will become better off by receiving the benefits of research in which they are entitled to. However, the history of health research has evidenced how easy it is to exploit vulnerable individuals by promoting scientific knowledge⁴². As De Melo-Martin (2008) points out, the lack of access to research products, the lack of compensation to research risks and the neglect of our most important needs in health research suggest that Rhodes' approach does not take into account the current social context. As the group of people who bear the burdens of research is often not the same with the group that will get the benefits, it seems that a universal duty to participate in research will not result to fairer distribution of health benefits but to an additional burden to already disadvantaged groups and thus more unequal results (which could more easily be avoided by voluntary participation).

⁴² Rhodes' argument seems also to imply that research participants from non-disadvantaged groups will not be found.

Rhodes acknowledges that the goal of research is to serve the common good and not the particular interests of the individual research subject (Rhodes 2005). As London (2006) points out, in cases in which research utilizes rigorous scientific and statistical methods to study questions of genuine social significance (i.e. in studies not designed to benefit participants) we need to consider the limits of what can be asked of vulnerable research participants in the name of the common good. As London commends, Rhodes argumentation does not address the underlying concerns of the utilitarian excesses of research abuse. Appeals to concepts such as 'reasonable risk' may not be sufficient to safeguard the basic interests of vulnerable groups. The balance between protection of the vulnerable individuals and social good that Rhodes assumes by her argumentation seems not achievable (in chapter 5 I argue for an alternative approach on how research can contribute to social good and at the same time protect vulnerable groups and individuals).

4.5.2 | A duty to participate in research supports an adequate and accessible health care system

Schafer (1983) makes a similar argument to Rhodes. He argues that a moral obligation on behalf of our society to provide medical care for everyone entails a moral and social obligation of its members to participate in health research: "One of the basic assumptions of Jonas's argument is that society has no right to exact from its members significant personal sacrifice for the public good. This assumption is questionable. It is now widely, though not universally, accepted that we have an obligation as a society to provide adequate medical care for everyone. This obligation would seem to entail that society promote the development of effective treatments. To forego medical experimentation would be to deprive ourselves of the benefits of new remedies; and not only ourselves, but future generations as well" (Schafer 1983, p. 77). Many people would accept that we all have a moral obligation to support a health care system, which is affordable and accessible for everyone in need. Does this obligation, however, entail a social and moral obligation to participate in research, as Schafer argues? Taxation is considered a standard procedure by which an adequate and fair medical care system can be supported. In particular, it is accepted that we all have a moral and social duty to support the health care system financially by paying our fair share.

Tax policy, despite the fact that it cannot rely on individual preferences and on the informed consent of everyone affected, is considered morally obligatory. Should the same apply for research participation?

Schafer seems to imply that research participation is a necessary condition to have an affordable and adequate health care system. As already discussed, the acceptance of a moral duty to improve the status quo requires an acceptance of a moral duty to support health research. Thus, Schafer's argument that our society has a moral duty to promote the development of effective drugs though health research seems plausible. However, this duty does not need to be as strong as Schafer and other advocates of this view argue. Considering the number and types of conditions left untreated and the standards of treatment that are currently available for each of them, it is difficult to conceive a society in which all of these problems will have been addressed (there always will be new untreated conditions affecting people's wellbeing). This of course does not suggest that a moral obligation to promote and support health research is unreasonable, only that a putative moral duty on behalf of individuals to participate and of society to provide therapies for every possible health condition is not realistic⁴³.

A health care system is considered adequate when quality improvement methods have been reported to be feasible, effective and acceptable by practicing physicians; "The successful implementation of these methods is considered to be related to their being nonintrusive, nonthreatening, and based on agreed upon standards of care" (Benbassat and Taragin 1998). A health care system provides adequate care when the infrastructure (e.g. hospitals, community health facilities), goods (e.g. drugs, equipment), and services (e.g. primary care) are available in all geographical areas and to all communities and when all health care is medically appropriate and of good quality, guided by quality standards and control mechanisms, and provided in a timely, safe, and patient-centred manner. A health care system that fulfils all these conditions is viewed as adequate and equitable irrespectively of the number of scientific studies that take place to promote its

⁴³ This argument could only be successful if Schafer was referring to specific health conditions for which research has not been possible due to low recruitment rates.

efficiency. When there is not a universal health care system, adequate medical care could better be achieved by financial contribution in order treatments and care to be accessible to everyone in need.

4.5.3 | The argument of beneficence

John Harris (2005) observes that the vast majority of those writing about the ethics of research and regulation of research treat health research with suspicion, even hostility. He notes that the most popular view remains that participation in research is not an obligation but a supererogatory and, often, reckless act and that individuals who decide to be exposed to risks for the social benefit are considered as people who deserve praise. He then offers two complimentary arguments that, according to his view, justify our moral duty to pursue, support and participate in serious research based on our two basic moral obligations that we have as persons: the duty *not to harm others* and the duty *to be fair* (Harris 2005).

Similarly to Rhodes' argument of *beneficence*, Harris offers an argument to defend an obligation to participate in research based on our negative duty *not to harm* others. His argument, however, is more precise; he claims for an obligation to participate in *serious* research (i.e. research that is well-designed and has a reasonable prospect of resulting in important knowledge that will benefit future patients) (Harris 2005). He suggests that this duty entails that when our actions can prevent serious harm to others, and given that it is reasonable to do so (i.e. given the balance of burden to ourselves and benefit to others), we have a moral duty to act in this way. Failing to do so means that we should take responsibility for others' harm. He bases this argument on 'the rule of rescue', He explains that as people in need should be considered not only current patients but also potential patients and as those who are affected by others' needs, i.e. relatives, caters, society in general. Since health research is a necessary component in helping

⁴⁴ Peter Singer first made a similar argument through the pond case. He claimed that to think about the ethics of what we owe to people in need, we should consider the importance of saving a child who has fallen in a shallow pond and appears to be drowning. To wade in and pull the child out would be easy but it will mean that we get our clothes wet and muddy. Weighting the cost it seems that there is no kind of excuse for not saving the child and that we still ought to do so irrespectively of whether there are other people who would equally be able to rescue the child but are not doing so (Singer 1972).

addressing these needs, supporting and participating in health research becomes a moral obligation. Harris's moral obligation except from participation also involves supporting research financially and politically ⁴⁵(Harris 2005).

There is however a moral difference between an obligation to *beneficence* (taking positive actions to do good) in which Rhodes arguments rely and an obligation to *non-maleficence* (avoiding or refraining from actions that cause harm) in Harris argumentation, that Harris seems not to take into account. While the duty not to do harm is a perfect moral duty that cannot be overridden by self-determination, the duty to do good is imperfect, it mainly depends on the duty holder's discretion how to execute it.

According to Harris when it is reasonable to prevent harm and we fail to do so, we should take responsibility for it. Many ethicists in contrast argue that there is moral distinction between actively causing harm and merely allowing harm to occur. In health research, investigators actively expose subjects to risks of harm. When those harms occurred, investigators actively harm the subjects for the social benefit. As research is conducted for and in the name of social benefit, society becomes complicit for these harms. On the other hand, if health research is not conducted, society allows individuals to suffer from diseases that might otherwise be avoided or treated. Although this is a bad situation, for many ethicists is not equally morally wrong. Brassington, for instance, states that failing to prevent harm is not as blameworthy as causing harm directly: "Naturally, from time to time there might be something morally problematic about leaving the world unaltered. But it is not qualitatively the same as positively making a deleterious alteration to the world. One person does not make another worse off simply by not making him better off" (Brassington 2011). For Harris, however, the distinction between actively and passively causing harm is not morally significant. In contrast to Jonas' view, he believes that future patients are actually harmed by society if its members refuse to participate and health research is not supported.

-

⁴⁵ However, he notes that the duty to participate in research is not a duty to enable industry to profit from moral commitment and that benefits sharing are an essential part of the moral force of the arguments for the obligation to pursue research.

To understand his position is useful to remember that for Harris the interests of the subject should not automatically take precedence over other interests of future patients/ society, as they are both of comparable moral significance. Prioritising the interests of research subjects would imply that some people have a claim to overriding consideration. By relying on the widely accepted view that all people are equally important with respect to each other, Harris states; "being or becoming a research subject is not the sort of thing that could conceivably augment either someone's moral claims or, for that matter, her rights" (Harris 2005, p. 243).

However Harris' view (which is also endorsed by advocates of the consequentialist approach) does not take into account the context in which research is carried out. Researchers may only have special moral duties towards the specific individuals, those who participate in research. A special moral obligation towards all people who may be benefiting from a study seems implausible.

Moreover, a claim that human rights of research participants should not have primacy over researchers, that advocates of a duty to participate in research defend, could lead us to dangerous conclusions: the human rights of a research subject could easily be overridden by the interests of society, every time the latter interests can be demonstrated to be greater. Harris (2005) however claims that he does not suggest that the interests of vulnerable individuals who serve as research subjects be contrasted with the interests of an abstract 'society', but that comparable rights and interests between two groups of vulnerable individuals should be balanced: both of research participants and of patients who will benefit from research. This argument is also consistent with his attempt to rely a universal duty to participate in research on 'the rule of rescue'. After all, he notes, "the rights and interests of research subjects are surely not served by privileging them at the expense of the rights and interests of those who will benefit from research". He finally adds: "both these groups are potentially vulnerable, neither is obviously prima facie more vulnerable or deserving of special protection" (Harris 2005, p. 242).

However, even if we consider this statement as correct and accept that we should aim to balance the rights and interests of two potentially vulnerable groups, there are cases in which we still may believe that it is acceptable to give priority to the rights/interests of a particular vulnerable group to ensure that they have equal protection; in this case those who are already burdened because of their health condition and will first be exposed to the risks of an experimental treatment.

Let us now return to the argument of an obligation to participate in research based on our moral duty of beneficence. A moral duty to participate in research based on beneficence (or non-maleficence according to Harris) is not clear. There are different ways by which this argument can be understood. It could be interpreted as a duty to prevent all serious harms or a duty to always help others in need, whenever is reasonably to do so. However, since there are many different forms of serious harms not related to disease (for instance political prosecution) that we could reasonably prevent, a duty to help others in need can be fulfilled without necessarily taking part in research. A strong argument of beneficence then fails to show that we all have a specific moral duty to participate in research. Moreover, this argument fails to show why there is a specific duty to encourage and support research by our participation and not by other beneficent acts, for instance by financial support.

Yet, the main problem with a strong argument for a duty of beneficence is that it is over demanding. It demands that one should devote most of their time and resources to preventing any number of serious harms than engaging in any other less important projects (one's personal commitments or projects in life), as there are numerous occasions in which one can minimise harm or bad states of affairs. This principle destroys one's personal integrity and it turns a person to "a channel between the input of everyone's projects, including his own, and an output of optimific decision" (Smart and Williams 1990, p. 116). Trying to justify an obligation to participate in research based on the duty to beneficence conceived in its strong form, not only implies that individuals are morally obliged to serve as research subjects but also that they should perform many actions that are normally considered supererogatory.

However, a weaker formulation of the principle of beneficence is also possible. As Shapshay and Pimple (2007) note, Harris by adding in his argument the sentence "If we can reasonably do so" may support a less demanding moral duty: i.e. "to prevent some subset of serious harm of our own choice when we reasonably can" (Shapshay and Pimple 2007, p. 416). Yet, a weaker argument of a duty to participate in research also faces the same problem; it fails to establish a duty to participate in research *per se*, since there are different possible harms we can try to prevent and needs we can aim to address.

Finally, if we are to accept a duty to help others in need, as the 'rule of rescue' commands, participation in research should not be our priority. Minimising the most serious harm would suggest trying to address other harms that people face today not due to disease but due to preventable poverty: "Poverty is far and away the most important factor in explaining health deficits. Because they are poor, 815 million persons are malnourished, 1.1 billion lack access to safe water, 2.4 billion lack access to basic sanitation, more than 880 million lack access to health services, and approximately 1 billion have no adequate shelter" (United Nations Development Report of 2002) As Thomas Pogge (2002) argues, citizens of industrialised nations are materially implicated in the poverty related harms due to lending and trade practices that exploit for poorer nations. It seems then more reasonable and morally superior to argue for a duty to change unjust institutions than participating in research (Shapshay and Pimple 2007)⁴⁶.

On top of these problems, I consider an attempt to support a duty to participate in research based on the 'rule of rescue' unsuccessful. The 'rule of rescue' describes the imperative people feel to rescue identifiable individuals facing avoidable death (McKie and Richardson 2003). In health research however, individuals are asked to bear the risks to benefit unidentified others (future patients). Harris by embedding the duty of beneficence to the 'rule of rescue' argues that, in contrast

⁴⁶ Although the duty of beneficence is independent of how the harms are caused, the aim of this argument is to point out that because poverty is the most important determinant of ill health, the most significant harms facing people in the world today are not those that must be addressed through biomedical research. A duty to address harms due to preventable poverty is morally superior to a duty to address harms due to disease.

to the common attitude, research should not be considered as beneficial for unidentified others; Research gives us all hope for the future and security, not only for ourselves but also for those whom we care about and our decedents. For this reason, he argues, it is perverse to believe that research should be of benefit to the research participant to be morally justified (Harris 2005). He concludes that we all have a strong general interest that there will be research irrespectively of whether such research is related to our health condition and this interest obliges us to offer ourselves as research subjects. Therefore, by adopting a wide interpretation on what is in the interests of a research participant (in contrast to Jonas' narrow interpretation) Harris attempts to offer a stronger motive to convince people to participate in research⁴⁷.

A broad interpretation of what is in the interests of a research subject, as already discussed, suggests that a study is compatible with the interests of participants if they can adopt the research aims as their own. The same may be true for other domains in life as well. One's decision to combat poverty, for instance, suggests that they adopt the aims of the organisation in which they are involved, as their own. By applying the 'rule of rescue' in such cases, we could argue that people may decide to help those in need (e.g. people struggling with poverty) even if themselves or their relatives are not in the same situation or do not believe that it is likely that they will ever be⁴⁸. In contrast, in the case of health research, a broad interpretation of what is in one's interest cannot be compatible with the 'rule of rescue'. By applying the 'rule of rescue' in medical research, we are obliged to 'rescue' only those who suffer with the same disease or condition with us, as (with the exception of Phase 1 trials) an individual is eligible to take part in a medical study if they have the illness or condition that will be studied. It follows then that Harris' argument would have been more consistent with the 'rule of

⁴⁷ As I discussed earlier Rhodes also makes a similar argument to encourage recruiting even among vulnerable groups.

⁴⁸ There are of course many other factors that could make the 'rule of rescue' even more complicated and more difficult to be used as a moral basis for a duty to participate in research; for instance there is no consensus on whether we have a moral obligation to help those near to us or all people irrespectively of national boarders, whether we should aim to prevent likely harms and others.

rescue' had he based a positive duty to participate in research on a narrow interpretation of what is in a research subject's interest (or had he restricted the argument to Phase 1 trials). However, although a narrow interpretation would have been more consistent with the 'rule of rescue', it would also had led to the same problem with Jonas' position; such argument would not justify a great amount of valuable research and thus would make a universal moral duty to participate in research much weaker. Moreover, there are additional reasons for which a duty to participate in research could not be justified by the rule of rescue. Given the length of time that will typically be needed from participation in a research project to accessing the benefits from the knowledge generated from the study, as well as the significant degree of uncertainty involved, it seems difficult to argue that participation in health research could plausible be considered as a case of rescue.

It should be noted however, that Harris' view offers a more collective approach to research ethics. Harris notes that we all have a strong general interest that well-founded research is conducted. A society that supports and actively accepts the outcomes of health related research benefits both patients and research subjects. Everyone who lives in a society where research is given a high priority also benefits from the knowledge acquired by research. As we are all vulnerable to diseases and conditions that could harm our health, it is in everyone's interest to support the conduct of research even if we are currently healthy. Although this view may not be appealing for most medical research studies to which Harris' arguments refer, especially when participants are asked to bear significant risks for the benefit of potential patients, in low risk health studies where whole communities (e.g. villages) are targeted and in which notions of solidarity are considered important, a broad interpretation of what is in a participant's interests could be more compatible with a duty to benefit others, based on Harris' argumentation.⁴⁹.

-

⁴⁹ I discuss this in more detail in Chapter 8.

4.5.4 | The argument of justice

It has been argued so far that the argument of beneficence (or non-maleficence) fails to provide a satisfactory justification for an obligation to participate in research *per se*. Let us now explore the argument of justice in defence of a duty to participate in research.

Advocates of a duty to participate in health research argue that this duty derives from an appeal to be fair. As they state we all benefit from health research. In particular the fact that most of us are alive today is due to the invention of antibiotics, the defeat or control of infant mortality, and vaccination (Caplan 1984). Moreover, many of us will continue to benefit from findings of medical and health advances such as genetic research or public health research i.e. clean water, sanitation and the knowledge of connections between exercise, diet and certain diseases and conditions that help us to prevent and calculate personal risk (Harris 2005). People gain the benefits of health research not only passively but also actively. Actively by (voluntary) having access to better and safer treatments, and passively by living in herd immunity due to vaccination. A person who accepts all the benefits enabled by health research and at the same time refuses to participate in a health study free rides on the people who pay their equal share (those who bear the burdens of research) by participating. From the moment we accept these benefits it is only fair that we contribute to the practice that enables them.

Harris claims that his argument of fairness relies on the 'principle of fairness' developed by Herbert Hart and John Rawls, which can be interpreted as follows: "those who have submitted to restrictions have a right to similar acquiescence on the part of those who have benefited from their submission" (Harris 2005, p. 243). Harris argues that our duty not to be a free rider could justify an enforceable obligation to participate in research, at least in certain cases. However, he states that compulsion should not be our first option to improve recruitment (Harris 2005), probably because this would discourage public support or altruistic behaviour.

A parallel, however, between the classic free rider case and an individual who does not contribute to research while accepting its benefits is not successful. In the free-rider case one is free to accept or decline the benefit, while the same cannot be true for research benefits. In modern industrialised societies, the benefits of biomedical research are ubiquitous and thus the only way to abstain their enjoyment would be

to move to other societies, which have never benefited by health research (and the question remains whether it is possible for an individual to move there). This suggests that it is not reasonable to claim that an individual that hasn't freely chosen to receive research benefits should support the institutions that enable those benefits. Advocates of a duty to participate in research then need to explain why individuals are obliged to help others only by the mere fact that they enjoy the benefits of the social system under which they live, without their knowledge or willingness or some prospective agreement. The justification of research on contractualist grounds is even more difficult if we consider pediatric research. Children are unknowingly, and often against their will, the beneficiaries of previous research and this means that they have not accepted the benefits of the social system under which they live (Gauthier 1990).

Harris believes that the fact that people cannot opt out of health benefits when they were not able for autonomous decision-making does not entail that they are not obliged to contribute. Few people would be willing to refuse the benefits of future advances (despite the fact that others have to bear the burdens so these benefits can be available) especially when they are in need (Harris 2005).

Yet, there is another reason the application of the free-riding argument seems problematic in the case of health research. As Jonas argues, this argument implicitly claims that by doing our fair share we alleviate others from the burdens of their contribution. Thus, individuals by participating in a research study, relieve current research participants from research burdens (Heyd 2003). However, an individual's participation in health research not only does not pay back any actual research participants for their contribution but also benefits someone who will not participate. More participation benefits future patients and society at large but does not pay back current participants. To support a moral duty to participate in

research based on fairness, we need an argument that would indicate that an individual's participation contributes to the aims of research: the production of generalised knowledge, not the alleviation of others' burden or risks from participation (Schaefer et al. 2009).

It is difficult to defend the view that those who benefit from research and refuse to participate in health studies act as free riders. Since people pay for the benefits they receive from scientific research through taxes and insurance it seems that even if they were free riders, free riding is not morally worrisome. As Brassington argues "people who do not support research, irrespective of whether or not they are free-riders, do not make the world a worse place" (Brassington 2011, p. 24). Based on M.B.E. Smith's words: "the obligation of fair play governs a man's actions only when some benefit or harm turns on whether he obeys" (Edmundson 1999, p. 81), we could argue that the principle of fair play would generate a universal obligation to participate in research, only if the research enterprise were small enough that any individual's failure to support it would reasonably be expected to damage the enterprise. However, health studies are not small enterprises and we can certainly consider cases in which one's refusal to serve as a research subject neither deprives anyone of any benefits, nor harms society in any noticeable way. It follows, then, that the principle of fairness cannot ground a positive moral duty to participate in research and that in the absence of a preexisting agreement one cannot claim that another person's lack of action has made them worse off (Forsberg J, et al 2013).⁵⁰

4.5.5 | Participation in research as imperfect moral obligation

Advocates of a positive duty to participate in research argue that research participation is a *prima facie* duty. Similarly to other moral obligations (e.g. our duties to our friends or ourselves), it can be overridden by other moral considerations in a given situation; for instance, if my participation in a particular study would be excessively burdensome for me but not for other potential

A 14

⁵⁰ Although an individual, who refuses to participate in a study, cannot be considered as blameworthy for making the world a worse place, if not enough people sign up, a study cannot go ahead and thus further improvements in health (such as new treatments) will not be possible. I discuss this problem in the following paragraphs.

participants or if I have fulfilled my duty by participating in other burdensome studies and there are other individuals who haven't participated and could participate. In all these cases, although the duty to participate in research exists, it can be overridden by other moral considerations (Harris 2005; Rhodes 2008). Although this argument is plausible (no one would argue that a duty to participate in research is an absolute duty), the advocates of this view have not succeeded in showing that there is a moral duty *per se* to participate in research (except perhaps from emergency situations). From the above arguments it only follows that health research is a moral good among other moral goods.

Shapshay and Pimple (2007) argue that advocates of a duty to participate in research set up a false dilemma: either participation in research is supererogatory or it is a perfect moral obligation. They argue that there is a third possibility: participation in research is an imperfect moral obligation "we must make other's happiness our end and act in good faith to help some others some of the time, but we may justifiably use our own discretion as to whom, how and how much to help. Thus participation in research is not morally obligatory, neither supererogatory; it is one way in which people may choose to discharge their imperfect obligation to help others". Principles of beneficence and fairness can only rely on an imperfect duty to participate in research and thus an imperfect obligation to help those in need and reciprocate for other people's sacrifices.

Although an imperfect duty to participate in research is more convincing than a perfect duty, it does not provide any answers on how we should proceed when people decide to discharge their duties by helping others in ways that neglect research. As discussed earlier, the existence of fatal and painful conditions suggests that certain types of research are essential. In order for health research to take part other contributions in addition to funding are also necessary, such as being a participant or donating samples (Chan and Harris 2009).⁵¹ Moreover, it has been argued that the idea that individuals have a right to decide how they want to contribute to research may be problematic for methodological reasons. When

⁵¹ More reasons for which the conduct of (certain) health research should not rely only on the preference of individuals are discussed in Chapter 6.

research participation relies only on the preference of each individual it imposes a risk of bias that threatens the validity of the results (because individuals who agree to participate may differ from those who do not) (Forsberg et al. 2011)⁵². There are therefore pragmatic reasons (i.e. low recruitment rates) as well as moral reasons (to relieve people from fatal and painful diseases or conditions that significantly affect their wellbeing) for which an alternative approach to the one existed in current research ethics regulations should be put forward for the moral justification of valuable health research in which individual consent is not possible.

4.6 | The argument against 'research exceptionalism'

In contrast to the approaches discussed so far, opponents of the traditional view of research ethics (Sachs 2010, Stewart et al. 2008, and Sullivan 2008) argue that we do not need a special moral justification for the conduct of health research. According to this view, health research is not a unique human activity that imposes risks to some individuals for the benefit of others. Most activities in our daily life expose others to harm. For instance, when we use our cars to commute to work we expose our neighbours to risk of pollution for our own benefit. Factories expose their workers to harm to benefit their customers. Ambulances expose pedestrians to risks for the benefit of the patients they carry. Charities expose volunteers to risks for the benefit of others, however, for none of them we consider the activities involved as inherently wrong. For this reason, advocates of 'research exceptionalism' argue that health research should be considered and treated similarly to other activities in our daily life.

Following this view, a further argument for the justification of cluster research, in which consent is not feasible, can be made; in all examples mentioned above individuals are not able to consent, despite the fact that their lives are affected. Moreover, in most cases individuals are unaware of the dangers involved that may

⁵² In this case however it can be argued that different recruitment methods could be used to increase recruitment that do not necessarily rely on a moral duty to participate in research (Lignou and Edwards 2012).

significantly affect their lives ⁵³. Yet, in none of these activities we argue that people are used as 'guinea pigs' or that there should be a requirement for written informed consent of all those affected based on adequate description of the risks involved, the purpose of the activity, potential benefits, duration of the activity and others.

Advocates of the traditional view of research ethics would strongly object to this claim. In their view, there are significant differences between research activity and other activities in our daily life that justify the extensive regulations and guidelines standardly applied to medical research. First of all, the fact that many of the risks people face in daily life are involuntary or unconscious (for instance when pedestrians cross the street while an ambulance is coming) suggests that they cannot provide a moral justification of intentionally exposing individuals to the same level of risks for others' benefit. Moreover, even activities, which are consciously and voluntary accepted by most people (e.g. sport activities) cannot provide a moral justification to exposing other people to same risks or same level of risks for a research activity. People usually decide to be engaged in sports or actions in which there is high probability of risk involved because of the potential personal benefit they anticipate from them; for instance many people choose to spend their vacations on road trips because they assume that the benefits justify the risks. In contrast, health research is designed to primarily benefit others and often involves processes that are not as pleasant as sport activities or travelling.

Furthermore there are other important differences between research activity and activities in daily life, which suggest that distinctive moral principles should apply for research. We often decide to ignore risks of daily life based on the assumption that they are so low that it cost us more to being aware of them, for instance when we drive to work (Wendler 2012). In other cases, when we ignore risks of daily life, we are not relying on a (fully) rational process. We often neglect risks that are familiar or based on our perceived level of control (Tversky, Kahneman 1974; Tversky, Kahneman 1981; Slovic 1987; Weinstein 1989). Finally, another reason

⁵³ The fact however that cluster members are not able to consent does not necessarily mean that they are uninformed about the risks involved.

that we tend to ignore the risks involved in our daily activities is that they are often more than we can consider or process readily in the time we are engaged in them; for instance, we do not consider all the risks involved when we cross a street unless there is a reason for special concern (when we hear a siren) (Wendler 2012) Thus, although many of our activities in daily life appear to be voluntary choices, they are actually an expression of rather unreflective habitual behavior (Slovic 1987).

It seems then that the main reason that we do not calculate the risks or ask for specific consent from the individuals affected by our actions, even when serious risks are involved, is that it gives us the ability to achieve our daily tasks. This is the main reason why research activity normatively differs from daily life activities. Besides, there has been little philosophical analysis of the conditions under which it is acceptable to impose risks on people in the way we do (Hayenhjelm and Wolff 2012) and thus types or levels of risk in which people are exposed to in daily life cannot serve as moral guidance to assess health research.

Advocates of 'research exceptionalism' however have also used examples of intentional and controlled activities in daily life, which involve exposing some individuals to risks for the benefits of others. A typical example is the one of factory workers. It is generally acceptable to expose factory workers to risks for the benefit of others if they agree to work in the factory and if they are paid a fair wage for their work. Likewise, one could argue that it is acceptable to expose subjects to risks of research for the benefit of others provided that they consent and are paid a fair wage for their contribution (or receive health benefits depending on the type of study) (Wertheimer 2011).

Although research activity normatively differs from daily life activities, comparing health research with activities in daily life, which involve intentionally exposing some to risks for the benefit of others, gives us a solution that is less restrictive from current regulations and which encourages scientists' efforts to improve the lives of future patients even when consent is not possible. Moreover, in contrast to current regulations and guidelines, according to this approach the liberty of potential research subjects who are willing to participate in risky

research activities should be respected⁵⁴. Moreover, this approach is less permissive than the Libertarian analysis in that it presupposes as a necessary condition that research subjects are treated fairly and are by no means exploited by their participation, even if they consent to be treated in a different way.

Yet, there is another important challenge that this approach to research ethics needs to address. Proponents of the traditional view of research ethics believe that many of the existing regulations are too restrictive and unjustified yet they haven't been able to provide a set of positive recommendations or regulations for medical research that follows from their perspective. Let's consider again the example of factory workers; how can we find good comparisons which provide a useful lens for considering the ethics of cluster research, since, there is not general consensus on the regulations that should apply to industry (there is no consensus on whether a minimum wage laws should be endorsed, whether governments should set safety standards, whether workers should be able to unionize or whether there should be rules protecting workers against discrimination) (Wendler 2012).

Considering health research as similar to other activities in daily life does not provide us with a satisfactory account of the conditions under which it is morally acceptable to expose some individuals to risk of harm for the potential benefit of others and as a result cannot provide any answers concerning the conduct of cluster trials when it is not feasible to seek consent from cluster members.

4.7 | Conclusion

In conclusion, the aim of this chapter was to present and discuss different approaches to the moral justification of health research in order to examine which of them could be used as a default justification for the conduct of cluster research particularly in cases where informed consent is not feasible. From the different approaches presented, two main directions can be identified. First, the attempt to stress the importance of scientific progress by claiming that society can be

⁵⁴In contrast, current guidelines demand that risks should be minimised and an independent ethics committee should approve the study.

justified in recruiting individuals without their consent in health research: a) because all people have a moral duty to participate in research to pay the debt they owe to previous research subjects or the society they live in (Harris, Caplan, Rhodes) b) because all individuals have a social obligation to advance the community interest (assuming that the proposed research has community value) (communitarian approach), c) because by research participation suffering from diseases or painful conditions is reduced and general health benefit is maximised (utilitarian approach). On the other hand, other approaches attempt to justify the use of individuals as research subjects by giving main priority to the protection of their autonomy either by a) stressing the importance of individual rights and informed consent (libertarian approach) or b) by prioritising their interests and minimising the risks in which they are exposed to (precautionary approach).

The main problem we face in formulating an ethical approach for cluster research (in which individual consent is not feasible) is the difficulties associated with the ethics of health research generally: i.e. finding a way to protect research subjects from exploitation without restricting the progress of scientific research. A society, which follows the libertarian or precautionary approach, would have no or few cluster studies, while a society, which uses appeal to social or moral duty or encourages its members to act to maximise the general benefit must ensure that by supporting a great deal of cluster research does not exploit its members or misplace public trust.

In Chapter 6, I argue that although none of these approaches found in research ethics debates can be used as a default theory for the moral justification of health research in general, and cluster research in particular, an alternative approach could offer a better understanding on how this balance could be achieved in the case of cluster research where consent is not possible.

Chapter 5

The Ethics of health research in developing countries: Arguing for an alternative approach in research ethics based on the human right to health

In the previous chapter, I discussed different approaches to the justification of health research and, argued that none of these views could provide an adequate justification for the conduct of cluster randomised trials in developing countries when consent from participants is not possible. I concluded that some of these approaches rely on overprotecting rules⁵⁵ that exclude valuable health research (e.g. precautionary approach) and thus fail to offer a satisfactory response on what kind of research should be pursued, while others do not provide clear guidance on how to ensure that participants are not exploited for the general benefit (e.g. utilitarian approach). In this chapter, I argue that a more successful approach for the moral justification of health research must conceive health studies, and in particular collaborative studies in developing countries, not as isolated activities but within the broader social context in which they take place. I discuss the human right to health, a principle of the widely respected law and conventions, and claim that this principle can be adopted as a pragmatic tool, which captures many of the strengths of the philosophical theories critiqued in the previous chapter, while

⁵⁵ In RCTs lack of informed consent when participants are competent adults is only acceptable in emergency situations and when comparing the efficiency of two widely used therapies.

avoiding some of their most important weaknesses. I go on to argue that the human right to health can provide the moral basis for a more robust interpretation of the principles in research ethics. I then discuss the application of this framework in relation to three important moral issues in collaborative health research in developing settings (the selection of potential participants, the social value of research and post trial access). I conclude that a moral framework based on the human right to health can provide better safeguards for the protection of participants in health research and at the same time support and encourage socially valuable research by taking into account a variety of health related studies that have not been given much attention in existing guidelines. The suggested framework will guide the discussion in Chapter 8 on how difficulties related to the inability to obtain consent from the participants in cluster trials in collaborative health research should be addressed and thus will constitute the moral basis for identifying and addressing ethical issues in cluster randomised trials in low-income settings.

5.1 | Social value of research and the duty of justice

In chapter 4, I argued that certain health studies, because of their great social value (those that have the potential to significantly improve the wellbeing of people by alleviating pain and suffering or by discovering therapies for fatal and serious conditions), should not be considered as morally and socially indifferent matters⁵⁶. I then discussed the view of a universal moral duty to participate in research and concluded that the advocates of this view do not successfully prove that such a perfect moral duty exists. In this chapter, I focus on the conduct of health research in developing countries. In the following paragraphs I discuss the reasons for which health research in developing settings is important and argue that there are even stronger reasons to claim that health advances, and thus health research in developing settings, should not be neglected. However, I note that a moral duty to support and encourage collaborative health research based on a universal moral duty to participate in research remains problematic especially if we considered the context in which collaborative health research takes place. I

⁵⁶ See my arguments against Jonas's view.

conclude that these difficulties lead us to accept an alternative way of arguing for a moral obligation to support and promote valuable health research in this context.

As previously discussed, advocates of a universal moral duty to participate in research derive their arguments from a more basic (and generally accepted) obligation to prevent harm to others; as they note, medical research treatments (e.g. antibiotics) have prevented or treated serious harms and many people today would have been much sicker, or dead, if health-related research involving human subjects had not taken place in the past. People who discourage the conduct of research by refusing to participate, without having a legitimate excuse for nonparticipation, fail to prevent others from future harms, and thus are morally blameworthy. This argument is complemented by the free rider argument, according to which because all of us have accepted benefits from health-related research in one way or another, to which others have contributed through their participation, we all have a moral obligation to act in the same way (take part in health research). Individuals who enjoy the benefits of research without bearing the burdens of participation (if they do not have a legitimate excuse) are blameworthy. In the previous chapter, I discussed several conceptual reasons for which the above arguments are not convincing. In this chapter I consider further moral reasons for rejecting this view based on the broader context in which health research takes place.

The main difficulty with accepting a universal moral obligation to participate in research is that it rests on the assumption that health research is a reasonably just, mutually beneficial, cooperative practice. Harris in particular states that his arguments rely on Hart's 'principle of fairness', according to which "when a number of persons conduct any joint enterprise according to rules and thus restrict their liberty, those who have submitted to these restrictions when required have a right to a similar submission from those who have benefited by their submission" (1955, p. 185). This view assumes a situation where each of us can reasonably regard the health research enterprise as a cooperative enterprise, which we have an obligation to maintain by serving as research subjects (for cooperation is what makes it possible for any individual to enjoy the benefits of the practice). Yet, as de Melo-Martin (2008) observes, in real life health research is far from a just

mutually beneficial cooperative enterprise. In practice, those who often bear the greatest burden of research are not the same class of individuals who will benefit from such research. In contrast to what is assumed in the above arguments, de Melo-Martin points out that the current research enterprise often disadvantages certain groups, who are 'drafted' to carry the disproportionate research burden⁵⁷.

Members of less privileged groups have also expressed concerns that there is disproportionate allocation of burden and benefit in health research. According to the Institute of Medicine (2003) many in low socioeconomic backgrounds, particularly those in marginalized ethnic groups, believe that marginalized groups are pursued to participate in research that privileged populations would and could avoid and suspect that researchers are using them as "guinea pigs" for their own agendas and others' benefits (Ho 2008). These problems, which are clearly relevant in the context of a duty to participate in research, are even more significant when considerable costs or risks are involved⁵⁸.

Harris has relied a universal moral duty to participate in research on the rule of rescue. However, as I previously discussed, a moral duty to participate in medical research based on the rule of rescue cannot apply to all⁵⁹, as Harris claims, but only to individuals who are in a similar situation as those in need of rescue⁶⁰. In the previous chapter I argued that Harris' argument could only account to a limited duty to participate in health research and that it is not compatible with a general duty he wants to defend. Taking into account the empirical facts about the way in which health research is conducted in practice, it follows that a universal moral obligation to participate in research cannot justify the conduct of research studies, which outcomes are unrelated to the health needs of research participants

⁵⁷ De Melo Martin's distinction is based on the social/ economical differences between the people who participate in research and those who do not participate in research and not between research subjects and future patients.

⁵⁸ Harris (2005) has claimed that although a moral duty to participate in high risk trials exists, it should not be enforced as this would result in some people disproportionally carrying out the burdens of research.

⁵⁹ Even in Phase1 trials participants must fulfill certain entry/ eligibility criteria (e.g. age, general health status, medical conditions and others).

⁶⁰ Similarly to cases where mountain climbers commonly assist each other.

and where participants' ability to benefit from the research outcomes is not taken into account. Consequently, Harris' approach would also fail to protect and prevent vulnerable groups from being used for the benefit of the most privileged ones.

It is evident that restricted access to research benefits should impact on the moral status of participation generally. As Schaefer et al. (2009) argue there is no prima facie duty to participate in research if inequities prevent an individual from receiving the research outcomes. However, it could be argued that even when individuals have equal access to state-provided health care (for instance within a society such as the U.K.,) a universal obligation to serve as a research subject remains problematic. Prospective research participants remain largely outside of the scientific enterprise, the function and operation of which are relatively nontransparent and unchallenged (Ho 2008). Research participants have minimal knowledge of or impact on how research priorities are set, who determines the scientific agenda, how research protocols and data are assessed by various scientific and ethical regulatory frameworks, and where and how data will be disseminated or used. As De Melo-Martin points out, research priorities are often determined by funding sources and other considerations such as "minimization of economic risks and maximization of profits" (De Melo-Martin 2008). Moreover, researchers are often accused that scientific and ethical flaws of various research programs are not published and until horrendous events occur, such as the deaths of participants, they are left unnoticed.

In sum, considering the injustices in the broader social context within which research is conducted (unequal access to research outcomes) and the fact that health research often mainly serves the interests of the research industry and thus does not automatically take into account important health needs and priorities, it seems that to demand of individuals that they participate in research could be problematic and unfair. This leads us to the conclusion that in order for a moral duty to participate in research to be valid, other conditions than those in which health research is currently conducted must apply.

These problems are even more prevalent in collaborative health research. In developing countries (in which 80% of the world's population lives) the imbalance between the need for preventive and treatment measures of disease and the ability to meet these needs is widely acknowledged. Millions of people suffer and die from conditions for which effective treatments and preventive methods have existed for decades in developed countries because of their prohibitive cost (Varmus and Satcher 1997). Moreover, health related research aiming at the discovery of more affordable and efficient treatments is severely constrained by limited financial and human resources, and by the lack of appropriate infrastructure to deliver healthcare. An additional problem that developing countries have to face is the considerable gap between their particular health needs and the globally set research priorities. As the majority of research projects aim at addressing conditions and needs of the minority of the world's population (Benatar 2005) a universal obligation to research participation would lead to the disempowerment of most vulnerable populations. An argument for instance that a housewife in rural India has a moral obligation to participate in an externally funded study, which potential benefits cannot be enjoyed by her community⁶¹ or which aims are not related with her population health needs, seems difficult to defend even if no considerable risks are involved ⁶².

Considering that research takes place in contexts of huge inequalities between research institutions or pharmaceutical companies and host communities, and taking into account the urgent need of host communities for affordable and efficient treatments and the advantaged position of their sponsors (i.e. patents, drug development and profits), an argument for a universal moral obligation to support and encourage health research would be more persuasive if participants

⁶¹ For a more detailed discussion on the notion of community in health research see the Appendix.

⁶² In contrast to the views of Harris, Rhodes, Heyd, Caplan and others, I argue that a universal moral duty to participate in research is problematic even in low risk studies if the research aims are irrelevant to the needs of participants and their communities; in such cases research subjects cannot adopt the aims of the study as their own. My view, however, differs from Jona's view, as it does not consider non-beneficial studies as morally problematic (I discuss this view in more detail in section 5.5: *The principle of beneficence and the social value of research*).

and their communities could get a direct benefit from such studies (Schaefer et al. 2009) or if there were a fair exchange of some valued benefits between researchers, participants and communities (Participants in the 2001 Conference on Ethical Aspects of Research in Developing Countries). However, what should be considered as a fair benefit in collaborative health research is more an issue of dispute, mainly because of several difficulties that do not permit the wider community to get direct access to research outcomes. As it is more likely that those who would ultimately benefit from the conduct of a research in a developing setting are not those in need but the already better off, (i.e. researchers in terms of reputation, pharmaceutical companies in terms of financial profit) before arguing for a change to the status of research participation from optional to obligatory in order to encourage the conduct of valuable health studies, we should first consider in whose interest this change will be. Taking into account the factors discussed above, it seems that a society, in which everyone would be morally obliged to serve as research subject (irrespectively of the conditions in which they live, their health status, their ability to access the results of the studies), would be an unfair society which not only fails to distinguish between valuable and less socially important research (the gap between needs and global research priorities shows that other factors than health needs (i.e. profits) are considered more important) but which would also be unable to provide better protection for participants, especially those that are more in need for protection.

5.2 | The human right to health and the duty of justice

The need to reduce poor health and suffering by finding effective and affordable means, especially in disadvantaged populations, is too critical to be neglected. The importance of valuable health research being conducted leads us to accept that there is a moral obligation to support (certain) health studies in developing countries. However, following the discussion above, it is evident that this duty should not fall on individuals. In this section I argue that a moral obligation to support valuable health research should primarily fall on governments, based on the view that states have a duty to look after the important needs of their people individually and collectively (WHO 2000). I outline an alternative research ethics framework within which, in my view, the moral justification of health research

could be better explained (compared to the approaches discussed in Chapter 4) and issues raised in collaborative health research in developing countries could better be understood and addressed (Benatar et al. 2003). To discuss such issues, I will employ Farmer's thesis on human rights (Farmer and Campos 2004). In particular, I will advocate a human right to health based on the application of the principles of social justice and equity. This moral framework grounded in existing widely respected practice, would specify the aim of health research and its social value and would demonstrate the way by which inequalities in global health should be considered and addressed (Benatar et al. 2003).

Recent studies have shown that the health of populations depends on and is affected by a combination of different factors: political, social, and economic. Poor social conditions and poverty make people living in the developing world more susceptible to a wide range of illnesses and to other health problems in the form of a wide spread of endemic diseases, poor quality of life and high rates of premature death. This is the reason that global health inequalities are so significant; for instance, life expectancy at birth ranges from 34 years in Sierra Leone to 81 years in Japan (World Health Statistics 2011). In Chad, 1 in 5 children dies before they reach the age of 5, while in the European Region, the under-five mortality rate is 13 out of 1000 (World Health Statistics 2011). These alarming differences in health and life opportunity are not based on biological or genetic reasons (WHO 2015)⁶³. Major health inequalities are not only evident between countries but also between the most and least advantaged populations in the same country (World Health Statistics 2011). Under these circumstances even the most basic universal human rights cannot be achieved for all.

Human rights are a well-entrenched set of internationally recognised standards. They mark the threshold at which each individual human beings' interests

_

There are different interpretations for the pattern of global inequality, and this discussion is beyond the aims of this thesis. My main focus here is not to discuss different interpretations concerning the existence of injustice on a global scale, but its implications for those who are in the position to improve those disparities, thus those within the developing countries, including governments, research councils and those outside of developing countries, foreign governments, private companies and researchers.

generate duties or obligations on the part of others to respect, protect and promote those interests in various ways. In Article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights a fundamental right to health is codified: "The States parties to the present Covenant recognise the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health". The immediate consequence of claiming a human right to health, is that all humans, irrespectively of the conditions under which they live and the location of their residence, deserve it and have an equal claim to it. The human right to health serves not only our interest in health, but also various other interests which being in a certain state of health enable us to realize, such as autonomy and accomplishment.

According to institutional law, the duty to meet such rights burdens the particular government (first order duty) (Wolff 2011). The duty of the government to meet its citizens' human right to health ranges over obligations concerned with the provision of health care services and through public health measures and with the securing of certain social determinants of health. However, occasional failures to meet the human right to health in developing settings are apparent. Due to the dramatic shortage of resources and an accompanying lack of social, economic and political structures, the aim to protect the health of the populations is often not materialised (Benatar and Singer 2010). In these cases it is evident that governments fail to sustain the rights of their subjects (Wolff 2011) by failing to ensure the social conditions needed so that a sufficient level of health can be achieved. Since the human right to health is a basic human right, its claims are not restricted to national boarders; inequalities in child survival, life expectancy, health and others between rich and poor communities are considered a profound injustice that global community has the duty to redress. Thus, when a state fails to secure the rights of its subjects, the international community has a second-order duty to help the national government to fulfil this duty. By inference, developed countries have a duty of justice to support the improvement of health in countries that require assistance towards meeting these ends.

A second-order duty may be attended by providing financial help or technical assistance to a developing country whenever it is necessary and desirable (Wolff

2011). Since the aim of health research is to sustain and improve health, collaborative health research can partially pursue this second-order duty tailored to address particular needs of the local population by taking into account their special living conditions and behavioural patterns and on discovering more effective ways of delivering new or existing interventions. Considering then the inherent limitations of endogenously generated investment and in autonomous conduct of research, and the fact that developed counties have the greatest capacity to effect change because of their privileged position, the role of transnational health research that would address context-specific health problems becomes evident.

5.2.1 | The social value of non-clinical health research

Different types of health related research might take place in developing countries. These include basic research, which is often dependent on the use of samples from patients (usually laboratory-based and includes studies at the cellular level, and of immunity and pathogenesis); Clinical research, which is often conducted with patients in a medical setting, such as a hospital, and is designed to obtain better information on the natural history or pathogenesis of a condition that may lead to improved strategies for diagnosis, treatment or prevention of a disease; Epidemiological research (usually involves population-based investigations, which may be cross-sectional surveys of selected populations (case-control studies) or all members of a community, or longitudinal studies of a population over time (cohort studies)⁶⁴; Social and behavioural research which is often a component of epidemiological research and focuses on the study of behavioural and social factors that may modify risk of disease in individuals or in populations⁶⁵; Intervention studies, including clinical trials and community-based trials, which are conducted to evaluate the impact of specific

_

⁶⁴ Often such investigations involve the study of large populations and they may be observational or interventional in nature. The aim is to identify strategies for the better prevention or treatment of disease, through an improved understanding of risk factors for disease or for progression of disease.

⁶⁵ Such research may involve the collection of sensitive information about a person and their lifestyle (e.g. sexual behaviour). While some forms of research may only involve observation others may involve studying or testing ways of changing behaviour or social circumstances.

interventions on the prevention of disease, often in the context of community-based intervention trials, or in modifying the clinical course of disease, often in the context of clinical trials⁶⁶; and health services and operational research, which are concerned with the study of methods of delivery of healthcare, access to treatment and quality of care, with the aim of finding improved methods that lead to better care⁶⁷(Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

As mentioned earlier the health status of individuals and populations is dependent of many factors. Thus although the majority of people living in developing countries lack access to medical care, their health status is not only dependent on the quality of healthcare available but has many other determinants. There is a range of health studies that may benefit developing countries; from research into genetic determinants of disease at one end to practical methods of implementing effective treatments at the other. In such studies, different types of interventions may be involved (clinical trials, experimental medicine and population research), which may apply to patients, healthy individuals or a group population more widely (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). Although studies in developing countries focusing on new or improved medicines and vaccines are given high priority, in many circumstances research on finding better ways of delivering existing products and services to those in need, or investigating the causes of diseases and possible treatments, are often equally or more important (Prince 2000). Non-clinical research, such as the provision of better nutrition, improved sanitation, clean water and personal preventive measures may have a significant impact on diseases (for instance, to control HIV infection not only research on treatments and potential vaccines is needed, but also studies of individual behaviour).

⁶⁶ Such research may provide the basis for policy decisions and priority setting. Intervention studies usually involve the comparison of different treatment or prevention strategies in which the current intervention method is compared with another method, often new, that may be more efficacious than the existing intervention. If there is no existing effective intervention, a placebo or 'no intervention' may be used as the comparison against which to assess the impact of the new intervention. Ideally, individuals are randomly allocated to receive the different interventions being compared in the trial.

⁶⁷ Such studies often include an evaluation of the cost of providing the intervention and the benefit it provides (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

Population based research (epidemiological studies and surveillance, that I discuss in more detail in chapters 6 and 8), which affects not only individuals but also integrated groups of individuals, and often of significant size, has considerably improved health and decreased mortality and morbidity. It represents one of the great triumphs of science in the 20th century (Gostin 1999). The development of such research interventions may have the dual effect of directly promoting improved health and leading to further health benefits through the impact that such improvements will have on socio-economic development; for instance non-clinical population-based studies aiming at addressing the health needs of the most vulnerable populations may also reduce socioeconomic inequalities as the fundamental means of improving health (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

5.2.2 | The advantages of arguing for a moral framework based on the human right to health

It is obvious from the above that there are critical general issues about economic disparities, injustice, deprivation, and exploitation that should be taken into account when considering the ethics of collaborative health research. The implication of adopting a moral framework based on the human right to health is that in contrast to the traditional research ethics framework (see Belmont Report principles discussed in Chapter 1), based on which various approaches for the justification of health research have relied, it is less individualistic and considers individuals as part of their wider social communities. Having argued that there is an intimate connection between health research interventions and the field of health and human rights, the human right to health approach secures certain minimum conditions of a decent life (Miller 2004; Buchanan 2011) and protects all people against certain standard threats to their basic interests (Beitz 2009; Wolff 2013) Moreover, within a context dictated by the duty of justice, the proposed framework emphasises the fact that sponsoring and host counties are equal partners. Therefore, there is no room for implicit acknowledgments of predefined status quos, but promotion of processes, terms and forms which suggest greater equity, and which may, under the right conditions, assist the host country in developing the capacity to autonomously meet the rights of its citizens.

At this point it is important to note that by arguing for a second order duty on behalf of developed countries to assist countries with restricted resources to meet for the people under their discretion their basic right to health, I do not suggest that the needs of their own communities should not have first claim on this duty and thus on the resources available. My main point is that by the conduct of collaborative health research, developed countries may aid developing countries to (partially) fulfill their first order duties towards their citizens. Therefore, it does not follow that a moral duty to support collaborative health research should not be overridden by other moral claims. In contrast, this view implies that there is a difficult task for governments in both developed and developing countries to strike an acceptable balance between competing ways by which this duty can be fulfilled. In addition, this understanding of the ethics of collaborative research does not contradict the view that it is in the moral interest of all (both in developing and developed world) that effective health research is conducted, but it sets certain limits on how this interest should be materialized and under what conditions it should be pursued, which I discuss further in the following paragraphs⁶⁸.

Given the complex ethical issues raised by the practice of collaborative transnational research, a human right to health approach in research ethics provides a framework within which we can more clearly consider the ethical challenges researchers, research committees, sponsors and host communities face when a study in a developing setting takes place. In the next paragraphs, I will explain how these moral considerations affect the duties, obligations, claims and expectations of those involved in collaborative health studies by discussing an expansion of the principles in which current research ethics guidance rely and their interpretation according to the proposed framework. I then explore the application of these principles in three very challenging issues in collaborative health research: the moral criteria for the selection of potential participants, the social value of health research and post trial access to research benefits in

_

⁶⁸ I acknowledge that there are important criticisms concerning the human right to health, however, my aim in this chapter is not to defend this theory but to consider how it can inform an alternative approach in addressing research ethics challenges in developing settings beyond the traditional model of clinical ethics.

developing settings.

5.3 | Revising the principles in research ethics

The Belmont Report principles⁶⁹ provide the foundation for contemporary regulations designed for the protection of human subjects in research. Yet, despite the wide acceptance of the moral principles that should guide research, there is much dispute on how these principles should be interpreted in different cultural, social and economic contexts. Guidance provided by international guidelines is considered difficult to apply in practice; for instance, there are residual, unaddressed questions such as: What does exploitation mean given the different levels of risks in which people in developing countries are exposed to everyday? What happens when cultural or community values conflict with those of developed countries? And how can we ensure that participants and their broader communities are both protected and respected?

Moreover, as I mentioned in chapter 1, the focus of the principles in Belmont Report is primarily on individual rights and duties and thus does not capture broader issues such as welfare and equality of populations. However, an individualised framework in research ethics is problematic for two reasons. First, because it does not recognize the moral significance of considering health research within the broader context in which it takes place. An individualized framework in research ethics fails to acknowledge that the conditions in which individuals in developing countries live and which affect their health status should not be acceptable and that these individuals and populations are entitled to more than they currently enjoy (because their governments have failed to meet their basic human rights). Second, because the principles that the current framework supports mainly focus on clinical research and they do not take into account the variety of health studies that may be significantly valuable in developing settings and in which whole communities rather than individual participants may be

⁶⁹ See previous discussion in Chapter 1 on a standard view of research ethics.

⁷⁰ As I explain later this is significantly important to ensure that the interests of participants and their communities are protected in research.

involved⁷¹. It seems then that a different interpretation of Belmont principles than that found in current guidelines is necessary, which could address both of these problems.

5.3.1 | The principle of respect for persons

How should the principle of respect for persons be interpreted considering the moral framework discussed above?⁷²

The principle of respect for persons is usually interpreted as a moral duty to respect the autonomy of individual participants and the protection of those with impaired or diminished autonomy. This principle is viewed as suggesting that we should not use others as mere means for research purposes, because everyone is worthy of respect, and thus that researchers should secure participant interests, protect their participants from exploitation by minimizing the risks to which they are exposed and abstain from practices such as deception and misinformation. Moreover, those who participate in research should be involved in the decisions that affect them, since a person should be free to determine what is good for them. The principle of respect for persons is thought to include a duty to protect human dignity, a duty of confidentiality, and a duty not to exploit the vulnerable.

Considering the human right to health, this principle would demand not only that participants should be protected in research, i.e. that they should not be made worse off because of their enrolment, but also that research should aim to help improve the conditions in which these people live so that their health status can be improved and that they will be able to develop and express their capacities and lead meaningful lives. Therefore, respect of the moral worth of the individual, according to a new interpretation, is not limited to the avoidance of harm (the avoidance of exploitative practices) but also commands that researchers and their

⁷¹ This is particularly important to ensure that valuable health research is supported.

⁷² As mentioned earlier in this chapter, the human right to health is adopted in the thesis as a pragmatic tool grounded in existing widely respected practice and conventions. The suggested framework captures many of the strengths of the moral theories discussed in the previous chapter (such as protection of research participants from exploitation), whilst avoiding some of their most important weaknesses (such as restriction of valuable research)

sponsors have positive obligations towards their participants to meet their basic rights and capacities.

Moreover, the proposed moral framework recognises that the communities of the participants may be indirectly affected by the conduct of research (e.g. by stigmatization) and suggests that the principle of respect for persons should not be restricted to a duty of respect for individual participants but that it should extend to the community in which these individuals belong. Moreover, taking into account that in certain communities individuals' sense of self-respect is often closely associated with their community values and principles (individuals often tend to think of themselves in the light of the concepts and understandings they have acquired in their society (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005)), the principle of respect for persons should also be related to the respect for the host community's cultural values. In addition, the integrity of participants' intimate relations, their values and customs should not be disregarded. As the cultural practices in the communities in which individuals live, shape their understanding of family, status and matters of authority, illness and health, 73 respecting the cultural values of a host community is another implication of the fundamental principle of respect for persons⁷⁴.

Communities may also be directly affected by health research. Many research interventions may involve the use of demographic, social or behavioural data or may actively intervene in the social and family interactions or behaviours and lifestyles of communities (Gostin 1991). For this reason Gostin (1991) has proposed extending to groups the protections now reserved for individuals. Likewise Weijer (1999) claimed that a fourth ethical principle, 'respect for communities', is needed to address the increasing vulnerability of groups. Weijer and Emanual (2000) also argued that community has a right to respect and protection, and thus its involvement in the research should be considered as a

⁷³ As I explain later this is particularly relevant when a decision about participation in a externally sponsored healthy study needs to be made.

⁷⁴ However, as I later explain in chapter 8, if local cultures transgress values inherent in this principle, researchers will need to follow different procedures from those prescribed in the local culture.

partnership with the researcher (Crouz et al. 2004). Along these lines King et al (1999) contended that federal regulations should expand beyond the synchronic (slice-of-time) 'principalist paradigm' of Belmont evident and include a 'relationships paradigm'. As they explain, following the 'principalist paradigm', researchers often conduct studies that focus on "balancing principles of autonomy, beneficence, justice, informed consent and confidentiality" assuming "ethical universalism (not moral relativism) - truth (not stories); and maintain an atomistic focus-small frame, centred on individuals" (p.15). In this way the moral principles held to govern research with human subjects remain current and meaningful but make sense only in context. "Thus the ethics of human subjects research may be universal but is at the same time deeply particularised, so that what autonomy or informed consent or confidentiality or even benefit and harm mean depends on the circumstances" (p. 213). They claimed that a shift from the 'principalist paradigm' to the 'relationships paradigm' in research ethics approach would account for both the interactions between subjects and their communities and subject-communities with researchers. By recognizing the breadth and depth of relevant relationships between individuals and groups in a community, the 'relationships paradigm' incorporates the relevant contexts including culture, gender, race/ethnicity, history, community, place, and other factors affected by research. Others (Ahmed et al. 2004) have claimed for the use of CBPR as a way to bridge cultural gaps between researchers and communities and increase trust between researchers and communities, especially marginalised communities. The main idea in all these suggestions is that the individualised approach in the Belmont Report should extend to include a duty to respect populations' wellbeing and integrity. Interpreting the principle of respect in this way suggests that there is another level of harm (harm to the community) that the traditional research ethics framework does not take into account, which should constrain the ways by which a research intervention aims to improve the health status of developing populations.

Extending the principle of respect for persons to groups is considered particularly important when a study affects minority communities and where cultural and historical context are particularly relevant. The expanded principle of respect for

persons and communities would suggest that some form of consultation in the process of informed consent is essential as it can help researchers understand the social context in which community members understand and assess the aims of research (Sharp and Foster 2000). Creating meaningful partnerships between researchers and sponsors and researched communities, means that different mechanisms of community involvement in research should be encouraged, as they contribute to the protection of communities and their members and the development of meaningful research. Those involved in research should as far as possible take account of the local culture and find ways that respect local practices even in cases they complicate their research (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

Finally, it is important to note that considering research as a partnership between the sponsored and the host country requires stronger duties on behalf of researchers than those that are usually considered as necessary; the principle of respect is not fulfilled by simply obtaining informed consent. A frequent issue in externally sponsored research is that researchers fail to disseminate and share with the studied community their results, even though the duty of respect for communities is considered to entail transparency with the local community and its members and other stakeholders in the research enterprise (Federman et al.2003).

5.3.2 | The principle of beneficence

The second principle, the requirement of beneficence, is taken to include maximising benefits and minimising harms. In the case of collaborative research, it requires that a proposed research study must offer some benefit to the host community in order to be justified. However, according to the suggested research ethics framework, this interpretation is not satisfactory. A more appropriate way to consider this principle would be to require that any proposed study serves the interests of the participants in the host country so that they are better off than they were before their participation. A research initiative should aim to the improvement of the conditions in which participants live, the reduction of their suffering and ill health. These are the aims that should guide the discussions between the stakeholders when making decisions about a research project: i.e. the scientific questions that should be explored, the identification of research initiatives that should be funded, the selection of the country and community

where research would be conducted, and the way it could benefit the populations that are most in need for help.

When a study should be considered beneficial for a host community is often a controversial issue, which I discuss in more detail later in this chapter. Although a host community may benefit in different ways and to different degrees from a research initiative (details about the level and type of benefit require value judgments that should be assessed case by case) some practical implications of this principle are easy to consider. When a study is conducted in a developing country where there is high unemployment or when participants are only able to take part in research programmes with support (such as reasonable financial compensation for travel expenses or for time away from life sustaining work) (D'Alessandro et al. 1995), payment of expenses incurred by the participant, or remuneration for loss of earnings suffered should not only considered acceptable but also necessary (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

It is important to note that the duty of beneficence should be constrained by the duty of justice and the duty of respect for persons. Aiming to improve the health status of developing populations and to alleviate their suffering differs from the utilitarian view (discussed in Chapter 4) that the less suffering there is, the better the research initiative. As I have already argued, the duty to meet a human right to health is closely related to fairness. The aim of an externally sponsored research to alleviate suffering is thus significantly constrained by the principle of protecting the most vulnerable and the principle of respect for persons; a research intervention that offers the most straightforward way of reducing suffering but at the same time fails to protect and promote the interests of the participants or their communities should not be considered morally legitimate. Researchers need to ensure that their research will improve the capacity of the hosting country to rely on basic social structures that would meet the basic health needs of its citizens without permitting unfair practices or the exploitation of its participants for purely scientific purposes or based on a more loose sense of the social good. These elements are closely related and should not be considered separately.

5.3.3 | The principle of non-maleficence

The principle of beneficence is considered as complementary to the principle of non-maleficence, which requires that health research should not add to the burdens those in the developing world already face. This principle rules out any research proposal that would make either participants or their broader host community worse off. Although aim of collaborative health research is to address the critical health-related needs of the developing world at the same time it is also capable of imposing additional burdens on participants and their communities. The challenge, then, underlined by this principle, is to ensure that research actually benefits people in the host country without further exacerbating their already profound deprivation.

A critical question related to the harm principle raised in collaborative health research in developing countries is to define the degree of acceptable risk when aiming to improve the health status of developing populations. The Declaration of Helsinki states that "Medical research involving human subjects may only be conducted if the importance of the objective outweighs the inherent risks and burdens to the research subjects" (2013, paragraph 16). But how should the risk to benefit ratio be interpreted when we consider the issue of health inequity? Given the prevailing living conditions and the limited access to medical care, it is evident that the social benefit of a tested intervention may potentially be much higher in a poor country. Should a wider scope for the social benefit suggest that higher risks could be considered acceptable?

As I discussed in chapter 4, by arguing for a universal moral duty to participate in research advocates of this view aimed to restore public trust in health research (clinical research in particular) so that research can more effectively serve its proper social aim. Yet, their views fail to provide a clear account of the social purpose of research and a more precise view on how to consider acceptable/ reasonable research risk. As London (2006) points out, in order for research ethics to gain social support as a means of serving the common good, it is essential to clarify the nature of the common good. By relying on a human right to health, I addressed this concern and explained how research ethics may provide a conception of the social purpose of research that "overcomes the dichotomy

between the good of the many and the interests of the few" (London 2003). I also argued for a vision of social justice in the research context, which provides more precise operational content to the concept of reasonable risk.

In the revised moral framework the potential risk of harm to research subjects and their communities should be established irrespective of the geographic and economic setting in which research is undertaken (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). The fact that participants of health research happen to live in a poor or disadvantaged country should not, in any way, imply acceptance of different rules in relation to their protection. A research ethics approach relying on the human right-based context, should not ask what conditions the subjects sustain, but rather what conditions they should enjoy according to their right to health (another example that shows that the principle of beneficence should be constrained by the principle of justice). An argument of relative exposure to risk appears extremely unfair, especially if applied to people of different social class in the same country or community; would for instance be acceptable to argue that those who experience better living conditions, and therefore lower exposure to risks, should enjoy higher protection standards? Arguably, following different risk standards in a developing setting would be contradictory to the objective of establishing global health equity. The duty of a researcher to protect their subjects' interests should not be compromised, since that would constitute violation of their human right to health.

According to the suggested research ethics framework, the researchers duty to maximize any benefits and minimize any risks in research (considering as a threshold the moral entitlements of participants and not the status quo) should extend beyond the principle of respect for persons narrowly conceived. A study that involves risks that would have been unnecessary or could have been avoided should not be allowed, even if people in the developing country were willing to

participate⁷⁵ (thus even if potential participants and their communities did not view those risks as unacceptable)⁷⁶.

Finally, as with the requirement of beneficence, the requirement of non-maleficence should not be restricted to considerations regarding individual harm but also consider harm for communities. Research interventions may involve risks for communities such as spread of infection to persons outside the trial, premature dissemination of findings that may result in harmful changes for communities or false hopes for cures or social stigmatization (Levine et al. 2004) which suggests that it is not only the health of the individual research subject that should be considered but also the harms to their community affected by the study.

5.3.4 | The principle of justice

The principle of justice is conceived as requiring that all individuals be treated equally and thus that the distribution of burdens and benefits in research be equitable. However, there is no further explanation in current guidelines on the moral criteria based on which potential participants should be selected or not selected nor on what should be considered as fair or appropriate distribution of

⁷⁵ I view this issue in more detail where negotiations between sponsored and host countries are discussed.

⁷⁶ A prominent issue in relation to the conduct of transational research has recently been the 'standard of care debate'; i.e. the level of treatment that should be provided to the control group in externally sponsored research. Advocates of a 'universal standard treatment' (Lurie and Wolfe 2006) claim that allowing research methods that would have deemed unacceptable in a sponsoring country, implies acceptance of double standards for poor and wealthy populations. This thesis has been contested by African researchers and national and international committees (Lie et al 2004; Macklin 1999) for failing to take into account resource limitations and local specifics that may not allow the application of a worldwide optimal standard. Taking into account both positions, I argue that when a universal standard of care cannot be realised (because of resource limitations, different needs, etc.), research designed to correspond to local health needs should be considered acceptable, since it acts against neglecting the needs of the most disadvantaged. However, in order such research to be justified it should also ensure that participants are not exposed to unnecessary and avoidable harms despite the fact that researched populations may live under extremely disadvantaged and unhealthy conditions (Lignou 2011). Researchers carry research in an appropriate manner when they do not accept different rules in relation to the protection of their research subjects and when they do not reproduce conditions that impose risks that could and should have been avoided in a controlled environment of a trial. Adopting a relativistic approach on the protection of participants is contradictory to the objective of establishing global health equity (Lignou 2011).

benefits and risks. These ambiguities pose important difficulties when considering the duties of sponsors and health investigators towards participants and their wider communities during the trial and after its completion, which I discuss later in this chapter (e.g. should they provide ancillary benefits such as prevention and health care services?).

A moral framework based on a human right to health has certain implications for the issue of justice in international health research for both the needs and susceptibilities of the host population and the capacity of health research to benefit and to burden. As the majority of people living in poor countries do not meet their potential best health because of a "toxic combination of bad policies, economics, and politics" (World Health Organization 2008) these problems represent a failure on behalf of a state to control over the basic social structures and to protect the interests of the community members. Those who suffer in these cases can legitimately claim, as a strict obligation of justice, an entitlement to relief from such sufferings as they are denied effective opportunities to develop their basic capacities (London 2005) As populations in host countries are already worse off, it is important to first consider why they were chosen to participate in research.

Although developing populations may initially be chosen based on financial and administrative criteria, mere convenience should not be viewed as sufficient justification for imposing burdens or risks to developing populations. The principle of justice traditionally conceived requires that vulnerable subjects be selected only if research is relevant to the condition of person or group it belongs. As people in developing settings live in already disadvantaged environments, they constitute vulnerable participants that should only be considered as eligible candidates when the aims of the study are related with their needs or health condition. A human right to health would command that researchers have a moral duty to aim to make the disadvantaged members of society both better and more equal when applying their interventions in the studied communities. It would command that local political and economic elites should not seek to pursue their own goals at the expense of populations participating in research and that researchers should not select economically or politically weak populations to

pursue their scientific aims unrelated with the needs of those populations or for the benefit of wealthier communities.

A moral framework relying on the human right to health, would suggest that there are two aspects of justice that should be taken into account in collaborative health research in developing countries: first, the improvement of the health status of individuals and populations who have been denied fair opportunities to meet their basic rights and second, the fair treatment of those who are more disadvantaged. The duty of justice thus will define the wider roles and obligations of all those involved in research: including governments, researchers⁷⁷, and pharmaceutical companies. Because of the large inherent inequalities between sponsored and host countries in economic and political power, individuals and communities in developing countries are inherently likely to be exploited; community members or community leaders may be more susceptible to different kind of inducements because of their restricted autonomy (because of their poor health they may not be able to refuse excessive research risks in order they or their families to have access to treatments). The principle of justice would require that governments, sponsors and researchers should not allow or support, in other countries research which does not confirm to ethics review standards at least equivalent to those within the nation (Miller 1988). Considering the principle of justice in the light of the human right to health, not only equivalent standards for the distribution of benefits and risks must apply but also additional safeguards should be taken to

⁷⁷ It is worth noting at this point that the ethical principles found in current guidelines are only enforceable through sanctions imposed on members of the profession, which was responsible for the particular guidance. The Declaration of Helsinki, produced by the WMA, only binds physicians. Similarly, the CIOMS guidelines only bind members of the signatory organisations. As health research is not merely conducted by medical practitioners but other disciplines may also be necessary (psychologists, sociologists, geneticists, and others), many researchers involved in collaborative health research are not accountable under these guidelines (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). It seems then that guidance on the ethical responsibilities of researchers are not sufficient to cover all the responsibilities that researchers have towards their participants. For this reason Nuffiled Council of Bioethics has suggested that national and international research sponsors provide for the education and training in the ethics of research of all of those professionals involved in research and ensure that the requirements of relevant guidance on ethics are met (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

ensure that any form of exploitation is avoided.⁷⁸

Let us consider now the implications that these moral considerations have on the obligations and rights of those involved in health research. In the following I will discuss three main issues in collaborative health research in developing countries: What should be the moral criteria of choosing potential participants? What should be considered as beneficial study? Should post trial limitations restrict the conduct of a study in a developing setting? Although extensive and more detailed discussion would be more appropriate for addressing these complex issues, for the current purposes I aim to discuss the main points in each case to clarify the implications of the suggested research ethics framework and to clarify the conditions under which collaborative health research in developing countries should be considered acceptable. Taking these conditions into account I will later discuss (chapter 8) practical solutions to the problem of consent when cluster design is used in collaborative health studies.

5.4 | Justice and Fairness in health research: moral criteria for the selection of potential participants

A fundamental problem in research ethics (and collaborative health research in developing countries in particular) is how to conduct a health study so that both risks and benefits are fairly distributed; thus a fundamental problem in research ethics is an issue of social justice. The issue of fair distribution is associated with considerations concerning risk – benefit balance but is also closely related with the moral criteria based on which potential participants are selected. Although the selection of research participants is often random and not related to any morally rational choice, as it would be unfair if certain members of the population or groups of individuals were to receive important benefits and others were excluded (given that criteria of eligibility are met and research risks are minimized as provided by the regulations), the alternative research ethics framework discussed earlier would in certain cases not only justify but also suggest that moral criteria

⁷⁸ By additional safeguards I do not suggest that overprotecting rules should apply, as I later explain those rules may eventually harm communities and individuals with restricted access to health treatment. I rather argue that additional benefits –not directly related with the research project -may be necessary to meet participants' basic needs.

are used for the selection of potential participants.

Rawls's work on *A Theory of Justice* has been very influential in discussions of these problems in biomedical ethics, although he never pursued these health issues. He argued that a social arrangement forming a political state is a communal effort to advance the good of all in the society. Rawls argued for a positive societal obligation to reduce barriers that prevent fair opportunity and to correct or to compensate for various disadvantages. His view that we should aim to make the disadvantaged members of society both better and more equal to those currently with greater advantages can have certain implications when considering the conditions in which health research should be conducted.

An essential part of improving the health status of populations in developing countries is to identify and improve patterns of systematic disadvantage that undermine the well-being of people who have limited prospects for good health and the capacity to change these conditions (for instance people that live in slum areas). To meet the human right to health by reducing ill health (discovering therapies or preventive measures for the specific needs of the host populations) and improving the conditions in which people live (e.g. sanitation, clean environment) research projects often need to focus on the needs of the most disadvantaged⁷⁹. Studies that aim at addressing the needs of the most disadvantaged groups of the population within the larger host community may significantly improve the conditions in which these populations live and also contribute to social equity.

There are of course numerous dimensions of disadvantage. Many causal agents, such as poverty, substandard housing, poor education, unhygienic and polluted environments, and social disintegration, can lead to systematic disadvantage not only in health, but also in nearly every aspect of social, economic, and political life. Inequalities cause other inequalities, and existing inequalities reproduce and produce a multitude of deprivations (Powers and Faden 2006). To determine who

⁷⁹ Considering that the principle of beneficence should always be constrained by the principle of justice, this view avoids the problems that Rhodes approach presents as it sets certain limits on the degree of risk that should be permitted when vulnerable populations are involved in health research.

are most vulnerable and at greatest need, who should have priority in participating in health research, how best to ameliorate their condition and how to fairly distribute benefits and burdens to participants and their wider communities, are questions that will depend on the type of intervention, the aims of the research project, the design used, the needs of populations involved, the available resources and thus will need to be informed by empirical data and assess by case.

5.5 | The principle of beneficence and the social value of health research

I have argued so far that an alternative research ethics framework based on the human right to health could help us better define the conditions under which health research in developing countries should be considered as morally acceptable. Based on the suggested approach aim of collaborative health research should be to address health needs that cannot be feasibly or more efficiently met with existing knowledge and the resources of the host country. It suggests that researchers and sponsored agencies could significantly contribute to narrow the research gap by investigating ways of bridging the space between a community's health needs and the capability of its social institutions to meet those needs. It follows then that based on the suggested framework a necessary condition for a collaborative health study to be morally acceptable is to directly relate to the health needs and priorities of the hosting country. There are however several difficulties for this condition to be satisfied.

In order for a health study to be related to the specific needs of the host country it is important that the host country defines its own health priorities and research concerns so that useful partnerships can be developed between them and their sponsors and researchers⁸⁰. However, the capacity of developing countries to set their own health priorities for research may vary considerably. The setting of national priorities for research is a complex process involving national and international research objectives, institutions and individuals that some developing countries lack (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). As a result, many

⁸⁰ See for instance the arguments for community involvement and the principle of respect for communities, discussed above.

developing countries lack the resources to make a comprehensive assessment of the prevalence and effects of disease and ill health within their borders (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). To address this problem, several sponsoring agencies today have advisory panels involving members from both developed and developing countries to help them identify areas of priority for support in consultation with the relevant communities (UCL Institute of Child Health 2015). Moreover, some companies have several R&D projects to develop treatments for diseases and conditions prevalent in developing countries (for instance GlaxoSmithKline company).

Nevertheless, most funding agencies in collaborative health research (national governments, research councils, private sponsors, non-governmental institutions or agencies and pharmaceutical companies) have their own approaches for the identification of areas, which they wish to support, despite the health priorities of the populations they target. Although there are cases where a health condition is also relevant to developed country markets (and thus there is potential for mutual benefit) and also others where the research sponsorship may be altruistic (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005), in most cases collaborative research in developing countries is undertaken by pharmaceutical companies and the criteria for selecting a particular country are based on convenience. Although factors such as the availability of suitable participants, the availability of high quality collaborators, and appropriate infrastructure for delivery of clinical care to the participants are important for the completion of a study, they are not sufficient to argue that a study is morally justified.

As already discussed, because of the inherent inequalities of power and advantage between sponsoring and host countries, it is essential that any tendency on the part of the sponsor to pursue their interests to the disadvantage of those of the host country be restrained. Nuffield Council on Bioethics suggests that when a research funded by external sponsors falls outside the national priorities for research by a host country, the study should be justified and approved by appropriate research ethics committees in both the host and sponsoring countries (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). The main issues that research committees need to consider in such cases, to ensure that participants and their communities

are protected against exploitation, are the relevance of study to the host country's needs (discussed bellow), the prospect of maintenance and implementation of the research intervention, if proved to be successful as part of the host country's health policy system (discussed in 5.6), as well as other relevant matters concerning the way in which the study is conducted, for instance respect for cultural differences (discussed in more detail chapter 8). Let us consider these factors separately.

5.5.1 | The relevance of study to the host country's needs: Direct and indirect benefits for participants and their communities

The kind of improvement that is needed to argue that a given study is beneficial for a host country is a matter of dispute. It is generally assumed that if the research agendas do not match, often the financial influence of the sponsor becomes the driving force and the host country is exploited (for instance, research teams merely collecting samples or data to be studied elsewhere has been repeated several times in the past (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). These cases however should be distinguished from the cases where a researcher pursues a study of legitimate interest that does not address a health priority in the host country but may provide considerable long term or indirect benefits to the participants and/ or their broader communities.

Some of the studies carried out in developing settings are designed to offer direct benefits to the participants (e.g. treatment of a particular disease) while others indirect benefits (e.g. identify the causes of a disease). Much discussion on the research ethics literature has focused on clinical studies (which usually provide direct benefits) and thus the importance of different types of health research, which have the potential of great value for the populations of developing countries (for instance basic research into causes and mechanisms of disease and their diagnosis) has been neglected. As poverty and lack of scientific and administrative infrastructures limit the ability of many developing countries to conduct research that may provide useful knowledge for the understanding of their specific health problems, externally sponsored research aiming to fulfill this gap should be given appropriate attention and support.

5.5.2 | Ancillary benefits

When the main objective of a study is to advance scientific and medical knowledge without involving any direct benefit to the participants or their communities (for instance immunological studies), other types of benefits may be considered appropriate and be provided as part of the study (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). Some of these benefits may not be directly associated with the project and may be offered both to individuals and communities (for instance clean water or food). In other cases benefits offered to individuals and communities may be integral to the research process, such as treatment services, diagnostic tests, enhancement of the local expertise of researchers and the provision of community facilities.

As stated in Principle 17 CIOMS (International Guidelines for Ethical Review of Epidemiological Studies, 1991) "While studies are in progress, particularly in developing countries, the opportunity should be taken to train local health workers in skills and techniques that can be used to improve health services. For instance, by training them in the operation of measuring devices and calculating machines, when a study team departs it leaves something of value, such as the ability to monitor disease or mortality rates". Health research then could be of significant social value by providing long term benefits; for instance, the development of local expertise and improved infrastructures during the research may be a valuable contribution as it can add the potential for continued improvement in healthcare once the research is complete. In this way health research may contribute to the strengthening of the limited social structures of developing countries to meet the health needs of their populations given the unique social and environmental circumstances in which they live (Flory and Kitcher 2004).

There is however much debate on research ethics literature regarding the provision of benefits not directly associated with a research project. The main concern is whether and when providing ancillary benefits to developing populations constitute 'undue inducements' especially to vulnerable people to participate in research. A research ethics framework based on the human right to health would suggest that to decide whether such benefits should be offered, we should consider whether by providing such benefits researchers meet the basic

needs of those taking part in research (Lignou 2011). Thus although it is often argued that sponsors or researchers have no moral duties to provide ancillary benefits as part of their project, the suggested research ethics framework would maintain that the provision of such benefits could be consistent with researchers' specific moral obligations to the host community which members have stronger claim of assistance. A duty to offer ancillary benefits becomes stronger when researched communities lack the capacity to treat the ancillary health problems that researchers are likely to face. In such cases providing research participants with benefits might be a means to reduce the level of risk in which participants are exposed to and thus such ancillary benefits may be considered as part of researchers' special moral obligations to prevent harm (i.e. access to certain health care services or other minimal services may be considered significantly important to meet participants' basic health needs). Yet, there are cases where providing benefits not directly associated with a project could constitute undue inducements, for instance when payment is involved, and careful considerations need to be taken before they are offered to potential participants⁸¹.

According to current research ethics regulations, health research is morally acceptable when it has the potential of being socially beneficial and when the interests of the individuals are sufficiently protected. Satisfaction of these conditions suggests that the interests of research subjects are not undermined in the pursuit of obtaining scientific information and therefore the main ethical concern raised by health research (the potential of them being exploited) is being addressed. The precautionary approach (the approach that is adopted by current guidelines) is often critisised for imposing strong restrictions on international health research that prevent host communities from participating in otherwise beneficial studies. By taking into account different types of benefits (direct, indirect, long term ancillary benefits) that could be offered to both individuals and their communities, we can conclude that a variety of health studies may address the needs of a developing population and contribute to the improvement of the

_

⁸¹ Offering participants a considerable amount of money may help them meet their basic needs but it would not facilitate the realisation of the purpose of health research to improve the health status of developing populations. It would thus be inconsistent with the moral approach discussed earlier in this chapter.

health status of its members even if it does not fit with the research priorities of the host country or even when a host country lacks the ability to clearly define its own research agendas. Yet, in every case it should be clear that the level and type of benefits that a health study is expected to bring are related with the needs of the host country, in order a study to be both approved as morally justified by responsible research ethics committees and accepted by the host communities.

5.6 | Post trial access in collaborative health research in poor settings

When considering whether it is appropriate to conduct a specific health study within a developing country, an important ethical challenge arises: What happens once research is over? Would the intervention be affordable in that country if it were shown to be effective?

Aspects related to post-trial access to the tested intervention raise concerns about transnational collaborations and global justice. However, legislation and guidelines are ambiguous about many aspects of Post Trial Access. For instance in the Commentary on Guideline 8 CIOMS (International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects, 1993) it is indicated that "As a general rule, the sponsoring agency should ensure that, at the completion of successful testing, any product⁸² developed will be made reasonably available to inhabitants of the underdeveloped community in which the research was carried out; exceptions to this general requirement should be justified ..." A similar statement is also found in the NBAC recommendation. It is required that research proposals for externally sponsored research submitted to ethics committees should include an explanation on how new proven interventions could be made available to some or all of the host country population. If post trial access is not possible, researchers should justify, to the relevant research ethics committee, the reasons their research should be conducted.

⁸² However, as I have already explained, not all health studies concern the testing of a product.

In none of these guidelines researchers' obligations regarding participant access after the completion of the trial are clear (especially when a study is not conducted by physicians) and the standards that research ethics committees should follow and the requirements that should be asked to researchers regarding this issue are not specified. As a result, participants who reasonably expect post trial access are denied the intervention and public trust in research is often undermined (Sofaer et al. 2014; Grady 2005; Emanuel et al. 2008; Hawkins 2008) In general it is argued that these general recommendations do not meet the needs of highly diverse situations (Lavery 2008)⁸³.

The discussion on post trial access arises worldwide (CIOMS 2002; Sofaer and Strech 2011) whenever participants want continued access to a study intervention that is unaffordable or otherwise unavailable and are most pressing when participants are seriously ill and the study intervention is more effective than the standard treatment or is the only (remaining) option (Sofaer et al. 2014). There is much controversy over whether and when research participants should have access to the study intervention after the completion of a study and about when post trial access to the intervention should be considered beneficial (some argue that the intervention should be regarded as beneficial only after the intervention has received regulatory approval, while others argue for a lower standard of evidence (Sofaer et al. 2014)). Nevertheless, this issue becomes even more serious in collaborative research in developing countries, because of the major health needs of the poor populations and their inability to respond to those needs. The main question that should be answered in this case is: Could the conduct of a trial in a poor setting with restrictive post trial access be morally legitimate and thus compatible with a moral framework based on the human right to health, discussed earlier?

There are differing views to the question of whether it is morally acceptable to allow research in a community that could not afford the intervention being tested. Some argue strongly that it is not acceptable under any circumstances. Others

-

⁸³ These difficulties are also acknowledged by the US National Bioethics Advisory Committee (NBAC 2001)'s report on clinical trials in developing countries.

consider this problem as an essentially separate political and economic issue. Others have argued that this is a decision that developing countries should be entitled to decide for themselves, so that they are not excluded merely on the grounds that the intervention could not be afforded after the completion of the study. Let us consider how this issue could be addressed within the suggested research ethics framework.

There are two groups of people that should be considered regarding the provision of the outcomes after the completion of a study: the participants in the research project and the wider community in which the research took place.

5.6.1 | Post trial access for participants

In the revised Declaration of Helsinki (2013) it is stated that study participants should receive the outcomes of the study, if proven to be successful⁸⁴. This claim seems to be compatible with the moral framework I outlined earlier. However, providing the control group the intervention once a trial is completed is not always the right solution. There are cases in which there is likelihood of long-term adverse effects, which cannot be assessed with certainty, as the opportunities for longer-term observation and for the detection of later deleterious effects are lost when the trial is completed and there is no longer a control group for comparison with the participants who received the intervention (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). In such cases it is important that short-term benefits be weighed against possible long-term adverse effects, in order to decide whether people in the control group (or the wider community) should have access to the intervention after the completion of the trial. In order then to argue that an obligation to provide post trial access exists, the provision of the treatment should be relevant and appropriate. This decision should be made on a case-by-case basis, as particular circumstances have to be taken into account (the likelihood and magnitude of the benefits and risks)

Access to the research intervention, if proven to be successful, may be crucial in other cases; for instance, when participants have conditions that require on-going

⁸⁴ The Declaration identifies the sponsors, researchers and host country governments as the main agents responsible for complying with the post-trial obligations.

treatment. However, the fulfilment of this requirement may not be possible, especially in relation to ongoing treatment for chronic diseases. For those cases the US National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC 2001) recommends that researchers should endeavour before the start of a trial to secure post-trial access for effective interventions for participants in the trial and that the lack of such arrangements should have to be justified to a research ethics committee. This solution however does not seem helpful to assess whether a given study should be permitted.

A human right to health approach would suggest that in such cases participants may be made worse off and thus the study should not be permitted⁸⁵. It could thus be claimed that researchers' responsibilities extend beyond the completion of their study (because of their special moral obligations towards the control group) and that when such problems arise it is more appropriate for a study to be conducted in communities that have the capacity to translate the research results into benefits for their populations or which have appropriate health infrastructures. However, in most cases the communities that are not capable of implementing the results of the study into sustainable benefits for their populations (because of the restricted capacities of their social structures) are the most vulnerable and thus those in most need of health improvement. People living in rural areas have little or no access to health care facilities and health counselling, which are necessary for an effective intervention to be efficacious. On the other hand, an absolute decision to prohibit health research in such cases may be ultimately harmful especially for the most vulnerable individuals, as it would restrict investigations that are relevant to their health needs and which may provide significant improvement to their health status

A possible solution to this problem could be for the host country to collaborate with partners that are willing to contribute and help the community to implement

-

⁸⁵ Although the maintenance of continuation of a treatment is not a requirement in developed countries (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005), taking into account the social context in which research is conducted, it seems reasonable to argue that this requirement should be fulfilled in externally sponsored research conducted in poor settings.

the study outcomes in their health policy (and by this way fulfil their second order duty discussed earlier). The pharmaceutical industry has been involved in various donation programmes and partnerships (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). An example of this case was a recent study in Uganda. Oral nevirapine was administered to pregnant women infected with HIV at the onset of labour, and the newborn babies received nevirapine syrup within 48-72 hours after delivery. Results showed that a 50% reduction in transmission of HIV-infection from the mother to the baby at 14–16 weeks in the group receiving nevirapine, compared to the control group, which received AZT alone. Because of the results of the study the Ugandan government introduced a policy of providing the treatment involving nevirapine to all pregnant women who were HIV positive. Despite the low cost of the treatment, the country couldn't afford it, and the pharmaceutical company offered the medicine free of charge for use in the prevention of transmission of HIV from mother to child.

Considering international health research as collaboration between host and sponsor countries, it is essential that decisions concerning the access of research participants to the research intervention if shown to be successful be made in advance. This means that information concerning the cost of the intervention and other related matters should be known to the host country before a decision of its acceptance is made, as well as the reasons for which a particular community has been chosen to participate. In cases where a solution for post trial access cannot be found and lack of access would have important consequences for participants' health, involving the most disadvantaged communities in research should not be considered acceptable, despite the magnitude of short- term benefits or the willingness of participants/ communities to accept the study.

5.6.2 | Post trial access for the wider community

Problems regarding the implementation of the study outcomes in the wider community are more complicated. As I have already discussed, not all health studies would have outcomes that can have any immediate practical application; for instance research into the progression of an illness may not be translated directly into practice. Yet, I have argued that such studies should be considered as beneficial and morally legitimate because they play an important role in efforts to

address the profound health needs of developing world populations by contributing to the understanding and prevention of disease (typical examples are research on diseases such as malaria, yellow fever and sleeping sickness). In other cases, research results may show that a given intervention is not safe or suitable and thus should not be applied in the wider population (for the reasons I already discussed). Finally, there may be practical implications that do not permit health related benefits to be directly integrated into local health systems of the host country. The size of the population for instance is a determinant factor for an intervention to be widely available. When health research is conducted in large countries the implementation of study outcomes might have to be limited to a region, or part of a region of the host country. An important question that needs to be answered in such cases is whether an unequal distribution of study benefits should be accepted and thus whether such studies should be permitted in developing settings. Following the discussion in 5.4. it could be argued that unequal distribution of research benefits could be justified when a study aims at addressing the specific needs of the most disadvantaged groups of the population within the larger host community. By improving the conditions in which particular groups or communities live unequal distribution of research benefits may contribute to social equity. The acceptance of a study in such cases would depend on the aims of the study, the local needs and the acknowledgment by the host country that offering research benefits to those that need them the most consists a fair and morally acceptable distribution.

When the cost of an intervention is high, its applicability in the wider population and continued availability may be very difficult; For instance when there is need for expensive equipment that the hosting country cannot afford or when medical procedures, such as vaccines, need to be implemented for which the cost of manufacture and purchase is very high. Non-clinical interventions may also be very costly, as the implementation of appropriate infrastructures, personnel training and counselling may not be afforded by a developing country.

Although cost is the main factor that prohibits the implication of a successful research intervention into the wider community, it should not necessarily exclude the possibility of its being tested in a developing country. First of all expensive

interventions may become affordable within a short period of time. There are several examples where solutions have been found of substantially reducing the costs of providing a medicine or a vaccine that has been shown to be effective, in developing countries after a trial was completed (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). In certain cases drug manufacturers or sponsors of research have agreed to provide substantial quantities of a vaccine with no or at subsidised cost after the completion of the trial. One such example is a large-scale trial of a hepatitis B vaccine conducted in Gambia. At the time the market price of vaccine was about US \$60 per course. Within a few years the market price for developing countries had dropped to approximately US \$1–2 per course, which made the vaccine affordable and implemented in the national health policy programme of Gambia and Taiwan. Moreover, because of this development more incentives were given to find cheaper ways of producing the vaccine and to introducing it into the childhood immunisation programmes of many developing countries (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

There are cases however, where the costs of some interventions may not drop and it may take a considerable time after the conclusion of the research to be available. Should these studies be rejected as unethical?

The responsibility for implementation and continuation of a successful research intervention falls to the government of the country (the local health authorities and government should determine the level of healthcare and the range of treatments and medicines that are provided to populations). Although, global inequalities restrict successful research outcomes being integrated into local health systems even decades after a study's completion (Marmot 2005), there are certain methods that could realistically apply such as external aid, subsidy or negotiations between the various stakeholders (Schaefer et al. 2009) to facilitate the implementation of successful research outcomes into the health system of a host country. I have already discussed examples where research interventions became available because of sponsors' altruistic motives, let us now consider negotiation strategies between sponsors and researched populations.

As I have already mentioned some commentators argue that the host country

should take the decision regarding the conduct of a trial when post trial access is not possible. Restrictions concerning the permissibility of international health research when post trial access is not possible have been condemned as unjustifiably paternalistic especially by people in developing countries, because they limit the autonomy of their countries to decide for themselves in which research activities are worth participating. Moreover, Gostin (1991) has argued that the important question that should be answered in collaborative research is not whether a study is needed in a host country but whether it is wanted and claimed that legitimate representatives of developing populations should decide whether the study is desired and how its outcomes should be distributed.

Although, it is reasonable to argue that the host communities should decide for themselves whether a study is compatible with their specific needs, and thus whether their enrolment is justified, research benefits should not be considered fair as a result of a bargain mechanism (London 2005). While in the first instance this mechanism seems compatible with the principle of respect for autonomy through democratic consultation (principle of respect for populations), to define a package of benefits as fair we should not merely rely on the fact that the members of the host population agree that those benefits constitute a sufficient return for the burdens associated with the research. Since people living in poor settings have more urgent health needs and fewer treatment alternatives (McManus and Saywell 2002), they are placed in a weaker bargain position than those living in developed countries because they may have more at stake if they are restricted from participating in research. This means that it is more likely that the proposed study will serve the interests of the sponsors rather than the needs of the host communities

As already discussed an important implication of relying on a research ethics framework based on human right to health is that collaborative research partnerships are not considered in isolation from the existing social, political, and economic relationships in which the different parties exist. Taking into account that the conduct of health research is a collaborative activity, and that the status quo should not serve as a normative baseline, in order a research initiative to be considered as fair it should offer mutually beneficial terms of cooperation that

each party can freely accept (London 2005) As Barry notes, while principles of reciprocity or fair play specify terms that cooperative endeavors must meet in order to be fair, they do not "say that it is unfair for a practice that would, if it existed, be mutually beneficial, not to exist." (Barry 1982, p. 22). This factor is not considered by the traditional research ethics approach. Current research ethics guidelines do not take into account how the relative advantage of each party may influence the bargaining process. Moreover they fail to acknowledge that people in the developing world are entitled to a higher threshold than their current status quo and thus that this entitlement imposes specific requirements on stakeholders.

Decisions regarding post trial access, i.e. to what extent health improvements should be continued after the research is completed, are complex and difficult to be made. As there are many social, political and economic factors, which may influence the likely availability and implementation of a research intervention, a straightforward answer to this problem would not be appropriate. To assess whether a costly intervention should be permitted in a poor setting, many factors should be taken into account: the prevalence and seriousness of the condition being studied or of the health need that it aims to address, the need to carry out the study in the particular country or community, the impact of interests of the participants once the treatment is stopped, the complexity of and feasibility of delivering the treatment. On one hand health research should not be restricted based on the fact that research interventions could not currently be afforded; the cost of a treatment might change, or special prices could be negotiated or alternative routes for support and supply of an intervention may be possible. On the other hand it is important to consider international health research as a partnership between sponsoring and host countries. This suggests that resources and capacity to function as equal partners should be given to the host communities, so that any form of exploitation is avoided while their local health needs are addressed, stability for meeting their population needs is gained as well as the potential for future research studies (Gostin 1999). Considering international health research as a partnership also suggests that the possibility of the application of a successful intervention in the wider community as well as alternative ways to make the outcomes available should be decided before a

decision of whether a study should be accepted is made.

Before completing the discussion on post trial access, it is worth considering the moral responsibilities of the investigators according to the suggested moral framework. Researchers are mainly responsible for the conduct of research and thus are not expected to have a prime role in making successful research interventions publicly available (as already stated this is the role that the governments of the host countries should fulfill). Nonetheless it is commonly argued that health investigators have some responsibility regarding post trial access, although there are different views on how far that responsibility extends. Despite these differences, it is agreed that research findings are used for advocacy purposes with respect to the future provision of the intervention (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005). This means that research investigators are responsible for helping policy-makers to understand the implications of the study and to use their results for advocacy purposes with regard to the future provision of the successful intervention. Their advocacy role also involves drawing attention to problems that have been neglected, or conditions whose impact has been underestimated, and demonstrate that there are possible solutions. Researchers have played that role in the past. For instance they improved care for children by advocating for the iodination of salt to combat goitre in Nigeria. Additionally, another way by which researchers (and sponsors) may facilitate the research is by the strengthening of local healthcare facilities (Nuffiled Council on Bioethics 2005).

The most important responsibility of researchers, however, after the completion of the study is to make the results available to the hosting country and community. Arguments for making the outcomes of a study publicly available are based on the principle of justice. Since sponsors, investigators and industry gain benefits from these studies and profits, there are strong reasons to argue that those involved in the study, and who bear the burden of experimentation, are entitled to at least have access to the results of the study irrespectively of their ability to implement those results in their policy.

5.7 | Conclusion

To decide how problems related with the inability to obtain informed consent in

cluster trials in developing countries could be resolved, we should first consider the moral framework within which ethical challenges in health research in general are addressed. The aim of this chapter was to present an alternative research ethics framework to that found in current guidelines. The human right to health principle was selected as an existing element grounded in widely accepted practice and conventions and was adopted as a pragmatic tool for engaging with problems of cluster randomised trials. Despite its limitations (which are not the aim of discussion in this chapter) I argued that the human right to health could better inform our moral reasoning on research ethics and determine the scope and limits of collaborative health research in developing settings. I argued that within this moral framework broader issues of social justice could be better addressed as well as other practical and moral dilemmas that researchers, research committees and sponsors face when conducting research in a developing setting.

To facilitate the development of the discussion in the following chapters, let us summarise here the key points of the human right to health framework. A moral framework based on the human right to health:

- Specifies the aim of health research and its social value and demonstrates the way inequalities in global health should be considered and addressed.
- Argues that collaborative health research in developing settings should aim to
 assist the host country to meet for its citizens their human right to health by
 improving the conditions in which developing populations live (e.g.
 environmental studies), by reducing ill health (e.g. research on new
 treatments or prevention strategies) and by helping them develop the capacity
 to autonomously meet their basic health needs (e.g. personnel training,
 appropriate infrastructures, councelling).
- Is less individualistic and considers individuals as part of their wider communities by arguing that it is not only the health of the individual/ participant that should be considered but also the harms and benefits to their communities.
- Secures certain minimum conditions of a decent life and protects all people against certain standard threats to their basic interests considering as a threshold the moral entitlements of participants and not the status quo.

- Commands that researchers have a moral duty to aim to make the disadvantaged members of society both better and more equal when applying their interventions in the studied communities.
- Suggests that those involved in research should as far as possible take account
 of the local culture and find ways that respect local practices even in cases
 they complicate their research.
- Emphasises the fact that sponsoring and host communities are equal partners and commands that equivalent standards for the distribution of benefits and risks must apply.
- Acknowledges the inherent inequalities between sponsored and host countries
 and supports processes and terms, which suggest greater equity (e.g. it does
 not consider bargain mechanism as sufficient to define fair distribution of
 research benefits, it argues that study approval by appropriate ethics
 committees in both host and sponsored countries is needed and that decisions
 regarding post-trial access are made in advance).
- Constitutes a robust moral basis for identifying and addressing ethical issues in cluster randomised trials in low-income settings

Chapter 6

The ethics of Population-based research

In the previous chapter, I presented a range of health research initiatives which could significantly contribute to the reduction of the major health related problems afflicting people in developing countries; (e.g. research into genetic determinants of disease, clinical studies on new or improved medicines and vaccines, non-clinical research on finding better ways of delivering existing products and services, and others). However, I noted that despite their value, such health studies are not adequately considered by the current research ethics regulations and guidelines (which focus mainly on medical research). I argued that a broader research ethics framework should be introduced which could take into account the wide variety of health studies that may be significantly valuable in developing settings.

As the ethics of medical research involving individual participants is well regulated and extensively discussed in the existing bioethics literature, aim of this chapter is to explore and discuss the ethics of research interventions that involve populations or groups/ communities instead of individuals, and which often constitute the most effective ways of improving health in developing settings. By relying on Taylor and Johnson's definition of population-based research, I present the ways in which such interventions differ from conventional clinical studies (Taylor and Johnson 2007) and discuss the distinctive moral issues they present. I conclude that population based research is a distinct type of health research

involving human subjects, because of its focus on populations rather than individuals, and that for this reason it should not be considered within the current research ethics framework. I then discuss the advantages of adopting a moral framework based on human right to health when the practical and moral challenges in the conduct of population-based research are presented. I finally argue that the distinctions that Taylor and Johnson (2007) make between population-based research and disease-based research can help us better understand and address the ethical challenges raised in the cluster design and in particular the problem of informed consent (which I discuss in more detail in Chapter 8).

6.1 | Definition and distinct features of population-based research

Several approaches to distinguishing public health practice from public health research and traditional clinical research have been supported. Yet, my aim in this chapter is not to discuss or assess these different approaches, but to focus on those features that are morally significant for an ethical approach to population-based research. The discussion below is based on Taylor and Johnson's account (2007). I believe that their approach could help us identify the morally relevant distinct features of population-based activities and in this way distinguish between those ethical issues that are common in health research in general (and which have been already addressed in the current research ethics literature and regulations on medical research ethics) and those that mainly concern population based activities, (which have not be given much attention by the existing bioethical framework). Moreover, the aim of the following discussion is to help us consider the moral obligations of health investigators who are not involved in clinical studies and determine whether ethical challenges presented in their work demand solutions beyond those provided by the current (clinically focused) guidelines.

Taylor and Johnson (2007) define as 'population-based research' research conducted on human subjects, with the objective of improving the health of populations and to discover interventions that raise the baseline health status of

entire communities⁸⁶. A significant difference between medical research and population-based research, based on this definition, is that medical research is disease-based, meaning that it aims to find treatment for particular diseases that affect individuals regardless of where they live or under what conditions they live (Taylor and Johnson 2007), while population based research aims to identify population-based methods that protect the health of populations and to investigate population-based risk factors and interventions that prevent and reduce population based diseases or conditions (such as malaria or HIV). According to Taylor and Johnson (2007), a condition or disease is considered a population-based concern when the community in which individuals live or belong to is at risk of this condition or disease and not because of the individual risk or the vulnerabilities of the individual members of these communities.

Taylor and Johnson (2007) also distinguish population-based research from public health practice (which also involves population-based interventions) by delineating a more normative than technical definition of population-based research. Although a number of authors have argued that there are several technical criteria that distinguish these activities (such as performance authority, intention to publish, funding source, data collection methods, study design, and/or the investigator-participant relationship), Taylor and Johnson (2007) believe that the most significant feature that differentiates population-based research from public health practice is that the latter involves implementing standard or proven methods for the protection of community health, whereas the aim of the first is the discovery of new interventions for the protection of community health.

According to Taylor and Johnson there are five distinctive features that uniquely arise in the design and conduct of certain kinds of population-based research due to its focus on populations rather than individuals: these concern the aim of the study, involuntary participation, the type of risks and benefits involved and its commitment to social justice⁸⁷.

_

⁸⁶ Population-based research includes epidemiologic research and surveillance, and intervention epidemiology (e.g. field trials for drugs or vaccines) (Gostin 1991).

⁸⁷ As I explain later this is not a universally accepted moral claim.

6.1.1 | Aim of population-based research

The principal aim of population-based research is the discovery of new information for the protection and improvement of community health. It usually targets healthy individuals or those at risk of contracting a disease (instead of patients as in disease-based studies). Although individuals in the community may gain personal benefit by their involvement in the intervention, the objective of population-based research is to raise the baseline health status of their entire community. For instance, let us consider the example of a study testing the effects of fluoride water in a community. Although many of those living in the community may be personally benefited by the intervention, the aim of such study is to improve the dental health of an entire community and not to benefit particular individuals in that community.

This feature is also present in public health practice. For instance a common community-wide policy in public health practice used to prevent the onset or progression of transmitted disease is the requirement for all medical facilities and laboratories to report the name of any citizen diagnosed with a transmitted condition to a local public health authority for contact tracing and treatment. Although the contact with the public health clinic may be beneficial for the infected person and their relatives, the principal aim of the public health practice is to control and limit the spread of the disease to the community (Taylor and Johnson 2007).

6.1.2 | Population-based research may affect all members of a group/community regardless of their individual preferences

Another important difference between population-based research and conventional medical studies is that in the population-based studies individuals may be involved in or affected by a research intervention regardless of their personal preferences. The reason for that is that population-based measures in general (in research and practice) need to affect all or most members of a particular community in an effort to protect the health of their community. As Taylor and Johnson (2007) point out, compulsory compliance with public health measures and non-voluntary participation in population based research are both

features of the broad and general way in which population-based measures need to be implemented. Typical examples are the mandatory check-ups for HIV ^{88, 89} in public health policy and the involuntary participation of individuals when a new insecticide is tested in their community in population-based research.

6.1.3 | Population-based research involves community risks and benefits

An additional distinct feature of population-based research is that it may adversely affect the interests of the community members involved in the study as well as the interests of the community in which the study takes place. As population-based interventions involve groups (communities) rather than individuals (as in RCTs which may not contact with each other or have nothing in common), they may lead to a stigma that affects a whole community targeted by the study. Investigators involved in population-based research must thus have an additional responsibility to the investigators involved in disease-based studies to protect the social interests of the population in which their research is conducted additionally to the individual interests of their members (Mastroianni and Kahn 2002). Social interests or group interests however, haven't been well understood and addressed in the ethics codes and literature (Weijer and Anderson 2002) and thus guidelines regarding their protection have not been developed. Yet, increased involvement by community leaders and community members has been encouraged and supported in public health interventions, as well as the need to discuss and reveal concerns for causing social harms with the researched communities (Popay and G. Williams 1996).

Taylor and Johnson (2007) claim that because population based research involves a different level of commitment for communities, it is at least morally appropriate, if not mandatory, to offer some kind of community-wide benefit when the study is

⁸⁸ Although a medical intervention is involved in this case, vaccination is considered a population-based measure because it aims at the protection of population health.

⁸⁹ Mandatory vaccination is a controversial public health measure, which I discuss in more detail in the next chapter. The reason I use the example of vaccination here is to illustrate that population-based interventions may also involve medical procedures and yet not be classified as disease-based because the reasons for which they are used is the improvement of community health.

over. This view is missing in current research ethics guidelines for disease-based studies.

6.1.4 | Commitment to social justice

An aim of population-based research is to identify population-based risk factors and interventions to prevent the onset of, interrupt the progression of, or ameliorate a population-based disease (e.g. interrupt the progression of malaria to communities that are at risk) (Taylor and Johnson 2007). For that reason in population-based research it is assumed that in general, what makes an individual more or less susceptible to infection is its membership to a particular community. Susceptibility is considered in relation to where and under what conditions individuals live. Apart then from the distinction between diseases and populations, according to Taylor and Johnson, there is a normative difference between population-based and disease-based research (clinical research); they claim that population based research "must be concerned with the larger systemic effects that research in that population will have" (Taylor and Johnson 2007, p. 296).

Taylor and Johnson (2007) view population-based research as concerned both morally and practically with the political, social, and health condition of populations. Following Madison Powers and Ruth Faden view that social justice should the "foundational moral justification for the institution of public health" (Powers and Faden 2006), they note: "Population-based research seeks to promote social justice through testing unproven interventions that hopefully provide knowledge on how to improve the health status of populations with health disparities or other social, political, or economic disadvantages that result in poor health" (Taylor and Johnson 2007, p. 296). This commitment to social justice "is a hallmark of public health," which means that population-based research has both a strong moral authority to learn more about how to better ameliorate health problems, but also a similarly strong obligation to protect and consider the interests of the populations they study (Taylor and Johnson 2007). According to

Taylor and Johnson, this fundamental mission⁹⁰, combined with the ways in which population-based interventions must function, creates ethical considerations that are unique to population-based research.

6.2 | Considering population based research within a broader research ethics framework

Having discussed the distinct features of population based interventions it is now clear that population-based research differs in important respects from disease-based studies. Verweij and Dawson (2009) observe that many of the classical cases of morally problematic studies in health research are those that target communities, populations or groups of individuals rather than individuals. Taking into account that the focus of most discussions and regulations on research ethics is on medical studies (disease-based research), it becomes obvious that the reason that population-based studies are viewed as 'particularly problematic' and challenging in on going research ethics debates is that they are considered within the narrow principles of clinical ethics, despite their significant differences to disease-based studies.

Let us consider for instance non-voluntary participation, one of the distinct features of population-based interventions (common in both population research and public health practice), which is the main focus of the thesis. Although, in disease-based studies competent adults may never be subjected to an experimental intervention without their voluntary consent, in most experimental public health or community-based interventions informed consent is not an option. Although both disease-based and population based studies involve human subjects, population-based research has a fundamentally distinct goal that disease-based research does not necessarily share: it aims to improve population health and to discover interventions that raise the baseline health status of entire communities. In order to achieve this aim many population-based interventions have to be administered at group level. Moreover, although some population-based studies

⁹⁰ However, we should note that this is a controversial normative claim; while justice is a common orientation in public health, it is not universal, for instance, it has been argued that Geoffrey Rose's population strategies of prevention may inadvertently worsen social inequalities in health (Frohlich and Potvin 2008)

may involve medical interventions that can be applied directly to individuals, for instance when testing a new vaccination, many others, such as the provision of health-conducive environments, are not related to medical activities (and they do not directly apply to individuals). In addition, many population-based studies, similarly to many public health measures, do not involve bodily intrusion but merely interference with people's choices or liberties. Finally, In contrast to conventional disease-based studies, population-based research (for instance epidemiological research) may not involve interventions at all, but consist of the collection and analysis of medical and non-medical information of different populations. The borderline between such population-based research and 'regular' public health work (for instance surveillance of infectious diseases) is often unclear (Verweij and Dawson 2009), which suggests that research is not that different from everyday practice.

It is obvious that population-based research constitutes a type of research that is not compatible with the standard narrow approaches dealing with ethical questions in conventional clinical studies. Since individual level principles grounded on the current research ethics framework aim to protect personal autonomy, requirements such as informed consent, privacy and confidentiality may not be sufficient or appropriate to provide guidance on more complex issues raised by population-based studies, where the interests of a whole community or population need to be taken into account. New ethical challenges raised in population-based studies need to be considered within a non-individualistic moral framework, which in return should inform current regulations and ethics guidelines.

Most research ethics regulations and debates about revisions of regulations fail to acknowledge that health research is a complex and morally challenging activity, which may substantially differ between various types of studies. The aim for instance of the recently issued revised CIOMS International Ethical Guidelines for Epidemiological Research (1991, 2008) is to provide guidance on the area of public health research. However, as Verweij and Dawson (2009) point out these guidelines fail to provide any guidance on the most important issues in the area of public health. They note that an explicit aim of CIOMS (2008) is to unify the

epidemiology guidelines with the clinical trials guidelines (CIOMS 2002), through the use of the same set of 'General Ethical Principles' which have their origin in the Belmont report. As a consequence, these proposed ethical principles for epidemiological research fail to capture what is important about populationbased research, since the focus is on individuals, and there are no collective concepts such as 'population', 'public' or 'community' that capture the distinct context of these studies. Moreover, Verweij and Dawson note that CIOMS regulations imply that informed consent is so important that there ought to be a presumption in its favour despite the fact that in public health interventions (in particular) there are situations where on balance it might be considered important not to seek individual informed consent (for instance to avoid bias). Finally, the conceptualization of harms and benefits in CIOMS (2008) does not take into account any non-individual benefits and thus that public health studies may involve population or community benefits which the individual may also benefit from (Verweij and Dawson 2009). Considering that the main aim of populationbased studies is often not to benefit particular individuals but the communities in which these individuals belong, the principles on which CIOMS guidelines rely provide no guidance on how health investigators should behave towards the tested communities. In order for research guidelines and regulations of health research ethics to be helpful for research committees and investigators, it is important that they differentiate between the distinctive aims of studies, the nature of the intervention involved and the proposed methodology.

The inadequacy of the current research ethics framework to address different types of health research demonstrates the need to establish a more practical and philosophically rigorous approach to identify norms for health research that could guide action without marginalizing population-based research. In the previous chapter, I discussed an alternative research ethics framework based on the human right to health; does this framework capture the distinct moral features of population-based studies?

As previously discussed a moral framework based on human right to health suggests that we should focus on the broader socio-political context in which research initiatives take place. In this framework it is generally assumed that

research on people involves them not merely as individuals but as parts of a larger social unit. Thus, the suggested framework departs from the individualized model of current research ethics guidelines, and as a result may apply to a variety of health studies. Moreover, the suggested framework emphasises the importance of research interventions that directly promote improved health and at the same time lead to further health benefits, through the impact that such improvements would have on socio-economic development, especially for developing settings acknowledging that many factors may impact on the health status of populations and individuals. Thus, within the suggested framework, although new medical discoveries are considered important, non-clinical research (e.g. studies on preventive measures, investigation of causes of diseases), which may affect not only individuals but also whole communities, is viewed as equally or more valuable. Moreover, as discussed in the previous chapter, the human right to health approach would suggest that it is not enough to claim that a study is clinically beneficial or not harmful for an individual to be morally justified. Health research should also have value for the community where the individual/participant belongs (see revised principle of beneficence in Chapter 5). It follows then that in this respect a research ethics framework based on the human right to health, captures and justifies research that is directed towards meeting the ends of population health such as promoting and protecting the health of the public, improving well-being in communities, and contributing to social justice.

In Chapter 5, I argued that considerations of social justice have not received adequate attention in the research ethics literature. I also argued that an ethical framework based on human right to health demands that the main aims of collaborative health research are the reduction of health inequalities and the improvement of the conditions that would enable individuals to meet their basic rights. Based on the discussion above, it could now be clear that although both diseased-based and population-based studies in developing countries may be designed to address health disparities and improve the health status of those in need, they may do so in very different ways. Disease-based studies similarly to population-based studies may aim at the treatment of diseases that burden the

most vulnerable populations, for instance children, but support this aim primarily as a way of promoting individual welfare. Failing to identify the significant differences between disease-based and population-based studies will lead us to wrong conclusions when issues such as the need to obtain informed consent from research participants (which is discussed in the next chapters) are raised. A research ethics framework based on the human right to health offers a more comprehensive set of moral principles that should guide any health research initiative on humans but at the same time permits the development of different regulations that will be suitable for different types of studies. Population-based research, according to this framework, is subject to the same general moral principles as disease-based research (justice, beneficence, non maleficence and respect for persons and their communities), but is not considered as morally problematic because of its differences with medical research. In Chapter 8, I will discuss this argument in more detail by presenting different population-based research interventions, such as surveillance, vaccination, environmental studies and others, where informed consent is not feasible. I will explain under what conditions such interventions can be morally justified based on the human right to health approach.

6.3 | New ethical challenges in the cluster design

As discussed in chapter 1 cluster randomised design is an important methodological tool in health research used to test different interventions on human subjects (community based intervention studies, public health research, epidemiological studies, knowledge translation research, quality improvement research). In all these cases intact social units or groups of individuals, rather than individuals themselves, are randomly allocated to differing intervention arms. Since the choice of the trial design depends on the question and hypothesis addressed by the trial (the ways in which a research intervention must be implemented will depend on the aim and the nature of the intervention), ethical challenges raised in cluster trials are related with the type of the study tested (its aims and the nature of the intervention involved). Following the discussion above, it is now clear that new ethical issues presented in cluster randomised trials are due to the distinct features of population-based interventions, which are not

present in conventional medical studies where individual patients are tested for eligibility and then offered entry to the trial⁹¹ In order to address these new moral challenges, we should depart from the paradigm of clinical research and consider the context in which population-based interventions could be justified.

On the other hand, there are problems raised by the cluster design, which are also present in clinical research, when a conventional research design is used (for instance when the use of deception should be morally justified) and for which solutions already exist in the research ethics literature. Distinguishing therefore between different types of health research we could identify a most appropriate way of dealing with ethical issues in cluster trials. Regarding the problem of obtain informed consent in cluster trials (solutions to which are discussed in chapter 8), it seems that a different approach to that suggested in the current literature on cluster ethics should be followed. What is most important to consider is the reasons for which researchers decide to test an intervention by using a cluster design (and whether such reasons are morally justified) before examining the technical features of the study (whether it concerns an individual-cluster or cluster-cluster intervention and thus whether individual consent is feasible or not; see Chapter 2.4).

6.4 | Conclusion

As most work in research ethics in recent years has centred on the ethics of clinical medicine, the ethics of population health research has been neglected. Population-based studies, which are often the most effective ways of improving health in developing countries, can differ in important respects from clinical research. The aim of this chapter was to describe the distinct morally relevant features of population based research and explain why they cannot be adequately addressed by the current research ethics framework. Moreover, in this chapter I aimed to demonstrate that in order to effectively resolve issues raised by the use of cluster design we should first consider whether they constitute features of

⁹¹ For instance, public health interventions often do not focus on individuals but on groups of individuals since they aim to study group level effects. Epidemiological studies are often not easily distinct from other public health activities, since their aim is to collect and analyse data on populations or groups (Verweij and Dawson 2009).

population-based interventions and thus whether they should be addressed beyond the current clinical research ethics framework.

Chapter 7

The role of informed consent in clinical ethics and public health ethics

In the previous chapter, I argued that new ethical challenges presented in cluster research derive from the distinct features of population-based interventions. I also discussed the reasons for which population-based research and practice significantly differ in moral and practical respects from clinical research and practice, and argued that the traditional clinical research ethics paradigm is not appropriate to provide moral guidance for the conduct of population-based studies and thus for the new⁹² challenges presented in cluster randomised trials. In this chapter, I argue that to decide how problems related to the involvement of populations or communities in health research should be addressed, such as whether and how to justify involuntary participation, we should consider how similar health interventions are justified in public health practice and whether the same justifications may be valid for research purposes. However, cluster trials, because of their experimental nature⁹³ also inherit most of the 'generic' issues of

⁹² I consider as new moral challenges those that cannot be adequately addressed by the traditional clinical ethics paradigm.

⁹³ Definition of research in the Common Rule: "a systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge".

health research⁹⁴, as well as similar moral problems with clinical research when clinical procedures are involved. In order then to achieve a comprehensive approach on the issue, we should also examine the reasons for which informed consent is considered an essential requirement in the clinical context, as well as the justifications for allowing exceptions to the consent requirement. Comparing the requirement for informed consent in these two different domains, clinical research and practice and public health, would help us estimate when the informed consent is relevant in cluster research, and thus when it could be waived or considered necessary for the protection of participant interests while taking into account the broader context in which a population-based research activity takes place.

In the following paragraphs, I first explore the justifications for the informed consent requirement when humans subjects are exposed to experimental conditions, and, in particular, when it is feasible, when and why it is important and when it is not feasible and not important to obtain informed consent in the clinical context (7.1). Then I explore the role of informed consent in public health practice to consider the conditions under which it is considered morally legitimate to limit individual freedom or personal autonomy in a population-based context (7.2). In the last session of this chapter (7.3) I discuss the common points between these two different settings and identify three broad categories of cluster studies regarding the issue of informed consent: a) studies where informed consent is necessary, b) studies where the informed consent requirement can be overridden by other moral values and c) studies where informed consent is not relevant. I also explore the justifications and norms concerning the consent requirement that apply in these different domains (public health policy and clinical research and practice) in order to explore which of them may apply in the case of cluster research (issue which I discuss in Chapter 8).

-

⁹⁴ The investigation of effective means to improve population health suggests that those means might not proved effective while people will be subjected to uncertain risks of harm.

7.1 | The role of informed consent in the clinical context

The notion of consent is established in health care law and policy and much of the bioethics literature as a powerful and necessary condition for the moral acceptability of a medical activity. According to the World Medical Association (2013), and other ethical codes and laws, no intervention that may expose someone to significant risk is morally permissible unless the person concerned agrees to being exposed to the risks by waiving her corresponding rights. The core notion of consent has its origins in the 1947 Nuremberg Trials of German physicians (The Nuremberg Code 1947) and was later incorporated into the Declaration of Helsinki and other ethical codes and guidelines. Despite its central role in medical practice and research, there is much dispute on the conditions under which consent is ethically acceptable: the degree to which it is or should be considered informed, explicit, specific, the degree to which it is genuine and informed.

The main disagreements, though, regarding informed consent are about the reasons for which it is ethically important; for instance whether consent is needed to respect a person or to respect the autonomy of a person and if the latter is true, which conception of autonomy is relevant (O'Neill 2002), or whether informed consent procedures are required as a degree of assurance that patients have not been coerced in the course of clinical practice (Faden and Beauchamp 1986; Wolpe 1998; O'Neill 2002) and others. Some of the main arguments put forward for the moral justification of informed consent are presented below:

7.1.1 | Justifications for the informed consent requirement in clinical research and practice

Respect for personal autonomy and free choice

The predominant justification of informed consent requirement is grounded in personal autonomy (Appelbaum et al. 1987). Some argue for a Kantian interpretation "Recognition of every human being as having a unique dignity as human, and as therefore being an end in every relation in which others may morally stand to him, entails that no human being may legitimately be interfered with in pursuing his conception of his happiness in whatever way seems best to

him" (Donagan 1977, p. 31), while others (O'Neill 2003) argue that this rationale illustrates a Millian notion of individuality associated closely enough with wellbeing: "Over himself, over his own body and mind, the individual is sovereign" (Mill 1869, p. 134). There is also disagreement between the advocates of this view on the extent to which autonomy is good for us. Generally, the concept of autonomy has been used to bear connotations of freedom, independence and selfdetermination (Schermer 2002). The requirement of informed consent based on personal autonomy in medical research and practice, however, has mainly relied on the influential work of Ruth Faden, Tom Beauchamp and James Childress (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioural Research 1979) and is understood as governance over one's own agency: "Personal autonomy encompasses, at a minimum, self-rule that is free from both controlling interference by others and from certain limitations such as an inadequate understanding that prevents meaningful choice" (Beauchamp and Childress 2008, p. 100-101). Given the dependency of patients and research subjects on investigators and physicians and the knowledge gap between them, informed consent is considered to secure individuals' self-control and freedom (Levinde 1998). The importance of personal autonomy is strongly supported in medical experimentation on human subjects as it allows patients the knowledge over what is happening to their bodies and the power to agree or object to it. This interpretation also explains why the requirement of informed consent is especially important in research, in which the knowledge gap is greater, and is accompanied by the right to withdraw from research at any point. According to this argument, lack of consent can never be justified despite any benefits in the end (Kattow 2003).

To justify informed consent on personal autonomy, however, further questions need to be answered. First of all, the role to patients' autonomy in medical and research decisions seems to be obscured (Varelious 2006). Although there are good reasons to consider that personal autonomy has an instrumental value, as it is plausible to argue that autonomous persons are often in the best position to determine what would be good or bad for them (Sumner 1996), some bioethicists argue that patients should be allowed to make their own choices about their

treatment even if it is clear that others would be in a better position to decide what would serve the patients' wellbeing (Glover 1997; Buchanan and Brock 1990). The latter position is often based on the view that although in certain cases protecting a person's wellbeing and promoting autonomy may conflict, the main reason that we value respect for personal autonomy is that as a general rule people make choices that advance their wellbeing (Gillon 2003). However, the strength of this argument will depend on how we should understand what it is to respect one's autonomy and the weight that should be given to that principle.

Those who follow a non-instrumental account of autonomy argue that it is important to respect people's free choices because people have a right to freely choose what to do with their lives even if such decisions are detrimental to their overall wellbeing'; in other words, when such choices are autonomous they morally ought never to be overridden (Faden and Beauchamp 1986). There are however more serious problems when grounding informed consent in autonomy, based on a non-instrumental account. As O' Neill (2002) notes, a justification of informed consent based on personal autonomy does not clarify whether informed consent is needed to respect a person or to respect the autonomy of a person, and if the latter is true, which conception of autonomy is relevant (O'Neill 2002). Moreover, as Savulescu (1994) argues, not all acts that violate informed consent preclude autonomous decision-making; for instance it has been argued that forced care is legitimate when a capacitated adult refuses an urgent and beneficial operation because of misunderstanding (Savulescu 1994) and that "the state has the right to prevent self-regarding harmful conduct...when... that conduct is substantially non-voluntary..." (Feinberg 1986, p. 12).

Equally, some acts are considered less acceptable than others, despite their similar impact on autonomous action. For instance performing a testicular cancer exam without the patient's informed consent is very problematic and much harder to justify than a non-consensual facial scrutiny on the mole of a patient's cheek to detect cancer (Eyal 2011). The main difference between those cases is not that the patient's exercise of agency has been blocked (the nature and number of their actions and plans haven't been changed) rather that a sensitive area of the patient's body has been touched without the patient's permission, which can

constitute extreme battery (although extreme battery may involve greater interference with a person's autonomy, it may imply extreme contempt towards the patient as a sovereign agent, which is not the case in this example).

Although many bioethicists argue that the main justification for requiring informed consent is our duty to treat each other as autonomous and rational persons, opponents of 'research exceptionalism' note that this does not necessarily explain why the informed consent requirement should be enforceable in research and not in other cases. For instance, we are not legitimately forced not to lie to other persons, although their autonomous decision-making may be breached. But even if we believe that research differs from other daily activities (as I discussed in Chapter 4), we still have to take into account that it is significantly difficult to protect personal autonomy in the clinical context given problems of comprehension, recall, and other circumstantial barriers to patients' understanding (Sugarman et al. 1999; Dawson 2009). It follows then that to establish an enforceable informed consent requirement, we need a more satisfactory account, which does not simply rely on respect for personal autonomy (Eyal 2011).

Protection from abuse or possible harm

The informed consent requirement is often considered necessary to protect the health and welfare of potential research participants and patients from investigators' overzealous attempts to promote science (Gillet 1989). Advocates of this instrumental rationale for informed consent argue that despite doctors' assurance that their actions are in their patients' or subjects' best interests, research participants are typically the best judges of their own good. This argument reflects a utilitarian rationale against paternalism (Kattow 2003).

The problem, however, with this justification is that it fails to explain why an individual's consent should be respected when an individual makes a decision that is clearly against their medical interests (for instance to fulfil a religious commitment). Although it could be argued that one's best interest in that case is being consistent with their religious beliefs and not with their medical interests, this rationale does not provide a satisfactory account of why informed consent is necessary in the medical context. Its main weakness is that in reality (especially in

the clinical setting) patients and research subjects are usually not capable of fully (or even adequately) understanding medical information and thus not capable of efficiently protecting themselves as their ignorance usually exceeds that of doctors or clinical investigators (as noted in chapter 4, this is the main criticism against the libertarian view which maintains that informed consent is a necessary and sufficient condition for the moral justification of an action between two competent adults). Moreover, following a utilitarian rationale it could be also argued (also discussed in chapter 4) that the requirement to obtain informed consent can be easily overridden when collective health is set back, for instance when a new therapy has to be developed and there are no volunteers to serve as study participants (this will be discussed in more detail later in this chapter).

Informed consent is also considered as having instrumental value in preventing abusive acts such as coercion, deceit or exploitation (Manson and O'Neill 2007). However, by considering the role of informed consent as instrumentally valuable to impede abusive acts, other duties that researchers or physicians have towards their patients and research subjects are disregarded; for instance, a physician's duty to enhance their patient understanding regarding their care despite the fact that their explanations were clear and no deceit or exploitation were involved (Lignou and Edwards 2012)⁹⁵.

Moreover, even if we agree that aim of informed consent is to prevent abusive conduct, fulfilling this requirement is not sufficient to argue for a restricted liability for any possible harmful consequences of research. Informed consent procedures cannot be required as a degree of assurance that patients have not been coerced in the course of clinical practice (Faden and Beauchamp 1986; Wolpe 1998; O'Neill 2002). Since the purpose of a consent form is to record what has been agreed between the researcher and participant, research subjects are not protected from possible harm, except to the extent that the consent form reveals information, which may lead a potential participant to choose to take part in the research and run a certain risk. Finally, what is not explained by this account is

⁹⁵ I consider the instrumental justification being the only form of justification and not part of a more complex account.

why investigators are required to give research participants the opportunity to decide on their participation in conventional clinical research, in cases where investigators are closely monitored and research subjects are not likely to be abused.

Respect for bodily integrity

Another rationale for the requirement of informed consent is based on bodily integrity. Based on John Locke's idea that "every Man has a Property in his own Person" (Locke 1988, p. 305), under this justification, informed consent is needed even when an intervention is safe, beneficial, low impact and requires no agency on our part. When the owner's permission is not given, intervening into the private sphere of one's body cannot be accepted even when it involves only touching and the owner is foolish or selfish to reject it (Archard 2008; Thomson 1990; Nozick 1986). This rationale emphasises our special relation to our bodies and thus on this interpretation, bodily integrity underlies self-ownership norms. One's body is irreplaceable and inescapable; "If my architect doesn't listen to me and this results in a house I do not like, I can always move. I cannot move from my body." (Dworkin 1988, p. 113). "A prophylactic line that comes close to making the body inviolate" (Dworkin 1983, p. 39). The main argument for obtaining consent from research subjects in medical research according to this approach is that research is liable to be intrusive, and intrusion is only legitimate if consent is obtained. A main problem, however, with this justification is that it fails to explain why intruding in sensitive areas of the body without the owner's consent is worse that intruding less sensitive parts of the body without consent, since violation of someone's property is not a matter of degree. Judith Thomson, for instance, has pointed out that there are different degrees of violation of bodily integrity and she explained that the typical degree of injury to personal integrity also depends on how and why a person's areas are touched (Thomson 1990). Cecile Fabre has argued that a requirement of informed consent based on bodily integrity derives much of its force from the view that by violating an individual's bodily integrity one is interfering with their life to an unacceptable extent. Yet considering the previous example, we could argue that not all violations of bodily integrity interfere with a person's ability to lead a flourishing life. Moreover, this rationale leaves unclear the relation between bodily integrity and the offense of battery. Let us for instance consider the following example: would it be permissible to treat a patient against their will without touching their skin (and thus without battery) (Brock 1999, p. 529)⁹⁶? It follows then that a straightforward appeal to the importance of the body is not sufficient to argue that informed consent is necessary.

Safeguarding trust in medical practice

Another rationale for the requirement of informed consent surrounds trust. Onora O Neill (2002), Torbjorn Tannsjo (1999), Jenniffer Jackson (1994) and other bioethicists, attempted to ground the importance of informed consent in its role in safeguarding trust in medical practice: "Autonomy has been a leading idea in philosophical writing on bioethics; trust has been marginal. This strikes me as a suprising... Trust surely is moore important, and particurally so for any ethically adequate practice of medicine, science and biotechnology... Informed consent... is generally important [in part] because it can make a distinctive contribution to the restoration of trust" (O'Neill 2002, p. 145;. This is a future-looking rationale that underlies the importance of ongoing trust of the society in medical institutions, so the public will continue to accept medical advice, volunteer in medical research, and fill in organ donor cards. Lack of trust in medical research and practice can have worrying consequences. Moreover, as Bock (1999) argued, violating informed consent requirements is wrong not merely because it reduces effective use of medicine, but because it diminishes the 'fragile social source' of trust.

However, an argument that trust in medical practice is necessary for ensuring effective use of medicine is too strong; many patients may provide consent

_

⁹⁶ For instance, to improve adherence and the care of patients, clinicians and patients' relatives sometimes resort to hiding medication in food or drink. This practice is referred to as covert/surreptitious medication and is well known in the treatment of psychiatrically ill. Medicating patients without their knowledge is not justifiable solely as a means for doctors or families wishing to calm a troublesome patient and thus alleviate some of the burdens of care giving. The paramount principle is ensuring the well-being of a patient who lacks the competence to give informed consent (Latha 2010). Performing this practice to competent adults would be morally unacceptable.

despite the fact that they are, to some extent, distrustful (Bock 1999). In addition, Eyal (2012) has argued that the 'trust promotion' argument is consequentialist because it takes the value of informed consent to rely on its role in ensuring trust in medical practice, whereas trust is instrumentally valuable because it promotes health through use of the medical system, compliance with treatment, and participation in research. Moreover, he notes that this rationale does not explain why informed consent should be respected in any case in which the public could never discover that there was a violation of this requirement. For instance, based on this requirement a physician who considers administering a medicine to his patient without consent, should take into account how chemically traceable is the medication, since that would affect future trust of the public to physicians (Eyal 2012).

A different way of arguing for this rationale is by considering informed consent as intrinsically valuable, as a way to honour the fiduciary relationship between a physician and their patients, or a clinical investigator and their subjects (Joffe and Truog 2010). Yet, this justification fails to explain why informed consent is considered necessary for bodily intrusion even when it is outside a fiduciary relationship (for instance between two strangers) (Eyal 2011). It follows therefore that despite its initial appeal, the 'trust-promotion' argument fails because the importance of promoting trust in medical practice does not suffice to account for the importance of informed consent.

Pragmatic reasons for obtaining informed consent

Finally, it could be argued that there are pragmatic reasons for which the requirement to obtain informed consent is considered important. We can claim that, under normal circumstances, research subjects who have consented to their participation in a study are more likely to be willing to cooperate than those who haven't agreed to take part. This means that obtaining informed consent from research subjects raises the chances of conducting a successful study (John 2005). Although this justification does not take into account any of the reasons for which it is important to respect and protect the interests of research participants and thus cannot be used as a solely moral ground for the consent requirement, it justifies the reasons for which obtaining consent is important even when a study is

beneficial, non intrusive and does not involve any risk of harm (physical, psychological, social etc.) against which participants would need protection.

Informed consent as a person's right

An alternative way, by which we can consider the relationship between research and consent, is in terms of an individual's rights. Medical research is viewed as taking place against a set of rights and obligations, for instance a right not to be harmed, not to be coerced, and others. The reason, then, that we must obtain informed consent to an individual's participation according to this view is because not to do so would constitute a violation of their rights. Informed consent is necessary for research to be morally justified because it serves to waive one (or various) of their rights, regardless of specific questions regarding personal autonomy (John 2009). This suggests that different kinds of rights and obligations might be relevant to understanding the moral weight we place on consent requirements in various research contexts; for instance, when a study involves surgical intervention the need to gain the subject's consent to their participation might be explained by appeal to their right to bodily integrity. In other cases, informed consent would suggest that a patient waives their special right and relieves their physician of the correspondent special obligation to minimise the risks of physical harm that their patient face by being enrolled in a study that would otherwise involve a breach of this special obligation (John 2009). I comprehensive approach as more convincing from the ones consider this previously presented and will discuss it further in section 7.1.6.

7.1.2 | Exceptions to the informed consent requirement: cases where informed consent is not necessary in clinical research

Despite lack of a clear justification, the requirement of informed consent has a central role in clinical ethics. In clinical research and practice physicians are not permitted to perform any act on a patient's body against their will (although there are cases where a patient's or subject's agreement may be based on invalid consent because of false beliefs, deception, misunderstanding and so on). A possible explanation for this is that in most cases it is practically impossible to gain access to a person's body if some sort of agreement is not given, unless for

instance the person is unconscious or force has been employed (Wertheimer 1987). This however does not mean that the requirement of informed consent is absolute. Not only in clinical practice but also in clinical research there are cases where informed consent is neither necessary nor sufficient for a study to be morally legitimate.

Although in current research ethics guidelines the informed consent requirement is considered paramount, in certain cases medical studies may precede without participant consent. In cases where a research subject is not able to consent (cognitive incompetent adults, unconscious patients) proxy consent, a different kind of consent, is typically given on behalf of the patient by their relatives. Yet, there are cases where research may be conducted though no kind of consent is being given. These cases are discussed below.

Emergency circumstances

Obtaining consent from patients or research subjects or their families is impossible in emergency medical research. This is because actual consent is infeasible due to the patient's condition (for instance when they are unconscious) and also because in most cases the preferences of the relatives cannot be known in time. In emergency medical experimentation different medical interventions are compared which may not always be in the best interests of research subjects⁹⁷. For the advocates of informed consent a different form of consent justifies these interventions: presumed consent. By presumed consent they mean that "presumably the patient has given actual (albeit tacit) consent" or "presumably, the patient would have consented to the intervention, if, under the current circumstances, they were decision-capacited" (Eyal 2011). However, this view has been criticised as a contrived 'myth' or 'fiction' of actual consent (Harmon 1990; Brownsword 2004, p. 232–3; Beauchamp and Childress 2008, p. 107;

⁹⁷ For instance, the CRASH Trial (Corticosteroid Randomisation After Significant Head injury) which started in April 1999, aimed to answer the question of whether or not there is any benefit to giving high dose of corticostereoids after significant head injuries. Patients were randomised to receive either the standard care for head injuries or a 48 hour infusion of cordicostereoids in addition to the standard care. Since the trial had to start within 8 hours of injury and all eligible patients had reduced level of consciousness, informed consent was deemed unnecessary (Foex 2001).

Dworkin 1988, p. 117) by some authors who claim that it is fraudulent to presume consent when consent is not explicitly given and when there are no relevant conventions clarifying that silence expresses consent in such cases (Eyal 2011). An alternative and more convincing argument however may also be possible; because the filed of emergency medicine cannot progress without experimentation, emergency research interventions are so important that exceptions to consent requirement are justified despite the high level of risk involved (Fost 1998; Largent et al. 2010).

Beneficial and low risk medical care and research interventions

In routine practices in clinical care, when the risk is very low, for instance when performing a blood test, informed consent requirements are not considered necessary. Following the process that is typically followed in more major medical interventions (i.e. mandatory disclosure and form filling) is considered excessive for routine low risk medical procedures. Even when a patient is ignorant about the procedure, it is generally not considered necessary that they are given detailed explanations about the process, for instance the minor and remote risks related with the use of a sanitized needle pick (Eyal 2011). Likewise, in the research context when research involves only minimal risk to the subjects or the impact of the study is low and the study is considered safe it is generally considered acceptable for review boards to omit some or all elements of the informed consent requirement (Truog et al. 1999). In certain research projects (for instance when two widely used drugs are tested to determine which is more efficient) obtaining consent from those involved is feasible but sometimes omitted, as a requirement for explicit informed consent is viewed as unnecessary.

Low risk beneficial studies are used as an example by those who want to challenge the informed consent requirement and who argue that the way informed consent has been institutionalized in biomedicine is very much a process (Manson and O'Neill 2007, p. 81f), a 'fixation' of bioethicists (O'Neill 2002, p. 47–8;

.

⁹⁸ In medical research, United States federal regulations authorize review boards to omit informed consent requirements on many occasions when "research involves no more than minimal risk to the subjects" (Eyal 2011).

Brownsword 2004, p. 224). They note that those who argue that informed consent is a necessary requirement in medical research to prevent potential subjects from coerciveness and exploitation need to explain why for studies that involve minimal risk, informed consent is not always required despite the fact that these studies may as well be exploitative.

In response, advocates of informed consent maintain that, in most of these cases, the core of informed consent remains fundamental. For instance, during a blood test, a patient usually gives verbal consent or tacit consent by stretching their arm forward (Beauchamp and Childress 2008, p. 107; Manson and O'Neill 2007, p. 11). Although, problems associated with tacit consent are discussed in the next chapter, this argument illustrates that there are some elements of informed consent that need to be respected even if no risk is involved and interventions are clearly beneficial; For instance no one would agree that if a patient refused to provide blood sample physical duress would be acceptable.

7.1.3 | Informed consent as a non sufficient moral requirement in clinical research

As discussed in chapter 4, a soft form of paternalism is generally accepted in health research (even for libertarians) as it could generally be argued that it is more difficult to solely rely on individual independence (and thus personal autonomy) in medical research compared to other areas of daily life. In many cases this goes without question as patients and research participants have reduced capacity to give informed consent and as a result to express and protect their personal autonomy: children, individuals with cognitive limitations. The same could be argued for cases where ill health limits a person's competence to fully understand or process information. However, even when capacitated adult individuals (whose capacity is not constrained by their health condition) are involved in a medical study, they are not able to fully assess research risks by themselves or understand all the technical details involved. Medical study itself includes stages that are not based and cannot be based on individual consent: research development, testing and evaluation. Thus although competent adults are generally considered capable of deciding what is best for themselves, they actually are not (and cannot be) the main decision-makers regarding the conduct

of a health study, as any health study should be first approved by an ethics committee. If certain rules do not apply (e.g. if the risks involved are not reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits, if the study is not scientifically valid and others), consent from individuals is pointless, as the study cannot be permitted. When such safeguards are in place competent research participants could enjoy a minimum expression of personal autonomy; freedom to refuse or accept what clinical investigators offer them.

7.1.4 | Cases where informed consent is a necessary requirement in clinical research

Although there is no agreement on what is the right justification for the requirement of informed consent in clinical research, there is a common understanding: when a study involves exposing human subjects to risks of physical or psychological harm it can be ethically permissible only if research subjects have given their informed consent to their participation. Restrictions on what investigators are allowed to do to their human subjects (although those cannot be guaranteed by filling in consent forms) are ethically paramount. Despite these limitations, the principle of voluntary consent is difficult to disagree with when values such as bodily integrity, personal autonomy, integrity may be at risk. Unquestionably, failure to obtain consent, and failure to inform research participants of the consequences of their participation, has been at the root of serious violations of human rights in the past.

7.1.5 | Adjusting the consent requirement on the level of risk in clinical research

It is obvious from the discussion above that justifying the informed consent requirement is more complex than is usually assumed.

First of all, the overview of the justifications for requiring informed consent in clinical research and practice presented above, illustrates that there is not a straightforward appeal to a single moral principle for which informed consent is essential in medical research. Moreover, although standard exceptions to the consent requirement (research on incompetent to consent participants, emergency research), can be reconciled with its central justifications (Eyal 2011), for instance

in situations where it is clear that personal autonomy cannot be promoted by requiring individual consent⁹⁹, there are other cases where there is no a straightforward justification for omitting consent (cases where informed consent is possible but it is argued that there is no need to obtain it; e.g. low risk beneficial studies). Those cases raise the question of how to assess when informed consent is necessary and based on what justification?

In the Council for International Organisations of Medical Sciences Guidelines it is stated that "by informing the potential subjects...and by ensuring that each individual understands each procedure, investigators elicit their informed consent..." (CIOMS 2002). This statement seems to suggest that investigators are responsible to ensure that information is disclosed in a comprehensible way, ensure that participants' decisions are based on adequate understanding and that they are not the result of coercion and undue influence. In low-risk research where there is minimal risk of physical, psychological or other harm involved (e.g. in a single blood draw), there is usually no or little concern for possible exploitation and thus for the need to protect research participants' health and welfare through informed consent procedures. In such cases it is possible to replace the implied consent with explicit consent procedures, as in risky and complicated medical procedures. However, it would constitute a laborious process, which is not expected to offer much benefit to those involved. Since information disclosure, understanding and giving permission are main elements of the consent requirement this rationale would suggest that it is acceptable for participants to be enrolled into a health study without their autonomous authorization, when the study is unlikely to pose serious harm to them.

The same justification may also apply in cases where doing research involves performing actions that are indistinguishable from other actions that are performed in a non-research context, for instance when established effective treatments regularly prescribed are compared. In such research studies patients are often not aware that they are part of a study, as patients who are participants in the

-

⁹⁹ The focus of this analysis is on adults.

research, would otherwise have received either of the tested treatments¹⁰⁰. Moreover in such research studies potential clinical benefits for participants are considered to outweigh the risks (when a comparative effectiveness study of two established treatments and involve no other research procedures) (Bromwich and Rid 2014). Along these lines, Franklin Miller and Alan Wertheimer have argued that defective understanding does not make consent invalid in studies in which clinically indicated treatments are compared (Miller and Wertheimer 2011), others have question the necessity of seeking specific consent in studies of licensed interventions (Robert Truog et al. 1999) and other research ethicists extend this idea to comparative effectiveness research (Faden et al. 2014). These proposals seem to be supported by recent proposals for regulatory reform. For instance, the European Clinical Research Infrastructures Network suggests disclosing no more than "light information" in trials with marketed drugs that are used for a new indication (European Clinical Research Infrastructures Network 2010).

According to this rationale in low risk studies, individual consent is not necessary and thus lack of informed consent does not necessary make a research study unethical. In other words, we could argue that the requirement of consent even in the clinical context should not be considered as absolute (Emanuel et al. 2000). This justification seems to contradict the view that Jonas and others have expressed that all experimentation, even when it is not harmful, treats the research subject as a passive token and threatens the dignity of the person as a unique individual, which is an essential element in our moral code (Jonas 1969). A similar position has also been expressed by Levine (1988): "The use of a person as a research subject can be justified only if that person, or one authorized to speak on his or her behalf, consent to such use". In general advocates of the consent requirement usually refer to the history of medical experimentation to claim that exploitation even in low risk studies is possible when individuals are enrolled involuntary. It seems then that though from a consequentialist point of

¹⁰⁰ As Wilson and Hunter (2010) note even if the treatments involved risky procedures, this does not suggest that the research study was itself risky and thus that subjects consent would be necessary as these risks would have been present even if the research project had not been undertaken. In order research to be morally problematic it must introduce new risks that would not otherwise be present.

view refraining from obtaining consent in low risk and beneficial studies may be easily justified, for a deontologistic perspective we still need to explain how the plausible intuition that consent standards should be adapted to the level of risk involved can be compatible with the impermissibility of enrolling competent individuals into studies without their autonomous authorisation (Bromwich and Rid 2014).

As I have already argued an alternative way to justify informed consent requirements is in terms of one's rights. We could consider that informed consent ties together several requirements with different levels of stringency, some of which are necessary in more contexts than others (Eyal 2011). In others words, we could argue that though all the values for which informed consent is important need to be respected (personal autonomy, bodily integrity, personal dignity, self-ownership and others), some of them may be necessary in some contexts and not relevant in others. Therefore although a rationale for informed consent requirement, such as self-ownership may not justify a waiver of informed consent in low risk and beneficial studies, the fact that subjects' welfare and interests are well protected may suggest that the value of self-ownership may not be relevant or equally important in cases where other moral values are met.

In research ethics guidelines it is clear that an individual's right not to be exposed to risks without their consent is much stronger than their right not to be used as research subjects in general without their consent. Moreover, as Bromwich and Rid (2014) note anecdotal evidence suggests that it is common practice for researchers to have short informed consent discussions in low risk studies and some research regulations allow adjustments of some or all elements of informed consent in low risk studies (U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 1991). This view is also supported by empirical research, which shows that potential research subjects in minimal risk research seek less information than what is indicated in informed consent documents (Desch et al. 2011; Antoniou et al. 2011). As Bromwich and Rid (2014) note proper understanding of the standard view of informed consent reveals that consent is more likely to be invalid as the risks of research increase.

Taking into account that a combination of several requirements may justify the need to obtain consent and that those are more likely to be satisfied in low risks studies, it seems reasonable to argue that the requirement to obtain informed consent from research participants should be adapted to the risk-benefit profile of a given study. Moreover it could also be argued that as the risks of research increase, so should concerns about the validity of consent given by the average potential participant and that consent standards should be more relaxed when there is a favourable risk-benefit profile for the individual research subject. However, since research refers to a diverse range of interventions, conclusions that are valid for some purposes and research activities are not necessarily applicable in others. In order to decide then on standards regarding the consent requirement, we should define broad categories of research intervention by the level of risk involved and identify broad types of cases that require robust or minimal consent.

As I discussed earlier in this chapter a better approach to argue for the informed consent requirement in research ethics literature would be to rely on a combination of moral justifications, some of which may be more or less relevant for different interventions. It would be then reasonable to argue that the informed consent process should not only be adapted to physical and psychological risk involved in the study but also to other factors that may threat some of the values which informed consent is meant to protect; for instance controversy surrounding study aims may significantly affect personal autonomy, trust or the willingness of participants to cooperate (both instrumental and intrinsic justifications of the consent requirement may apply). Although research ethicists (Sreenivasan 2003; Miller and Wertheimer 2011; Truog et al. 1999) and stakeholders in research (European Clinical Research Infrastructures Network 2010) focus almost exclusively on relaxing consent standards in low-risk research, it seems that a more comprehensive risk-adapted perspective on informed consent would be more appropriate. Bromwich and Rid (2014) suggest that although we should shed consent requirements in low-risk and otherwise simple research, we should also add safeguards for consent to higher-risk and more controversial research (Bromwich and Rid 2014) and that it is in the investigators' moral duty to

consider whether a study is likely to be controversial in the target population (whether the research might violate religious or other deeply held beliefs). They also argue that in cases where a study is considered controversial, researchers should informally or formally test whether participants comprehend what they are signing up for. (Bromwich and Rid 2014). Taking these arguments into account we could argue that based on a more comprehensive notion of risk in medical research, the need for robust informed consent is obvious not only when a medical intervention is risky, controversial, physically invasive or when it affects a private area of the body (Archard 2008, Joffe and Truog 2010, p. 358; Miller 2010, p. 391; Beauchamp and Childress 2008, p. 101; Beauchamp 2010, p. 70–1) but also when there are reasons to believe that a competent individual may refuse the intervention (for instance for cultural reasons).

Finally, as the previous examples have shown, arguing that consent is not an absolute requirement suggests that on occasions where the need for robust informed consent is lesser high costs may easily override that need (Miller 2010, p. 393). Thus the informed consent requirement could be outweighed by competing values, such as the advancement of scientific research¹⁰¹ even in cases where research subjects may not know that they are in an experiment and thus even in cases where all the elements of the consent requirement are absent. In studies, where informed consent cannot be obtained, for instance when methodological reasons are not compatible with the requirement of consent, there are ways by which the values that consent is meant to protect can be secured for instance by confidentiality or close monitoring.

Based on the discussion above, we can conclude that the consent requirement in the clinical context should not be 'unquestioned'. A common objection however to this view, by those who consider informed consent as an essential requirement for a research study to be justified, is the risk of repeating the practices of participant abuses in the past. It is important to note though that the main problem

_

¹⁰¹ Outside the clinical context it is clear that the notion of experiment is not necessarily compatible with individual consent. Observational studies, interventional studies in which use deceptive means to produce scientifically valid data are justified and explicitly allowed for waiver of the consent requirement when specific conditions apply.

with such experiments is not related with the fact that informed consent was not obtained by research subjects. There are several reasons for which these studies were unethical: the way research participants were treated, the fact that their interests were not protected, the controversial aims of the studies, the unethical criteria for selection of research subjects, the health condition in which research subjects were while participating and so on. One could argue that if research subjects were free to decide whether they wanted to participate or not they would certainly refused to be involved in such studies. However that objection takes us back to the main point addressed in the previous chapter: those experiments were unethical because they were based on unacceptable conditions (which would not have been approved by a research ethics committee). It follows then that the examples of abuses in human experimentation do not prove that health research without consent should by default be considered as unethical.

7.2 | The role of informed consent in public health practice

In the previous chapter, I argued that new moral challenges in CRTs are related to the distinct features of population-based interventions. To decide then how problems related to our inability to obtain informed consent in CRTs should be understood and addressed, we need to review the role of informed consent in interventions, which aim to promote population health instead of individual health care.

The aim of this section is to discuss several types of public health interventions (environmental health interventions, standards in clinical practice, measures against infectious diseases such as isolation and vaccination, surveillance, the use of medical and personal data for public health purposes, and organ donation) and explore the role of individual freedom in each of them. I focus on particular interventions in public health practice which may be used for research purposes and be implemented by cluster design (these research interventions are discussed further in the next chapter). I then discuss whether the same reasons that justify restriction of individual choice in public health practice could also apply in public

health research¹⁰² taking into account the difference between established and experimental conditions¹⁰³.

7.2.1 | Public health interventions

Environmental public health interventions

Let us first consider public health measures in environmental health interventions. In this category fall policies, such as sanitary measures, the protection of food or water supply and the regulation of air quality. In all these examples obtaining individual consent from those affected by the intervention is not considered as necessary.

The main reason for which environmental interventions are considered legitimate despite lack of informed consent is because informed consent procedures are inapplicable when certain types of goods, public goods¹⁰⁴ are to be provided. Public and common goods are goods that individuals cannot attain on their own and thus role of the government is to set constraints in individual decision-making to accommodate the interests of the entire community. In contrast to consumer goods, these goods must be provided (or not provided) for a whole population. Since it is practically impossible to suit variation of individual preferences for

¹⁰² Or population-based research based on Taylor and Johnson's account in Chapter 6.

¹⁰³ My aim thus in this chapter is not to suggest a way of resolving the complex arguments in public health surrounding autonomy at either an individual or population level.

¹⁰⁴ The term public good usually refers to goods or services that are non-rival; i.e. the consumption of the good by one individual does not reduce availability of the good for consumption by others, non-excludable; i.e. no one can be effectively excluded from using the good, and external; i.e. they impose both costs and benefits on individuals Samuelson (1954, 1967). The main moral concern in the provision of public goods is about free riding; if enough people decide not to pay their fair share, then the good will be not be supplies. However, some authors note that the notion of 'public good' is controversial and complicated because it contains large and vague connotations (Zhang 2010) and that the notion common good is more appropriate for goods such as clean water, clean air and sanitation. Common goods are goods, which are non-excludable; i.e. one individual cannot prevent other individuals from using them and rivalrous; i.e. the use by one individual may prevent the use by others. When an individual overuses a common good, it destroys its use for all others. Garret Hardin has called this 'tragedy of the commons' (Hardin 1968), so if everyone was allowed to act according their interests, then the common would not survive. The role of individual autonomy for common and public goods is less important than in the clinical context since individual choices would prevent these goods to be available.

standards of public or common goods (such as the quality of water and air waste disposal), public health measures cannot rely on personal preferences; in contrast, they need to be uniform and compulsory to be effective: "if a public good is provided for any, it has to be provided for many" (O Neill 2002). It is obvious then that difficulties in obtaining individual consent in the public health setting are more difficult to be resolved compared to those raised in the clinical setting (where for instance obtaining proxy consent may be appropriate).

Another reason for which informed consent is not considered necessary in most environmental health interventions is that they usually involve low risk of harm for the affected individuals. In environmental health interventions, such as water fluoridation, the state interference only limits certain individual choices, which means that fewer concerns for the protection of individual autonomy and personal integrity are raised. In addition therefore to pragmatic reasons, there are moral reasons for not seeking informed consent in environmental health interventions.

In public health interventions personal freedom may be restricted when other more important moral values outweigh the need to obtain informed consent. As already stated decisions concerning public health measures cannot rely on individual preferences because that would make basic public health standards impossible; public health standards, such as environmental health standards, are preconditions to our ability to exercise autonomy or secure bodily integrity in the first place. It follows then that individual choice cannot have the same central role in a public health settings as in the personal life of the individuals or as in individual medical treatment. Moreover, since individuals lack relevant knowledge and expertise on the subject (it would be unreasonable to expect that each individual would be able to decide whether the standards of fluoridation are

appropriate for all those affected¹⁰⁵), it is obvious that such issues need to be decided at higher level. ¹⁰⁶

In cases where individual choice is not possible (or when there is little room for the individual to act as they wish) community input is considered necessary, so that group interests in the decision-making process are taken into account, especially in cases where there is mistrust on a public health measure. Community consultation, which is not a substitute of individual consent, has been extensively discussed lately (CDC 1997; CDC 2011) and different mechanisms have been developed to incorporate community input for different decisions concerning environmental measures before their implementation. Despite the difficulties that different forms of community consultation present (see discussion in chapter 3) the importance of this strategy is that it takes into account group interests and provides community approval or gives the opportunities for concerns to be raised and addressed to government interventions where individual choice and consent is not possible. Berg (2012) argues that public health officials have corresponding obligations to inform and consult with affected communities in environmental interventions to those that physicians have in the clinical context to disclosure and consent to the surrogates of incompetent patients. Although proxy consent is not applicable in this case, and thus this parallel not successful according to the discussion on informed consent in chapter 2, the right of communities to be informed about these interventions is obvious. In public health measures information disclosure is not only important for the individuals to be aware of risks, benefits and achieve compliance but also for public accountability.

Moreover, although individual choice may be restricted in environmental public health interventions, the rights of the individuals to be informed by the benefits, risks and alternatives are maintained. As Berg (2012) states, while individual decision may not be possible, informational disclosure, another aspect of

¹⁰⁵ Even for consumer goods some compulsion, in particular for safety standards, to protect the individuals that lack the relevant information is justified.

¹⁰⁶ There is however the risk of corruption and abuse in the public system and for this reason, as I later explain, public health service should be clearly defined and carefully controlled.

informed consent (which aims to protect personal autonomy and self-determination), in these cases should not be neglected: "there is nothing in the analysis of commons or public goods that would support limiting information disclosure. In fact, the information disclosure remains crucial to protect autonomy" (Berg 2012, p. 16). Considering that only personal freedom is constrained by environmental public health interventions, we can argue that by being informed, individuals maintain some aspects of their personal autonomy. This is more evident in certain environmental interventions where there is room for individual choice, for instance in water fluoridation. It seems then that another reason for which municipalities should inform local communities (about for instance the protective measures applied to their water supplies, such as the quality of water, potential benefits and risks of the intervention) is to offer to those that strongly oppose to the intervention the opportunity to opt out by taking alternative measures to the extent individual choice is allowed (e.g. bottled water in the case of water fluoridation).

Regulations in clinical practice

Another public health measure where individual consent is not considered relevant, and thus necessary, concerns the application of health care interventions at a practice level, such as the introduction of a change in a general treatment policy across a clinician's practice. Although personal autonomy has a dominant role in the medical context, there are aspects of clinical practice where individual consent is not considered relevant. The number of providers, the kinds of services they deliver; prices and the types (and even quality) of services that can be provided, the introduction and diffusion of new products and technologies are all practices not tailored to individual choice (Rice 2001). Clinical practice is controlled by legislation and regulation (which are also enforced by coercion) and these controls (quality control, institutional certification, inspections), which are aimed at professionals rather than the patients, are considered as acceptable conditions of professional certification and employment and not as threats to doctors' autonomy. As O'Neill notes: "A focus on clinical medicine has been extended into many discussions of health and justice, which often focus mainly on the just distribution of individual (access to) clinical care. If health provision considered entirely of clinical provision, it could in practice be based on voluntary, consensual relationships between patient autonomy (however conceived). The good to be distributed could not then be health care itself (let alone health!), but rather access to health care or opportunity for health care. This way of thinking preserves the view that health measures are the province of clinical medicine, and the compulsion is unacceptable outside narrowly defined areas" (O'Neill 2002, p. 38). In sum, clinical care, professional training, institutional structures, public funding, physical facilities are all goods that have to be provided to uniform standards and formats and whose provision can reflect democratic processes, and thereby not individual preferences or expressions of personal autonomy but certain forms of collective choice.

Unlike the public health interventions discussed above, other public health measures may apply at the individual level.

Emergency situations

In emergency situations public health authorities may quarantine or isolate individuals exposed to contagious diseases to prevent further spread in the community. These measures must apply to individuals despite their will. Justifications for these policies usually rely on Mill's work 'on Liberty'. Mill's theory of justice explicitly opposes compulsion except in very limited circumstances. He claims "the sole end for which mankind are warranted, individually or collectively, in interfering with the liberty of any of their number is self-protection" (Mill 1859, chapter 1). According to this rationale, although a society is better off if people are free to make their own choices and when individual autonomy is promoted, state is justified in limiting individual autonomy to prevent harm to others.

Voluntary and mandatory vaccination programmes

In non-emergency situations, vaccinations are a typical example of preventive public health measures aimed to protect public safety. There are different ways by which vaccination programmes are implemented: in some programmes individual freedom is severely constrained while others are compatible with personal autonomy. The first category involves mandatory programmes in which

individuals are required to be vaccinated, unless they qualify for an exemption (for health or religious reasons), and where there are financial penalties for those who do not comply. Such measures usually apply as a condition in order individuals to have access in certain sectors such as public school (Hodge and Gostin 2001) or to perform certain professions (health workers) (Berg 2012). The second category includes incentivised or voluntary programmes. In incentivized programmes vaccinations are optional but individuals who comply receive some reward, usually financial. In voluntary programmes complying or not complying involves no penalties or incentives (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007). In the case where vaccination is optional or voluntary individuals are able to choose, and thus their personal autonomy is not restricted ¹⁰⁷.

Different arguments for the justification of mandatory vaccination programmes have been put forward. First of all, it is argued that this measure can be relied on hypothetical consent; members of the public understand and accept that vaccination is an appropriate mechanism to prevent contagious diseases. Since population immunity is an important collective benefit, both organized work of society in establishing vaccination schemes and collective action by a community in participating to achieve high levels of vaccination coverage are needed. However, as in preventive interventions in general, a vaccination programme may bring much benefit to the population but relatively small personal benefit for each individual (Rose 1981). Advocates of this measure reply that even in such cases an argument of hypothetical consent remains valid because from the perspective of the individual, the harms of vaccination may outweigh the risks of the disease if herd community is achieved.

Yet, the main justification for vaccination programmes that impose important limitations of purely voluntary behaviour is that the consequences of decisions about vaccinations affect not only the people who are considering whether or not to receive a vaccination, but also others. Quasi-mandatory and mandatory approaches shift the emphasis away from protecting the interests of the individual, towards providing benefits to others (Friedman 1970). Another principle on which

¹⁰⁷ This policy is often compared to 'nudges' by Thaler and Sustein (2008).

this measure may rely is fairness. Fairness is a principle that is considered to outweigh personal autonomy in the case of non-voluntary public health interventions in general. As already stated, in Mill's account it could be legitimate to make certain forms of treatment compulsory when the risk of transmission and the severity of the disease is high. O' Neill argues the same could be argued in cases where there is a safe and effective vaccination programme and vulnerable individuals who cannot be vaccinated need to be protected. Mandatory vaccination in those cases is considered legitimate and justifies exposing some individuals to public health burdens for other people's benefit to produce the herd immunity. According to this rationale those who do not have a serious reason to opt out (medical reason) should not put the other members of the population in danger by acting irresponsibly. Therefore, a public health intervention could also be justified relying on considerations of fairness even if it imposes unequal burdens on different members of a population. An example of a public health intervention of this kind is children's vaccination against rubella for the protection of pregnant women and their fetuses (Miller et al. 1997).

Mandatory vaccination programmes however are generally considered controversial measures and are usually implemented in the case of highly contagious diseases (e.g. smallpox) or as a condition for a particular group of people to have access to certain benefits (access to a private school). In contrast to environmental interventions, the use of vaccinations to achieve herd immunity constitutes an example where personal autonomy plays a more important role. Vaccination is a clinical intervention that directly applies to the individual and which in certain cases may have significant implications for one's health (therefore concerns for protection of bodily integrity may apply in this case). For these reasons opting out in non-voluntary vaccination programmes is generally permitted when individuals health may be at risk or when they have other serious reasons to opt out. Moreover, although individual freedom is more restricted in mandatory vaccinations compared to voluntary vaccination programmes, the right of individual to be informed remains, as individuals need to be aware of the risks and benefits of a vaccination, in case they have medical (or religious) reasons to refuse the intervention, and not only to achieve better compliance.

Organ donation¹⁰⁸

Although vaccination programmes in non-emergency situations may offer both direct and indirect benefit to those involved, other policies such as testing all incoming patients for HIV or harvesting organs from healthy deceased persons for transplantation are implemented in order to benefit others. The notion of presumed or tacit consent is often used to justify such policies. The underlying thought is to reverse the usual default assumption about what is permissible and make those who disagree with those policies to opt out. However, even such decisions are considered consistent with a person's sovereignty because those who explicitly indicate their opposition can easily opt out (Sunstein and Thaler 2008).

Opponents of presumed consent argue that it is wrong to presume consent when consent is not explicitly given and when no relevant conventions clarify that silence expresses agreement (Harmon 1990; Brownsword 2004; Beauchamp and Childress 2008; Dworkin 1988). These objections seem to interpret 'presumed consent' as meaning that presumably, individuals have given actual tacit consent and note that it goes too far to assume that, just because a patient fails to carry with them a directive forbidding organ harvesting in the event of death, they can be assumed to be consenting (Eyal 2011). However, advocates of this policy contend that an alternative interpretation is also possible according to which individuals would have presumably consented to the intervention if, under the current circumstances, they were decisionally-capacitated. This view is based on the fact that there is no special information that indicates that the patient would not consent to such policies (Eyal 2011).

According to the advocates of the policy, members of a community are morally obliged to provide other persons with objects of lifesaving value when no cost to themselves is required (Beauchamp 2013). Yet, such public health measures do

¹⁰⁸ The reason I discuss the organ and tissue procurement policy here is because it provides a useful example of how obligations of social beneficence may be given more attention in public health policy than in the traditional bioethics framework. As I explain in the next chapter an argument for social beneficence may also apply for the justification of certain cluster studies where individual consent is not possible.

not need to be justified in terms of consent. It could also be argued that sometimes, certain values defeat individuals' consent rights. Since the basic reason for having the default be consent instead of non-consent is the considerable benefit to the organ recipient, it could also be argued that when the general benefits are large enough, and the cost for the individual low enough, to permit forgoing informed consent altogether is well justified. Therefore we may believe that consent is important for various reasons (for instance to protect personal autonomy) but argue that such measures should be implemented without seeking individual consent because other values should take priority in terms of promotion of social good.

The organ and tissue procurement policy provides a useful example of how obligations of social beneficence may be given more attention in public health policy than in the traditional bioethics framework. While in the past an absolute right of autonomy was the norm and consent by a decedent before death (or by the family after death) was the only way by which this intervention would be considered as legitimate, the scarcity of organs and tissues and the inefficiency of the system have prompted a reform of the current system aiming at creating more space for social beneficence (Beauchamp 2013).

The use of an individual's medical information in public surveillance

Another case where individual consent is not considered necessary in public health policy is in the use of personal medical data for public health purposes, for instance to report an infectious disease, and in the collection of medical information to assess population disease burden (incidence and prevalence of the disease). Although there is a common feature between these public health interventions (public health surveillance and data collection from health records) and clinical care interventions as in both cases information needs to be revealed in order better outcomes to be achieved (in the clinical care setting, patients share medical information to receive better treatment while in public health practice information is shared in order public health to be protected) in the first case an individual's information is revealed irrespectively of their wishes.

The reason that informed consent is not considered relevant in this public health

measure is that the same justifications that require informed consent in the clinical context do not apply in this area. First of all, it is argued that this type of information should not be considered as a property of the individual because it does not include all information about their medical record but relevant information necessary to achieve the particular aim. Moreover, fewer concerns for the protection of individual autonomy may arise, as in such measures non-intervention is involved and thus individual bodily integrity is not at stake. In addition, in most cases such information is anonymised which means that there is less need to protect individual autonomy or personal integrity. When information is not linked to identity, rights based justifications for control of personal information are not considered applicable.

Even if we considered medical information obtained for public health purposes as individual property, it is reasonable to expect that certain uses of such information without informed consent may be permissible. It could be argued that such information should be available without consent because the protection of other principles and rights are more important when determining population level disease burden. However, safeguards to protect individual interests must apply, such as confidentiality.

In certain circumstances, however, there is need to collect identifiable surveillance data, for instance in the mandatory reporting of contagious diseases. The reason that information is not anonymous in such cases is that other individuals, who may be exposed to the disease, should be notified by public health authorities. Similarly then to other preventive measures, collecting identifiable information without obtaining consent is justified in order to prevent harm to others.

There are several objections to the collection and use of surveillance data, in particular regarding consent (Verity and Nicoll 2002). However, advocates of this policy argue that the rights of others not to be harmed may take priority over an individual's right to refuse a procedure such as collecting surveillance data in a non-anonymised way. The competing value of public health that sometimes needs to override personal privacy is recognized by the law, which is strongly rooted in personal autonomy. In Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights,

for instance, it is stated that the right to respect for private and family life is limited by the interests of public health and the rights and freedoms of others. Moreover given that certain considerations are satisfied, the Data Protection Act (1998) recognises 'health purposes' as a justification for the use of sensitive personal data without the need for consent (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007). The main justifications for such measures is that the same standards for seeking individual consent cannot be adopted for public health policies, as this would have considerable social consequences; a significant amount of important healthcare data might not be accessible and effective control of highly infectious diseases would not be possible.

Justifications for restricting individual choice

The main justification for restrictions of personal autonomy in the public health context often relies on the classical 'harm principle'. This is because an individual's actions may significantly affect others and measures for equal standards of protection should apply. However, as already discussed in the examples above, further justifications for which a public health measure that restricts personal autonomy may also be possible; for instance the importance to reduce health inequalities, the duty to protect vulnerable groups of the population or duties of social beneficence when the cost for the individual is relatively small. As the reasons for which a state may intervene in a public health context and restrict individual autonomy will vary depending on the context (to ensure public safety, to achieve general welfare and social justice and others), different justifications may apply for defending the obligations of individuals to restrict their freedom to public health powers. In certain cases these obligations may rely on arguments of fairness, in others on the duty not to harm others, while in other cases an argument for political obligation to the community where individuals live to accept certain public health interventions may apply. It seems then that more than a single justification may be possible for the exercise of the state authority in the public health context and the corresponding obligations of the individuals to submit to this authority and limit their freedom. In chapter 8 I discuss which of these justifications may apply when different public health interventions are used for research purposes.

7.2.2 | Procedural justice approach

Much of the discussion in the bioethics literature aims to establish personal autonomy and individual consent as the cornerstones of biomedical ethics irrespectively of whether a medical intervention is aimed at benefiting the person concerned (as in the case of clinical care) or whether it is aimed primarily at benefiting others (as in non-beneficial studies). However, many of the issues raised by public health measures differ from those usually addressed in medical research. The principal aim of public health policy is to promote people's capability to be healthy, and not simply to promote respect for the autonomous deliberation of individuals or the provision of a greater opportunity to make choices. Moreover, in the public health area complex questions are raised about the relationship between the state and the individuals that are affected by its policies, and the duties that individuals have towards each other. The question of what weight consent can carry in these cases, and when it is, and is not, required is an important issue, which cannot be adequately addressed by relying on the principles of the clinical context.

Moreover, while in the clinical context individual consent is considered necessary to authorise the implementation of a procedure, for public health interventions, which do not involve considerable risks, a different kind of consent underlies their legitimacy. A 'procedural justice' approach that uses conventional democratic decision-making processes may be sufficient to give an authorisation to implement a certain policy. Thus, although individuals are denied the right to make individual decisions regarding interventions that affect them, they retain the right to be informed, the right to have a say and the right to be heard. Health authorities are obliged to disclose information concerning public health interventions, especially when a procedural justice approach involves the public. For this reason transparency is considered a main element of the procedural justice approach, as evidence on the reasons and rationales for which a given intervention may reduce some choice of individuals or bring inconvenience is necessary.

Another important element of the procedural justice approach is that those affected acknowledge the intervention as being helpful in meeting health needs

fairly. Involvement of individuals and stakeholder groups in decision-making processes is important in order opportunities to challenge interventions in preparation and in practice to be given. When individual consent is not necessary, and thus can be replaced with a procedural justice approach, procedural justice arrangements can form an appropriate means of reconciling different preferences within a population (these procedures typically involve: publishing plans for programmes in formats that are suitable for the public; a period of consultation; and a response to the issues raised during the consultation (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007). Thus although final policies may not meet with everyone's approval, there needs to be clear justification in reducing individual choices (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007).

7.2.3 | Adjusting the consent requirement on the level of risk and degree of intrusion in public health practice

Although public health requires interventions that involve restrictions of choice, a straightforward argument in favour of state public health intervention to limit personal freedom and to restrict the right of individuals to control the application of interventions that may affect them is not possible. There are many different examples of how individual liberties are treated in health policy: in certain cases it may be impossible and pointless to obtain individual consent from all those affected (e.g. in environmental interventions, safety standards), other cases are more similar with the exceptions of the consent requirement in the clinical context (e.g. in emergency situations) and finally there are cases where although obtaining consent is possible its use should be limited because other moral principles are considered more important to personal autonomy, such as the duty of justice or the duty of social beneficence (e.g. in organ donation, mandatory vaccinations). Since different reasons for restricting individual choice and different standards for consent requirements may apply in various circumstances, it seems that a unique solution to the difficulties of obtaining informed consent in population-based interventions is not possible.

Yet, it is evident from the examples discussed above that the nature of the intervention and the level of risk involved, are morally relevant factors when considering the role of informed consent in the public health context. Based on

the discussion above, it seems that when an intervention is not directly applied to a particular individual (as in medical procedures) but at community level the requirement to obtain individual consent is weaker. When nonintrusive public health measures are implemented at community or practice level (e.g. for the provision of health-conducive environments, safety regulations), obtaining informed consent from each person affected by the interventions may be infeasible and certainly impractical. However, because of the low level of risk involved, personal autonomy is not threatened and thus a requirement to obtain individual consent is not considered as relevant. Yet, in such cases other measures for the protection of individual interests need to be implemented (e.g. community consultation for the evaluation and designing of public health interventions, and safeguards such as anonymising data in the use of patients' healthcare data for public health surveillance), to ensure that despite lack of consent individual interests are still protected.

Other measures may concern medical interventions and need to be implemented directly to the individual, for instance vaccinations, preventive medical testing for HIV, organ procurement. In the examples discussed earlier it is evident that although informed consent is practically possible, some individual-level interventions may be implemented without seeking consent from those affected, in order to benefit others (organ donation from the deceased) or to protect others from harm (medical testing for HIV). Social beneficence may justify restriction of personal choice in a public health policy when the cost for the individual is low and the expected benefit is considerable (e.g. organ donation from healthy deceased individuals). In other cases, protection from harm may justify even higher risk imposed to individuals (as in mandatory vaccination to limit the spread of serious contagious diseases to vulnerable groups). Yet, it is important to note that although, individual freedom is constrained in all these cases personal autonomy is not completely limited. In non-emergency individual level interventions, individuals may be assumed to agree with the policy but they still are offered the option to opt out (and thus they maintain the right to authorize whether an intervention would directly apply on them). When the aim of the policy is to benefit others, as in the case of organ donation, opting out is easy. When the aim of the policy is to prevent harm to others, as in mandatory vaccination, opting out may need to rely on serious reasons such as risk of compromising a person's bodily integrity.

Although in public health settings individuals do not have the same control they have in the clinical context when they make decisions about their treatments, obtaining consent is crucial in legitimizing interventions when there are health risks to the individuals. Note for instance that even in mandatory vaccinations (in which there may be more than minimal risk to the individual involved) informed consent is still applicable. In general, it is argued that the acceptability of any policy should be considered in relation to the balance of risks and benefits, the potential of alternatives, and, in the case of harms involved, to the role of consent. (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007) However, since most public health measures do not concern medical interventions, risk is not the only factor that should be taken into account. To assess the acceptability and justification of different public health policies where individual consent is not possible we should also consider the degree at which the policy maker intervenes.

Different policy initiatives involve different degrees of invasiveness in relation to their particular goal; as there is a range of liberty-reducing legislative or regulatory measures that have been introduced by the state, a one-size-fits-all requirement of informed consent cannot serve most practical purposes. For this reason, the Nuffield Council on Bioethics has proposed an 'intervention ladder' to offer a tool for thinking about the acceptability and justification of different policy initiatives (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007). At one end is the least intrusive step: 'to do nothing', or at most monitor the situation, and at the other end what is presented as the most intrusive option, eliminating choice altogether (as in compulsory isolation). The Council states that all rungs on the ladder, including doing nothing, require justification but that in general, the higher the rung on the ladder at which the policy maker intervenes, the stronger the justification has to be¹⁰⁹. Based on the Council's proposal, the 'intervention ladder', to analyse the

¹⁰⁹ The Council explains that a more intrusive policy initiative is likely to be publicly acceptable only if there is a clear indication that it will produce the desired effect, and

moral acceptability of a public health measure, we could define broad categories of public health interventions as more or less intrusive and then identify broad categories of interventions that require robust consent in some cases and only minimal consent in others (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007, p. 41-3).

Taking the examples mentioned earlier into account, we could argue that to assess the acceptability and justification of different policy initiatives, where informed consent is not possible, we should focus on the degree of invasiveness (therefore the amount of freedom to be sacrificed) in relation to a particular goal (how this relates to the extent of the benefits across society). The same degree of freedom sacrifice cannot be considered acceptable for all public health purposes, for instance both to protect vulnerable groups from a serious epidemic and also to force individuals into leading healthy lives. Similarly, the aims and expected benefit of different research projects should determine the degree of freedom that would be acceptable to ask cluster members/ citizens to sacrifice, as I discuss in the next chapter.

7.3 | Some common points regarding the informed consent requirement between clinical research and public health interventions

As it is obvious from the discussion above, informed consent is a requirement that legitimates certain actions, however in neither clinical research nor public health practice it constitutes an absolute requirement.

Both clinical research studies and public health measures refer to a diverse range of interventions and thus a straightforward argument regarding the importance of informed consent for all possible cases is not feasible. There is however a basic moral criterion based on which we can assess whether an intervention (in both the clinical and the public health context) can be morally justified, when individual consent is not possible; the level of risk involved 110. In the previous section I

that this can be weighed favourably against any loss of liberty that may result (paragraphs 3.37–3.38).

¹¹⁰ Emergency situations are excepted from this rule. Despite the level of risk involved waiving the informed consent requirement is common in both clinical research and

argued for a comprehensive definition of risk taking into account a variety of factors that may threat the moral values which informed consent is designed to protect (bodily integrity, personal autonomy, self-determination and others). I claimed that not only physical and psychological risk for the individual should be taken into account but also community risk, when for instance an intervention is not compatible with the cultural or social values of the community where the intervention is implemented or in which the affected individual belongs or when social, financial or other types of interests may be threatened. In the case of public health measures in particular where medical procedures are not involved, I claimed that the level of intrusion in the personal sphere should also be taken into account. I concluded that typically, when a competent adult does not give voluntary informed consent to an intervention in their body or private sphere, when the intervention is substantial, involves considerable risk or restriction of personal freedom and does not prevent severe harm to others, cannot be morally permissible, even if it aims to assist the individual or other people would benefit from it.

I also noted that on certain occasions in both the clinical and public health context where the need for robust informed consent is lesser (Miller 2010, p. 393) the informed consent requirement could be overridden by competing values, such as the advancement of scientific research (I referred to the example of data collection in public health area and the use of deceptive methods in clinical research). In such cases a waiver of consent may justify the conduct of a biomedical study and democratic procedures generate the permissibility of a public health measure. Finally, I argued that when no risk or minimal risk is involved and the intervention is considered or expected to be beneficial, individual consent may not be necessary (consent is not intrinsic valuable in such cases). I reviewed as a typical example of clinical research the comparison of the effectiveness of two widely used medical interventions and in the public health setting the evaluation of different models of care.

To illustrate how my previous arguments regarding the role of informed consent in both clinical research and public health policy may apply in cluster trials, let us consider a useful distinction that Spicker (2007) has made between the rights of participants in research. He distinguishes between particular rights and general human rights. He notes that participant rights are special to individuals by virtue of their relationship with the research investigator while general rights apply to everyone. Particular rights are negotiable and they mandate that researchers should behave with integrity towards their research subjects; if for instance they promise confidentiality, they should hold to it, and if they are conducting a study where confidentiality cannot be maintained, they should not be promising it (Israel 2004). Research participants also have general rights, human rights, for instance the right not to be exploited. These rights should not be compromised. Following Spicker's view, we could claim that individuals (whether they are considered as citizens or research subjects¹¹¹) do not have a strong general right not to have their liberty or choices affected without their consent, contrasted to a right not to be submitted to risk of harm (with the exception of emergency situations) without their consent. In the first case lack of consent constitutes a particular right, which can be negotiated for low risk and beneficial interventions while in the latter case lack of authorisation to be submitted to substantial risk constitutes exploitation and thus violation of a general right (for this reason as I discuss in chapter 8 in such cases individuals should not be allowed to delegate their right to accept or refuse a risky intervention to their representatives).

Based on the arguments above, it follows that to decide on the appropriate informed consent standards that should be followed in a population-based health research implemented by cluster design (research which aims to improve population health but at the same time raises challenges for the protection of individual interests) it is important first to consider whether the study in question concerns a clinical or non-clinical activity¹¹². Then based on the features of each

¹¹¹ Both of these roles may be relevant in population-based research as I later explain.

¹¹² Clinical activities directly apply to individuals and thus are more likely to compromise the values (personal integrity, personal autonomy, the notion of self-ownership and others) which informed consent is designed to protect.

study we should define broad categories of research intervention by the level of risk involved (distinguish them as more or less or non-risky) and the level of intrusion involved (their impact on personal freedom). In this way we can identify broad types of cases that require robust consent, minimal consent or a waiver of consent when a study concerns a medical intervention or directly applies to individuals (and thus where individual choice is relevant), and cases where explicit individual consent is needed or a replacement of individual consent with a procedural justice approach when a study concerns an intervention that applies in practice or community level. In the next chapter I discuss solutions to problems related with our inability to obtain informed consent in cluster trials in detail, based on these distinctions.

7.4 | Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to explore the role of informed consent in clinical research and public health practice. I concluded that despite their differences (aims, nature of intervention involved and others) interventions in both clinical research and public health context may be morally justified when individual consent is not possible. I argued that a basic moral criterion for assessing the moral permissibility of an intervention in the absence of informed consent is the level of risk involved. I concluded that informed consent requirements in cluster trials should be adjusted to the level of risk involved relying on a more comprehensive definition of research risk to that found in current research ethics guidelines.

Chapter 8

Revisiting the problem of informed consent in cluster trials: how should a cluster study proceed if informed consent is not possible?

In chapter 1 I presented the reasons for which cluster design is used in health research; these may be related to the nature of the intervention and the aims of the study (interventions that cannot be rigorously tested through individual randomisation), the study methodology (e.g. our need to avoid contamination), administrative convenience (where special equipment and personnel are required) or other political and cultural causes (e.g. when there is no tradition of individual consent in the host country). In all these cases obtaining consent from research participants may be problematic (either because it is practically infeasible or because it is undesirable to take permission from each individual affected). The aim of this chapter is to suggest solutions to the question: how should a cluster study proceed if informed consent is not possible? Since the reasons for which informed consent may be problematic will significantly differ in practical and moral respects in different cluster studies, in order to successfully address this question this chapter is divided in four parts. In the first part (8.1.) I focus on moral challenges that derive from the distinct features of population-based research which haven't been adequately addressed in current guidelines and I suggest solutions; these problems are related to the nature of the intervention and the aims of the study. In part 8.2, I discuss problems that researchers may also encounter in other health designs, most of which have been extensively discussed in the research ethics literature. In part 8.3 I discuss the reasons for which solutions to the informed consent problem presented in current discussions on cluster ethics are not satisfactory and in the last section (8.4) I discuss the procedures that should be followed to ensure that a cluster trial is morally legitimate to proceed despite the absence of informed consent and how my arguments relate to the earlier discussion about the Human Right to Health.

In the following paragraphs I also discuss solutions to the questions I presented in chapters 1 and 4 related with our inability to obtain individual consent in cluster trials: e.g. when is a cluster trial morally legitimate to be carried out despite the lack of individual consent? When does the inability to obtain individual informed consent violate the rights of participants to make their own decisions about their participation? Is consent required from the communities involved additionally to individual informed consent? If so who has the authority to speak on behalf of community and based on what criteria? In which cases should researchers refrain from using a cluster design?

8.1 | New moral challenges associated with the informed consent requirement in cluster research

8.1.1 | New moral challenges related to the nature or level of intervention

In this section I focus on health studies for which an RCT design would have been impossible (i.e. studies that involve interventions that cannot be rigorously tested through individual randomization). By examining examples of social, behavioural, and community-level interventions in public health, I will discuss cases where it is practically impossible or incompatible with the aims of the study to obtain individual consent on both logical and logistical grounds. Following the discussion in chapter 6 I will demonstrate how problems concerning cluster randomisation, cluster level interventions or cluster size are related to the distinct features of population-based interventions.

In the following paragraphs I review several population-based research interventions implemented by cluster design, which are repeatedly discussed in research reports and research ethics debates. An important moral feature of the

research interventions discussed below is that they involve minimal or insignificant risk or intrusion to personal freedom. I argue that in none of these studies seeking informed consent from participants is necessary. Moreover I argue that because of the common moral features between public health measures and population-based research, some of the reasons that justify limiting personal freedom for the general benefit in public health practice could also apply in population-based research implemented by cluster design, despite the fact that in the latter case individuals are exposed to experimental rather than established interventions.

Environmental and other community level interventions

First of all, let us consider logical reasons for which individual consent may be proved problematic in cluster trials. When an intervention is delivered at a community rather than an individual level, it is not possible to provide each individual affected with a choice: first because the implementation of an intervention across a whole community (cluster) means that it would be impossible to accommodate differing choices of every individual member and second because individuals who oppose to the intervention cannot opt out of the trial. Such studies usually concern environmental public health interventions, such as programs aimed at reducing the incidence of dengue fever (Vanlerberghe et al. 2009), water fluoridation, or mosquito vector controls. When small-size clusters are involved, seeking consent from each cluster member may in theory be possible. However, in such studies individuals cannot realistically exclude themselves from receiving the intervention, and thus seeking informed consent would be pointless as it would undermine the very purpose of consent (unless refusal or consent from individual cluster-member were deemed to constitute some sort of veto on the research program as a whole (Sim and Dawson 2012)).

There also may be logistical reasons for which informed consent would render a cluster study infeasible (Donner and Klar 2004; Vanlerberghe et al. 2009). Certain environmental, or behavioural and social population health interventions that need to be delivered at the cluster level may involve large geographical communities and areas. Because of the size of the study group, logistics (such as timing or difficulties to identify research participants) may suggest that obtaining consent

from all those affected could be very difficult or even impossible (National Bioethics Advisory Commission 1999). Although researchers may wish to be able to enrol in their studies only those individuals who consent, for pragmatic reasons they cannot identify or separate them from those who are not willing to participate (see for instance the example discussed in Chapter 1 of a CRT, which tested the effectiveness of a new insecticide in controlling malaria rates in rural Pakistan. Each of the nine study sectors contained approximately 2000 people living in 400 homes).

In current research ethics discussions as well as the MRC guidelines it is argued that in such cases the role of the guardian is key to the ethical conduct of the cluster trials as they could serve as proxy decision-makers. Moreover, in CIOMS guidelines it is stated that when an intervention is implemented at community level researchers should seek consent from community leaders. As I have already explained (in chapters 2 and 3) this approach is problematic, because none of these solutions constitutes a substitute of informed consent (I discussed this in chapter 3). Yet the fact that the suggested solutions are problematic does not indicate that such studies should not go ahead. As I have already argued when a population-based intervention needs to be implemented at group level and involves only minimal risk or interference with personal life, individual consent is not necessary (see discussion in Chapter 7).

When individual consent is not necessary for a research intervention to be conducted there is no need to search for valid substitutes of informed consent or other proposals that could bridge the legitimacy deficit for cluster-randomized trials. Environmental or community level research interventions that involve minimal or no risk could be decided at a higher level, as in the case of public health measures. The provision of WHO/CIOMS guidelines in the case of community-based research could inform research ethics guidelines concerning this kind of cluster research, even when a study does not target a politically or socially organized community¹¹³: "Where research is undertaken on a community

 $^{^{113}}$ A possible tension between a scientific and lay definition of community is discussed in the Appendix.

basis - for example by experimental treatment of water supplies, by health services research ...individual consent on a person-to-person basis may not be feasible and the ultimate decision to undertake the research will rest with the responsible public health authority." (2002, Guideline 10) In the category of low risk population-based research fall many cluster research interventions, such as, educational practice, data collection including interviews, medical records review and surveys (McRae et al. 2011) experimental treatment of water supplies or of new insecticides¹¹⁴, experimental treatment of new prophylactic or immunizing agents, and of nutritional adjuvants or substitutes.

Surveillance and data collection procedures

Another case of cluster research where informed consent is not possible, because of the size of the clusters involved, concerns the use of existing data on medical records and registries in epidemiological studies. As discussed in the previous chapter, for the legitimacy of such procedures in public health practice a requirement to obtain informed consent is considered irrelevant. These arguments could directly apply in cluster research in cases where there is no a clear line between public health surveillance and public health research interventions (given that specific safeguards apply)¹¹⁵. The main however justification for not requiring individual consent in surveillance and data collection procedures in general is the fact that research data are anonymised and thus that there is no considerable risk involved.

In certain cases however, it may be necessary to collect identifiable private information for research purposes. Taking into account that research intervention is applied at the level of a practice and that it does not affect patient care or other important values we could argue that even for such studies a waiver of consent could be appropriate when the study would not be possible otherwise. An additional reason for which we could consider informed consent as irrelevant in

¹¹⁴ When inseticides have undergone prior safety and efficacy testing (Rowland et al. 2000) do not constitute additional risks for the participants.

¹¹⁵ The same rule also applies in RCT design. There are no different standards for seeking consent where there is not difference between routine and experimental care as I discussed in chapter 7 (when comparing the efficacy of two licensed therapies).

such cases is the fact that the risk involved is a technical matter that few individuals could assess reliably (i.e. in observation studies of an electronic health records the risk is considered to be the breach of data security and confidentiality which extends the capacities of most people (Eyal 2011)). As I have already argued informed consent is not an absolute ethical standard, but a means of securing respect for other, more basic values or aims. Given that specific protections are taken, we could argue that seeking consent from participants is not necessary because a requirement to obtain individual consent could not improve such protections further. These conclusions are compatible with the CIOMS provision: "when the research design involves no more than minimal risk and a requirement of individual consent would make the conduct of the research impractible (for example where the research involves only excerpting data from subjects' records) the ethical review committee may waive some or all of the elements of informed consent" (CIOMS 2002, Guideline 5).

In general much of the information collected in epidemiological surveillance studies is beneficial to community health (Gostin 1991). Yet, although cluster member interests may not be directly affected in surveillance and data collection procedures, we should not neglect the risk that certain epidemiological surveillance studies may involve in undermining the dignity of a cluster or community. Though individual interests may not be at risk (especially when collected data are anonymised) the rights of host populations to express their views concerning the collection, use and dissemination of their data when the risk of stigmatization is present should be well recognized and protected (for instance in HIV/AIDS trials or genomic research involving aboriginal or indigenous groups (Bankert and Amdur 2006, p. 137)). Such provision is missing from CIOMS guidelines, which suggests that there is pressing need for guidance on how community or group interests should be protected when such studies are carried out (I discuss this further in 8.4).

Health services and knowledge translation research

Obtaining informed consent in cluster research may be problematic because of the nature of the intervention. In Health services and knowledge translation

research¹¹⁶, individual consent may be practically impossible because the results of the study cannot be applied selectively to individuals who are patients in the cluster. When cluster design is implemented to assess the effectiveness of alternative health policies and models of care¹¹⁷ seeking consent from individual patients is practically difficult as whole health care units are randomized and the intervention is either administered to the health professionals (training or education) (Figueiras et al. 2006) or involves changes to the health care organization (Taljaard et al. 2009).

For this kind of studies where the immediate target of the intervention is not the cluster members (e.g. patients) but the practitioner (Hutton et al. 2008), we can argue that the interests of the individuals are not directly affected by the intervention. McRae et al. have claimed that a waiver of consent is justified in such cases because cluster members do not constitute research subjects in the strict sense and regulatory and ethical requirements for informed consent only apply to research subjects. Their view seems compatible with my conclusions in Chapter 7.

Not having the right of veto over all choices that affect an individual is most unusual in the context of health research. However that is perfectly in order in other areas of everyday life; for instance obeying the law, paying taxes or providing public services are not practices tailored to individual choice. Even within the sphere of medicine, individual consent is not normally considered necessary in relation to health care interventions when applied at a practice level, for instance, when introducing a change in a general treatment policy across a clinician's practice (or when a public health measure is implemented within a

¹¹⁶ Health services and knowledge translation CRTs commonly apply to health professionals and measure patient outcomes for the assessment of organizational change (McRae et al. 2011).

¹¹⁷ As the outcomes of RCTs cannot be generalized to the broad population (vulnerable groups are usually excluded), and they do not provide information about performance under real-life conditions (Sabin et al. 2008) conventional randomized trials typically address 'efficacy' (performance in subjects most likely to respond favorably under optimal treatment conditions) rather than 'effectiveness' (performance under real-life conditions) to generalize the results of clinical trials to ordinary practice settings (Sabin et al. 2008).

community as I discussed earlier). As noted by Onora O'Neill, there are some public goods that we need to provide as a community that cannot be tailored to individual choice. "Clinical care itself has to be provided to standards and formats that are also largely fixed and uniform, and so cannot be treated as a matter for informed consent. The scaffolding of professional training, of institutional structures, of public funding, of physical facilities are all public goods. The public provision of health care can reflect democratic process, and thereby certain forms of collective choice; but its basic structures cannot be geared to individual choice." (O'Neill, 2004, p. 1135) As Sim and Dawson point out, the fact that these interventions are not subject to individual agreement is not a matter of practicality. It rather reflects an acceptance that such measures, practices are legitimately decided at a higher level: "This may reflect a greater willingness to delegate decision making to professionals in respect of community-level interventions and a tacit acknowledgment on the part of patients that they lack the same central role in such decisions that they possess in relation to individual care" (Sim and Dawson 2012). Delegating these decisions to government institutions is essential so that general welfare can be achieved.

Cluster trials in such cases seem to share some of the features of everyday health care arena, when interventions are implemented at a practice level. Consent is irrelevant with the authorisation of an intervention and thus the acceptability of the intervention should be guided by other ethical considerations. This conclusion is compatible with the solution that MRC guidelines suggest; when the intervention is at the level of a practice and it does not affect patient care, it is provided that explicit consent from individuals is not necessary.

Low research risk, participant rights and civic duties in population-based research

Similarly to public health practice, when nonintrusive population-based research interventions are implemented at community or practice level, obtaining informed consent from each person affected by the interventions may be infeasible and certainly impractical. As explained in chapter 4, by obtaining informed consent we ensure that an individual has accepted the aims of the study and thus that it is legitimate to expose them to research risks for the general benefit. However, in

Chapter 7 I concluded that when research risk is minimal or insignificant participant interests are not compromised (taking into account that other safeguards also apply) and that a waiver of informed consent may be appropriate for both disease-based or population based research. Moreover, in the previous chapter, I argued that when an intervention in public health practice involves only minimal risk or intrusion in personal life, other morally relevant considerations than personal autonomy should take priority, such as the protection or improvement of population health. Based on the common moral features between population-based research and public health interventions we could argue that when a research population-based intervention does not interfere with important values of personal or community life, it is acceptable to require cluster members to sacrifice some freedom (and thus oblige them to participate in a trial from which they have no option to opt out) in order to secure certain social benefits; for instance to protect the most vulnerable members in the community by testing a new prophylactic agent.

We could also argue that by participating in low risk population-based research, cluster members are fulfilling their civic duty because of their contribution to a study which aims to correct health and social disparities and which is connected to social justice. This argument cannot be valid for disease-based research unless it aims to find treatments for diseases/conditions that affect the most vulnerable or disadvantaged groups of the population (e.g. medical research on children). As discussed in chapter 4, Rhodes argued that we all have a moral duty to participate in medical research and that valuable studies should not be restricted due to low recruitment rates. However, in clinical studies, low recruitment rates often concern non-beneficial trials or high-risk research (for which consent would otherwise be necessary) (Bromwich and Rid 2015) and for which only few people would be eligible (participants in unique conditions are needed who are already in vulnerable position because of their disease; e.g. patients suffering from

¹¹⁸ As discussed in Chapter 6, there is a morally relevant difference between population-based and disease-based studies: a condition or disease is considered a population-based concern because the community, in which individuals live or belong to, is at risk of this condition or disease and not because of risk or vulnerabilities sustained by the individual members of these communities.

Alzheimer disease (Grill and Karlawish 2010)), whereas population-based research usually targets healthy individuals or those at risk of contracting a disease. Moreover, as discussed in Chapter 6 a distinct moral feature of population-based interventions is their commitment to social justice (which disease-based studies do not necessarily share). It follows then that the examples which advocates for a moral duty to participate in research refer to, such as jury service and taxation, could, as a general rule, serve as better moral analogies to population-based studies where everyone's contribution is necessary to achieve public or common good. Of course, a moral and civic duty to participate in population-based research would suggest that we should always assess the amount of freedom to be sacrificed and how this relates to the extent of the benefits across community and the needs of the host population in general.

In the previous chapter I also argued that minimal risk should not be defined as commensurate with the risks of daily life of people living in risky environments, rejecting in this way the idea of relative risk (discussed in Chapter 5). I claimed that research risk should be defined more broadly and include not only health interests but also welfare interests and community interests such as financial interests, cultural values and legal interests of the populations targeted by research projects (ensuring in this way that health research is not considered as an isolated activity but within the broader socio-political context in which it takes place). I also suggested the use of an 'intervention ladder' in order to define broad categories of research intervention as more or less risky and intrusive and so to identify cluster randomized trials where robust individual consent is required and those studies where seeking informed consent from individuals is less important or irrelevant. Having examined possible risks for both the individuals and their communities in the examples of cluster research described in 8.1.1. I concluded that lack of individual consent does not make any of these studies problematic because it does not violate the basic rights of participants who are deprived of their particular right to choose. We can conclude that the examples of cluster research described above could serve as paradigms of the "less risky and intrusive" category of health research and that they could used to help health investigators to assess whether seeking individual consent in their study is

necessary.

Instrumental reasons for obtaining consent in low risk research

The examples discussed so far concern cluster-cluster studies where seeking informed consent is infeasible but also unnecessary. However, in contrast to what is often assumed, cluster-cluster trials do not necessarily raise consent issues. In certain cluster-cluster health studies individual consent is possible (i.e. easy to obtain) yet unnecessary. When research risk is low and the study is implemented at a community level, lack of informed consent will not affect the moral integrity of the study but researchers may consider important to obtain consent from individual participants, for instance to ensure compliance or preserve trust (although these aims may also be achieved through other means).

Let us consider for instance a community education approach to public health studied in slums areas in Mumbai where geographical communities were the units of randomisation and intervention 119. A cluster-cluster study was conducted by SNEHA, where cluster members were given the opportunity to voluntarily participate in the study by visiting the health centre in their area. Based on the previous discussion, individual consent was not necessary, since by visiting the health centres individuals were able to show their support or disapproval of the proposed intervention and easily opt out if they disagreed with the aims of the study. However, researchers asked for cluster members' approval. Community members were asked whether they agreed with the opening of a health centre in their community as well as their intentions to visit the centre. Researchers decision to seek individual consent for the intervention in this study may illustrate that there might be another, instrumental, reason for which individual consent should be obtained. By using informed consent processes investigators' work was better known and that increased the chances of the members of community to support and participate in the study. As some participants 120 stated:

So I said if it is about people's health, then definitely I would support. It is also an

¹¹⁹ For more information about the study see the Appendix.

¹²⁰ A description of data collection, data analysis, etc. is given in the methodology section.

issue of my health, my children's health. I understand that this is a kind of serving people (female resident, 29 yrs, intervention area).

Yes, this study should happen. Someone will benefit from it (female resident, intervention area).

Yes, such research should happen because we stay in slums. There are many problems here: diseases, dirt, unhygienic conditions. Research is important to solve these problems (female resident, 45 yrs, control area).

When you do such work the support of the entire community is needed. When there is support from the community, then good work can be done (male resident, 51 yrs, intervention area).

Yes, I thought that it was good. If not for my benefit then at least for someone else's benefit. This should happen. Even if I do not benefit and the area doesn't benefit, at least you (the researchers) will benefit (female resident, 45 yrs, intervention area).

It follows then that when the success of a health study highly relies on participants' willingness to adhere with and support the tested intervention, obtaining consent may not be morally necessary but practically important for health investigators to achieve better results.

8.1.2 | New moral challenges related to the level of randomisation

Obtaining individual consent for randomization may be problematic in both individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials. Some authors have raised concerns that our inability to obtain consent before randomization violates subjects' autonomy rights (Weijer et al. 2011; Donner et al. 2004), while others have suggested that some form of representative mechanism can be allowed to consent for entry of the cluster into a study, provided that careful safeguards are taken and the study is conducted in a transparent manner (Sabin et al. 2008).

Individual consent to randomization is not feasible in individual-cluster trials because random assignment often occurs before individuals are identified or approached (McRae et al. 2011). According to Edwards et al (1999), autonomy in

such cases is lost unless the individual has a democratic choice of who the guardian is and some right to consultation by the guardian. As I have already discussed, however, a guardian's or gatekeeper's consent is not truly equivalent to individual consent and there are certain difficulties with accepting the role of proxy consent in such cases (chapter 3). Nonetheless, lack of individual consent is considered less problematic in individual-cluster trials as consent can be obtained after randomisation and those who do not wish to participate in the study can easily opt out. Individual freedom, choices or rights are not restricted in that case. According to McRae et al (2011) trials where researchers seek individual consent from cluster members at the earliest opportunity and before the start of intervention or data-collection procedures are not problematic. In this way, cluster members can still adopt the ends of the study as their own (agree or deny to be exposed to risk for other people's benefit) and thus the moral purpose of informed consent is fulfilled. Based on their suggestion we can conclude that not seeking consent for randomisation is not problematic, as long as consent from cluster members is obtained before they are exposed to risk. In individual-cluster research not obtaining consent for randomization can be justified because it is the risk of intervention that might undermine individual dignity for social benefit.

However, although McRae et al are right to argue that individual rights are not compromised because of the inability of research participants to consent to randomisation, they fail to explain why (McRae et al. 2011; Donner and Klar 2004) such concern is not valid in the first place. In contrast to conventional clinical research where informed consent is generally considered in terms of a dyadic relationship and constitutes an agreement between clinical investigator and research subject, in cluster trials consent to randomisation concerns a community or group rather than individual decision, because there is no accepted way of allowing some cluster members' decisions to influence the chances of others participating. In short, informed consent cannot be obtained for randomisation purposes because a decision regarding cluster randomisation cannot be decided at individual level.

Cluster-cluster trials as already discussed are more complex. Individual consent is logically impossible before an intervention is assigned to individuals and

individuals often cannot opt out of the trial (in such cases a decision is made for both randomization and participation). Having argued that the use of gatekeeper does not provide a satisfactory solution for addressing the problem of individual consent (same reasons that apply for problems with randomization in individual-cluster trials also apply here) and given the fact that cluster members cannot consent before receiving the intervention, an alternative solution is to argue for a waiver of the consent requirement for randomization purposes. According to the Common Rule the requirement of informed consent can be waived when research does not involve more than minimal risk, the waiver will not adversely affect subjects' rights and welfare, the research could not practicably be carried out without the waiver and, whenever appropriate, the subjects are provided with additional pertinent information after participation. Since in cluster-cluster trials a decision has to be taken for both cluster randomisation and intervention, the same reasons that would justify waiving individual consent for cluster intervention should also justify waiving consent for research randomisation.

As I have already noted, the Common Rule, as well as other research ethics guidelines and regulations, rely on individualized ethical principles and for this reason they are not appropriate to provide solutions to moral challenges associated with the features of population-based interventions. The conclusions however in which I reached in my analysis in the previous chapters are compatible with the provision found in Common Rule. Yet, it is important to note that research ethics guidelines need to incorporate a more comprehensive definition of risk (they should also involve risks for the community or cluster, such as stigmatization), in order to take into account different types of health studies and provide clear guidance to research committees and investigators.

8.2 | Common moral problems associated with the consent requirement in cluster research

In this part I discuss cases of cluster randomized research where obtaining consent is considered problematic for methodological or cultural reasons. In all these cases seeking informed consent is undesirable either because it would undermine the scientific validity of the study or because it would make the research process very

slow and difficult or culturally controversial. The problems I discuss below are no different to problems raised in RCTs.

8.2.1 | Methodological problems with obtaining informed consent in cluster trials

Obtaining individual consent in cluster trials may be problematic for methodological reasons. In certain cases although consent to intervention is in principle feasible, as well as the option to opt out, the consent requirement is viewed as undesirable. Seeking informed consent in certain studies may lead to contamination (which the use of a cluster design aimed to avoid at first place¹²¹), when a cluster trial examines a behavioural or educational intervention¹²² (Eldridge et al. 2005, Glanz et al. 1996), to scientific errors (when it is not possible to answer important scientific questions) or to the recruitment of unrepresentative sample (Hutton et al. 2008; Canadian Institutes of Health Research 2011).¹²³ In all such cases the methodological integrity of the study would be undermined. This is a common problem in both RCTs and CRTs. As stated in Helsinki Code II, some studies would be vitiated if participants were asked to consent.

Methodological problems associated with the consent requirement are typical problems in social research in general, and thus not only related to the research design. One of the most basic axioms in social research is that the methods used (e.g. the presence of a researcher) may alter the behaviour of research subjects

¹²¹ As I explained in Chapter 1 there may be also methodological reasons for using cluster design, when randomization at the individual level may not avoid contamination. For instance, researchers studying the change of social behaviour or the transmission of knowledge may choose to randomise participants at the level of a GP practice or town to avoid social interaction between the participants in close proximity, which will contaminate the study (Taljaard et al. 2009).

¹²² So that those in the control group will not observe and adopt the activities in the experimental group (McRae 2011). This raises methodological challenges at the level of design and methodological analysis (Althabe et al. 2008) as it would undermine the ability of the study to answer the relevant research question. Interventional research without consent is also justified when deception must be used to produce scientific valid data. Much social and behavioural research relies on studies in which participants are deceived about the purpose of the research.

¹²³ Researchers often face the same problems in ordinary trials (RCTs). A common practice to resolve these problems is to withhold information from the control groups.

(Olsen et al, 2004). Although there are many different ways to address this problem, when the aim of the study requires the researcher to minimise the impact of the research process on behaviour, consent should not be obtained (assuming that a waiver of consent is morally justified), as the study needs to be minimally obtrusive and concealed to avoid the possibility of generalisation (Spicker 2007).

Difficulties with obtaining individual consent for methodological reasons are common to all zalen¹²⁴ randomised trials. In RCTs it is generally accepted that an ethics committee should approve a consent procedure that does not include all consent elements or a waiver of the requirement to obtain consent, when the risk is minimal (McRae et al. 2011). As Edwards et al have argued when "Informing the controls fully about the experimental arm(s) is likely to produce the very effect that randomizing by cluster was designed to avoid – that is, prompting controls to adopt the treatment(s) under investigation, one option is to withhold information about the novel treatment from controls, on the grounds that they are getting conventional care and are therefore in the same position as people outside the experiment" (Edwards et al. 1999). Dawson and Gerrard (2006) have argued that the threshold for informed consent being overridden in such cases must be very high. Based on the ethical analysis in Chapter 5, we could argue that not obtaining consent or even refraining from informing controls in such cases is not against participants' interests if two conditions apply: first participants are not made worse off by not receiving the experimental intervention¹²⁵ and second if a research ethics committee confirms that by waiving a consent requirement community values or individual interests are not compromised (thus that all values which informed consent is designed to protect are respected).

As the consent process may substantially lead to study bias in outcomes and participant selection, the reasons for arguing for a waiver of individual consent should be different to those that apply in the cases I described in (8.1). To justify, then, the conduct of a cluster trial despite the absence of individual consent in

¹²⁴ In the zalen design participants are randomised before consent to participate has been sought (Torgerson and Roland 1998).

¹²⁵ I have rejected the idea of ethical relativism in assessing risk thresholds.

such cases, we need to argue that scientific validity takes priority over the moral requirement of consent. Following the discussion on individual consent in clinical studies (in chapter 7) we could argue that the requirement for individual consent might be overridden in cluster health research where several factors, essential for the conduct of a study (e.g. scientific question or administrative difficulties¹²⁶) are incompatible with the consent requirement. Similarly to RCTs in such cases, an independent committee should assess the validity of the reasons for which informed consent is not desirable and whether a waiver of consent could be justified for the trial to go ahead (Hutton 2001).

Since the severity of moral concerns related with our inability to obtain consent will vary from situation to situation, it should be noted that when research risk is greater then the requirement for consent becomes stronger. Although it is essential to ensure that a study has a methodologically sound design, which can produce valid findings and bring about therapeutic benefits, it is also essential to make sure that methodological demands are not considered as a means of avoiding inconvenient ethical requirements, when those are necessary. Especially, when vulnerable populations are to be involved cost or convenience alone are not sufficient criteria to permit a study. According to the moral principle of respect for persons and their communities, discussed in Chapter 5 (which also suggests that vulnerable groups should have additional protections) we should ensure that key questions concerning the risk involved, selection criteria and post trial access¹²⁷ are answered before the conduct of a health study, and thus cluster randomized study in which consent is not possible, is permitted.

We can conclude that although a cluster design may facilitate the conduct of a valuable health research when researchers are faced with financial, methodological, administrative and other methodological difficulties that would practically render a research project problematic by a conventional design, the

¹²⁶ As I discussed in Chapter 1, a conventional design in developing nation settings where special equipment or personnel are required would make the trial organisation and implementation very complicated (Taljaard et al. 2009). Cluster design may be administratively cheaper or more convenient (MRC 2002, p. 4).

¹²⁷ When for instance a safe and efficacious vaccine is tested to HIV patients in endemic areas because of the greater incidence of infection.

conditions under which informed consent could be omitted must be considered first. If a waiver of consent is not viewed as appropriate, using a research design where consent is not possible should not be morally accepted, even if a trial is expected to be very beneficial 128. In International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects the conditions for a waiver of consent are described; it is stated: "when the research design involves no more than minimal risk and a requirement of individual informed consent would make the conduct of the research impracticable, the ethical review committee may waive some or all of the elements of informed consent" (CIOMS 2002, Guideline 4). It is clear that exposing research subjects to risks for the benefit of others without their consent can only be justified if those risks are insignificant. When a study involves more than minimal risk, an alternative design should be considered where at least individuals could freely decide whether they wish to receive the intervention or not (Sim and Dawson 2012) and researchers should find alternatives ways of planning of study procedures and execution (for instance blind randomisation) (Puffer et al. 2003).

8.2.2 | Cultural reasons for not seeking consent in cluster research

I have discussed so far a series of moral and practical reasons for which the informed consent requirement may be problematic in cluster-randomized trials and the conditions under which cluster studies can be morally acceptable despite the absence of consent. Let us now consider whether compatibility with customary religious or cultural practice should be taken into account when deciding the level and type of consent for research purposes.

Another reason for which cluster design may be used in health research is when there is no local tradition of informed consent in the host country and researchers are obliged to obtain permission from local authorities or community leaders. As Taljaard et al. (2009) observe, in developing countries consent should be sought from the head of a village/community before investigators approach or contact individuals.

¹²⁸ This should not only apply to the control group as discussed earlier but to all research participants and clusters.

Difficulties with informed consent procedures are common in health research conducted in developing countries. Although informed consent in general is not sufficient to protect a research participant against abuse (it is an ideal that does not always work in practice), because of the difficulties with comprehension of research information and so on, when a study is conducted in a foreign country things may be even more complicated. Considering lack of access to treatments, poor health, the role of inducements, the inequality of power and resources between sponsor and host countries and culturally and linguistic differences between researchers and potential participants (Ekunwe and Kessel 1984), the complexity of consent forms may not only fail to protect participants from abuse but even fail to ensure that participants have genuinely adopted the aims of the study. In certain cases consent requirements may confuse participants especially when it is not common in their local culture individuals to be asked for consent related to health issues; for instance Rajiv Sakar and colleagues (2009) observe that obtaining consent in an intensive 3 year surveillance study of diarrhoea in young children in India caused various problems in terms of understanding and undue inducements. As they state, despite a high compliance with the study protocol, retention of understanding about the research study was low over a long period of time. Although 89.4% of participants stated that the study was adequately explained during enrolment, only 43.2% could recall that it was on diarrhoea, while nearly half of the respondents said that they would not have participated if free medical treatment were not provided, despite the fact the free medical clinic was not offered at enrolment.

Moreover, in certain cases, whole communities may view with suspicion the intentions of researchers. Indigenous cultural beliefs concerning medical procedures such as blood testing, post-mortem examinations, and others, may be significantly different than those of researchers (Gostin 1991). Obtaining genuine consent, as it is considered in the medical context may also be problematic, because some communities are not familiar with the concept of medical research. In other cases, individuals may refuse to sign consent forms in concern that adverse consequences may follow (such as stigmatisation following a positive

HIV test) or because of false beliefs, for instance that in this way they sign away their basic rights (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

Although in developed countries regulations require that written informed consent is submitted even when research is conducted in different law and cultural settings (Regulations, 45 CFR 46, paragraph. 46. p. 116), obliging an illiterate person who speaks a different language and in whose culture personal autonomy plays no role or a less important role (Christakis 1988)¹²⁹ to conform may be very problematic. In cultures where a person is defined by her relations to others (Christakis 1988) and where there is less perception of conflict between a person and her society (Adityanjee 1986) decisions may be made in village meetings in consultation with the community and its leaders or village elders (Hall 1989). Moreover, in many places such as the Indian subcontinent and West Africa great respect is given to healers and elders (Hall 1989). As Henderson et al. observe in West Africa research participation is highly influenced by the opinion of tribal leader (Gostin 1999). They note that obedience to elders and village leaders is considered such an important cultural value that if permission has been given by a community or family representative, individual refusal may not arise.

It seems then that there are considerable problems of importing a voluntary informed consent concept in developing countries when their participation needs to be based on some culturally appropriate agreement. It could however be argued that despite difficulties in obtaining genuine informed consent or in following standard informed consent procedures, protecting participants from possible exploitation in developing settings is even more important (because of the vulnerabilities of developing populations). Some authors have argued that participant protection is possible when the application of special safeguards takes place (when for instance there is close monitoring, or when the study involves only minimal risk). But, how about informed consent? How should we proceed when research involves more than minimal risk? And in cases where low risk is involved are community leaders the right people to consent on behalf of

¹²⁹ In some communities in developing countries the person is defined by their relations with others in their community.

community members?

The notion of consent on behalf of others is more common and embedded within some cultures in developing countries. However, situations where a community leader or a senior community member typically has the authority to decide on behalf of others, including their participation in research, seems the most problematic. In limited circumstances, in developed countries, the law permits a proxy to consent on behalf of children and adults who lack the capacity (Hill 1987) to consent to research. Proxy consent is consistent with the fundamental principle of respect for persons, which requires that when research is necessary, participants who have the capacity to consent should never be subjected to research without such consent. Some participants may choose to delegate to another person, the decision of whether to participate in research, for instance a patient may delegate this decision to their doctor. However, if such delegation has not taken place, obtaining consent on behalf of competent participants when individual consent is necessary, would mean that researchers have failed to treat all people as moral equals and follow ways that promote their dignity and wellbeing.

I have argued so far that consent given by a gatekeeper or guardian is not morally equivalent to proxy consent. Likewise it could be argued that a community leader should not be considered as a proxy decision-maker. First, although community leaders may be viewed as legitimate community representatives¹³⁰, they may have the same difficulties with community members in understanding research information, be susceptible to inducements or even not be in a position to assess whether a study may harm individual rights and interests. A second and more important reason for which community leaders should not be considered as proxy decision-makers is because by giving consent on behalf of a cluster members the very purpose of consent would be undermined, as none of the elements of informed consent are present when consent on behalf of individuals is given: a cluster representative cannot decide based on specific information about risks and

_

¹³⁰ Even if they are not elected as community representatives, community members may acknowledge them as such.

benefits for every single member of the cluster or ensure that the individuals voluntary accept to participate; they cannot know the decision that each member would make nor meet all individual preferences. Therefore although respect for the cultural values of the host community should be secured, and the position of family or community leaders should be respected, community leaders' decisions and views about cluster participation should not be considered as a substitute of individual consent.

These conclusions seem to refute the provision of CIOMS Guidelines on Biomedical Research, according to which when an individual is not in a position to provide adequate consent, a proxy consent can be given by a trusted community leader¹³¹ (WHO/CIOMS 2002). A possible objection to my argument could be that the principle of respect for persons and their communities, according to the human right to health approach (as discussed in Chapter 5), would require researchers to respect local social values and the culture of the host country. It could thus be argued that it would certainly be wrong to accept that a developed sponsor country has the right to set universal rights to which host countries should comply (ethical imperialism).

However adjusting the consent requirement on the basis of local values could lead to ethical relativism, which I have already rejected in Chapter 5 where I discussed a revised moral framework for research ethics. Although, the research ethics framework based on which my analysis has relied suggests that all those involved in research should understand and protect the values of host countries and their communities, following local values and customs is not sufficient in order the fundamental research ethics principles to be respected. For instance the principle of respect for persons and their communities requires that prospective individual participants, when competent, should be offered information regarding their participation and also consent, when consent is necessary. If obtaining individual consent is not necessary, then a waiver of consent by ethics committee is the most

¹³¹ This is another case where it is evident that existing provisions regarding the conduct of cluster consent are not adequate. As I have explained so far difficulties with obtaining individual consent due to methodological or cultural reasons should not be approached differently to difficulties presented in RCTs.

appropriate solution. If individual consent is necessary (because the risks of the trial are more than minimal and individuals should decide whether they wish to be subjected to those risks), then the trial should not go ahead (despite the fact that the host community may not find absence of individual consent in this case problematic). As already stated practical and methodological implications should not override ethical ones; if voluntary consent ought to be obtained, researchers should not implement a research design where consent is not possible.

These conclusions are consistent with Gostin's (1991) observations. He notes that it is false to equate cultural differences or literacy with the inability to make decisions. Researchers should provide information that is consistent with local language and culture and which is comprehensible for participants. Moreover, he points out that the fact that individuals have strong relationships with their families and community should not be considered as incompatible with the informed consent requirement. Giving respect to community or religious leaders means that they consider and evaluate as important the benefits to their society and not that they are not in a position to understand or decide whether they should participate in a health study or not ¹³²(Gostin 1991).

We can conclude that when community leaders are legitimate community representatives, they can represent the interests of their community (rather than the interests of individual members) and thus ensure a proposed research is consistent with the values and customs of their community. Thus the very term 'consent' should not be used in such cases since a community's legitimate representative cannot realistically consent on behalf of the entire community. A more appropriate term according to Gostin is 'community consensus' which suggests that community leaders represent the local perceptions in population-based research. As I discuss in more detail in the next part (8.4.), the best solution in such cases is for the research protocol to be approved by research committees in both sponsor and host countries to ensure that processes involved are culturally appropriate for the researched populations and thus that the principle of respect

¹³² This would also suggest that researchers have an additional reason to protect the interests of individual participant.

for persons and their communities is respected, before community leaders or cluster representatives are approached. This would ensure that communities are treated with respect and dignity and that researchers avoid any research activity that may harm, stigmatise or demean host communities and their members (according to the revised principle of respect for persons discussed in Chapter 5).

8.3 | Alternatives to the traditional model of informed consent in CRTs

In the relatively limited literature on the ethics of cluster research (discussed in Chapter 2), there is not much clarity about the reasons for which informed consent in CRTs is morally challenging. Most discussions are based on the distinction between individual- cluster and cluster-cluster trials (Edwards et al.1999; Hutton 2001; Mc Rae et 2011) ¹³³, considering the latter category as more problematic, because of the inability of cluster members to consent to and opt out of the research intervention. As a result, current discussions on this matter have mainly been focused on solutions that would bridge the legitimacy deficit, relying on an individualised model of research ethics, such as cluster consent or other substitutes of individual consent e.g. hypothetical consent, as well as on possible ways by which difficulties with the implementation of such solutions can be overcome, e.g. the identification of multiple gatekeepers or guardians and others.

As I have already discussed not all difficulties associated with our inability to obtain consent can be addressed by finding an informed consent substitute, even if we accepted that some of the suggested solutions could successfully play that role. As discussed in section 8.1, when an intervention needs to apply at a cluster level it is impossible to accommodate differing choices of every cluster member. The question that needs to be answered in such cases is not whether individual consent is feasible (as discussed when a cluster-cluster trial involves small size clusters it is possible to obtain individual consent) but whether it is meaningful to seek informed consent in the first place.

¹³³ Although this is an important distinction, it fails to take into account that difficulties with obtaining individual consent in CRTs do not only constitute a problem of practicality.

Moreover, in contrast to what has been suggested in the current research ethics literature (see discussion section in chapter 2 and 4.4 in chapter 4), a single justification for the whole spectrum of cluster research interventions that may restrict individual autonomy is difficult to defend¹³⁴. Let us review some examples of the traditional model of informed consent discussed in chapter 2.

Some authors have suggested hypothetical consent as an alternative to actual consent when the latter is not possible. The problem with this suggestion is that even if we accepted that individual cluster members would agree to limit their personal freedom for the social benefit, we would still need to define the degree of restriction that would be acceptable for research purposes (under what conditions is it acceptable to rely on hypothetical consent?). For example the fact that individual cluster members may be willing to agree to certain restrictions on their personal liberty in order to achieve immune community, does not suggest that they would possibly agree to all possible research interventions testing different types of immunisation; their consent would be necessary for an actual vaccine to be tested on them.

Tacit consent has also been suggested as a solution to justify health research interventions where consent is not possible. Based on an individual's acquiescence to the government's rule and acceptance of the benefits of the society, one could claim that individuals tacitly give their consent to the research intervention¹³⁵. However, as Hume states, mere residence in a jurisdiction is not enough for tacit consent, as the only option would be to leave the country (Wolff 1996). Rousseau makes an even stronger argument that that absence of true freedom to leave the country may not justify tacit consent to the state power. Residence then alone cannot justify why an individual must comply with

¹³⁴ Advocates of a moral duty to participate in research have incorporated some of the justifications I discuss in the paragraphs below in their theory in order to defend a single moral justification for all health research studies (and in particular medical studies). Although some of them admit that certain studies are more risky than others (for instance John Harris) they believe that this fact does not suggest that a moral duty to participate in research is not defensible. In the following paragraphs I explain why this approach is false.

¹³⁵ This view is also implied in contractarian theories for the justification of a moral duty to participate in research.

population-based interventions that restrict personal freedom, especially if those interventions involve personal risk, which an individual cannot avoid.

Rejecting a consent requirement completely on the other hand would not be appropriate. Another attempt to justify health research, as discussed in Chapter 4, has relied on the utilitarian approach. According to this approach an individual has a duty to accept restrictions of personal freedom and obey the state when it maximizes the common good, as Jeremy Bentham would argue. But here again, the problem of fairness would arise since a course of action may favour the majority (host community) but be a great detriment to the minority (clusters or individual participants). Limiting individual informed consent in a public health context, and population-based research, when the risks are prevalent by making the utility comparisons, would be a dangerous route to take (and would certainly be incompatible with research ethics principles I discussed in Chapter 5).

8.3.1 | Cluster consent

Let us now summarise the reasons for which cluster consent cannot provide a satisfactory solution to the problem of consent in cluster trials. As already stated, certain moral challenges presented in cluster research derive from the distinct features of population-based interventions while others are common to all types of health research. For all such problems associated with our inability to obtain individual consent in cluster trials a straightforward solution, such as cluster consent, cannot be appropriate. Although the distinction between individualcluster and cluster-cluster trials could often help us identify difficulties associated with nature of the intervention, and thus with some of the distinct features of population based interventions, this distinction should not constitute definitive moral guidance on how problems related with our inability to obtain consent should be addressed (as discussed in previous paragraphs cluster-cluster trials may also raise problems that are not related to the nature or the level of the research intervention). Moreover, relying on a distinction between individualcluster and cluster-cluster trials to access when researchers should seek consent from cluster members does not provide any guidance on when it is morally justified to use a cluster design or whether and when practical difficulties could override a consent requirement.

When problems associated with the consent requirement are common with those presented in clinical research, we can refer to current research ethics regulations for guidance (to assess whether a waiver of consent may be justified when individual consent is incompatible with the research question). In such cases seeking cluster consent would be pointless, because, as I have already argued, cluster consent does not constitute proxy consent. As Hutton (2001) points out, there is no feasible way to solicit informed consent from each member of a cluster for the cluster's participation in a CRT unless one is prepared to allow a single dissent to block entry.

Cluster consent may be problematic even when difficulties with the consent requirement are related to the specific features of population-based studies. Though a cluster representation mechanism is considered the consensus position in such cases, not much attention has been given on the conditions under which it is morally appropriate to use this mechanism¹³⁶. As already discussed, when a competent adult does not give voluntary informed consent to an intervention in their body or private sphere, when the intervention is substantial, involves considerable risk or restriction of personal freedom and does not prevent severe harm to others, the conduct of the study should not be permitted. In such cases, consent does not constitute a particular right, which can be negotiated in order to allow other competing values to be satisfied. A decision to accept or refuse a risky health intervention cannot be delegated to a cluster representative, even if they have the authority to make such decisions (even if they were elected for this particular role). It is obvious then that another reason for which a gatekeeper or guardian itself should not be considered the resolution of every dilemma or collective action concerning cluster research, is that not all cluster trials involve interventions that justify autonomously waiveable informed consent rights.

However, even if we restrict the role of cluster consent only to studies that involve minimal risk for the participants, it is not clear what safeguards should apply in order to ensure that a decision is made in a transparent and democratic manner

¹³⁶ With the exception of the work done by McRae et al (2011) which however does not depart from the traditional model of informed consent.

(for instance to ensure that a cluster gatekeeper has not been induced to make a decision that is against the best interests of the community, i.e. when a study may lead to stigmatisation) given the imbalance in the power between host and sponsor countries.

As already discussed these decisions are particularly important in collaborative health research in poor settings, where participation may be the only way by which cluster members as patients can have access to health benefits. Given that legal cluster representatives are usually not elected to take decisions concerning community health, their authority to take up such role is especially questionable when a study, for instance, involves medical procedures rather than educational programmes or consultation¹³⁷.

Moreover, as discussed in chapter 3, the use of a representative mechanism for the entry of a cluster into the trial may present moral challenges, as it is often unclear who, if anyone, has the right to speak for a given cluster. There is often not a legitimate community representative that can represent cluster member rights or protect their interests. For instance, the elders of a village may not have formal legal authority to represent their people, although they may be viewed as cultural, religious or community leaders. As already discussed in such cases researchers have a moral obligation to respect local cultures and ask for community consensus (thus a more appropriate term would be 'cluster consensus' instead of 'cluster consent') but they should not conceive community leaders' views as taken on behalf of the individuals in the cluster. Delegating to community leaders the authority to consent on behalf of the cluster would be significantly problematic in cases where cultural practices are not widely supported by everyone who is

_

¹³⁷ My aim here is not to argue that a decision on behalf of a cluster will never be appropriate; when for instance a person has been legally authorised to decide on behalf of their community whether a specific type of health research should be permitted (for instance for decisions concerning environmental health interventions in a particular geographical area), and given that the study only involves minimal risk, then it could be argued that giving permission or withholding permission on behalf of their cluster does not compromise participant interests in an obvious way. However, the existence of a legitimate cluster representative elected to fulfill this particular role in cluster research in a developing setting would be an ideal case and thus should not be used as a guidance on how consent problems should be resolved in cluster research in general.

subject to them (e.g. unpopular practices with people who did not have the power to change them) (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005).

Finally, cluster consent may be problematic even when it is given only for randomization purposes and even when only minimal or no risk is involved and cluster members are able to opt out of the trial. Let us for instance look at the views of the participants¹³⁸ of the community-based study in Mumbai aimed at the improvement of health and nutrition of women through community resource centres¹³⁹. The findings of the survey demonstrate that there is no point in seeking cluster consent when cluster members do not acknowledge a gatekeeper's authority to decide whether their community should be enrolled in a health study.

The transcripts yielded five main themes describing participants' views regarding representation in cluster research: gatekeepers were not considered as community representatives; community leaders should not serve as community representatives; gatekeepers lacked understanding of the purpose of cluster consent; gatekeepers were not interested in the aims of the study; and decision-making should rely on community consultation.

Gatekeepers were not identified as community representatives

The results showed that the gatekeeper (i.e. an individual who consented for the opening of a health centre in their area) was not identified as the person who could represent community interests and values. The gatekeepers were identified only by few residents as the ones who could be consulted by the researchers about the needs and problems of their area, while most people stated that researchers should have asked a different person referring to a stakeholder of a higher post:

The person who has a small office here, the social worker, he can provide proper information [about our community]. He is an old resident, he can tell how this community was, how it has improved (male resident, 35 yrs).

¹³⁸ For more information regarding the methodology of the qualitative study see the methodology section.

¹³⁹ For more information about the health study see the methodology section (setting) and the Appendix.

In our community, there is one person [who can take that role]. The vice president (of our committee) (male resident, 28 yrs, intervention area).

The person who is in charge of the mosque (male resident, 45 yrs, intervention area).

Community leaders should not serve as community representatives

Most of the respondents claimed that corporators (elected community leaders who also served as gatekeepers) should not be considered as community representatives because they exclude community members from decision-making processes and neglect their needs.

That is how Yusuf bhai (corporator) decides. He chooses a few people and arranges a meeting. These people are not from our community. They are rich people 'important people'. He takes their opinion because they can help. These individuals are members of mosque committee, a secretary... (female resident, 25yrs, intervention area).

The corporator decides everything by himself. Meetings don't happen. Whatever decisions are taken, are taken from outside and we do not get to know them here (female resident, 30yrs, intervention area).

The corporators think too high of themselves. They do not feel they need to consult people. This is why they never ask us before making decisions. This should not happen but who will listen? No one will listen to people with no influence or power. The only right way to make a decision is when everyone is consulted in the community (female resident, 29 yrs, intervention area).

Although it was clear that in most areas the corporator (elected community representative) was considered to have the political authority to make decisions for the improvement of their area, the majority of respondents said that they were not happy with the selection of the corporator (of the elected community leader) as a community representative. In few cases participants were strongly opposed to the decision of researchers to ask their corporators to consent for cluster randomisation.

If I knew she took the decision, I would not have allowed the researchers to set up a centre here (female resident, 40 yrs, intervention area).

Most of the respondents stated that their corporator (elected community leader) should not be considered as community representative because residents are not happy with their work. A few people raised concerns about the corporator's skills and qualities:

We got tired of telling the nagar sevak (corporator) about the sanitation issue. He has not done anything yet. Two years now...not even for this road that needs to be fixed. The corporator had told us that as soon as he wins the elections he would repair the roads and drainage in our area... we have been tired of filling applications and making requests for these things. There are still no roads here and children are dying. For all these things he does not have time (female resident, 40yrs, intervention area).

I am that old and no nagar sevak [corporator] has ever come to see what the problem is here...big or small, is not important. When there is a problem in the community, people will discuss it and raise money to resolve it. No one talks to the corporator. Even if we raise the issue, his personal assistant would tell us he is not in the office. We never have a chance to talk to him (female resident, 45 yrs, intervention area).

The nagar savak (corporator) whom we elected...we worked very hard, we put so much effort and made him win. He did not do anything after winning the election. We gave hope on him. Now we only rely on ourselves (female resident, 39yrs, intervention area).

The corporators are not educated people. So if you ask them what is this paper about, they do not know... they will just put a signature and that's it (female resident, 40yrs, intervention area).

The first thing he said he would do after winning is a bathroom. ... We elected him and he insults us this way (female resident, 36 yrs, control area).

Gatekeepers were not interested in the aims of the study

It is interesting that none of the gatekeepers (individuals who gave cluster consent for the opening of a health centre in their area) was interested in learning about the aims of the study in which their cluster was involved:

They did not give any information. They just took my signature...they just said they were doing some survey. I did not ask what the survey was about. We do not have our own problems here? Why should I get involved in other people's matters? So having this in mind I did not bother to find about the issue (female resident, intervention area).

There were some papers, which we read and signed. Whoever comes we consider them as guests. We place our trust on them and sign. Now how they will use that signature, this I do not know. If there will be some loss because of my signature, then we will have to tolerate this. But when we trust someone and sign, I do not think they will use our signature in a wrong way (male resident, 55 yrs).

Gatekeepers lacked understanding of the purpose of cluster consent

Almost half of the gatekeepers who participated in the survey believed that by giving their consent they did not decide on behalf of their community but demonstrated their support to the research project.

Whatever they are doing, let them do it through my signature (female, 45 yrs, intervention area).

No, when they took my signature, they did not tell me for what reason. They just took my signature and told me, when we will come back we will meet you (female resident, intervention area).

Whatever it is, I told them, is good for us. I do social work where. If there is any problem, I will take care of it (male resident, 45 yrs, intervention area).

Decision-making should rely on community consultation

Consulting community members was considered as the right approach by which a decision regarding community matters should be made. All the respondents (residents, gatekeepers and politicians) stated that everyone's support is essential

when a decision about their area has to be taken. A collective decision-making process for community issues seemed to be endorsed even by those who were happy with the corporator's work.

Everyone needs to be consulted. If one takes a decision then the people will not listen. If the work is for the improvement of the community, then they should ask everyone. One cannot decide on this alone (female resident, 25 yrs, intervention area).

If there is an issue about health, then our committee can decide. In our area most people gather together and we take everyone's view on the issue (female resident, 40yrs, intervention area).

Sometimes, the situation is such that there is need for everyone's support. Like when there is a water problem in our community or when there is a conflict somewhere. Everyone is called, we meet and we decide together (female resident, 45 yrs, control area).

We consult everyone in the community. We call a meeting with the most important people in the community. We discuss whether this is for our benefit or not and try to convince each other. Many people need to be convinced, otherwise we cannot take a decision (male resident, politician).

Regarding to the needs of our area, everyone's agreement is essential. Whether a problem concerns community hygiene or health, everyone should be consulted (female resident, 25 yrs, intervention area).

People's support is essential...why? Because everyone, together should take a decision. When a decision is taken by only one person, if a problem arises then that person will be responsible for everyone else (female resident, 39 yrs, intervention area).

The thing is that this is a slum area. And our opinion is that informing people is very important, regarding any decision. What often happens is that even if you do a good job, there always be people who will doubt your intentions (male resident, 28 yrs, intervention area).

We, the residents can only take that decision. Regarding health issues, Yusuf bhai is not responsible (female resident, 32 yrs).

If we consider research participation as a community matter, we can argue that community consultation would have been a better approach to cluster consent in such case. Gallo and colleagues (2012) argue that researchers could understand the social dynamics of the group by consulting with the members of the cluster and their leaders and by asking them questions about the gatekeeper's role¹⁴⁰. The results of this study showed that researchers should have ensured that group members understood and acknowledged gatekeepers' role to make such decisions and acknowledged them authority to do so before asking them to provide consent for randomization purposes. However, the fact that the particular study involved minimal risk and cluster members could voluntary participate or opt out of the trial any time they wished, suggests that although obtaining cluster consent was not appropriate, it did not raise any moral concerns for the protection of the research subjects.

We can conclude that gatekeepers cannot protect or promote a cluster's interests by giving permission for a cluster to be enrolled in a trial, if they do not have legitimate authority to represent the individuals involved and if this authority does not extend to the decision at hand.

8.4 | How should we proceed and what mechanisms should we use to ensure that cluster studies are ethically acceptable when informed consent is not possible?

In the previous part I argued that cluster representation does not constitute a satisfactory solution to the problem of informed consent, for both moral and practical reasons, and that the decision for the conduct of a cluster randomised study should be in the responsibilities of a legitimate political authority¹⁴¹ after

¹⁴⁰ Gatekeepers are not necessarily group leaders.

¹⁴¹ It is important however to consider that special attention should be paid to decisions that could lead to practices that exploit the cognitive weaknesses of citizens and act against their health interests. Corruption is an important factor that should be taken into

the study has been reviewed by an research ethics committee. Collaborative health research, which aims to improve the health status of a developing population, should be part of a country's policy, similarly to decisions concerning the implementation of public health measures 142. As I discussed in Chapter 5, states have a duty to look after the important needs of their people individually and collectively. This duty ranges over obligations concerned with the provision of health care services and through public health measures and with securing certain social determinants of health. Studies that aim to address health inequalities and assist states to meet for their citizens their human right to health (clinical studies, public health studies, epidemiological studies and others) should be supported by their governments. Stakeholders within diverse democratic communities should be assisted in deciding which kinds of research should be fostered and supported, and which should be either rejected or reformed. For this reason it is essential that accessible standards are set for differentiating between studies that are morally acceptable and those that are not. This is the role that IRBs and RECs should fulfill.

8.4.1 | The role of research ethics committees

As noted by the Nuffiled Council on Bioethics "An ethical analysis does not concern itself only with identifying and setting out appropriate general values and principles. It also has to concern itself with the institutions and procedures through which these principles are put into practice. The establishment and maintenance of research ethics committees is just as much an essential ingredient in the proper conduct of research related to health care as the functioning of political institutions is essential to the proper conduct of government." (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2005, Chapter 4). Research ethics committees are essential

account when discussing the ethics of collaborative research. In certain cases a reason for which a state may fail to provide to its citizens basic conditions for their well-being and development may is by inappropriately restricting institutional spaces or neglecting basic social institutions. Corruption would certainly have implications in the conduct of health research, as it may fail to protect participants from exploitative practices and it may also constrain collaborative relationships between host and sponsoring countries.

¹⁴² The fact that political leaders may not be experts on the relevant issues in health research does not make their decision problematic as governments and other political authorities could use help of expert advisors (as in other areas for instance economics, law, foreign policy).

to ensure that health related research is abiding by various ethical principles and that reasonable limitations are imposed on research participation. In other words, the role of research ethics committees is to serve as guarantors that a cluster-randomised trial is morally justified and to provide overall ethical scrutiny of the study especially from the perspective of research participants and their communities.

Research ethics committees should first assess whether the use of a cluster design is appropriate for the study in question (whether a cluster-randomized design is a methodologically sound decision). If a proposed study protocol does not present clear reasons for which the consent requirement cannot be fulfilled, responsible committees should ensure that cluster-randomized trials are not merely used as a means of avoiding inconvenient ethical requirements. They must ask health investigators to clearly justify and present their reasons for not obtaining informed consent in those particular circumstances (for instance the possibility of answering an important proposed research question which is not compatible with the consent requirement) (Sim and Dawson 2012). When there are solid reasons for which a study is not compatible with the individual consent requirement, research committees should consider whether the study in question qualifies for a waiver of individual consent.

To decide which kind of health research should be supported and which rejected or reformed it is important that there is differentiation between reasonable and excessive risks. This is essential in order REC s and IRBs fulfil a 'gate-keeping' role for the protection of research participants and their communities as well as being capable of securing and preserving public trust (London 2006). One way to achieve this aim (as I argued in the previous chapter) is for research ethics guidelines to develop and implement risk-adapted consent standards, to classify risks to participants in categories (e.g. low, moderate, high) and specify risk-adapted consent standards for each category. Risk-adapted standards suggest that risk is an important factor that influences the informed consent process (as I have already explained in chapter 7 consent is more likely to be invalid as the risks of

research increase)¹⁴³ (Bromwich and Rid 2014). Bromwich and Rid (2014) have suggested that a collection of examples would cover the most common research interventions in medical research and that such examples could be used as paradigm to assess levels risk. Applying this suggestion in cluster research or health research in general, investigators and RECs could interpret which level of risk concerns the protocol under consideration and thus whether waiving an informed consent requirement could be justified. When a waiver of informed consent is justified, research ethics committees should ensure that appropriate safeguards for the protections of individual and community interests are satisfied (e.g. the privacy or confidentiality of medical and personal data).

Finally RCT should not be presumed as the paradigm method of health research for research ethics committees. Future revisions of research ethics guidelines and regulations are important in order take into account that alternative to RCT design research methods may also be preferable and useful (Sim and Dawson 2012).

8.4.2 | Community involvement in cluster research

Although research ethics committees and institutions research boards are well positioned to assess both the ethical and the scientific aspects of a cluster-randomised trial protocol, this does not mean that consultation with interested communities relevant to the proposed research cannot and should not occur.

Community consultation has been considered an important mechanism for the protection of group interests in health research and it is often described as a partnership between researchers and participant communities. It can be provided from research design to publication (i.e. consultation over protocol development, involvement in the conduct of research, dissemination of information, and publication of results) (Weijer and Emanuel 2000; Ross et al. 2010). Weijer and Emanuel (2000) note that the degree of this participation will depend on the

_

¹⁴³ Some critics object that such classifications are complex and controversial (European Clinical Research Infrastructures Network 2010; Rid and Wendler 2010). However, the benefits of risk-adapted consent standards arguably outweigh the disadvantages in order to avoid a 'one-size-fits-all' approach to consent, which can unnecessarily delay or impede valuable research.

characteristics and the cohesiveness of the group (whether for instance a group has a common history or culture that should be protected). The aim of community consultation is to gain community input in the decision making process (Marshall and Berg 2006) by involving community in the development, review and oversight of a research study (Marshall and Berg 2006). There are various ways by which to conduct community consultation and involvement in research and different approaches on how to achieve this; such as conducting meetings with the communities, surveying relevant groups by telephone discussions, public notification mechanisms, identifying community leaders and others (Kudson et al. 2004; Marshall and Berg 2006). Plans for successful community engagement are stated in recent guidelines such as 'Good Participatory Practice Guidelines' for research on HIV prevention by United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS and involve community empowerment, capacity building and education (Berg 2006)¹⁴⁴.

Having questioned the authority of gatekeepers, guardians and community leaders to protect cluster interests by providing cluster consent in most cases of cluster research in developing countries, we can claim that community values and beliefs, community reputation, social practices and tradition, and other cluster and community interests could be also protected when community representatives (gatekeepers, guardians and community leaders) are involved in cluster consultation. Cluster representatives may consult health investigators whether a research protocol, after it has been approved by a research ethics committee, is in line with the values and customs of the community or cluster (Bolton et al. 2003). Gatekeepers, guardians, and community leaders may also provide feedback and advice to researchers on the conduct of a study, for instance, provide insights as to the cultural appropriateness of different intervention activities.

-

¹⁴⁴ Difficulties with these approaches have already been discussed in chapter 2: how a community is defined and who should speak on behalf of the community, who is the relevant representative (Marshall and Berg 2006). Despite these difficulties such initiatives should be encouraged as group interests are recognized as important and required protection.

When there is not a specific person or group of people who can undertake the role of representative (see for instance community-based study in Mumbai discussed earlier), community consultation may be realised by community advisory boards (CABs) where members from communities participate. This mechanism allows researchers to understand and assess the context in which different communities understand risks and benefits. As Sandra Crouse Quinn (2001) points out cluster consultation may be given in all stages of the research process that may involve community advisory boards. In this way both individual and community interests can be protected and a potential conflict between them is avoided.

8.4.3 | The role of information in cluster research

According to Hutton (2001), trial information should be provided even in cases where a member of a cluster cannot opt out of the intervention (for instance, when an insecticide is sprayed throughout their village). It is argued that although providing information in those cases could either increase goodwill or a research subject's concern, a failure to inform a research subject might result in a sense of violation (Ashcroft 1998; Snowdon et al. 1999). Based on the discussion above it is obvious that there is an additional reason for which information is necessary in cluster health research, even if individuals cannot opt out of the trial. In the previous chapter I argued that decisions concerning the implementation of public health practices and policies should rely on a procedural justice approach (an approach that focuses on fair, open and transparent procedures to ensure negotiation of substantive disagreement about, practices or policies (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007)) and explained that these procedures should be transparent, fair and inclusive (Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2007) Transparency in decision-making processes should also apply in research settings so that those affected recognize such decisions as being helpful in meeting health needs fairly¹⁴⁵. For this reason the involvement of individual cluster members and

Although in certain cases a population-based research intervention may be more beneficial for some individuals than others (e.g. for the vulnerable members of the cluster), it is important that a government 's decision to approve such study is viewed as fair by everyone. As discussed in Chapter 5, the human right to health approach suggests that the principle of beneficence should be restricted by the principle of justice and the principle of respect for persons (and their communities).

community representatives in decision-making processes (by for instance providing consultation concerning the design of the study) is important, as in this way research participants have the opportunity to challenge research interventions and raise their concerns (through focus groups or surveys or in other ways), especially where there is possibly mistrust on a research issue.

As I discussed in chapter 4 when informed consent from the participants cannot be obtained we need an alternative way of ensuring that participants/ cluster members agree with the aims of the study. As reducing choices requires justification in all policy decisions, procedural justice arrangements can form an appropriate means of reconciling different preferences within a community or cluster, even if the final decision does not meet with everyone's approval. If relevant consultants have strong negative reactions or endorse particular modifications, "those reactions or modifications have significant moral force and warrant respect and careful consideration" (Dickert and Sugarman 2005, p. 1124).

8.4.4 | Achieving participant protection in cluster research at institutional and societal level

Taking the provisions described above into account we could argue that in population based research, the protection of human participants is not limited to the individual level but it can also be realised and may even be more effective at the institutional and societal level^{146, 147}.

Community involvement in cluster research may help to democratize health research by promoting public monitoring of research agendas. It could motivate community members to be involved in discussions regarding their local health needs and research priorities, distributions of research outcomes and level of

¹⁴⁶ Even when a collaborative health research study is industry-funded, these safeguards should not be neglected. Although I have argued so far that states have the main responsibility to meet their citizens right to health, this does not absolve other parties, in particular the corporate sector, from their responsibilities. Pharmaceutical companies may have different motivations for pursuing social responsibility strategies, but it should be recognised that they have obligations in complying with relevant research laws and guidelines.

¹⁴⁷ Rhodes attempted to introduce that idea for medical research, which, however, proved problematic to apply in practice.

acceptable intrusion for the social good. Community engagement may promote an informed and engaged citizenry, ensure respect for divergent values that different communities may have, make research operations more comprehensive to the public involved, respect community priorities, and protect the interests of communities involved and their members (for instance in community advisory boards increased representation and involvement of diverse community members can be achieved). Finally, community involvement in research may promote researchers' and institutions' accountability and address the needs of their most disadvantaged populations more effectively.

8.5 | Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to suggest solutions to the moral challenges related with our inability to obtain informed consent in cluster research. I explained why solutions found in research ethics literature, such as cluster consent, are not adequate in meeting such challenges and argued that legitimate political authorities should take decisions regarding population-based research. I reviewed the role of research ethics committees and discussed the importance of community involvement in ensuring that a research proposal is consistent with both the principles of research ethics and the local values of researched communities.

Conclusion

The aim of this thesis has been to explore and discuss the distinct ethical issues raised by the conduct of cluster randomised trials in developing countries and in particular those related to informed consent and representation. In contrast to ordinary randomised trials (RCTs), cluster randomised trials (CRTs) involve groups of individuals (clusters), rather than individuals themselves, and for this reason they present challenges on the nature and practice of informed consent. First of all, individuals (cluster members) can only participate in a study if their cluster is entered into a trial. Therefore, a decision regarding cluster randomisation is usually made before informed consent from cluster members is obtained. This raises important questions, such as: Who should make that decision? and Who has the right to decide on behalf of the cluster and based on what criteria? Considering that such decision may exclude individuals from receiving important benefits by participating in an, otherwise beneficial, study, answers to the questions above may have a significant impact on people's lives, especially in developing countries. In several cases, cluster studies may considerably differ to studies employed by conventional design, as consent may not be sought from all those affected by the intervention. In such cases, a decision needs to be made for both cluster randomisation and intervention, and therefore, it may not be possible for individuals to opt out of the study (for instance, when a large-scale trial tests new insecticides). Questions raised in such cases are: Is a trial legitimate to carry out, when individual informed consent is not possible? Does lack of individual informed consent violate the rights of the participants? When individuals cannot decide for themselves whether they should participate or not, who should make that decision?

According to research ethics guidelines and regulations, obtaining informed consent is an essential ethical requirement for study participation in health research. By providing informed consent a competent person demonstrates that they freely give permission to be used for social benefit, based on an adequate understanding of information related to that decision. It is obvious then that cluster trials, because of their structural features do not fit within the existing research ethics framework. On the other hand, taking into account that the cluster design is an important methodological tool in health research, forbidding its use, because of the difficulties with obtaining informed consent, may be at significant cost.

Several solutions have been suggested to resolve the problem of consent in the limited literature on the ethics of cluster research. The use of gatekeepers, individuals who can serve as cluster representatives and consent on behalf of cluster members, has been the most popular suggestion (Edwards et al. 1999; MRC guidelines 2002; Hutton 2001; Donner and Klar 2000). However, as I explained, such as solution creates serious problems for the protection of both individual and cluster interests and should not be considered as a substitute of informed consent. I also discussed the views of Gallo et al. (2002) and the suggestions of the recent Ottawa statement (2013) for a more restricted role of gatekeepers in CRTs and the importance of cluster consultation in the absence of a legitimate cluster representative. I argued that these views cannot provide much guidance for those engaged in collaborative health research in developing countries, where clusters involve communities that lack political or social structures.

I concluded that, to decide whether and when it is acceptable to conduct a cluster study when informed consent is infeasible to obtain, we should first consider under what conditions we could morally accept the exposure of some individuals to research conditions without their consent for social benefit. By discussing the main arguments for the justification of health research based on the moral

approach normally taken in the research ethics literature, I examined the implications for cluster research where individual consent is absent. I concluded that none of them could serve as a default justification for limiting individual autonomy for research purposes, and that a different perspective needs to be adopted from the one commonly taken in respect to conventional randomised trials.

I argued that in order to meet moral challenges in cluster research a less individualistic research ethics framework should be adopted that takes into account the variety of health studies conducted in developing settings, as well as the broader socio-political context where collaborative health research takes place. I introduced the 'human right to health' approach and claimed that aim of collaborative health research should be to address health needs that cannot be feasibly or more efficiently met with existing knowledge and the resources of the host country. I argued that in contrast to current approaches for the justification of health research (precautionary approach, utilitarian approach, communitarian approach, contractarian approach and others) the suggested moral framework could provide better safeguards for the protection of participants and their communities in health research (by demonstrating the way in which inequalities in global health should be considered and addressed, the moral criteria based on which potential participants should be selected or not selected, and what should be considered as fair or appropriate distribution of benefits and risks). Moreover, I claimed that a human right to health approach could also support and encourage socially valuable research by taking into account a variety of health related studies conducted in developing settings (e.g. research into genetic determinants of disease, non-clinical research on finding better ways of delivering existing products and services, and others), which have not attracted much attention by existing clinically-centred guidelines and debates on research ethics. By presenting a revised version of the principles of Belmont Report based on the suggested research ethics framework, I argued that within this framework important moral issues in collaborative health research on risk assessment, exploitation, participant rights and researchers' obligations could be better understood and addressed.

In contrast to current approaches on the ethics of cluster research, I argued that for all problems associated with our inability to obtain individual consent in cluster trials, a straightforward solution, such as 'cluster consent' or 'community consultation' is not appropriate. I suggested that a distinction between 'population-based research' (research that focuses on populations rather than individuals) and 'disease-based research' (research that aims to find treatment for particular diseases that affect individuals), introduced by Taylor and Johnson (2007), can help us better understand and address the ethical challenges raised in the cluster design and in particular the problem of informed consent. To provide then answers to the question: "How should we proceed when informed consent in a cluster study is not possible?", we should distinguish between the cases where informed consent is problematic because of the distinct features of 'populationbased' interventions (e.g. cases where the intervention needs to be tested at community level) and those where informed consent in CRTs may be problematic for reasons that investigators may encounter in other research designs (e.g. in order to avoid research bias). I noticed that a distinction between new and common problems with the consent requirement in CRTs is very important and should be part of the discussion on the ethics of cluster research.

Having argued that new challenges concerning our inability to obtain consent in cluster trials are related to the distinct features of 'population-based' interventions (which focus on populations rather than individuals), I examined the common morally relevant features of 'population-based research' interventions and public health measures. By reviewing the conditions under which it is morally legitimate to restrict personal freedom/autonomy for social benefit in different public health measures, I explored whether the same justifications could apply in similar interventions for research purposes. Moreover, I noticed that cluster trials, due to their experimental nature, inherit most of the 'generic' problems of health research, which have been widely discussed in the existing research ethics literature (e.g. research bias, cultural differences between host and sponsor countries), as well as some of the specific problems that investigators face in medical research when cluster trials involve clinical procedures (e.g. risk for bodily integrity). I claimed that, to successfully deal with the problem of informed

consent in CRTs, it is important to also examine the role of informed consent in clinical ethics. I then compared different standards for seeking informed consent in clinical research and public health settings and concluded that informed consent requirements in cluster trials should be adjusted to the level of risk involved. I contended that a more comprehensive definition of research risk than that found in current research ethics guidelines is needed in order to take into account different types of health studies that may be conducted in developing settings and to provide clear guidance to research committees and investigators. I claimed that research risk should be defined more broadly and include not only health interests but also welfare interests and community interests (such as financial interests, cultural values and legal interests of the populations targeted by research projects). I also proposed the use of an 'intervention ladder' in order to define broad categories of research intervention as more or less risky and intrusive and, in this way, to provide a method for identifying cluster randomised trials where robust individual consent is required and studies where seeking informed consent from individuals is less important or irrelevant.

I claimed that although the distinction between individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials (introduced by Edwards et al. 1999, and adopted by MRC guidelines and debates on the ethics of cluster research) could often help us identify difficulties associated with the nature of the intervention, and thus with some of the distinct features of population based interventions, it should not constitute definitive moral guidance on how problems related to our inability to obtain consent should be addressed. Relying on a distinction between individual-cluster and cluster-cluster trials cannot provide any guidance on when it is morally justified to use a cluster design or whether and when practical difficulties could override a consent requirement. Moreover, I argued that in contrast to what has been suggested in the current research ethics literature, a single justification for the whole spectrum of cluster research interventions that potentially restrict individual autonomy is difficult to defend. In such case, the question that needs to be answered is not whether individual consent is feasible but whether it is morally relevant to seek informed consent in the first place.

To summarise, I suggested that to decide on the appropriate informed consent standards that should be followed in a CRT, it is important first to consider whether the study in question concerns a clinical or non-clinical activity. Then, according to the features of each study, we should define broad categories of research intervention based on (i) the level of risk involved (distinguishing them as more or less or non-risky) and (ii) the level of intrusion involved (their impact on personal freedom). In this way, we can identify (a) broad types of cases that require robust consent, minimal consent or a waiver of consent, when a study concerns a medical intervention or directly applies to individuals (and thus where individual choice is relevant); and (b) broad types of cases where explicit individual consent is needed or can be replaced following a procedural justice approach, when a study concerns an intervention that applies in practice or community level.

Based on the human right to health approach, I explained that the principle of respect for persons does not suggest that the consent requirement is paramount and noted that it is important to ensure that individuals and their communities are not excluded from studies that could help them address their needs and meet their basic rights. I concluded that lack of individual consent does not violate the basic rights of participants who are deprived of their particular right to choose in population-based studies, provided that minimal or insignificant risk is involved and that other safeguards also apply (e.g. a decision regarding post-trial access has been made in advance). I listed in the category of low risk 'population-based research' many cluster research interventions that are often carried out in developing settings, such as educational practices (when they are not controversial), medical records review and surveys, experimental treatment of water supplies or of new insecticides (when insecticides have undergone prior safety and efficacy testing), health services and knowledge translation research. I noted that individuals should never be forced to participate in studies that involve substantial interventions, interventions in their body or private sphere, or those that involve considerable risk or restriction of personal freedom (except from cases of emergency). I claimed that a decision to accept or refuse a risky health intervention should never be delegated.

I explained that difficulties with obtaining individual consent due to methodological or cultural reasons should not be approached differently to difficulties presented in RCTs and that although a cluster design may facilitate the conduct of a valuable health research when researchers are faced with financial, methodological, administrative and other similar difficulties, the conditions under which informed consent could be omitted must be considered first. I then discussed cases where seeking informed consent is necessary and when the consent requirement could be overridden by other competing moral values (such as respect for local culture). I concluded that local cultures should be respected but not transgress absolute moral principles.

Finally, I discussed the procedures that should be followed to ensure that a cluster trial is morally legitimate to proceed despite the absence of informed consent and how my arguments relate to the 'human right to health' approach. I argued that a decision regarding the conduct of research should be within the responsibilities of the legitimate political authorities of the host country (and not of cluster gatekeepers or community leaders) and that communities that lack pre-existing political and social structures should not be neglected in health research. I claimed that although consent may not be possible, the right of individuals and their communities to be involved in discussions regarding their local health needs and research priorities and level of acceptable intrusion for the social good, should not be disregarded. I discussed the importance of procedural justice arrangements in forming an appropriate means of reconciling different preferences within a community or cluster, when informed consent from the participants cannot be obtained and that strong negative reactions should be carefully considered, if a final decision cannot meet everyone's approval. Finally, I reviewed the role of research ethics committees in ensuring that a research proposal is consistent with both the principles of research ethics and the local needs and interests of researched communities. I concluded that collaborative health research, which aims to improve the health status of a developing population, should be part of a country's policy, similarly to decisions concerning the implementation of public health measures, and that human subjects should be protected at individual, social and institutional level.

Appendix

Conflicting interests: possible tension between community and science

Aim of this chapter is to examine the uncertainties in defining communities in relation to the scientific notion of the cluster in collaborative health research. By presenting the views of participants in a community-based CRT in Mumbai, India, we¹⁴⁸ investigate whether residents' sense of community matches with the scientific notion of the cluster, defined by the investigator as a geographic area, and explore the extent to which the cluster trial answers their needs. We then examine whether the possibility of a conceptual mismatch is likely to have methodological implications for the study. I argue that it is important to take social factors into account as well as statistical efficiency when choosing the size and type of clusters and designing a trial. One method of informing such design would be to use existing forums for community engagement to explore individuals' primary sense of community or social group and, where possible, to fit clusters around them.

¹⁴⁸ The analysis in this chapter is based on a collaborative work between S. Lignou, S. Edwards, D. Osrin, S. Das, G. Alcock and J. Mistry (a multidisciplinary team with backgrounds in medicine, research ethics, social sciences and both quantitative and qualitative research methods). For more information please refer to the methodology section.

A.1 | Introduction

The principle of respect for communities¹⁴⁹ and practices such as community engagement have become important ethical requirements for the empowerment of participant communities and the protection of group interests in international collaborative research, as well as for enhancing the quality of research, in both international guidelines and the bioethics literature (Hunter 2012). For instance, in the recent Ottawa Statement (2013) it is recommended that cluster consultation may ensure that the cluster randomized trial addresses local health needs and is conducted in accord with local values and customs (Gallo et al. 2012). This has happened without providing much guidance on a clear definition of 'community' and thus lacks useful direction for conducting community engagement or community consultation. As a result, researchers have employed a variety of definitions of community (external definitions), and utilized different practices and procedures, to secure the ethical conduct of their research (Ragin et al 2008).

The choice of clusters to recruit into trials may be influenced by a number of factors, including ease of recruitment and type of intervention to be evaluated. Clusters usually have geographical boundaries, although this is not always necessary. For statistical efficiency, it is important to keep the size of the cluster, in terms of participants, as small as is feasible to reduce the problems associated with intracluster correlation coefficient (ICC).

The importance of communities and their protection in strengthening the ethics of international collaborative research is increasingly highlighted (Weijer 2000), but there has been debate about the meaning of the term 'community' and its specific normative significance. As a result, a variety of definitions of community have been employed by researchers (for instance in public health programmes and policy 'community' is where prevention and intervention take place (Mac Queen et al. 2001) and different practices have been used to consult or engage communities (Ragin et al. 2008; Fleischman 2007; Israel et al 2005). In general,

¹⁴⁹ According to this principle investigators have an obligation to respect communal values, protect and empower social institutions, and, where applicable, abide by the decisions of legitimate communal authorities (Weijer and Anderson 2002).

community indicates "a sense of belonging together" (Weber et al. 1978) and may refer to a group of people with common characteristics, such as race, religion, profession or living in the same locality (CDC/ATSDR 1997; Tindana et al. 2007; Ragin et al. 2008).

There are often important differences between internal and external definitions of community: the way in which the members of a community define it and the way in which it is defined by others (Anderson 1983). This dissonance can lead to dispute (Sharp and Foster 2007). As Marsh et al. (2011) noted, in international collaborative research, definitions of community are usually made externally, based on the aims and the context of a study (involving, for instance, groups of people with a certain disease or risk-factor, those served by a particular health facility, living in the same geographical locality or having a legitimately elected leadership (Goodman et al. 1993; Couzos et al. 2005; Vallely et al. 2007; Upshur et al. 2007; Cargo and Mercer 2008; Minkler et al. 2008; Ragin et al. 2008; Shagi et al. 2008). Non-theorists' definitions of community have rarely been explored (Ragin et al. 2008; Shagi et al. 2008).

Previous studies have shown that participants' definitions of community do not necessarily coincide with those used by scientists. For instance, in a community consultation for emergency research, the authors found that researchers considered 'PAD Trial community' to mean persons of a specific age, those with a potential for cardiac arrests and geography (building or units), while participants' definitions of community varied as a function of the purpose of the definition and the demographics of the respondents (Ragin et al. 2008). Researchers in a recent vaccine trial found that participation established mechanisms for information sharing and created relationships between participants, but excluded other members of the same village (Marsh et al. 2011). Many discussions on protection of vulnerable groups in health research, and on guidelines for protection of indigenous communities in genomic research, have also been based on the fact that individuals' rights and interests had been violated in the past by involuntary consideration of members of the groups studied (Sharp and Foster 2007).

A CRT involving slum settlements in Mumbai, India, presented us with an opportunity to consider some of these issues specifically in relation to cluster trials. Our objective was to examine the uncertainties in defining communities (by taking into account that there is a variety of definitions of community) in relation to the notion of the scientific cluster (taking into account that clusters are defined by methodological and practical concerns of the research proposal). We aimed to inform the idea of community in CRTs by developing an understanding of participants' definition of community and the factors that help shape their views. We investigated whether residents' sense of community matched the scientific notion of the cluster, defined by the investigators as a geographic area. We considered whether the possibility of mismatch was likely to have methodological implications for the study (beyond a simple statistical adjustment traditionally called intra-cluster correlation coefficient, ICC), as well as present ethical challenges such as stigmatization of vulnerable groups, potential social disharmony because of the interventions in the study and political difficulties for any cluster representative. If there were differences between scientific and lay views, a cluster trial might create social and political conflicts by artificially dividing pre-existing communities, or by forcing together different factions in the same cluster and offering interventions and shared resources only through coerced collaboration.

In examining participants' idea of community, we wanted to explore how, in practice, to determine what the concept of 'community' should be taken to mean substantially in different contexts (i.e., what are participants' particular conceptions of community in different studies being conducted and among different populations with different conceptions of community) and how should researchers take into account these conceptions in determining clusters in their studies.

A.2 | Results

Many respondents did not immediately identify with the term 'community' and some struggled to understand the question, "when we talk about 'community' how do you think of it? What comes to your mind?" As a result, the interviewer sometimes prompted the respondent with the idea of community as being

geographically based, which invited a closed choice. This may have suggested that respondents were unsure of what constituted their community or that the idea of community did not always sit comfortably with those who live in mixed ethnic and racial groups where there might have been a history of discord. In addition to notions of community, which related directly to the scientific idea of a geographically bound cluster, respondents were asked specifically about community relations to help interpret their uncertainty, and for any additional functional conceptions of community.

The transcripts yielded four main themes describing notions of community people living in a locality, social cohesion, shared problems or projects, and the moral status of groups. While these ideas offered a mixed definition of community, the responses at least suggested a common denominator: a shared identity with others. On top of this idea, other different and sometimes inconsistent thoughts on community seemed to emerge, suggesting that respondents were using the term flexibly to suit their different needs and preconceptions.

A.2.1 | Community as people living in a locality

Almost all respondents included a geographical element in their definitions. "... I consider everyone to be my community. The people who stay around, who stay in our area, they are only our community people (female resident, 39 yrs, intervention area)." Most defined their community as a group of people living in the same area, which conveyed a shared sense of 'localness' from their immediate environment:

Community is one ... that which comprises local people - that's community (male resident, 28yrs, intervention area).

For me community is basically my surrounding, my people around me; that's community for me (corporator, area?¹⁵⁰).

Everyone said that community comprised their neighbours, regardless of religious, ethnic or caste differences. These responses were spontaneous and

¹⁵⁰ Researchers are unsure of the respondents' location in which they lived.

suggest that the idea of living in a 'mixed' community required explanation. For example, one male resident in a control area said, "... here there are Maharashtrians, Mohammedans and people of other caste, religion and ethnicity. It's a mixed community here." Interestingly, few respondents included religion alone as the determining factor. Many thought that it was important to give explicit acceptance to the idea that people with different religious beliefs could stay together in one place. The double negative in a response such as "we are *not* from *different* communities" may have reflected a degree of ambivalence or the need to express a socially acceptable view:

... be it Hindu, Muslim, Christian, we don't feel that we are from different communities. We all stay together, we become part of one community. Wherever we meet, we are known as being people from Z. So, we trust the community that stays here and stays together (male resident, 55 yrs, area?).

As with religion, so with caste. Respondents explicitly and spontaneously rejected the view that community equated to caste, a view which they recognized might be common: "These caste-caste people say that this is my community ... It is not ... that I will consider people of my caste to be my community. Everyone is my community (female resident, 29 yrs, intervention area)." Here, community is broader, more embracing of society. Given that all respondents lived in Mumbai slums, the explicit desire to include people from other castes is interesting and may convey a sense of social aspiration by identifying, or even a wish to project a sense of social responsibility onto those more fortunate by claiming a common bond. It seemed acceptable, however, to identify with a place of origin. Some identified their communities as from Uttar Pradesh, some from Gujarat – a solidarity that was often accompanied by language differences - and some in terms of long duration of residence.

The boundaries of the geographical community were closer for some than for others, especially when additionally determined by social relationships:

... the thing is, our area is divided ... This way if you come here and ask us, then we will tell you ... these two roads are divided. So in between these two roads, the 10 and 11 Road is there. If you come with people from there and then if you want some information, then why will we give you? (female 40 yrs, intervention area).

The respondent, who lived in Road 13, said that she had refused to participate in a study in which the researchers were accompanied by people from Roads 11 and 12.

A.2.2 | Community in terms of social cohesion

A few respondents included family in their responses about community. "My community is my children ... my family ... my own. That's it (female resident, 25 yrs, intervention area)." The relative importance of different members of a social network may be reflected in the order in which the respondent listed them: children first, family second, and own people last, as if in concentric circles. The contrary view was that neighbours were part of the family:

It's a mixed community here. We think of everyone as being our brother and sister, relative, and accordingly we stay. Here, I do not have any relatives. They are all at different-different places. But the people of this mohalla (area), they are all my relatives (female resident, 45 yrs, control area).

The whole area, lane, is my friend. And relatives, no one is there (male resident, 45 yrs, intervention area).

As well as conveying a feeling of closeness by identifying community with family, others emphasized the quality or harmonious nature of relationships based on communication and a common language, and gauged their perceived intimacy as analogous to family relations or to friends.

[Our] Relation is very good with each other. For example, I met you now, so now you have become my Madam (I will address you as Madam). Now when we start talking gradually, then you will call me didi (sister) or I will

call you didi ... So that way we have the same relation in the area. We call some people chacha (paternal uncle), mama (maternal uncle), some we call khala (maternal aunt), some we call buwa (paternal aunt). This way the relation is like home ... Being related as friends is the best thing ... (female resident, 29 yrs, intervention area).

This view was not ubiquitous. Some respondents said that residents of the same area had good, but not intimate, relations with each other, and could not be described as friends. Nevertheless, most respondents said that they lived in a united area where all residents had good relations with each other, regardless of their religious or caste differences, an avowal that we have already mentioned. "We maintain harmony with every religion. For us, this is our religion and the other religion is not. We maintain relations with people of other religions too (female resident, 32 yrs, area?)." Maintaining relations might sound a little less than heartfelt and the sweeping generalization to every religion might suggest reluctance to cause disquiet. One respondent used the metaphor of sharing a meal to convey the closeness of community relations and the social ritual of eating: "... Everyone ... used to sit and eat from the same plate. The Hindus, Christians everyone used to sit and eat from the same plate" (male resident, area?).

For some, the good relations between groups in their community contrasted with those in other areas.

Now that everyone stays like one; like one. Now once again they had come, everyone ... Everyone stays like one here ... Everyone treats us nicely. The people in villages are different. Here no one will think that way (female resident, 25 yrs, intervention area).

This is another example of defining one's community in terms of what it is not. In this case, urban life was compared with rural life. Others compared long-term residents with newcomers. "But in our area, it was we Hindu, Muslim, people belonging to all the religions that are there, we united so that no person from outside can come inside (female resident, 35 yrs, control area)" Or owner occupiers with rental tenants. 151

Some respondents, however, believed that their area was not united. Distinctions were made between established residents and recent arrivals, with some effort to ascribe blame for deterioration in quality of life:

The Muslims who have come from UP, Bihar, Bangladesh, they have made it very dirty. In this last five years this area has become completely dirty. But the Muslims who have come from Bangladesh, because of them there have been incidences of rape on small girls. Since then here the environment has become bad... since the last 10 years; ever since the Samajwadi Party has come to power, Abdul Hazim (president of Samajwadi party) ... since then the gangsterism ... lootmaar (vandalism) (male resident, area?).

Violence was mentioned, and, again, blamed on another group, with the emphasis on the reasonableness of the respondent's position:

Now the children ... of this new, new generation, even for small matters they indulge in physical violence. But the old residents who are there, we first make them understand. If they don't get convinced then even we ... the thing is, first of all we are not the kind of people who will indulge in physical violence. We just directly complain, dial the number (to police) (female resident, 36 yrs, control area).

A.2.3 | Community in terms of shared problems or projects

Some respondents said that being a member of a community meant helping neighbours when they were in need, especially when there was no immediate family living nearby. "I don't have relatives here, but if something happens to me now, my entire house would be flooded with people (female resident, intervention area)." Less typical responses included helping each other as a corollary of being related like family: "As far as the community is concerned, where we stay, all the

-

¹⁵¹ However, not all of them believed that their area was divided.

local people, we stay like brothers. If they face some problem or if we face some problem then everyone will work together" (male resident, 51 yrs, intervention area).

Reflecting a view of community in terms of sharing health resources, many respondents mentioned the lack of a local government hospital, particularly for maternity services.

At least a hospital should be there. Pregnant women who are there, in Govandi that is there, the nursing home. When it is time to give birth to a child, that time the woman is struggling between life and death ... Even the child's life is (at risk), and regarding health, everyone here ... thinks. Because when they give birth to kids, it is also important to think about them, isn't it? (female resident, 39 yrs, intervention area).

Environmental conditions represented a shared experience that might draw people together and support their notion of community. Water supply – or the lack of it – was a common shared burden: "...the *nagar sevika* (corporator) here said water will be provided. The pipeline has been dug; pipes have been laid but only for show, to devour money as was the accumulation of waste.

If you see the entire area surrounding ... the dirt that falls out of that vehicle keeps falling on the road. In that, our kids play. In that, our women walk. And in that, we have to walk. That is not something less; it is a big bundle of diseases that is given to Z by Municipal Corporation. Now, here the people seek employment. (Suppose) someone runs a welding factory here. Now if that vehicle has to be welded then its entire dirt will fall at that place. We cannot stop him. Because it is his employment, we cannot say no to him. In a way, he is helpless and we too are helpless. Because he has to earn his living, we suffer from diseases. Everyone staying in this area has to tolerate. So, all these things that are there, meaning this pollution, such big pollution, why is it in Z only? There are many things that one can say... (55 year old, man, gatekeeper, area?).

So here there are many poor people. Since it is a slum area it is a very poor locality. So here there are many diseases ... that are usually prevalent. Now if I open this (window) so much smell... will come from this dumping ground. That staying here ... is difficult ... difficult it is. Now here there are many diseases like TB, malaria, typhoid ... Now mainly here there is the smell, dumping ground is there; biomedical this has started.... the entire Mumbai's filth is there. The children here are not safe. Here there is smell, there is ... How can the children be safe? Always something or the other. In a year, every month we have to get medicines for our children (female resident, 39 yrs, intervention area).

This having been said, shared problems did not necessarily lead to collective action to relieve them.

These small diseases like fever happens to kids while playing in filth; these fodia (skin infections) occur in head, in hands, in legs. This continuously keeps happening to someone or the other. And nobody is ready to maintain cleanliness. If one person maintains cleanliness, then four people will come running to make it dirty. This is how it is here ... Here, make a wall from this side and from that side and in between, make a road. And the dustbins, the big ones that are there, keep two that side and two this side so that the filth does not happen. In this filth, the children go. How many times the mother will hit the kids saying "don't go, don't go, don't go?" How much can she do to keep the child home? Firstly, the area should be clean. If the place is clean, even the kids will stay clean. Health will also be good then. Health depends on the surroundings (female resident, 29 yrs, intervention area).

In the face of such problems, many simply felt helpless to act and seemed to point the blame at the authorities for heaping societal problems on the same vulnerable groups.

If you ask any person like me (meaning a resident of this area), then he will say that we are helpless. We stay in slums because we are helpless. (Since)

the authorities here give permission to such companies, biomedical waste is brought and burnt here....Now, since 22, 30 years we have been tolerating this (garbage vehicles in our area). Due to this, there are various diseases. If you want to give all diseases in a particular area, then this is the way (male resident, 55 yrs, area?).

A.2.4 | Community in terms of moral status of groups

Most respondents believed that both control and intervention areas should have access to intervention services being evaluated in the cluster trial. "We feel bad that one has been given and the other has not been given ... No, one should not do this. If one is giving, then give it to everyone little-little (female resident, intervention area)." Their views on fairness and study design were led by, and implicitly relied on, geographical notions of community as clusters. In one case, the trial was perceived as socially divisive unless the wider research community understood the reasons for it and the intervention might subsequently be applied to control areas.

How will we feel ... then people will start fighting: that there it is this way, at our place there is nothing like this. Why this? This way everyone will start fighting.... I mean the ones who are understanding, they will keep quiet. Now that it has come there, then one day it will come here too: this way some people will think (female resident, 25 yrs, intervention area).

One respondent talked about a queue for such services and the degree of effort those in the control areas had put into the project.

... For example, you might say that only my lane will get the facilities that are there and that lane will not get. So what I would want is even that lane should get facilities. All the 10 areas should get ... I will feel. I will put so much effort that the area in which you get more support, so that our turn may come soon ... one thing that we will feel is that our turn should come soon (female resident, 36 yrs, control area).

Implicit in these views is the sense of humanity and moral identification with those who are denied services: "This should not happen. For both the communities, it should be the same ... In a society, everyone is equal ... The people there, humans are the same everywhere, aren't they? There is no difference between people. Even they eat grains, even we eat grains (female resident, 45 yrs, control area)" A minority said that it was important to them that their area would have partial access to the services. "If my area doesn't receive the services, then I will break Sudhir *bhai's* head. Because here, we people stay. We know that here such things are needed (female resident, 40 yrs, intervention area)."

A.3 | Discussion

The term community seemed to have either a narrow or broad meaning for different respondents. For example, it was used to refer to all of Mumbai or a locality, or was understood in terms of religion (for example, all Muslims). It was also used to describe a group of people who lived in the same area and had something in common besides a shared sense of place, such as religion, ethnicity, dialect, proximity to one's house (residents of the same lane), or a specific relationship with each other (family, relatives).

The term was never used to distinguish people of the same caste, and this raises an important issue. Communalism – in terms of conflict between identity groups – is never far from Indian consciousness and casts a shadow over politics and society. Although caste has been abolished, social divisions persist and subpopulations are still classified according to caste and tribal status. Likewise, the potential for Hindu-Muslim conflict is an ever-present cultural trope that calls to mind a history of violence that extends to the present. The Mumbai riots of 1992-1993 were largely located in poorer areas and it may be that people felt a need to describe their communities as mutually tolerant, a counterpoint to both society's and their own concerns¹⁵². Finally, the notion of the slum is often used as a means of 'othering' its residents and has many pejorative connotations. One could propose a scenario in which our respondents were keen to emphasize their good relations with their neighbours – particularly in terms of caste and religion –

¹⁵² Although we did not want to give an interpretative authority with respect to participants' behaviours or statements, we considered that a distinction should be made between what people say about their conceptions of their community and who is in it and what do they actually hold.

and at the same time to reframe their slum dwelling status in terms of modern urbanity, tolerance, and fraternity.

About half of the respondents raised ideas of community additional to geography or locality, most of which were consistent. Some appeared inconsistent and might suggest that people felt that they belonged to more than one community, had multiple identities that either held simultaneously (as in family relations) or were drawn on singly, but were functionally dependent on the context or the question posed (for example, in response to questions about health problems or evaluation of fairness and clusters). Alternatively, they may have not had a clear view of what community is. There were no conflicting responses between individuals in the same area.

The fact that so many were sympathetic to a geographical definition of community means only that their sense of community seems compatible with the scientific notion of a cluster. Most respondents gave a geographical definition, and only two excluded their immediate neighbours. However, the boundaries of the locality, the extent of the community's reach (explicitly or implicitly identified by respondents) and the geographical areas covered by the corresponding clusters were often different. Ideas of geographical boundaries were different even within lay responses; for instance, one gave a narrow geographical definition, including only people who lived in her lane, while two others said that they considered as their community only the people who had been living in the area for many years. Only six people clearly defined their locality as their community and used phrases such as "this is a mixed community". More than a third were prompted to give a geographical definition (most of them had given an apparently inconsistent non-geographical definition before) and eventually agreed that the people in their area - their neighbours - were also their community.

The findings suggest that there was unlikely to be an obvious conflict between a lay and scientific view of community in the case of this particular cluster trial. The respondents seemed willing to agree with ideas of community, including scientific ones, once prompted, which might indicate that they were willing to internalize (or rationalize) their involvement in the trial. Some methodological

limitations of the study should be noted. When respondents were asked to define their community, half of them did not understand the question to begin with and the interviewer had to use examples. Either they were unfamiliar with the term and had not been asked to give a definition of community before, or the words that the translator was asked to use (*samaaj*, *basti*) and the original term 'community' do not have exactly the same meaning. However, by using examples and rephrasing questions we believe that responses and their translation did not bear a systematic misinterpretation of the respondents' views.

Existing research suggests that notions of community reflect a distinct set of values and governing structures (Weijer 1999), as well as sufficient social interaction and permanence to allow an individual to identify herself as a community member (Ragin et al 2008). Good relations between the residents of an area are not sufficient to claim that people with a shared sense of place constitute a community¹⁵³. In particular, some respondents said that they did not have harmonious relations with their neighbours. This might have methodological implications for cluster design and for research governance, including the choice of cluster, statistical adjustment for similarity, and the roles of gatekeepers in proving cluster consultation or permission on behalf of the cluster.

A few people said that the reason that all residents lived in harmony, despite the fact that they lived so densely, was that they did not interfere with each other's lives. The intervention under test encouraged community members to discuss intimate personal issues such as family planning and domestic violence. It was, therefore, important that beneficiary definitions of community are respected, in order to prevent their having to discuss this sort of information with people they do not consider as members of their group. Responses to perceived causes of disease were also associated with geographical ideas such as environmental or living conditions and access to hospital facilities, and these resonate with the scientific notion of clusters and the need to address a shared problem. Many respondents thought that denying control clusters access to the trial intervention would be unfair, and often referred to clusters as communities, apparently

¹⁵³ Although good relations are more likely to lead to active cooperation.

adopting a scientific view and suggesting they had sympathy with the wider society of included clusters.

Future research could investigate the potential for such mismatch in other, more controversial, CRTs in order to judge whether it is an issue worthy of ethics review. The question of what a community is and how well scientists are able to incorporate such a notion seems logical prior to any analysis of balancing the social value of a CRT against the risks and potential benefits to individuals within communities. Despite the comforting findings in our study, it is still conceivable that artificial division of communities or social groups (to achieve smaller numbers of individuals in each cluster) could lead to social and political conflicts.

A.3.1 | Potential social disharmony and mistrust

A trial might create intra-community tensions between participants and non-participants or between intervention and control groups, linked to the provision of services and the nature of individual costs and benefits. This would undermine relations of trust and understanding between researchers and social groups that participate in research. Moreover, a potential disagreement between a lay and scientific view of community could have methodological implications, such as contamination (because of the proximity between the members of the group), and ultimately undermine the value of the study.

A.3.2 | Potential harms to individual members

Differences between internal and external definitions of community may also affect the interests and rights of individual members of the social groups that participate in research. Researchers usually define social groups by the way they function socially, politically or morally as whole groups, or by their genetic or disease characteristics, but the perspectives of individual members may be different. An individual's membership may be voluntary (membership in a group may be important to an individual's sense of identity) (McMillan and Chavis 1986; Puddifoot 1995), but may also be involuntary (the benefits and harms of a group may affect an individual because she has been born and raised in it and not because she has chosen it) (Putnam, 2000). Determining who is and who is not a member of a group can be a matter of dispute (Sharp and Foster 2007). In CRTs,

this dispute may be problematic, especially in the case of cluster trials of interventions which cannot be administered individually (cluster-cluster trials), in which individual participants cannot opt out or are not offered the opportunity to consent. Potential harms to individual members, such as stigmatization and undue influence to participate, should be considered. In contrast, individuals may not be identified by researchers as members of a social group and may be denied the right to participate.

A.3.3 | Uncertainty of the role of the cluster representative

The way cluster boundaries are defined in CRTs will also affect our approach to issues of representation. A cluster might include a well-defined group - for example, a village - with legitimate political authority that could represent and protect the group's interests and consult the researchers on group needs and values. However, a trial may include clusters with more than one well-defined group - for example, two or three villages - and offer shared resources and interventions through collaboration. If the groups have different values, needs and traditions, which cannot be reconciled, which group's interests should take priority? Is it morally justifiable for a trial to deliver what is objectively in the researchers' interests without taking into consideration the views and values of participant groups? Practical challenges concerning the resolution of disputes between different parties (especially when there is potential harm) should also be considered.

Since a variety of clusters are involved in CRTs, the degree to which group and community interests may be affected by a disagreement between scientific and lay views of community will vary. Social groups range from extremely heterogeneous to homogenous. They may consist of geographically dispersed populations or highly localized communities that share common sociocultural traditions and whose members interact frequently (Weijer & Emanuel 2000). Moreover, there are multiple types of relations between individuals and their groups or communities; for some individuals membership may be voluntary, and for others involuntary. Some individuals may have exclusive membership of a community, while others may be identified with several communities (Widdows and Cordell 2011). Different interests and goods will be affected in different types of

communities. For instance, a trial in which cohesive communities such as villages are divided into clusters may seriously affect the maintenance and integrity of their social structures and the solidarity and unity between their members, while a trial that randomizes hospital wards would not have the same implications. In the latter case, other common interests would be at stake for cluster members (the patients in the wards), such as their interests in the quality of the services that facilities provide (Sharp and Foster 2007). Finally, the degree and kinds of interests that could be affected by group participation in CRTs will also depend on the type of study. For instance, group-based interests are more likely to be substantially affected in a CRT that tests a new vaccine than in a knowledge-translation study.

A.3.4 | A combination of the scientific and lay approach

To prevent potential and theoretic conflicts becoming morally problematic, another type of community could be suggested, which is a combination of the scientific and the lay approach. This would respect residents' needs and values and would reduce the potential methodological difficulties of defining the boundaries of the cluster and of statistically adjusting for similarities within each cluster. By using existing forums for community engagement, researchers could explore what individuals' primary sense of community or social group comprises and, where possible, try to fit the clusters around them. The difference between this notion of community and the cluster is that it would also be based on people's values and needs and would not be an external definition for scientific purposes. It would also entail a normative process, meaning that it would presuppose that researchers know and respect the existing social relations and hierarchies and through this avoid intra-community tensions. Members of the community do not necessarily need to be close to all other members, but should be able to work together and in harmony with those who have the same health needs.

A.4 | Conclusion

The findings suggest that, while there might be challenges to drawing cluster boundaries in CRTs, it is unlikely to be problematic in the particular trial under study. Nevertheless, I argue that it is morally and politically important to take social factors into account - as well as statistical efficiency - when choosing the size and type of clusters and designing a comparative trial. One method of informing such design would be to use existing community forums to understand what individuals' primary sense of community or social group comprises and, where possible, to fit the clusters around such perceptions.

References

- Adityanjee, D., 1986. Informed Consent: Issues Involved for Developing Countries. *Medicine, Science and the Law*, 26(4), p.305-307.
- Agency for International Development (US) 22 CFR 225: Protection of Human Subjects. Available at: http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_99/22cfr225_99.html [Accessed: 17 September 2015]
- Ahmed, S.M., Beck, B., Maurana, C.A. and Newton, G., 2004. Overcoming Barriers to Effective Community Based Participatory Research. *US Medical Schools Education for Health*, 17(2), p.141-151.
- Allhoff, F., 2005. Free-riding and research ethics. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.50-51.
- Anderson, B.R., 1991. *Imagined communities: reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism.* Revised and extended ed. London: Verso
- Annas, G.J., Glantz, L.H. and Katz, B., 1977. *Informed Consent to Human Experimentation: The Subject's Dilemma*. Cambridge: Ballinger Publishing Company.
- Antoniou, E.E., Draper, H., Reed, K., Burls, A., Southwood, T.R. and Zeegers, M.P., 2011. An empirical study on the preferred size of the participant information sheet in research. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 37(9), p.557-562.
- Appelbaum, P., Lidz, C. and Meisel, A., 1987. *Informed consent: legal theory and clinical practice*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Appelbaum, P.S., Lidz, C.W. and Grisso, T., 2004. Therapeutic misconception in clinical research: frequency and risk factors. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, 26(2), p.1-8.

- Archard, D., 2008. Informed Consent: Autonomy and Self-Ownership. *Journal of Applied Philosophy*, 25(1), p.19-34.
- Ashcroft, R.E., Chadwick, D.W., Clark, S.R.L., Edwards, R.H.T., Frith, L. and Hutton, J.L., 1997. Implication of socio-cultural contexts for the ethics of clinical trials. *Health Technology Assessment*, 1(9), p.1-65.
- Ashcroft, R.E., 1998. Human research subjects, selection of. In F. Chadwick. *Encyclopedia of Applied Ethics*. Academic Press, San Diego. p.627-639.
- Ashcroft, M., 1998. The impact of information use on decision making by physiotherapists. *Library Management*, 19(3), p.174-195.
- Ashcroft, R., 2000. Giving medicine a fair trial: Trials should not second guess what patients want. *British Medical Journal*, 320(7251), p.1686.
- Bankert, E. A. and Amdur R., 2006. *Institutional Review Board Management and Function*. 2nd ed. Jones and Bartlett Publishers International.
- Barry, B., 1982. Humanity and Justice in Global Perspective. In J.R. Pennock and J.W. Chapman, ed. 1982. *NOMOS XXIV, Ethics, Economics, and the Law.* New York: New York University Press. p.219-52.
- Beauchamp, D. E. and Steinbock, B.,1999. *New ethics for the public's health*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Beauchamp, T. L., 2005. How not to rethink research ethics. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.31-33.
- Beauchamp, T. L. and Childress, J.F., 2008. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*. 6th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Beauchamp, T.L., 2010. Autonomy and consent. In F.G. Miller and A. Wertheimer, ed. *The Ethics of Consent*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Beauchamp, T. L. and Childress, J.F., 2013, *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*. 7thed. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Beitz, C. R., 2009. The Idea of Human Rights. Oxford University Press.
- Benatar, S.R. and Singer P.A., 2000. A New Look at International Research Ethics. *British Medical Journal*, 321(7264), p.824-26.
- Benatar, S., Daar, A. and Singer, P.A., 2003. Global Health: the rationale for mutual caring. *International Affairs*, 79(1), p.107-138.
- Benatar, S.R. and Singer, P.A., 2010. Responsibilities in international research: a new look revisited. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 36(4), p.194-197.

- Benbassat, J. and Taragin, M., 1998. What is adequate health care and how can quality of care be improved? *International journal of health care quality assurance incorporating Leadership in health services*, 11(2), p.58-64.
- Berg, J., 2006. A Qualified Defense of Legal Disclosure Requirements. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 6(2), p.25-26.
- Berg, J. W., 2012. All for One and One for All: Informed Consent and Public Health. *Faculty Publication*, [online] Available at: http://scholarlycommons.law.case.edu/faculty_publications/14
- Binik, A., Weijer, C., McRae, A.D., Grimshaw, J.M., Baruch, R., Brehaut J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Saginur, R., Taljaard, M., Zwarenstein, M., 2011. Does clinical equipoise apply to cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials*, **12**(118), p.1-11.
- Bok, S., 1995. Shading the Truth in Seeking Informed Consent for Research Purposes. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 5(1), p.1-17.
- Bolton, P., Bass, J., Neugebauer, R., Verdeli, H., Clougherty, K.F., Wickramaratne, P., Speelman, L., Ndogoni, L. and Weissman, M., 2003. Group interpersonal psychotherapy for depression in rural Uganda. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 289(23), p.3117-3124.
- Bolvin, A., Green, J., van der Meulen, J., Legare, F. and Nolte, E., 2009. Why consider patients' preferences? A discourse analysis of clinical practice guideline develops. *Medical Care*, 47(8), p.908-915.
- Brassington, I., 2007. John Harris' argument for duty to research. *Bioethics*, 21(3), p.160-168.
- Brassington, I., 2011. Defending the Duty to Research? Bioethics, 25(1), p. 21-26.
- Brock, D.W., 1994. Ethical issues in exposing children to risks in research. In M.A. Grodin, L.H. Glantz, ed. *Children as Research Subjects: Science, Ethics, and Law.* Oxford: Oxford University Press p. 81-101.
- Brody, B.A., 1998. The ethics of biomedical research: An international perspective. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bromwich, D. and Rid, A., 2015. Can informed consent to research be adapted to risk? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 41(7), p.521–528.
- Brownsword, R., 2004. The cult of consent: fixation and fallacy. *King's Law Journal*, 15 (2), p.223–252.
- Buchanan, A., 2011. Reciprocal Legitimation: Reframing the Problem of International Legitimacy. *Politics, Philosophy and Economics*, 10(1), p.5-19.

- Buchanan, A.E. and Brock, D.W., 1990. Deciding for others: The ethics of surrogate decision making. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Callahan D., 2003. Individual Good and Common Good: a communitarian approach to bioethics, *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 46(4), p.496-507.
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, 2010. *Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans Ottawa Canada*. Tri-Council Policy Statement. Ottawa, ON Canada.
- Caplan, A., 1984. Is there a duty to serve as a subject in biomedical research? *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, 6(5), p.1-5.
- Cargo, M. and Mercer, S.L., 2008. The value and challenges of participatory research: strengthening its practice. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29(24), p.325-350.
- Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2011. *Principles of Community Engagement*. 2nd ed. NIH Publication. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/phppo.pce/ [Accessed 22 February 2014].
- Chan, S. and Harris, J., 2009. Free riders and pious sons why science research remains obligatory. *Bioethics*, 23(3), p.161-171
- Childress, J.F., 1976. Compensating injured research subjects: The moral argument, *The Hastings Center Report*, 6(6), p.21-27.
- Childress, J.F. Meslin, E.M. and Shapiro, H.T., 2005. *Belmont Revisited: Ethical Principles for Research with Human Subjects*. Georgetown University Press.
- Christakis, N.A., 1988. The Ethical Design of an AIDS Vaccine Trial in Africa. *The Hastings Center Report*, 18(3), p.31-37.
- Cobb, W.M., 1973. The Tuskegee syphilis study. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 65(4), p.345-348.
- Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT), 1995. I. cohort results from a four-year community intervention. *American Journal of Public Health*, 85(2), p.183-192.
- Council for International Organisations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS), 2002. *International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects*. Geneva, Switzerland. Available at: http://www.cioms.ch/publications/guidelines/guidelines_nov_2002_bl urb.htm [Accessed 8 August 2014].

- Council of International Organizations of Medical Science, 2009. International Ethical Guidelines for Epidemiologic Studies. *Oxford Journal*, 170(11), 1451-1452.
- Council of Europe, 1997. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine: Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine. Available at: http://conventions.coe.int/treaty/en/treaties/html/164.htm
- Couzos, S., Lea, T., Murray, R. and Culbong, M., 2005. "We are not just Participants—we are in Charge": the NACCHO Ear Trial and the Process for Aboriginal Community-Controlled Health Research. *Ethnic Health*, 10(2), p.91-111.
- Cruz, A., Murphy, F., Nyarco, N. and Krall, D., 2004. The view from the community. In D. S. Blumenthal and R.J. DiClemente, ed. *Community based health research, issues and methods*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company. p.63-80.
- Data Protection Act 1998. (Part II, Section11). Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/section/11/ [Accessed: 10 May 2015]
- Dawson, A., 2009. Editorial: Political Philosophy and Public Health Ethics. *Public Health Ethics*, 2 (2), p.121-122.
- De Melo-Martin, I., 2008. A duty to participate in research: Does social context matter? *American Journal of Bioethics*, 8(10), p.28-36.
- De Melo-Martin, I. and Ho, A. 2008. Beyond informed consent: the therapeutic misconception and trust. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 34(3), p.202-205.
- Demotes-Mainard, J. and Kubiak, C., 2011. A European perspective-the European clinical research network. *Annals of Oncology*, 22(7), p.vii44-vii49.
- Department of Health and Human Services, 2005. *Protection of Human Subjects*. Washington USA. Available at: http://ohsr.od.nih.gov/guidelines/45cfr46.html [Accessed June 24, 2015].
- Desch, K., Li, J., Kim, S., Leventhal, N., Metzger, K., Siemieniak, D. and Ginsburg, D., 2011. Analysis of informed consent document utilization in a minimal-risk genetic study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 155(5), p.316-322.
- Dickert, N. and Sugarman, J., 2005. Ethical goals of community consultation in research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(7), p.1123-1127.
- Donagan, A., 1977. Informed consent in therapy and experimentation. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 2(4), p.307-329.

- Donner, A. and Klar, N., 2000. Design and Analysis of Cluster Randomization Trials in Health Research. London: Arnold.
- Donner, A. and Klar, N., 2004. Pitfalls of and controversies in cluster randomization trials. *American Journal of Public Health*, **94**(3), **p.** 416-422.
- Dorney, M.S., 1990. Moore v. the Regents of the University of California: Balancing the Need for Biotechnology Innovation against the Right of Informed Consent. *Berkeley Technology Law Journal*, 5(2), p.334-369.
- Dworkin, G., 1988. *The Theory and Practice of Autonomy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dworkin, R., 1983. Comment on Narveson: In Defence of Equality. *Social Philosophy and Policy*, 1(01), p.24–40.
- Dworkin, R., 1989. The original position. In Norman Daniels, ed. *Reading Rawls*. Stanford: Stanford University Press. p.16-53.
- Easton, K.L, McComish, J. K and Greenberg, R, 2000. Avoiding Common Pitfalls in Qualitative Data Collection and Transcription. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10(5),p.703-707.
- Eckstein, S., 2003. *Manual for Research Ethics Committees*. 6th ed. Cambridge University Press.
- Edmundson, W., 1999. The Duty to Obey the Law: Selected Philosophical Readings. Lanham, Md: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Edwards, S.J.L., Braunholtz, D.A., Lilford RJ and Stevens A.J., 1999. Ethical issues in the design and conduct of cluster randomised controlled trials. *British Medical Journal*, 318(7195), p.1407-9.
- Ekunwe, E.O. and Kessel, R., 1984. Informed Consent in the Developing World. *The Hastings Center Report*, 14(3), p.23-24.
- Eldridge, S.M., Ashby, D. and Feder, G.S., 2005. Informed patient consent to participation in cluster randomized trials: an empirical exploration of trials in primary care. *Clinical Trials*, 2(2), p.91-8.
- Ellenberg, S.S. and Temple, R., 2000. Placebo-controlled trials and active-control trials in the evaluation of new treatments. Part 2: Practical issues and specific cases. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 133(6), p.464-470.
- Emanuel, E.J., Wendler, D. and Grady, C. 2002. What makes clinical research ethical. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 283(20), p.2701-2711.

- Emanuel, E.J., Wendler, D., Grady, C., 2008. An ethical framework for biomedical research. In E.J. Emanuel, C. Grady, R.A. Crouch, R.K. Lie, F.G. Miller and D. Wendler, ed. *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. New York: Oxford University Press. p.123-135.
- Etzioni, A., 2003. Organ donation: a communitarian approach. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 13(1), p.1-18.
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. 2001. Directive 2001/20/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States relating to the implementation of good clinical practice in the conduct of clinical trials on medicinal products for human use. European Parliament and Council of the European Union.
- Eyal, N., 2012. Using informed consent to save trust. Journal of Medical Ethics, o, p.1-8.
- Eyal, N., 2011. Informed Consent. *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. In 2012 Edward N.Z. (ed.), Available at: http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2012/entries/informed-consent [Accessed 10 January 2014].
- Faden, R.R., Beauchamp, T.L. and Kass, N.E., 2014. Informed consent, comparative effectiveness, and learning health care. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(8), p.766-768.
- Faden, R. and Beauchamp T.L., 1986. *A History and Theory of Informed Consent*. Oxford University Press.
- Farmer, P. and Campos, N. G., 2004. New Malaise: Bioethics and Human Rights in the Global Era. *The Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 32(2), p. 243-251.
- Featherstone, K., and Donovan, J.L. 2002. "Why don't they just tell me straight, why allocate it?" The struggle to make sense of participating in a randomised controlled trial. *Social Science and Medicine*, 55(5), p.709-19.
- Feinberg, J., 1986. Harm to Self. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Figueiras, A., Herdeiro, M.T., Polónia, J. and Gestal-Otero, J.J., 2006. An educational intervention to improve physician reporting of adverse drug reactions: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of American Medical Association*, 296(9), p.1086-1093.
- Fleischman, A.R., 2007. Community engagement in urban health research. Journal of Urban Health, 84(4), p.469-471.

- Flory, J., and Emanuel, E., 2004. Interventions to improve research participants' understanding in informed consent for research: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 292(13), p.1593-1601.
- Flory, J. H. and Kitcher, P., 2004. Global Health and the Scientific Research Agenda. *Philosophy and Public Affairs*, 32(1), p.36-65.
- Foex, B., 2001. The problem of informed consent in emergency medicine research. *Emergency Medical Journal*, 18(3), p.198–204.
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (US) 21 CFR 50: Protection of Human Subjects Available at: http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx 00/21cfr50 00.html
- Forsberg, J.S., Hansson M.G., Eriksson S., 2011. Biobank research: Who benefits from individual consent? *The British Medical Journal*, 343(5647), p.1-3.
- Forsberg, J.S., Hanson, M.G. and Eriksson, S., 2013. Why participating in (certain) medical research is a moral duty. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 40(5), p.1-4.
- Fost, N., 1998. Waived consent for emergency research. *American Journal of Law and Medicine*, 24(2–3), p.163-83.
- Frazer, E. and Lacey, N., 1993. *The Politics of Community: A feminist critique of the liberal-communitarian debate*. Hemel Hempstead: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Freedman, B., 1975. A moral theory of informed consent. *The Hastings Center Report*, 5(4), p.32-9.
- Freedman, B., 1987. Equipoise and the ethics of clinical research. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 317(3), p.141-145.
- Freedman, B., Fuks, A. and Weijer, C., 1993. In loco parentis: Minimal risk as an ethical threshold for research upon children. *The Hastings Center Report*, 23(2), p.13-19.
- Friedman M., 1970. The social responsibility of business is to increase its profits. *The New York Times Magazine*, 13 September.
- Frohlich, K.L., Potvin, L., 2008. The inequality paradox: the population approach and vulnerable populations. American Journal of Public Health, 98(2), p.216-221.
- Fuchs, S. and Westervelt, S.D., 1996. Fraud and trust in science. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 39(2), p.248-269.

- Gallo, A., Weijer, C., White, A., Grimshaw, J.M., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., McRae, A.D., Saginur, R., Zwarenstein, M. and Taljaard, M., 2015. What Is the Role and Authority of Gatekeepers in Cluster Randomized Trials in Health Research? *Trials*, 13(116), p.1-14.
- Gauthier, D., 1990. Morals by Agreement, Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Gillon, R., 2003. Ethics needs principles Four can encompass the rest and respect for autonomy should be "first among equals". Journal of Medical Ethics, 29(5), p.307-312.
- Gillet, G., 1989. Informed consent and moral integrity. Journal of Medical Ethics, 15(3), p.117-123.
- Glanz, K., Rimer B.K., Lerman, C., 1996. Ethical issues in the design and conduct of community-based intervention studies. In S.S. Coughlin, T.L. Beauchamp, ed. *Ethics and Epidemiology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. p.156-177.
- Glover, J., 1977. Causing death and saving lives. Penguin Books, Harmondsworth.
- Goodman, R.M., Steckler, A., Hoover, S. and Schwartz, R., 1993. A Critique of Contemporary Community Health Promotion Approaches: Based on a Qualitative Review of Six Programs in Maine. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 7(3), p.208-220.
- Gostin, L., 1991. Ethical Principles for the Conduct of Human Subject Research: Population-Based Research and Ethics. *The Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 19(3-4), p.191-201.
- Gostin, L, Burris, S. and Lazzarini, Z., 1999. The law and the public's health: a study of infectious disease law in the United States. *Columbia Law Review*, 99(59), p.59-128.
- Grady, C., 2005. Payment of clinical research subjects. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115(7), p.1681-7.
- Griffin, J., 1986. Well-being: Its Meaning, Measurement and Moral Importance, Oxford: Clarendon.
- Hall, A.J., 1989. Public Health Trials in West Africa: Logistics and Ethics. *IRB*, 11(5), p.8-10.
- Harmon, L., 1990. Falling off the vine: legal fictions and the doctrine of substituted judgment. *Yale Law Journal*, 100(1), p.1-71.
- Harris, J., 2005. Scientific research is a moral duty, *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 31(4), p.242-48.

- Hart, H.L.A., 1967. Are there any natural rights? Oxford Review.
- Hart, H.L.A., 1955. Are There Any Natural Rights? *Philosophical Review*, 64(2), p.175-91.
- Hawkins, J.S., 2008. Research ethics, developing countries, and exploitation—a primer. In J. S. Hawkins and E. J. Emanuel, ed. *Exploitation and Developing Countries: the Ethics of Clinical Research*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hayenhjelm, M. and Wolff, J., 2012. The moral problem of risk impositions: A survey of the literature, *European Journal of Philosophy*, 20(S1), p.E26-E51.
- Heyd, D., 1996. Experimentation on trial: Why should one take part in medical research? *Jahrbuch fur Recht und Ethik [Annual Review of Law and Ethics]*, 4(159), p.189-204.
- Heyd, D., 2003. Experimentation on trial: why should one take part in medical research? In: E. Emanuel, R. Crouch, J. Arras, J. Moreno, C. Grady, ed. *Ethical and regulatory aspects of clinical research: readings and commentary*. Baltimore and London: The Johns Hopkins University Press. p.161-166.
- Hill, G.J., 1987. Research on humans published in JAMA. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 258(1604).
- Ho, A., 2008. Correcting Social Ills Through Mandatory Research Participation. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 8(10), p.39-40.
- Hodge, J.G., Gostin, L.O., 2004. Public health practice vs. research: A report for public health practitioners including cases and guidance for making distinctions. Atlanta, GA: Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists.
- Hope, T., Savulescu, J. and Henrick, J., 2003. *Medical Ethics and Law*, 2nd ed. Churchill Livingstone.
- Howard-Jones, N., 1981. Human experimentation in historical and ethical perspectives. *Social Science and Medicine*, 16(15), p.1429-1448.
- Hunter, J., 1994. Derek L. Phillips, Looking Background: A Critical Appraisal of Communitarian Thought. *Philosophy in Review*, 14(3), p.198-202.
- Hunter, D., 2012. The concept of community in Bioethics. *Public Health Ethics*, 4(1), p.12-13.
- Hutton, J.L., 2001. Are distinctive ethical principles required for cluster randomized controlled trials? *Statistics in Medicine*, 20(3), p.473-88.

- Hutton, J.L., Eccles, M.P. and Grimshaw, J.M., 2008. Ethical issues in implementation research: a discussion of the problems in achieving informed consent. *Implement Science*, 3(52), p.1-8.
- Institute of Medicine, 2003. *Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Israel, M., 2004. Strictly Confidential? *Integrity and the Disclosure of Criminological and Socio-Legal Research*. British Journal of Criminology, 44 (5), p.715-740.
- Jackson, J., 1994. Promise-keeping and the Doctor-Patient relationship. In R. Gillon, ed. *Principles of Health Care Ethics*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Joffe, S. and Truog, R.D., 2010. Consent to medical care: the importance of fiduciary context. In F.G. Miller and A. Wertheimer, ed. *The Ethics of Consent*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- John S., 2009. Is there an obligation to participate in medical research? In: O. Corrigan, J. McMillan, K. Liddell, M. Richards and C. Weijer, ed. *The Limits of Consent: a Socio-Ethical Approach to Human Subject Research in Medicine*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, p.115-132.
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2011. *Good participatory practice Guidelines for biomedical HIV prevention trials*. UNAIDS / JC1853E, 2nd edition.
- Jonas, H., 1969. Philosophical reflections on experimenting with human subjects, *Daedalus*, 98(2): p.219-247.
- Kant, I., 1983. The Metaphysical Principles of Virtue (Part II of The Metaphysics of Morals). In J. Ellington and W. James, ed. *Immanuel Kant: Ethical Philosophy*. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company.
- Kant, I., 1996. Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals. In M. J. Gregor, ed. *Practical Philosophy*. Cambridge.
- Katz, J., 1992. Abuse of human beings for the sake of science. In A.L. Caplan. *When medicine went mad.* Totowa: Humana Press. p.233-270.
- Kennedy, P., Evans, M.J., Berry, C. and Mullin, J., 2003. Comparative analysis of goal achievement during rehabilitation for older and younger adults with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord*, 41(1), p.44-52.
- Killip, S., Ziyad, M. and Pearce, K., 2004. What Is an Intracluster Correlation Coefficient? Crucial Concepts for Primary Care Researchers. *Annals of Family Medicine* 2(3), p.204-208.

- King, N., Henderson, G. and Stein, J., 1999. Introduction—relationships in research: a new paradigm. In: King N, Henderson G, Stein J, ed. *Beyond Regulations: Ethics in Human Subjects Research*. Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press. p.1-17.
- Klar, N. and Donner, A. 2007. Ethical Challenges Posed by Cluster Randomization. *Wiley Encyclopedia of Clinical Trials* [e-book]. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/book/10.1002/9780471462422. [Acessed 20 February 2014].
- Kottow, M. and Cecile, F., 2004. Research ethics: The battering of informed consent. Journal of Medical Ethics, 30(6), p.365-369.
- Kymlicka, W., 1989. *Liberalism, Community and Culture*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Lacey, A. and Luff, D., 2007. *Qualitative Data Analysis*. The NIHR RDS for the East Midlands/ Yorkshire and the Humber.
- Largent, E., Wendler, D., Emanuel, E. and Miller, F., 2010. Is Emergency Research without Informed Consent Justified? The Consent Substitute Model. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 170(8), p.668-674.
- Latha, K.S., 2010. The Noncompliant Patient in Psychiatry: The Case For and Against Covert/Surreptitious Medication. *Mens Sana Monographs*, 8(1), p.96-121.
- Lavery, J.V., 2008. The Obligation to Ensure Access to Beneficial Treatments for Research Participants at the Conclusion of Clinical Trials. In E.J. Emanuel et al., ed. *The Oxford Textbook of Clinical Research Ethics*. New York: Oxford University Press. p.697-710.
- Lazarou, J., Pomeranz B.H. and Corey, P.N., 1998. Incidence of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized patients: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 279(15), p.1200-1205.
- Lederer, S.E., 2004. Research without borders: The origins of the Declaration of Helsinki. *In* V. Roelcke and G. Maio, ed. *Twentieth Century Ethics of Human Research: Historical Perspectives on Values, Practices, and Regulations.* Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag. p.199-217.
- Lederman, Z., 2014. Communitarianism and Presumed Consent, *Asian Bioethics Review*, 6(3), 302-314.
- Levine, C., Faden, R., Grady, C., Hammerschmidt, D., Eckenwiller, L., Sugarman, J. and Consortioum to Examine Clinical Research Ethics, 2004. The limitations of 'vulnerability' as a protection for human research participants. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 4(3), p.44-49.

- Levine, R.J., 1986. *Ethics and Regulation of Clinical Research*. Baltimore, MD: Urban & Schwarzenberg.
- Levine R., 1988. *Ethics and Regulation of Clinical Research*. 2nd ed. Yale University Press.
- Lewin, S., Glenton, C. and Oxman, A.D., 2009. Use of qualitative methods alongside ransomised controlled trials of complex healthcare interventions: methodological study. *The British of Medical Journal*, 339: b3496.
- Lie, R.K., Emanuel, E., Grady, C. and Wendler, D., 2004. The standard of care debate: The Declaration of Helsinki versus the international consensus opinion. Journal of Medical Ethics, 30(2), p.190-193.
- Lignou, S., Das, S., Mistry, J., Alcock, J., More N.S., Osrin, D. and Edwards, S., 2016. Reconstructing communities in cluster trials? Trials (forthcoming).
- Lignou, S. and Edwards, S, 2012. Manipulation of information in medical research: Can it be morally justified? *Research Ethics*, 8(1), p.9-23.
- Lignou, S. 2011. The 'Standard of Care' Debate and Global Justice in Research. Research Ethics, 7(1), p.5-12.
- Lloyd, A.J., 2001. The extent of patients understanding of the risk of treatments. *Quality in Health Care*, 10(1), p.i14-i18.
- Locke, J., 1988. Second Treatise on Civil Government. In P. Laslett, ed. *Locke: Two Treatises of Government*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- London, A.J., 2003. Threats to the common good: Biochemical weapons and human subjects research. *The Hastings Center Report*, 33(5), p.17-25.
- London, A.J. 2005. Justice and the Human Development Approach to International Research. *The Hastings Center Report*, 35(1), p.24-37.
- London, A.J., 2006. Does Research Ethics Rest on a Mistake? The Common Good, Reasonable Risk and Social Justice. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.37-39.
- Lurie, P. and Wolfe, S. M., 2006. Unethical trials of interventions to reduce perinatal transmission of the human immunodeficiency virus in developing countries. In H.E. Kuhse and P. Singer, ed. Bioethics, an anthology. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Macedo, S., 1990. Liberal Virtues: Citizenship, Virtue and Community in Liberal Constitutionalism. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

- Macklin, R., 2005. Some questionable premises about research ethics. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.29-31.
- Macklin, R., 1999. International research: ethical imperialism or ethical pluralism? Accountability in Research: Policies and Quality Assurance, 7(1), p. 59-83.
- MacQueen, K.M., McLellan, E., Metzger, D.C., Kegeles, S., Strauss, R.P., Scotti, R., Blanchard, R. and Trotter, R.T., 2001. What is community? An evidence-based definition for Participatory Public Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(12), p.1929-1938.
- Manson, N.C. and O'Neill, O., 2007. *Rethinking Informed Consent in Bioethics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Marmot, M., 2005. Social determinants of health inequalities. *The Lancet*, 365(9464), p.1099-1104.
- Marsh, V.M., Kamuya, D.K., Parker, M.J. and Molyneux, C.S., 2011. Working with concepts: The role of Community in International collaborative Biomedical Research. *Public Health Ethics*, 4(1), p.26-39.
- Marshall, P. and Rotimi, C., 2001. Ethical challenges in community-based research. *American Journal of Medical Science*, 322(5), p.241-245.
- Marshall, P. and Berg, J., 2006. Protecting Communities in Biomedical Research. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 289(5482), p.1142-1144.
- Mastroianni, A.C. and Kahn, J., 2002. Risk and Responsibility: Ethics, Grimes v. Kennedy Krieger, and Public Health Research Involving Children. *American Journal of Public Health* 92(12), p.1073-1076.
- McKie, J. and Richardson, J., 2003. The rule of rescue. *Social Science and Medicine*, 56(12), p.2407-2419.
- McManus, J. and Saywell, T., 2002. The lure to cure. Far Eastern Economic Review, 165(9), p.26-28.
- McMillan, D.W. and Chavis, D.M., 1986. Sense of community: A definition and theory. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 14(1), p.6-23.
- McRae, A.D., Weijer, C., Binik, A., White, A., Grimshaw, J.M., Baruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M., Saginur, R., Taljaard, M.M., 2011. Who is the research subject in cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials*, 12(183), p.1-12.
- McRae, A.D., Weijer, C., Binik, A., Grimshaw, J.M., Baruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Saginur, R., White, A and Taljaard, M., 2011. When is informed consent required in cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials* 12(202), p.1-13.

- Medical Research Council (MRC), 1998. *Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice in Clinical Trials*. London, England: Medical Research Council. Available at: http://www.mrc.ac.uk/pdf-ctg.pdf [Accessed: 20 May, 2014].
- Medical Research Council (MRC), 2002. Cluster Randomised Trials:

 Methodological and Ethical Considerations. London, England:

 Medical Research Council. Available at:

 http://www.mrc.ac.uk/Utilities/Documentrecord/index.htm?d=MRC00
 2406 [Accessed: 13 April, 2014].
- Medical Research Council of Canada, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada and Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, 1998. *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research involving Humans* Available at: http://www.nserc.ca/programs/ethics/english/ethics-e.pdf
- Mill, J.S., 1869. On Liberty. In Stefan Collini, ed. 2005. *On Liberty and Other Writings*. 12th ed. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- Miller, A. M., 2004. Sexuality, Violence Against Women, and Human Rights: Women Make Demands and Ladies Get Protection. *Health and Human Rights*, 7(2), p.16-47.
- Miller, E. and Gay, N.J., 1997. Epidemiological Determinants of Pertussis. *Developments in Biological Standardization*, 89(1), p.15-23.
- Miller, F.G. and Brody, H. 2002. What makes placebo-controlled trials unethical? *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 2(2), p.3-9.
- Miller, F.G. and Wertheimer, A., 2010. Preface to a theory of consent transactions: beyond valid consent. In F. G. Miller and A. Wertheimer, ed. *The Ethics of Consent*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Miller, J., 1998. Towards an International Ethic for Research with Human Beings. *Institutional Review Board*, 10(6), 9-11.
- Miller, P.B. and Weijer C., 2006. Fiduciary obligations in clinical research. *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 34(2), p.424-40.
- Miller, P.B. and Weijer, C., 2006. Trust based obligations of the state and physician-researchers to patient-subjects, *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 32(9), p.542–47.
- Minkler, M., Vasquez, V.B., Tajik, M. and Petersen, D., 2008. Promoting Environmental Justice through Community-based Participatory Research: the Role of Community and Partnership Capacity. *Health Education Behaviour*, 35(1), p.119-137.

- More, N.S., Das, S., Bapat, U., Rajguru, M., Alcock, J., Joshi, W., Pantvaidya, S. and Osrin, D., 2013. Community resource centres to improve the health of women and children in Mumbai slums: study protocol of a cluster randomised controlled trial. Trials, 14(132), p.1-9.
- Murphy, L., 2008. *Moral Demands in Nonideal Theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC), 1999. Research Involving Human Biological Materials: Ethical Issues and Policy Guidance. Rockville, MD.
- National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC), 2001. Ethical and Policy Issues in Research Involving Human Participants. Washington, DC: NBAC.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979. *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*, Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Norfleet, E. and Gad, S.C., 2009. Phase I Clinical Trials. In S.C. Gad, ed. *Clinical Trials Handbook*. p.247.
- Nozick, R., 1986. Anarchy, State and Utopia. Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Nuffield Council on Bioethics. 2005. *The ethics of research related to health care in developing countries*. London: Nuffield Council on Bioethics.
- Nuffield Council on Bioethics, 2007. *Public health: Ethical issues*. London: Nuffield Council on Bioethics.
- Nuremberg Code, 1947. Printed in Trials of war criminals before the Nuremberg Military Tribunals under Control Council Law, 2 (10), Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1949, p.181-182. Reprinted in Journal of the American Medical Association, 276(1961).
- Olsen, O.E., Myklebust, G., Engebretsen, L., Holme, I. and Bahr, R., 2005. Exercises to prevent lower limb injuries in youth sports: cluster randomised controlled trial. *The British of Medical Journal*, 330(7489), p.449-452.
- O'Neill O., 2007. Rethinking Informed Consent in Bioethics. Cambridge University Press UK.
- O'Neill, O., 2004. Informed consent and public health. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*.
- O'Neill, O., 2003. Autonomy: The Emperor's New Clothes. *Aristotelian Society Supplementary Volume*, 77(1), p.1-21.

- O'Neill, O., 2002. Autonomy and Trust in Bioethics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Onwujekwe, O., Shu, E. and Okonkwo, P., 1999. Can community leaders' preferences be used to proxy those of the community as a whole? *Journal of Health Services Research Policy*, 4(3), p.133-138.
- Osrin, D., Azad, K., Fernandez, A., Manadhar, D.S., Mwansambo, C.W., Tripathy, P. and Costello, A.M., 2009. Ethical Challenges in Cluster Randomized Controlled Trials: Experiences from Public Health Interventions in Africa and Asia. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 87(10), p.772-779.
- Participants in the 2001 Conference on Ethical Aspects of Research in Developing Countries. 2004. Moral standards for research in developing countries: from "reasonable availability" to "fair benefits". *The Hastings Center Report*, 34(3), p.17-27.
- Patric, D.L. and Wikizer, T.M., 1995. Community and Health. In B.C. Amick, S. Levine, A.R. Tarlov and D.C. Walsh, ed. *Society and Health*. Oxford University Press.
- Piaggio, G., Carroli, G., Villar, J., Pinol, A., Bakketeig, L., Lumbiganon, P. and Berendes, H., 2001. Methodological considerations on the design and analysis of an equivalence stratified cluster randomization trial. *Statistics in Medicine*, 20(3), p.401-416.
- Pogge, T.W., 2002. Responsibilities for Poverty-Related III Health. *Ethics and International Affairs*, 16(2), p.71-79.
- Pogge, T.W., 2002. World Poverty and Human Rights. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Popay, J. and Williams, G., 1996. Public Health Research and Lay Knowledge. *Social Science and Medicine* 42(5), p.759-768.
- Powers, M. and Faden, R., 2006. *Social Justice: The Moral Foundations of Public Health and Health Policy*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Prince, M., 2000. Methodological issues for population-based research into dementia in developing countries. A position paper from the 10/66 Dementia Research Group. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15(1), p.21-30.
- Puddifoot, J.E.,1994. Community identity and sense of belonging in a town in North-East England. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 134 (5), p.601-608.
- Puffer, S., Torgerson, D. and Watson, J., 2003. Evidence for risk of bias in cluster randomised trials: review of recent trials published in three general medical journals. *The British of Medical Journal*, 327(7418), p.785-78

- Putnam, R., 2000. Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster.
- Quinn, S.C., Gamble, D. and Denham, A., 2001. Ethics and Community-based Education: Balancing Respect for the Community with Professional Preparation. *Family and Community Health*, 23(4), p.9-23.
- Ragin, D. F., Ricci, E., Rhodes, R., Holohan, J, Smirnoff, M. and Richardson, L. D., 2008. Defining the 'Community' in Community Consultation for Emergency Research: Findings from the Community VOICES Study. *Social Science Medicine*, 66(6), p.1379-1392.
- Raz, J., 1986. The Morality of Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rawls, J., 1971. A theory of justice. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Rawls, J., 1993. Political liberalism. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Resnik, D.B., 2005. Eliminating the daily life risks standard from the definition of minimal risk. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 31(1), p.35-8.
- Rhodes, R., 2008. In defence of the duty to participate in biomedical research, *American Journal of Bioethics*, 8(10), p.37-38.
- Rhodes R., 2005. Rethinking research ethics. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.7-28.
- Rid A. and Wendler D., 2010. Risk-benefit assessment in medical research Critical review and open questions. *Law, Probability and Risk,* 9(3-4), p.151-177.
- Riddick, F.A., 2003. The Code of Medical Ethics of the American Medical Association. *The Ochsner Journal*, 5(2), p.6-10.
- Rice, T., 2001. Individual Autonomy and state involvement in health care. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 27(4), p.240-244.
- Rose, G., 1981. Strategy of prevention: lessons from cardiovascular disease. *British Medical Journal*, 282(6279), p.1847-1851.
- Ross L.F., Loup, A., Nelson, R.M., Botkin, J.R., Kost, R., Smith, G.R and Gehlert, S., 2010. The challenges of collaboration for academic and community partners in a research partnership: points to consider, *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 5(1), p.19-31.
- Ross, J.G., Sundberg, E.C. and Flint, K.H., 1999. Informed consent in school health research: why, how and making it easy, *Journal of School Health*, 69(5), p.171-176.

- Rothman, D.J., 2000. The shame of medical research. *The New York Review of Books*, 47(19), p.60-64.
- Rowland, M., Mahmood, P., Iqbal, J., Carneiro, A. and Chavasse, D., 2000. Indoor residual spraying with alphacypermethrin controls malaria in Pakistan: a community-randomized trial. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 5(7), p.472-81.
- Sabin, J.E., Mazor, K., Meterko, V., Goff, S.L. and Platt, R., 2008. Comparing drug effectiveness at health plans: The ethics of cluster randomized trials. *Hastings Center Report*, 38(5), p.39-48.
- Sachs, B. (2010). The exceptional ethics of the investigator-subject relationship, *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 35: 64-80.
- Sakar, R., Grandin, E.D., Gladstone, B.P., Muliyil, J. and Gagandeep, K., 2009. Comprehension and Recall of Informed Consent among Participating Families in a Birth Cohort Study on Diarrhoeal Disease. *Public health ethics*, 2(1), p.37-44.
- Savulescu, J., 1994. Rational desires and the limitation of life-sustaining treatment. *Bioethics* 8 (3), p.191-222.
- Scanlon, T. M., 1988. The Significance of Choice. In S.M. McMurrin, ed. *The Tanner Lectures on Human Values*. Salt Lake City: Utah University Press.
- Scanlon, T.M., 1998. *What do we owe to each other*. Cambridge: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Schafer, A., 1983. Experimentation with human subjects: a critique of the views of Hans Jonas, *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 9(2), p.76-79.
- Schaefer, G.O., Emanuel, E.J. and Wertheimer, A., 2009. The obligation to participate in biomedical research. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 302(1), p.67–72.
- Shagi, C., Vallely, A., Kasindi, S., Chiduo, B., Desmond, N., Soteli, S., Kavit, N., Vallely, L., Lees, S., Hayes, R. and Ross, D., 2008. A Model for Community Representation and Participation in HIV Prevention Trials among Women who Engage in Transactional Sex in Africa. *AIDS Care*, 20(9), p.1039-1049.
- Shah, M.N., Das, S., Bapat, U., Rajguru, M., Alcock, G., Joshi, W., Pantvaidya, S. and Osrin, D., 2013. Community resource centres to improve the health of women and children in Mumbai slums: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 14(132), p.1-9.

- Shapshay, S. and Pimple, K.D., 2007. Participation in biomedical research is an imperfect moral duty: a response to John Harris. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 33(7), p.414-417.
- Sharp, R. and Foster, M., 2000. Involving study populations in the review of genetic research. *The Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 28(1), p.41-51.
- Sharp, R.R. and Yarborough, M., 2005. Additional thoughts on rethinking research ethics. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.40-42.
- Sharp, R.R. and Foster, M.W., 2007. Grappling with Groups: Protecting Collective Interests in Biomedical Research. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy: A Forum for Bioethics and Philosophy of Medicine*, 32(4), p.321-337.
- Sim, J. and Dawson, A., 2012. Informed Consent and Cluster-Randomized Trials. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(3), p.480-485.
- Simmerling, M., and Schwegler, B., 2005. Beginning anew: Same principles, different direction for research ethics. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.44-46.
- Simmons, A.J., 2010. Political Obligations and Consent. In F.G. Miller and A. Wertheimer, ed. *The Ethics of Consent.* p. 305-328.
- Singer, P., 1972. Famine, affluence and morality. *Philosophy and Public Affairs*, 1(1), p.229-243.
- Singer, P., 1993. *Practical Ethics*. 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press.
- Slovic, P., 1987. Perception of risk. *Science*, 236(4799), p.280-285.
- Smart, J.C.C. and Williams, B., 1973. *Utilitarianism for and against*. Cambridge University Press.
- Snowdon, C., Garcia, J. and Elbourne, D., 1997. Making sense of randomization: Responses of parents of critically ill babies to random allocation of treatment in a clinical trial. *Social Science and Medicine*, 45(9), p.1337-1355.
- Snowdon, C., Elbourne, D. and Garcia, J., 1999. Zelen randomization: attitudes of parents participating in a neonatal clinical trial. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, 20(2), p.149-171.
- Sofaer, N. and Strech, D., 2011. Reasons why Post-trial Access to Trial Drugs Should or Need Not Be Ensured to Research Participants: A Systematic Review. *Public Health Ethics*, 4(2), p.160-184.
- Sofaer, N., Lewis, P. and Davies, H., 2014. Forthcoming practical framework for ethics committees and researchers on post-trial access to the trial

- intervention and healthcare. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 40(4), p.217-218.
- Sreenivasan, G., 2003. Does informed consent to research require comprehension? *The Lancet*, 362 (9400), p.2016-2018.
- Stewart, P.M., Stears, A., Tomlinson, J.W. and Brown, M.J., 2008. Regulation—the real threat to clinical research, *British Medical Journal*, 337(a1732), p.1085-1087.
- Sugarman, J., McCrory, D.C., Powell, D., Krasny, A., Adams, B., Ball, E. and Cassell, C.,1999. Empirical Research on Informed Consent: An Annotated Bibliography. *The Hastings Center Report*, 29(1), p.S1-42.
- Sullivan, R., 2008, The good, the bad and the ugly: Effect of regulation on cancer research, *Lancet Oncology*, 9(1), p.2-3.
- Sumner, L.W., 1996. Welfare, Happiness, and Ethics. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- Sunstein, C.R. and Thaler, R.H., 2008. *Nudge: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth, and Happiness*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Taljaard, M., McRae, A., Weijer, C., Bennett, C., Dixon, S., Taleban, J., *Zoe Skea, Martin P Eccles, Jamie C Brehaut, Allan Donner, Raphael Saginur, Robert F Boruch, Jeremy M Grimshaw,* 2011. Inadequate reporting of research ethics review and informed consent in cluster randomized trials: review of a representative sample of published trials. *The British Medical Journal,* 342(d2496), p.1-9.
- Taljaard, M., Weijer, C., Grimshaw, J., Belle Brown, J., Binik, A., Boruch, R, Brehaut, J.C, Chaudhry, S., Eccles, M.P., McRae A, Saginur, R., Zwarenstein, M., Donner, A., 2009. Study protocol: Ethical and policy issues in cluster randomized trials: rationale and design of a mixed methods research study, *Trials*, 10(61), p.1-10.
- Tännsjö, T., 1999. Coercive Care: The Ethics of Choice in Health and Medicine. London: Routledge.
- Taylor, H.A. and Johnson, S., 2007. Ethics of Population-Based Research. *The Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 35(2), p.295–299.
- Taylor, K.M., Margolese, R.G. and Soskoline, C.L., 1984. Physicians' reasons for not entering eligible patients in a randomised clinical trial of surgery for breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 310(21), p.1363-1367.
- Thaler, R.H. and Sunstein, C.R., 2008. *Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness.* Yale University Press.

- The COMMIT Group: Community intervention trial for smoking cessation (COMMIT): I. Cohort results from a four-year community intervention. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1995, 85(2): 183-92.
- The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978. *The Belmont Report: Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research, DHEW Publication* No. (OS) 78-0012. Washington.
- The Stationery Office, 2001. The Royal Liverpool Children's Inquiry Report. London.
- The United Nations, 1948. *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*. Available at: http://www.un.org/en/universal-declaration-human-rights/index.html. [Accessed: 7 July 2013]
- The United Nations, 1996. *International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*. Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CESCR.aspx. [Accessed: 7 July 2013]
- The United Nations, 2002. *Human Development Report*. Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/263/hdr_2002_en_complete.pdf [Accessed: 3 September 2015].
- Thomson, J.J., 1990. *The Realm of Rights*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Tindana, P.O., Singh, J.A., Tracy, C.S., Upshur, R.E., Daar, A.S., Singer, P.A., Frohlich, J. and Lavery, J.V., 2007. Grand Challenges in Global Health: Community Engagement in Research in Developing Countries, *PLoS Medicine*, 4(9), p.1451-1455.
- Torgerson, D.J. and Roland, M., (1998). What is Zalen's design? *The British Medical Journal*, 316(7131), p.606.
- Truog, R.D., Robinson, W., Randolph, A. and Morris, A., 1999. Is informed consent always necessary for randomized, controlled trials? *New England Journal of Medicine*, 340(10), p.804-807.
- Tversky, A. and Kahneman, D., 1974. Judgments under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases, *Science*, 185(4157), p.1124-1131.
- Tversky, A.,1981. The framing of decisions and the rationality of choice. *Science*, 211(4481), p.453–458.
- U.K. Medical Research Council, 2002. Cluster Randomized Trials:

 Methodological and Ethical Considerations. London UK. Available

- at: http://www.mrc.ac.uk/ consumption/idcplg? [Accessed: 19 September 2015]
- UNDP, 2002. Human Development Report: Deepening democracy in a fragmented world. Published for the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), New York Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Upshur, R.E., Lavery, J.V. and Tindana, P.O, 2007. Taking Tissue Seriously Means Taking Communities Seriously, *BMC Medical Ethics*, 8(11), p.1-6.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1991. U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, 45 CFR 46.
- Vallely, A., Shagi, C., Kasindi, S., Desmond, N., Lees, S., Chiduo, B., Hayes, R., Allen, C. and Ross, D., 2007. The Benefits of Participatory Methodologies to Develop Effective Community Dialogue in the Context of a Microbicide Trial Feasibility Study in Mwanza, Tanzania. *BMC Public Health*, 7(133), p.1-12.
- Vanlerberghe, V., Toledo, M.E., Rodriguez, M. Gomez, D., Baly, A., Benitez, J.R. and Van der Stuyft, P., 2009. Community involvement in dengue vector control: cluster randomised trial. *British Medical Journal*, 338(7709), p.1477-1480.
- Varmus, H. and Satcher, D., 1997. Ethical Complexities of Conducting Research in Developing Countries. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 237(14), p.1003-1005.
- Veatch, R., 1987. The patient as partner: A theory of human-experimentation ethics. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Verelious, J., 2006. The value of autonomy in medical ethics. Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy, 9(3), p. 377-388.
- Verity, C. and Nicoll, A., 2002. Consent, confidentiality and the threat to public health surveillance. *British Medical Journal*, 324(121), p.1210-1213.
- Verweij, C. and Dawson, A., 2009. Public Health Research Ethics: A Research Agenda, *Public Health Ethics*, 2(1), p.1-6.
- Vollmann, J. and Winau, R. 1996. Informed consent in human experimentation before the Nurenberg code. *British Medical Journal*, 313(7070), p.1445-1447.
- Wachbroit, R., Wasserman, D., 2005. Research participation: Are we subject to a duty? *American Journal of Bioethics*, 5(1), p.48-49.
- Walton, J., Doll, R., Asscher, W., Hurley, R., Langman, M., Gillon, R., Strachan, D., Wald, N. and Fletcher, P.,1999. Consequences for research if use

- of anonymised patient data breaches confidentiality. *British Medical Journal*, 319(7221), p.1366.
- Weber, M., Roth, G. and Wittich, P., 1978. *Economy and Society*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Weijer C. and Anderson J.A., 2002. A Critical Appraisal of protections for Aboriginal Communities in Biomedical Research. *Jurrimetrics*, 42(2), p.187-198.
- Weijer C. and Emanuel E. J., 2000. Protecting Communities in Biomedical Research. *Science*, 289(5482), p.1142-1144.
- Weijer, C., Goldsand, G. and Emanuel, E.J., 1999. Protecting communities in research: current guidelines and limits of extrapolation. *Nature Genetics*, 23(3), p.275-280.
- Weijer, C., Grimshaw, J.M., Taljaard, M., Binik, A., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Gallo, A., McRae, A.D., Saginur, R., Zwarenstein M., 2011. Ethical issues posed by cluster randomized trials in health research, *Trials*, 12(100), p.1-11.
- Weijer, C., Grimshaw J.M., Eccles, M.P., McRae A.D., White, A., Brehaut, J.C., et al., 2012. The Ottawa Statement on the Ethical Design and Conduct of Cluster Randomized Trials. *PLoS Med* 9(11), e1001346
- Wendler, D., 2010. The Ethics of Pediatric Research, Oxford University Press.
- Wendler, D., 2012. The Ethics of clinical Research. In Zalta E.N., ed. *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Available at: http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2012/entries/clinical-research. [Accessed: 12 December 2014].
- Weinstein, N., 1989. Optimistic biases about personal risks. *Science*, 246(4935), p.1232–3.
- Wertheimer, A., 1987. Coercion. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Wertheimer, A., 2011. Rethinking the Ethics of Clinical Research: Widening the Lens, Oxford University Press.
- West, Jr., Keith, P., Katz, J., Khatry, S., LeClerg, S.C., Pradhan E.K. and Shrestha A.R., 1999. Double Blind, Cluster Randomised Trial of Low Dose Supplementation with Vitamin A or B Carotene on Mortality Related to Pregnancy in Nepal. *British Medical Journal*, 318(7183), p. 570-575.
- Widdows H. and Cordell S., 2011. Why Communities and their Goods Matter: illustrated by the example of Bio banks. *Public Health Ethics*, 4(1), p.14-25.

- Wilson, J. and Hunter D., 2010. Research exceptionalism. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 10(8), p.45–54.
- Wolff, J., 1996. An introduction to Political Philosophy, Oxford University Press.
- Wolff, J., 2011. The human right to health. In S. Benatar and G. Brock. *Global Health and Global Health Ethics*. Cambridge University Press. p. 108-118
- Wolff, J., 2013. The Human Right to Health. *Ethics and International Affairs*, 27(3), p.351-353.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2000. Operational guidelines for ethics committees that review biomedical research. Geneva: WHO, 2000 (TDR/PRD/ETHICS/2000.1).
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2004. Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Links to Health. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2009. WHO Statistical Information System (WHOSIS). Available at: www.who.int/whosis [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- World Health Organisation (WHO), 2011. *Global Health Observatory (GHO)*data: World Health Statistics. Available at:
 http://www.who.int/gho/publications/world_health_statistics/2011/en/
 [Accessed September 2015]
- World Health Organisation (WHO), 2015. *Global Health Observatory (GHO) data: World Health Statistics*. Available at:
 http://www.who.int/gho/publications/world_health_statistics/2015/en/
 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- World Health Report 2000. Available at: http://www.who.int/whr/2001/archives/2000/en/index.htm. [Accessed 4 November 2014].
- World Medical Association, 1964. *Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects*. 1964. Available at: http://www.wma.net/. [Accessed 20 February 2015]
- World Medical Association, 1996. Declaration of Helsinki, *British Medical Journal*, 313 (7070), p.1448-1449.
- World Medical Association, 2000. Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Amended by the WMA 52nd General Assembly, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- World Medical Association, 2008. Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. Ferney-Voltaire France. Available at:

- http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html. [Accessed 8 July 2015].
- World Medical Association, 2013. Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *The American Medical Association*, 310(20), p.2191-2194.
- Young, S.N., 1998. Risk in research—from the Nuremberg Code to the Tri-Council Code: Implications for clinical trials of psychotropic drugs. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 23(3), p.149-155.